Influence of dietary interventions on the immune system: An investigation of the impact of omega-3 fatty acids, dietary fermentable materials and high energy diets

by

Sandra T. Clarke

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

The Faculty of Science

Applied Bioscience

University of Ontario Institute of Technology

December 2016

© Sandra T. Clarke, 2016

Abstract

Dietary interventions vary in ability to influence immune activity. Separate investigations were conducted to determine the immune impact of omega-3 fatty acids, dietary fermentable materials (DFM) and high energy (HE) diets. Omega-3 fatty acid impact on bovine immunity was examined by comparing effects of fish oil and microalgae dietary supplements in the context of different feed management systems (pasture versus confinement). Cattle consuming microalgae had higher antibody production and cattle in the pasture system had higher anti-keyhole limpet hemocyanin (KLH) and total antibody responses on all diets. Overall, effects of omega-3 supplements on bovine immunity were influenced by feed management system with heightened impact on antibody production observed with a pasture system.

A double-blind placebo-controlled, randomized crossover clinical trial involving 30 healthy adults was conducted to examine impacts of β 2-1 fructans on immunity. Subjects consumed an oligofructose-enriched inulin or maltodextrin supplement for a 28-day period (5 g, 3× daily with meals). β 2-1 fructan supplementation significantly increased serum endotoxin and IL-4 concentrations, circulating percentages of CD282⁺/TLR2⁺ myeloid Dendritic cells (mDC) and *ex vivo* responsiveness to a Toll-like receptor 2 (TLR2) agonist, while serum IL-10 concentrations decreased.

A rat trial was designed to examine effects of a HE diet supplemented with varied DFM (7% wheat bran, oat bran, resistant starch type II, or fructooligosaccharide (FOS)) on obesity-associated biomarkers in male Sprague-Dawley rats. After 2 weeks of HE diet consumption, rats were segregated into obese-prone and obese-resistant phenotypes and shifted to DFM-supplemented HE diets for an additional 11-12 weeks. Obese-prone rats

had higher serum insulin and leptin concentrations than obese-resistant rats. FOS-fed rats had decreased splenic percentages of B cells, natural killer cells, T lymphocytes, memory T cells and cytotoxic T cells compared to rats on the control diet. High-energy diets had differential impacts on systemic and mucosal cytokines in both phenotypes; however, DFM had relatively less influence on cytokine and adipokine profiles associated with dietinduced obesity. Taken together, dietary interventions are capable of subtly influencing varied immune outcomes in animal models and in human subjects, however the interpretation of these dietary influences may be context-dependent.

Acknowledgements

I would like to sincerely thank my supervisor, Dr. Julia Green-Johnson, for her guidance, encouragement and support throughout my graduate studies, and for the multiple opportunities she has provided me during my time in her lab. I would also like to thank my advisory committee, Dr. Janice L. Strap and Dr. Holly Jones-Taggart.

I would also like to extend my gratitude to Dr. Stephen P.J. Brooks (Health Canada), Dr. Martin Kalmokoff (AAFC), and Judy Green (Health Canada) for their expertise, knowledge, support and contributions to this project, and to my labmates, Padmaja Shastri, Michael Jeffrey and Farrah Edun, for their friendship and assistance in the completion of this project.

Lastly, I would also like to show my heartfelt appreciation to my family and friends for their continued support throughout my academic journey, especially Ryan Howson, Bonnie Clarke, Blake Clarke, Geoff Chadsey and Jacqueline Kachuik.

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgements	iv
List of Tables	viii
List of Figures	xiv
List of Abbreviations	xvi
Chapter 1: Evaluating Effects of Dietary Supplemented Fatty Acids on Bovin Immunity	e 1
Introduction	1
Dietary Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids and the Immune System	1
PUFA & Bovine Immunization Responses	
Chapter 1 Study Objectives	7
Methods	
AIF Trial #7 Experimental Design	
Measurement of Antibody Production During KLH Immunization	11
Measurement of Cytokine Activity During KLH Immunization	12
Statistical Analyses	14
Results	16
Assessment of Antibody Production in Response to KLH Immunization	16
Assessment of Cytokine Activity in Response to KLH Immunization	19
Discussion	24
Chapter 2: Examining Effects of β2-1 fructans on the immune system in a hur clinical trial	man 48
Introduction	
The Intestinal Barrier and Mucosal Immunity	48
Dietary Fibre, Prebiotics and Bifidobacteria	49
<i>Effects of β2-1 Fructans on the Immune System</i>	51
Chapter 2 Study Objectives	55
Methods	56
Human Clinical Trial Subjects	56
Human β 2-1 Fructan Trial Design	56
Measurement of Blood Parameters	58
Peripheral Immune Cell Population Analysis by Flow Cytometry	58

Table of Contents

Measurement of Circulating Cytokine Profiles	60
Endotoxin Detection in Serum Samples	
Measurement of Serum and Faecal Antibody Profiles	64
Measurement of ex vivo TLR-Induced Responses in Whole Blood Culture	65
Statistical Analyses	66
Results	68
Characteristics of the Trial Subjects	68
Assessment of Blood Parameters	68
Analysis of Peripheral Immune Cell Populations and mDC/Monocyte Cytok Activity	<i>tine</i> 68
Assessment of Circulating Cytokine Profiles, Serum Endotoxin and LBP	69
Assessment of Circulating and Faecal Ig Profiles	
Assessment of Responses to ex vivo TLR2 and TLR4 Stimulation in Whole E Cultures	<i>lood</i>
Discussion	
Chapter 3: Effects of Dietary Fermentable Material and a High-Energy Die Obesity-Associated Immune Biomarkers in Sprague Dawley Rats	e t on 96
Introduction	
Obesity, High Energy Diets and Inflammation	
Gut Microbiota and Inflammation	100
Dietary Fibre and Inflammation	102
An Obesity Model to Study Inflammation and Fibre Supplementation	105
Chapter 3 Study Objectives	106
Methods	108
Trial Design	108
Histology	111
Immune Cell Population Analysis by Flow Cytometry	112
An ex vivo Whole Blood TLR Stimulation Assay	113
Detection of Serum Endotoxin	115
Assessment of Blood Glucose and Blood Urea Nitrogen	116
Tissue Homogenization	117
Assessment of Cytokine Profiles	118
Assessment of Peptide Hormone and Adipokine Profiles	119

Statistical Analyses
Results
Preliminary Trial Analysis121
End of Trial Analyses
Analysis of Peripheral and Tissue Immune Cell Populations 126
Ex vivo Analysis of TLR Agonist Induced Responses of Peripheral Blood Cells 132
Assessment of Serum Cytokines, Chemokines, CRP, LPS, BUN and Glucose 135
Assessment of Immune Activity in Gut Tissues136
Assessment of Immune Activity in Systemic and Local Tissues
Assessment of Immune Activity in Adipose Tissue
Assessment of Peptide Hormones and Adipokines142
Discussion
Conclusions
References
Appendix A
Appendix B
Appendix C

List of Tables

Chapter 1 Tables
Table 1-1. Cytokines and immunoglobulin isotypes measured for determination of the impact of dietary fatty acids on bovine immunity
Table 1-2 . AIF Trial #7 days corresponding to the days since calving and days since KLH immunization
Table 1-3 . Serum IL-4 concentrations at selected time points after KLH immunization, and final measurements in systemic and mucosal tissue
Table 1-4 . IFN- γ concentrations in serum at selected time points after KLH immunization,and final measurements in systemic and mucosal tissue
Table 1-5 . Active TGF- β 1 concentrations in serum at selected time points after KLH immunization, and final measurements in systemic and mucosal tissue
Table 1-6 . Total TGF-β1 concentrations in serum at selected time points after KLH immunization, and final measurements in systemic and mucosal tissue
Chapter 2 Tables Table 2-1 . Cytokines measured in subjects receiving β2-1 fructan supplementation or placebo
Table 2-2 . Description of standard biochemistry and haematological markers analyzed insubjects receiving β 2-1 fructan supplementation or placebo
Table 2-3 . Flow cytometry antibodies used in peripheral cell population analysis86
Table 2-4 . Simplified LAL assay procedure
Table 2-5 . Estimated daily background dietary β 2-1 fructan intakes in subjects during placebo and β 2-1 fructan phases
Table 2-6 . BMI, BUN and routine biochemical and haematological biomarkers at baselineand endpoint of placebo and β 2-1 fructan phases
Table 2-7. Peripheral immune cell populations on day 28 of placebo and β2-1 fructan phases. 90
Table 2-8 . Peripheral mDC and monocyte intracellular cytokine production after placebo and β2-1 fructan supplementation
Table 2-9a. Mean values for serum LPS, LBP and cytokine/chemokine concentrationsfrom participants receiving placebo or β 2-1 fructan supplements

Table 2-9b. Median values for serum LPS, LBP and cytokine/chemokine concentrationsfrom participants receiving placebo or β 2-1 fructan supplements
Table 2-10 . Concentrations of serum and faecal Ig at baseline and endpoint of placebo and β2-1 fructan phases
Table 2-11 . Ex vivo cytokine production in unstimulated and TLR agonist-stimulatedwhole blood cultures from subjects at the endpoints of placebo and β 2-1 fructanphases
Chapter 3 Tables Table 3-1. Structural and fermentation properties of DFM added to HE diets used in the obese rat trial
Table 3-2. Cytokines and chemokines measured to determine the impact of DFM-supplemented HE diets on rat immune parameters
Table 3-3. AIN-93G modified diets with high fat and wheat bran, oat bran, RS or FOS 165
Table 3-4 . Anti-rat antibodies used in flow cytometry for analysis of cell populations in spleen, MLN and ileal PP. 166
Table 3-5 . Preliminary trial TLR ligand stimulating concentrations in <i>ex vivo</i> whole blood assay
Table 3-6. Hematological measures from the preliminary trial
Table 3-7. Serum cytokine/chemokine and biochemistry measures from the preliminary trial
Table 3-8 . Cytokine/chemokine concentrations measured from whole blood cultures afterTLR stimulation in the preliminary trial
Table 3-9 . Histological analysis of IEL counts in small bowel sections collected from the preliminary trial.
Table 3-10 . Ileal cytokine concentrations measured in rats from the preliminary trial173
Table 3-11. Caecal cytokine/chemokine concentrations measured in rats from the preliminary trial. 174
Table 3-12 . Proximal colon cytokine concentrations measured in rats from the preliminary trial.
Table 3-13 . Distal colon cytokine concentrations measured in rats from the preliminary trial

Table 3-14. Liver cytokine/chemokine concentrations measured in rats from the preliminary trial. 177
Table 3-15. Spleen cytokine/chemokine concentrations measured in rats from the preliminary trial. 178
Table 3-16 . MLN cytokine concentrations measured in rats from the preliminary trial179
Table 3-17. Ileal PP cytokine/chemokine concentrations measured in rats from the preliminary trial
Table 3-18 . Mesenteric fat cytokine/chemokine concentrations measured in rats from the preliminary trial. 181
Table 3-19 . Epididymal fat cytokine/chemokine concentrations measured in rats from the preliminary trial. 182
Table 3-20a . Hematological measures of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks. 183
Table 3-20b. Hematological measures of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93Gmodified diets for 11-12 weeks, separated by phenotype
Table 3-21a. Total immune cell population percentages within the spleen of DR and DIOrats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks
Table 3-21b. Total immune cell population percentages within the spleen of DR and DIOrats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks, separated byphenotype
Table 3-22a. Total immune cell population percentages within the MLN of DR and DIOrats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks
Table 3-22b. Total immune cell population percentages within the MLN of DR and DIOrats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks, separated byphenotype
Table 3-23a . Total immune cell population percentages within the ileal PP of DR and DIOrats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks
Table 3-23b. Total immune cell population percentages within the ileal PP of DR and DIOrats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks, separated byphenotype

 Table 3-26a. IL-6 concentrations measured from TLR agonist-stimulated whole blood cultures of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks

 203

 Table 3-28a. TNF-α concentrations measured from TLR agonist-stimulated whole blood cultures of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks

 207

Table 3-30. Histological analysis of IEL counts in small bowel sections collected fromDIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks.212

Table 3-31a. Ileal tissue cytokine concentrations of DR and DIO rats after consumingAIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks.213

Table 3-32a. Caecal tissue cytokine/chemokine concentrations of DR and DIO rats afterconsuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks.215

Table 3-33a. Proximal colon cytokine concentrations of DR and DIO rats after consumingAIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks.218

Table 3-34a. Distal colon tissue cytokine concentrations of DR and DIO rats afterconsuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks.221

Table 3-35a. Liver cytokine/chemokine and CRP concentrations of DR and DIO rats afterconsuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks.224

Table 3-37a. MLN cytokine/chemokine concentrations of DR and DIO rats afterconsuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks.230

Table 3-38a. Ileal PP cytokine/chemokine concentrations of DR and DIO rats afterconsuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks.233

Table 3-39a. Epididymal fat cytokine/chemokine concentrations of DR and DIO rats afterconsuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks.236

Appendices Tables

 Table B2. Impact of supplement on serum LPS, LBP and cytokine/chemokine

 concentrations in males and females.
 284

List of Figures

Chapter 1 Figures

Figure 1-1 . IgM concentrations quantified in serum following KLH immunization over primary, secondary and long-term time points in cattle on omega-3 dietary supplements and separate feed management systems
Figure 1-2 . IgG concentrations quantified in serum following KLH immunization over primary, secondary and long-term time points in cattle on omega-3 dietary supplements and separate feed management system
Figure 1-3 . Anti-KLH IgG subclass concentrations quantified in serum following KLH immunization over primary, secondary and long-term time points in cattle on omega-3 dietary supplements and separate feed management systems
Figure 1-4 . IgA concentrations quantified in milk following KLH immunization over primary, secondary and long-term time points in cattle on omega-3 dietary supplements and separate feed management systems
<i>Chapter 3 Figures</i> Figure 3-1 . Rat weight gain and food consumption during the two-week preliminary trial on the HE control diet
Figure 3-2. Serum leptin (pg/mL) and tissue leptin (pg/g) concentrations measured in rats from the preliminary trial
Figure 3-3. Weight gained after rats consumed AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks
Figure 3-4. Average daily food consumption of AIN-93G modified diets over 11-12 weeks
Figure 3-5. Serum glucagon concentrations measured in rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks. 243
Figure 3-6. Serum insulin concentrations measured in rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks. 244
Figure 3-7. Serum leptin concentrations measured in rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks. 245
Figure 3-8 . Serum adiponectin concentrations measured in rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks
Figure 3-9 . Epididymal fat adiponectin concentrations measured in rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks

Figure 3-10. Distal colon leptin concentrations measured in rats after consuming AIN-93G
modified diets for 11-12 weeks
Appendices Figures
Figure A1. Diagrams of basic chemical structures of omega-3 fatty acids in the microalgae
and fish oil supplements of AIF Trial #7
Figure B1 . Peripheral mDC CD282 ⁺ /TLR2 ^{+ +} and CD284 ⁺ /TLR4 ⁺ percentages on day 28
of placebo and β 2-1 fructan phases, separated by sex
or praceos and p2 r nacian phases, separated by sex

List of Abbreviations

AAFC	Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada
AIF	Atlantic Innovation Fund (Atlantic Canada Opportunities Agency)
AIN-93G	American Institute of Nutrition Growth Purified Diet
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
BFA	Brefeldin A
BLQ	Below Level of Quantification
BSA	Bovine Serum Albumin
CBA	Cytometric Bead Array
CINC	Cytokine-Induced Neutrophil Chemoattractant
CRP	C-Reactive Protein
DC	Dendritic cell
DFM	Dietary Fermentable Material
DHA	Docosahexaenoic Acid
DIO	Diet-Induced Obesity
DR	Diet-Induced Obesity Resistant
ELISA	Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay
EPA	Eicosapentaenoic Acid
FOS	Fructooligosaccharide
G-CSF	Granulocyte Colony-Stimulating Factor
GALT	Gut-Associated Lymphoid Tissue
GHQ	General Health Questionnaire
GI	Gastrointestinal

GM-CSF	Granulocyte Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor
HDL	High-Density Lipoprotein
HEPES	4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1piperazineethanesulfonic acid
HSD	Honest Significant Difference
Ig	Immunoglobulin
IEC	Intestinal Epithelial cell
IEL	Intraepithelial Lymphocyte
IFN-α, IFN-γ	Interferon-alpha, Interferon-gamma
IL	Interleukin
IL-1Ra	Interleukin-1 Receptor antagonist
IP-10/CXCL10	Interferon gamma-Induced Protein 10/ C-X-C Motif Chemokine
	Ligand 10
ITF	Intestinal Trefoil Factor
KLH	Keyhole Limpet Hemocyanin
LAL	Limulus Amebocyte Lysate
LAP	Latency-Associated Protein
LBP	Lipopolysaccharide Binding Protein
LDL	Low-Density lipoprotein
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
LoQ	Limit of Quantification
LSD	Least Significant Difference
MALT	Mucosa-Associated Lymphoid Tissue
mDC	Myeloid Dendritic cells

MHC	Major Histocompatibility Complex
MLN	Mesenteric Lymph Node
MyD88	Myeloid Differentiation Factor 88
NF-ĸB	Nuclear Factor kappa-Light-Chain-Enhancer of Activated B cells
NK	Natural Killer cell
NOD	Nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain receptor
NSAC	Nova Scotia Agricultural College (collaborators on AIF Trial #7)
P3C	Pam3Cys
PAMPs	Pathogen-Associated Molecular Patterns
PBMCs	Peripheral Blood Mononuclear cells
pDC	Plasmacytoid Dendritic cells
pIgR	Polymeric Immunoglobulin Receptor
PPAR	Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor
PRR	Pattern Recognition Receptor
PUFA	Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids
qPCR	Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction
rANOVA	Repeated-Measures ANOVA
rbc	red blood cell
REML	Restricted Maximum Likelihood
RPMI	Roswell Park Memorial Institute
RS	Resistant Starch Type II
sCD40L/TNFSF5	Soluble Cluster Differentiation 40 Ligand/Tumour Necrosis Factor
	Superfamily Member 5

sICAM-1/sCD54	Soluble Intercellular Adhesion Molecule-1/Soluble Cluster
	Differentiation 54
SCFA	Short Chain Fatty Acids
sIgA	Secretory Immunoglobulin A
SST	Serum Separation Tubes
TGF-β1	Transforming Growth Factor beta-1
T _H	T-helper cell
TLR	Toll-Like Receptor
TMB	3,3'5,5' tetramethylbenzidine
TMR	Total mixed rations
TNF-α	Tumor Necrosis Factor-alpha
TRAM	TRIF-Related Adaptor Molecule
T _{reg}	Regulatory T cell
TRIF	TIR-domain-containing adapter-inducing interferon- β
wbc	white blood cell

Chapter 1: Evaluating Effects of Dietary Supplemented Fatty Acids on Bovine Immunity

Introduction

Dietary Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids and the Immune System

Polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) are present in varying amounts in the human diet. Common sources of PUFA in the diet are fish oils, which are rich supplies of eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) 20:5(n-3) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) 22:6(n-3, **Appendix A, Figure A1**). Unsaturated fatty acids are essential for the maintenance and functioning of cell membranes since fatty acids incorporate into the membranes to provide structure and fluidity (Calder, 1998). Increasing evidence suggests that dietary intake of PUFA can alter cell membrane composition, leading to changes in cell signaling and mediator production which would thereby influence immune responses. Elements of the immune system that are potentially modified by PUFA intake include suppression of lymphocyte, natural killer (NK) cell and macrophage activities (Caroprese *et al.*, 2009; Yaqoob and Calder, 1995) as well as decreased production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Mullen *et al.*, 2010). However, the effect of PUFA supplementation on responses to immunization and antibody production are not well understood.

Dietary fatty acids may be supplied to cattle in an effort to increase energy concentration in feeds (Fouladi-Nashta *et al.*, 2009), improve calf weight gain (*Garcia et al.*, 2014) improve milk quality (Franklin *et al.*, 1999) and also to modulate immune responses (Caroprese *et al.*, 2009; Farran *et al.*, 2008). Feeding cattle sources of omega-3 fatty acids has been shown to elevate fatty acid profiles within plasma and milk (Fouladi-Nashta *et al.*, 2009). Evidence suggests the omega-3 PUFA source and the DHA/EPA ratio

may modulate the immune response distinctively (Caroprese *et al.*, 2009; Farran *et al.*, 2008). For example, in a previous study by Caroprese *et al.* (2009) it was demonstrated that cattle fed flaxseed had higher anti-ovalbumin immunoglobulin (Ig) G in response to immunization than cattle fed fish oil, which differed in its fatty acid composition. It has also been proposed that cattle fed flaxseed may have altered eicosanoid production by inflammatory cells in comparison to cattle fed soy or tallow (Farran *et al.* 2008). Analysis of milk from cattle fed fish oil displays EPA concentrations twice that of DHA (Kitessa *et al.*, 2004), which is not surprising given that fish oil itself has a higher EPA to DHA ratio. Dietary microalgae is an excellent source of omega-3 fatty acids and is a more concentrated source of DHA than fish oil, while containing less EPA (Abughazaleh *et al.*, 2009). A previous study has shown that dietary marine microalgae feeding altered the fatty acid profile of bovine milk by increasing the concentration of DHA (Franklin *et al.*, 1999), possibly enhancing the nutritive quality of the milk.

Few studies have examined the fatty acid profiles of plasma after a dietary algae feeding regime, and there have not been any published studies to date which have investigated the bovine immunization response after consumption of dietary microalgae. There is a need to improve immunization strategies in cattle as they become immunosuppressed during transport or after entering new feedlots (Estrada *et al.*, 1999), making the cattle more susceptible to infection. Increasing interest into the effects of PUFA in immunization strategies prompted this investigation into the immune responses of cattle fed dietary omega-3 fatty acids. Research into the enhancement of immune responses in cattle will not only benefit the beef and dairy industries, but also further our understanding of the potential role of PUFA in immunization strategies.

PUFA & Bovine Immunization Responses

KLH is a standard T-cell dependent antigen that is frequently used in investigating responses to immunization in cattle (Estrada *et al.*, 1999; Fligger *et al.*, 1997). KLH is considered a powerful immunogen and it is isolated from the hemolymph of the Californian Pacific coast sea mollusc *Megthura crenulata* (Harris and Markl, 1999). It is unlikely that dairy cattle will have highly specific natural antibodies for KLH, however they may produce a measurable amount of lower affinity natural antibodies capable of recognizing the KLH antigen (Harris and Markl, 1999; van Altena *et al.*, 2016; van Knegsel *et al.*, 2007). Upon immunization with KLH, KLH-specific T cells will recognize the processed and presented antigen and facilitate the production of antibodies from KLH-specific B cells.

In order to investigate bovine responsiveness to immunization, antibody production profiles must be measured. The main antibody isotypes of interest in this research project were IgG, IgM and IgA. IgG is the predominant circulating Ig and cattle have two subclasses of this immunoglobulin, IgG₁ and IgG₂ (Butler *et al.*, 1971). IgM is the antibody mainly responsible for the primary immune response and it is also the first antibody produced following immunization (Mix *et al.*, 2006). IgG and IgM are quantifiable in serum, and are generally measured after systemic immunization. IgA is present in measurable but relatively low concentrations in serum since it is a mucosally secreted antibody, and it is the predominant isotype capable of neutralizing antigen at mucosal surfaces and in secretions (Pabst, 2012). For this reason, IgA is usually quantified in milk or colostrum. The characteristic response to primary immunogenic stimulus occurs 5-10 days following immunization, with a small peak in antibody production (Liu *et al.*, 1991). The primary production of antibody isotypes would follow the order of IgM > IgG > IgA. The secondary response occurs more rapidly (after a booster dose of immunogenic stimulus), usually within 1-3 days with a much larger peak in antibody production (Liu *et al.*, 1991). The production of antibody isotypes would follow the order of IgG > IgA > IgM in the secondary response. Antibody production generally returns to protective baseline levels after a period of thirty days.

Previously, dietary consumption of omega-3 PUFA has been shown to increase titres of IgM and IgG in Sprague Dawley rats, and this is more pronounced with DHA supplementation than with EPA supplementation (Sugano et al., 2000). The immune response to antigens during omega-3 dietary enrichment has been well studied in chickens, and the results of these experiments assist in the current understanding of immune responses during PUFA supplementation. A previous study investigated the immune response of broiler chicks while supplementing the diet with different sources of omega-3 PUFA, either from tuna oil or sunflower oil (Maroufyan et al., 2012). The main findings of the study were that the omega-3 PUFA profiles were significantly increased in the plasma of chicks receiving fish oil supplements, and the antibody titres and interleukin-2 (IL-2) concentrations increased with dietary PUFA enrichment. Increased IL-2 production could explain the increased antibody titres, since IL-2 is a key cytokine involved in developing adaptive responses. IL-2 is also a key cytokine for T cell activation (Popmihajlov *et al.*, 2012), and so it indirectly facilitates immunoglobulin production. In another dietary PUFA study involving chickens, it was discovered that birds fed diets

enriched in α -linolenic acid, an omega-3 fatty acid, had increased titres of specific antibodies after KLH immunization (Sijben *et al.*, 2001). However, when the animals were fed both linoleic acid (an omega-6 fatty acid) in combination with α -linolenic acid, lower anti-KLH antibody titres were found. These results suggest that α -linolenic acid may have involvement in antigen presentation, while linoleic acid may hinder the antigen presentation process (Sijben *et al.*, 2001). These studies in chickens illustrate the capability of PUFA to modulate the immune system and provide a platform to further study immune functions of fatty acids in cattle.

Flaxseed is also a source of omega-3 fatty acids that may potentially modify bovine immune responses. Farran et al. (2008) investigated the immune responses of cattle fed diets containing flaxseed (rich source of α -linolenic acid, an omega-3 fatty acid) or soy (rich source of linoleic acid, an omega-6 fatty acid). Cattle fed flaxseed had significantly higher omega-3 fatty acid concentrations in the plasma (Farran et al., 2008), confirming that dietary interventions may alter plasma lipid profiles. In addition, cattle fed flaxseed had lower concentrations of tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) in response to injection of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and lower body temperatures than cattle receiving the soy supplement (Farran et al., 2008). Another study investigated the immune response of cattle fed either flaxseed or fish oil as omega-3 supplements (Caroprese et al., 2009). Cattle fed flaxseed produced higher titres of IgG antibodies specific for the immunizing antigen, and also displayed significantly lower levels of IL-10 than cattle fed fish oil. IL-10 is a regulatory cytokine which inhibits T_H1 cells as well as macrophage activity (Borish, 1998). A lower concentration of this cytokine was interpreted to indicate suppression of T_H2 cytokine production, although it could have also indicated decreased T_{reg} activity. In another study which solely studied the bovine immunization response after omega-3 fish oil supplementation found increased secondary IgG responses to ovalbumin (Ballou and DePeters, 2008). The findings from these studies provide evidence that the fatty acid source as well as differing amounts of EPA and DHA concentrations in omega-3 supplements modulate distinctive aspects of the immune response. Further studies are required to determine appropriate EPA and DHA ratios for optimal immunization responses.

Chapter 1 Study Objectives

To evaluate effects of dietary supplemented fatty acids on the bovine immune system, an experiment was designed to examine impacts of feeding dairy cattle omega-3 PUFA supplements in two separate feed management systems on responsiveness to immunization. This trial was named AIF Trial #7, after the Atlantic Innovation Fund, and it was carried out in 2008. In a previous experiment (AIF Trial #6), influences of dietary algae on bovine immune responses to KLH immunization were evident, and this provided the rationale for continuing with KLH immunization investigation in Trial #7. The omega-3 fatty acid sources for this trial were dietary microalgae or fish oil. Pasture (grazing cattle in open pasture) and confinement (cattle kept in barn tie stalls) were the feed management systems utilized in the trial. It was hypothesized that cattle receiving the microalgae supplement would have increased responsiveness to KLH immunization compared to cattle on the fish oil supplement or control diet, since the microalgae had a distinctively high DHA to EPA ratio. Cytokines and immunoglobulins measured while investigating the impact of supplementing the diet with fatty acids on response to immunization with KLH are shown in **Table 1-1**.

Objective 1: to directly examine the effects of supplementing fatty acids in the feeding regime on the bovine immune system, and specifically on the T-cell dependent antibody response to KLH immunization and cytokine production.

Objective 2: to investigate differences in adaptive immunological responses to KLH immunization between pasture or confinement feed management systems.

Methods

AIF Trial #7 Experimental Design

AIF Trial #7 took place in 2008 as a collaborative project with the researchers at the Nova Scotia Agricultural College (NSAC). The other researchers involved in the project were interested evaluating molecular effects of the dietary fatty acid supplements, lipid metabolic pathways, milk quality, health parameters of the calves and placenta quality. My primary interests involved measuring the adaptive immune response to immunization and potential alterations in immune activity. The trial was constructed as a 2×3 factorial design involving 48 female Holstein dairy cows over a period of 120 days. Cattle were blocked according to parity so that experimental analysis could take place over a typical lactation period.

The dietary supplements used in the trial were a control (no lipid supplement provided), a rumen protected fish oil or a rumen protected microalgae. Dietary supplements were provided to cattle in a 300 g dose per day. The fish oil supplement was Epax® 5500 (Pronova Biocare A.S., Lysaker, Norway), a highly refined and enriched fish oil containing a minimum DHA and EPA content of 55%. Fatty acid analysis of the fish oil supplement conducted by Dr. Payam Vahmani (PhD candidate at NSAC during the time of the trial) revealed nearly equal concentrations of DHA and EPA, with the DHA content as 12.33 g/100 g of total fatty acids and EPA content as 15.85 g/100 g of total fatty acids (Vahmani *et al.*, 2013). The microalgae supplement was the same algae species used previously in AIF Trial #6 (proprietary), and characteristically has a high DHA content and low EPA content. Microalgae DHA content was 24.23 g/100 g of total fatty acids and the EPA content was 1.61 g/100 g of total fatty acids (Vahmani *et al.*, 2013). The main difference

between supplements were that the fish oil had half of the DHA content of the microalgae supplement, while the microalgae had one tenth of the amount of EPA content of the fish oil supplement, and the control lacked DHA and EPA. Both omega-3 fatty acid supplements were protected against ruminal biohydrogenation using a proprietary process by project collaborators at the NSAC. A ruminant nutritionist was involved in the trial and balanced the diets to ensure the feeds met cattle nutritional requirements. Details on the fatty acid composition as well as the ingredient and nutritive composition of the feeds have been published previously (Vahmani *et al.*, 2013; Vahmani *et al.*, 2014). Cattle began feeding on the dietary supplements 30 days before calving and continued for 90 days following parturition, making the trial a total of 120 days.

There were two feed management systems utilized in this trial; pasture or confinement. In the pasture feed management system, cattle were allowed to graze through a rotation of two pastures, and were brought into the barn twice daily to receive concentrated dietary supplements. Cattle designated to be in the confinement feed management system were fed total mixed rations (TMR) twice daily at *ad libitum* intake while housed in the barn tie stalls, and received the concentrated dietary supplements prior to feedings. The cattle in the confinement management system have been referred to as the TMR group. All cattle had continuous access to water and were milked twice daily following parturition. The pasture management system represented traditional farming practices, whereas the confinement/TMR management system represented industrial farming practices. Cattle were maintained in the feed management systems for the same duration as dietary supplement feeding period. The sample numbers were unbalanced between pasture (n = 23) and TMR (n = 25) management systems due to the sudden death

of a cow (twisted stomach) in the pasture system and an extra cow in the TMR system. The segregation among diets was as follows: on pasture control n = 8, microalgae n = 8, fish oil n = 7; and on TMR control n = 9, microalgae n = 8 and fish oil n = 8.

To measure adaptive immune responses, cattle were immunized with KLH, a standard T cell dependent antigen commonly used to determine humoral responses to immunization (Estrada et al., 1999). KLH (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) was reconstituted and diluted in phosphate-buffered saline under aseptic conditions. Each cow received a total KLH dosage of 1 mg in 50 mL of solution per immunization, which was separated into two 25 mL intramuscular injections. Cattle were injected with a 25 mL dosage under the skin of each shoulder, which was gently rubbed following injection for distribution and leakage prevention. Cattle received dietary supplements in their feed management systems for a total of 39 days before they were administered their primary immunization with KLH. Cattle received a booster dose of KLH 14 days after primary immunization, which represented 53 days on dietary supplements in the feed management systems. Blood was drawn from the tail vein into vacutainer tubes without preservative, which was necessary for the measurement of fatty acid composition and hormone assays by the other researchers involved on the project. Blood and milk were drawn from cattle at baseline (prior to initial KLH injection), 1, 7 and 14 days following primary immunization, 7 days following secondary immunization, and on the final day of the trial. Serum and milk samples were stored at -80°C until analysis. Cattle immunizations, blood draws and milking were carried out by animal research technicians at NSAC.

Measurement of Antibody Production During KLH Immunization

Antibody levels of all 48 cows were measured in order to evaluate whether fatty acid supplementation had an effect on the response to immunization, and also to determine if there were differences in immune responses of cattle consuming different omega-3 fatty acid supplements or on distinct feed management systems. Antibody concentrations were measured at four specific days during the trial, which represent the immunization baseline (day 0), primary response (7 days after initial KLH immunization), secondary response (21 days after initial KLH immunization and 7 days following KLH booster) and long-term response (51 days after initial KLH immunization and final day of the trial). These KLH time points with corresponding days on supplement/feed management system and days since calving are shown in Table 1-2. Concentrations of IgM, IgG and its subclasses were measured in serum. IgA concentrations were measured in milk since IgA is the predominant mucosal isotype, and there was interest in determining if any dietary effects were detectable at the mucosal level. Antibody profiles were analyzed using Bovine Ig enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) Quantitation Sets (Bethyl Laboratories Inc., Montgomery, TX, USA) for IgA, IgM, IgG, IgG_1 , and IgG_2 isotypes. Total Ig concentrations were measured as directed by the manufacturer and were carried out using 96-well high-binding full area microplates (Greiner Bio-One, Frickenhausen, Germany). In order to measure KLH-specific antibody concentrations including anti-KLH IgM, anti-KLH IgG and its subclasses anti-KLH IgG₁ and anti-KLH IgG₂, and anti-KLH IgA, ELISA plates were coated with $10 \,\mu$ g/mL of KLH antigen in 0.05 M carbonate-bicarbonate buffer pH 9.6 overnight and blocked with 50 mM Tris, 0.14 M NaCl, 0.05% Tween 20 pH 8.0. In separate sequential steps, samples were diluted and incubated on the ELISA plate, and then HRP-conjugated bovine Ig detection antibodies were added to the assay. The chemical substrate, 3,3'5,5' tetramethylbenzidine (TMB; Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) was added and the colorimetric reaction was stopped with the addition of 1.8 N H₂SO₄. The optical density of the reactions in the microplates were read at a wavelength of 450 nm on a Synergy HT multi-detection microplate reader using KC4 v3.4 analysis software (BioTek Instruments Inc, Winooski VT, USA). The Ig and anti-KLH Ig concentrations were calculated in unknown samples from a standard curve.

Measurement of Cytokine Activity During KLH Immunization

Cytokines IL-4, IFN- γ , active and total TGF- β 1 were chosen for analysis in order to determine possible mechanisms of immunomodulation as well as shifts in the balance of T_H1 and T_H2 cell responses that may have been induced by the omega-3 supplements or feed management systems, as these cytokines are involved in Ig class switching. Cytokine concentrations were measured in serum using the bovine IL-4 ELISA reagent kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA), IFN- γ and TGF- β 1 DuoSet ELISA Development kits (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA) according to manufacturer's procedures. Active and total TGF- β 1 concentrations were quantified separately due to the requirement of a sample activation procedure. "Active" TGF- β 1 was measured in serum as any other cytokine, since this form of TGF- β 1 was already in its immunoreactive form. However, in order to measure the "total" amount of TGF- β 1, activation of latent TGF- β 1 was necessary since this cytokine cannot be measured by ELISA with the attachment of its latencyassociated protein (LAP), which inhibits TGF- β 1 bioactivity (Annes *et al.*, 2003; Kropf *et al.*, 1997). Once the LAP has been cleaved, the total amount of TGF- β 1 can be quantified, including both biologically active and previously latent forms, since antibodies used in the ELISA bind only to the active form of the cytokine only. The sample activation procedure was carried out in microcentrifuge tubes treated with Sigmacote® (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA), which is a solution of chlorinated organopolysiloxane in heptane that prevents TGF- β 1 protein from binding to the surface of the tubes. In each tube, 20 µL of 1N HCl was added to 40 µL of serum and incubated for 10 minutes at room temperature. Acidification was neutralized with the addition of 20 µL of 1.2 NaOH/0.05M 4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1piperazineethanesulfonic acid (HEPES), and samples were subsequently diluted in reagent diluent for the analysis of "total" concentrations of TGF- β 1. The time points chosen for cytokine analysis in serum included KLH d0, d1, d7, d14, d21 and d51.

Organ tissues were collected from 24 cows involved in the trial, while the remaining 24 cows were led to pasture retirement. Spleen and caecum tissues were analyzed for 12 cows in the TMR group and 12 cows in the pasture group (n = 4 on fish oil, n = 4 on microalgae and n = 4 on control for each feed management system). The spleen was chosen to examine immune activity at the systemic level, and the caecum was chosen to examine activity at the level of the mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue (MALT). These tissues were homogenized in phosphate buffered saline (137 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 8.1 mM Na₂HPO₄, 1.5 mM KH₂PO₄, pH 7.4) with the addition of 1% Protease Inhibitor Cocktail (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA). Tissues were suspended in the buffer at a ratio of 1:5 (wt/vol) and then homogenized using a VWR®200 homogenizer (VWR International, Radnor PA, USA) and centrifuged (17 200 × g for 30 min at 4°C). Supernatants were collected and stored at -80°C until cytokine analysis by the same ELISAs used in the analysis of serum samples (IL-4, IFN-γ and active/total TGF-β1).

These tissue measures were representative of immune activity from the final day of the trial, 51 days after immunization with KLH and 120 days after receiving dietary supplements in the feed management systems. All cytokine ELISAs were carried out using the same microplates, plate reader and analysis software as the Ig ELISAs.

Statistical Analyses

For the analyses of the Ig data, assistance was received from a statistician, Sherry Fillmore, Statistical Project Manager with Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada (AAFC, Kentville, Nova Scotia), since she had history working with previous AIF trials. This statistician's expertise was required due to blinding by dietary supplement identity throughout experimentation and to the complexity of the trial design with varying lactation cycles. The statistician has access to documents detailing the life history of the cattle; which included situations of multiparity and general health information that could have led to the exclusion of certain cows from the analysis. Ig data analysis was carried out using Genstat v14.0 software (VSN International, Hemel Hepstead, UK). The data was first transformed using a log10 transformation, and then analyzed by a restricted maximum likelihood model (REML) since the dataset was unbalanced, followed by Fisher's least significant difference (LSD) multiple range test for comparisons within feed management system and supplement groups. In the evaluation of Ig changes across days, linear regression was used to collect linear and quadratic coefficients across time. The Ig plots demonstrating immunization responses to KLH were created using SigmaPlot v13.0 (Systat Software Inc., San Jose, CA, USA).

The statistical analysis program SigmaPlot v13.0 (Systat Software Inc., San Jose, CA, USA) was used to analyze cytokine data collected during this trial. Data was analyzed

by two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) to examine differences between omega-3 fatty acid supplements and control, pasture and TMR feed management systems as well as feed management system and supplement interactions (feed system × suppl.). ANOVA analysis was followed by Tukey's pairwise multiple comparison tests. Data was transformed if it did not pass normality (Shapiro-Wilk) or equal variance (Brown-Forsythe) tests, using common transformations available in the software program. A *P* value of < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. All results in tables are presented as the mean \pm SEM.

Results

Assessment of Antibody Production in Response to KLH Immunization

Immunoglobulin concentrations were measured in order to quantify antibody production in response to the bovine KLH immunization. Total antibody concentrations were measured for each immunoglobulin isotype in addition to antibody concentrations specific for the KLH antigen.

Total IgM and anti-KLH IgM production in response to KLH immunization was measured in serum and is displayed in Figure 1-1. There was an overall effect of feed management system on total IgM concentrations (P < 0.001), cattle grazing in pasture had higher IgM concentrations than those fed TMR while housed in barn tie stalls. On KLH d21 (secondary response), cattle in the pasture feed management system displayed higher total IgM concentrations than those in the TMR system (P < 0.001). Supplement did not have a significant effect on total IgM concentrations, and no interactions of feed system \times supplement were found. An overall effect of feed management system was also evident on anti-KLH IgM concentrations (P < 0.001). Similar to total IgM concentrations, cattle on TMR had decreased anti-KLH IgM production in comparison to cattle grazing in pasture. On KLH d7 (primary response, P < 0.001) and KLH d21 (secondary response, P = 0.001), cattle in the pasture feed management system had higher anti-KLH IgM concentrations than those in the TMR system. There was an effect of supplement on anti-KLH IgM concentrations (P = 0.043); cattle on microalgae displayed higher concentrations than those on control, however cattle on fish oil did not differ from those on control or microalgae. There was an overall interaction of feed system × supplement on anti-KLH IgM concentrations (P = 0.049).

Total IgG and anti-KLH IgG production in response to KLH immunization was measured in serum and is displayed in Figure 1-2. There was an overall effect of feed management system on total IgG concentrations (P < 0.001), cattle grazing in pasture had higher IgG concentrations than those fed TMR while housed in barn tie stalls. On KLH d21 (secondary response), there was a significant difference between total IgG concentrations based on feed management system (P < 0.001), with cattle in the pasture group having higher concentrations than those in the TMR group. Supplement had an effect on total IgG concentrations (P = 0.003); cattle on the microalgae supplement had the highest total IgG concentrations overall. There was a significant interaction of feed system \times supplement overall on total IgG concentrations (P = 0.008). An overall effect of feed management system was also evident in concentrations of anti-KLH IgG (P < 0.001). Similar to total IgG concentrations, cattle on TMR had decreased anti-KLH IgG production in comparison to cattle on pasture. On KLH d21 (secondary response), cattle in the pasture feed management system displayed higher anti-KLH IgG concentrations than those in the TMR system (P < 0.001). There was an effect of supplement on anti-KLH IgG concentrations (P = 0.041); cattle on fish oil or algae displayed higher concentrations than cattle on control in pasture, while the opposite pattern occurred in cattle on TMR. There was an overall interaction of feed management system \times supplement on anti-KLH IgG concentrations (P = 0.044), and this interaction was also evident at KLH d21 (P = 0.014).

Anti-KLH IgG₁ and anti-KLH IgG₂ production in response to KLH immunization was measured in serum and is displayed in **Figure 1-3**. There was an overall effect of feed management system on anti-KLH IgG₁ concentrations (P < 0.001); cattle grazing in pasture had higher anti-KLH IgG₁ concentrations than those fed TMR while housed in barn tie
stalls. This difference between anti-KLH IgG₁ concentrations due to feed management system was apparent on KLH d7 (primary response, P = 0.005), KLH d21 (secondary response, P < 0.001) and KLH d51 (long-term response, P = 0.001). Supplement had overall trend (P = 0.065) on anti-KLH IgG₁ concentrations; cattle on fish oil or microalgae supplements tended to have increased concentrations compared to those on control. There was a significant interaction of feed management system \times supplement overall on anti-KLH IgG₁ concentrations (P = 0.023). An overall effect of feed management system was also evident on anti-KLH IgG₂ concentrations (P = 0.047); cattle on pasture displayed higher concentrations than those on TMR. On KLH d21 (secondary response), cows in the pasture feed management system had significantly higher anti-KLH IgG₂ concentrations than those in the TMR system (P = 0.002). In common with anti-KLH IgG₁ concentrations, supplement showed a trend toward significance (P = 0.059) on anti-KLH IgG₂ concentrations; cattle on the microalgae supplement tended to have increased anti-KLH IgG₂ concentrations compared to control, however cattle on fish oil did not differ from those on control or microalgae. On KLH d7 (primary response), there was an effect of supplement (P = 0.031), and cattle on fish oil and microalgae had higher anti-KLH IgG₂ concentrations than those on control. There was a significant interaction of feed management system \times supplement overall on anti-KLH IgG₂ concentrations (P = 0.013), and this was also evident on KLH d7 (primary response, P = 0.026).

Total IgA and anti-KLH IgA production in response to KLH immunization was measured in milk and is displayed in **Figure 1-4**. There was an overall effect of feed management system on total IgA concentrations (P = 0.003); cattle grazing in pasture had higher IgA concentrations than those fed TMR while housed in barn tie stalls. Supplement

had an effect on total IgA concentrations (P = 0.003); cattle on the fish oil supplement had significantly lower concentrations than those on control or microalgae. On KLH d51 (longterm response), cattle on fish oil had the lowest IgA concentrations (P = 0.038). There was a significant interaction of feed system × supplement (P = 0.049) on IgA concentrations at KLH d7 (primary response). There was also an overall effect of feed management system on anti-KLH IgA concentrations (P < 0.001). Similar to total IgA concentrations, cattle on TMR had lower anti-KLH IgA production, while cattle on pasture had higher concentrations overall, but the supplement effect was not statistically significant. Anti-KLH IgA concentrations were significantly different between feed management systems on KLH d7 (primary response, P = 0.045), d21 (secondary response, P < 0.001) and d51 (long-term response, P < 0.001). There was no significant effect of supplement on anti-KLH IgA production.

Assessment of Cytokine Activity in Response to KLH Immunization

Cytokine concentrations were measured in order to determine the level of immune activity in response to bovine KLH immunization. Examination of changes in patterns of cytokine concentrations over the course of the immunization schedule allowed for determinations of shifts in the balance of T_H1 and T_H2 cell responses. Analysis of cytokine data also provided a means to assess how the omega-3 supplements or feed management systems influenced immune activity.

IL-4 was chosen for analysis due to its active role in adaptive immunity, in the differentiation of naïve $CD4^+$ T cells into helper T_H2 cells and in antibody isotype switching to IgG₁. IL-4 is considered to be a signature T_H2 cytokine. Concentrations of IL-

4 were measured in serum over five different time points throughout the trial (**Table 1-3**); however, concentrations of this cytokine were very low and even below the level of quantification (BLQ) in some circumstances. This made statistical analysis difficult since there only two cows on control and a single cow on microalgae in the pasture group that displayed IL-4 production on KLH d0, a single cow on control and a single cow on fish oil in the pasture group that displayed IL-4 production on KLH d1, while no cattle displayed measurable serum IL-4 concentrations on KLH d7, and a single cow on microalgae in the TMR group had a measurable IL-4 concentration on KLH d21. Increased serum IL-4 concentrations were observed on KLH d51, however there were no differences in concentrations attributable to feed management system or supplement. IL-4 concentrations were also quantified in splenic and caecal tissue; however, no differences were found between tissue concentrations in cattle from separate feed management systems or supplements.

IFN- γ was chosen for analysis due to its role in cell-mediated immunity and inflammatory responses and is considered to be a T_H1 signature cytokine. Concentrations of IFN- γ were measured in serum over six different time points throughout the trial (**Table 1-4**); however, concentrations of this cytokine were below the level of detection on KLH d0, 1, 7, 21 and 51. The only time point with measurable serum IFN- γ concentrations was KLH d14 (the day of the KLH booster dose), although no differences in concentrations were found due to feed management systems or supplements. In common with the IL-4 concentrations quantified in splenic and caecal tissue, no differences were found between IFN- γ tissue concentrations in cattle from separate feed management systems or supplements.

TGF- β 1 was chosen for analysis since is an important regulatory cytokine, which influences antibody class switching in B cells to IgA and acts as a T_{reg} cytokine through monocyte activation inhibition. Concentrations of active TGF- β 1 (Table 1-5) were measured in serum over six different time points throughout the trial, as well as splenic and caecal measurements at the trial endpoint. On KLH d0, serum active TGF-β1 concentrations were higher overall in cattle in the pasture feed management system than TMR (P = 0.015), and concentrations of active TGF- β 1 were different between feed management systems in cattle on the fish oil supplement (P = 0.009). No differences in active TGF- β 1 concentrations between feed management systems or supplements were found on KLH days 1, 7 or 14. On KLH d21, there was an overall effect of feed management system (P = 0.006) on active TGF- β 1 concentrations, with cattle grazing in pasture having higher concentrations than those fed TMR in barn tie stalls, and this difference was most apparent in cattle on the control diet (P = 0.024). The overall effect of feed management system (P < 0.001) on active TGF- β 1 concentrations was present again on KLH d21, with cattle in pasture having higher concentrations than those fed TMR. These feed management system-associated differences in active TGF- β 1 concentrations were apparent in cattle on the control (P = 0.044) and microalgae supplement (P < 0.001). In the spleen, cattle in the TMR feed management system had higher active TGF- β 1 concentrations than cattle in the pasture system. An effect due to feed management system on active TGF- β 1 concentrations was present within caecal tissue, with cattle in the pasture system having higher concentrations than those in the TMR system (P < 0.001). This difference between active TGF- β 1 concentrations by feed management system was present within each diet; pasture grazing cattle displayed higher concentrations than TMR-fed cattle on control (P = 0.020), fish oil (P < 0.001) and microalgae (P = 0.010) supplements.

Concentrations of total TGF- β 1 (**Table 1-6**) were also measured in serum over six different time points throughout the trial, as well as in splenic and caecal tissue. On KLH d0, total TGF-\u00b31 concentrations were higher overall in cattle in the pasture feed management system than those in the TMR system (P = 0.046). Within cattle on the fish oil supplement, those in the pasture group had higher total TGF- β 1 concentrations than those in the TMR group (P = 0.039). There was a supplement effect on concentrations of total TGF- β 1 (*P* = 0.021), with cattle on fish oil having higher concentrations than those on microalgae (P = 0.037), and those on microalgae having lower concentrations than those on control (P = 0.047). Within the TMR feed management system, microalgae-fed cattle had lower total TGF- β 1 concentrations than those on control (P = 0.010). On KLH d1, total TGF-\beta1 concentrations were higher overall in cattle in the pasture feed management system than TMR (P = 0.042). No differences in total TGF- β 1 concentrations between feed management systems or supplements were found on KLH days 7 or 14. On KLH d21, total TGF-B1 concentrations were higher overall in cattle in the pasture feed management system than those in the TMR system (P = 0.025), and on the microalgae supplement, concentrations of total TGF- β 1 were higher in cattle in the pasture system than those in the TMR system (P = 0.026). A similar pattern was found again on KLH d51, where total serum TGF- β 1 concentrations were higher overall in cattle in the pasture feed management system than in the TMR system (P = 0.009), and on the microalgae supplement, concentrations of total TGF- β 1 were higher in cattle grazing in pasture that those which were TMR-fed (P = 0.029). In the spleen, an overall supplement effect was present in total

TGF- β 1 concentrations (P = 0.007), with cattle on the microalgae supplement having higher concentrations than those on fish oil (P = 0.019) or control (P = 0.012). Within the pasture feed management system, splenic total TGF- β 1 concentrations were highest in the cattle fed the microalgae supplement compared to those on the fish oil supplement (P =0.021) or control (P = 0.047). An effect due to feed management system on total TGF- β 1 concentrations was present within caecal tissue, with cattle in the pasture system having higher concentrations than those in the TMR system (P < 0.001). This difference between total TGF- β 1 concentrations by feed management system was present within each diet; pasture grazing cattle displayed higher concentrations than TMR-fed cattle on control (P =0.070) and microalgae (P = 0.004), and lower concentrations than TMR-fed cattle on the fish oil supplement (P = 0.023).

Discussion

The rationale for continuing experimentation with supplementing the bovine diet with omega-3 fatty acids in the form of algae stemmed from previous AIF trials. Results obtained by our laboratory during AIF Trial #6 demonstrated that macroalgae supplementation with Tasco® (Acadian Seaplants Ltd., Dartmouth, Nova Scotia, Canada), an animal feed containing the brown alga *Ascophyllum nodosum*, increased KLH specific antibody production in dairy cattle (unpublished data). Tasco® has been previously shown to influence the bovine immune system, as cattle displayed increased macrophage activity when they entered new feed lots after feeding on Tasco® (Allen *et al.*, 2001). The division of cattle by separate feed management systems (grazing in pasture or confined while fed TMR) was introduced in AIF trial #7 to reflect realistic cattle housing methods utilized in Canada.

Cattle in both feed management systems and on all dietary supplements responded to KLH immunization, however differences in the magnitude of response were observed. IgM are the first class of antibodies produced in the primary response to immunologic stimulus (Baumgarth *et al.*, 2005; Liu *et al.*, 1991) and are the first line of defence against viral and bacterial antigens (Ehrenstein and Notley, 2010). The IgM antibody class is capable of strong complement activation and is highly polyvalent due to its pentameric structure, further enabling its ability to neutralize antigen (Ehrenstein and Notley, 2010). Total IgM concentrations measured in serum at all timepoints were distinctively higher in the cattle which grazed pasture in comparison to those which were confined in barn tie stalls and fed TMR, and this difference was most pronounced at the secondary response (21 day following immunization). Total IgM concentrations in the pasture group displayed a classic immunization response. However, cattle in the TMR group did not display the typical immunization response pattern, and their total IgM response profile resembled that of their total IgG response profile which was flattened and did not follow a characteristic curve pattern. Cattle fed the microalgae supplement displayed higher total IgM responses than cattle on fish oil or control, though there was no significant effect of supplement on total IgM concentrations. A similar pattern was observed again in examining anti-KLH IgM concentrations, where cattle on pasture responded more robustly than cattle on TMR at primary and secondary response measurements, and followed the typical immunization response pattern. The anti-KLH IgM response was highest in cattle in the microalgae group. Production of IgM and anti-KLH IgM by cattle in the trial were far greater than other isotypes measured, and this would have increased the immune capacity in the event of viral or bacterial antigen exposure, particularly at the primary response. The cattle in the pasture feed management system or cattle receiving microalgae supplements had the highest serum total IgM and anti-KLH IgM response to immunization.

IgG antibodies are found predominantly in blood and have involvement in effective viral antigen neutralization (Butler *et al.*, 1971). IgG also facilitate opsonisation and are produced more slowly than IgM after a primary response to immunogenic stimulus (Liu *et al.*, 1991; Mix *et al.*, 2006). In general, all subclasses of IgG are capable of activating complement, although they may do so using classical, alternative or both forms of activation (Mix *et al.*, 2006). Cattle which grazed pasture had higher total IgG responses to immunization overall in comparison to those which were confined in barn tie stalls and fed TMR, and this effect was specifically noted at the secondary response measure. Cattle in pasture displayed a classic immunization response with increasing titers at primary and

secondary responses, while returning to lower concentrations (maintained above baseline) over time. Although cattle in the TMR group did respond to immunization, they did not display the expected immunization response pattern for total IgG concentrations, and their pattern appeared to be more flattened in comparison. Microalgae-fed cattle produced stronger total IgG responses than those fed fish oil supplements or control. Cattle in pasture displayed higher anti-KLH IgG responses than those on TMR overall, and this effect was most pronounced at the secondary response. The production of anti-KLH IgG antibodies appeared to resemble the characteristic immunization response curve more than the total IgG antibodies, although this was not surprising given the fact that total IgG concentration increased due to anti-KLH IgG production. Cattle receiving both omega-3 supplements had higher anti-KLH IgG responses than those on control.

IgG₁ antibodies are produced by B2 cells in response to antigen when T_H2 cells release IL-4, and this isotype is capable of strong classical and alternative complement activation (Butler *et al.*, 1971; Mix *et al.*, 2006). Cattle in the pasture management system had significantly higher anti-KLH IgG₁ responses overall than those on the TMR system. Since cattle on the omega-3 supplements only tended to have higher anti-KLH IgG₁ responses than those on control, this implies that antibody production was more strongly influenced by feed management system. The anti-KLH IgG₁ response to immunization followed a typical pattern. IgG₂ antibody production by B2 cells is enhanced by IFN- γ production by T_H1 cells, a process which actually inhibits IgG₁ production (Mix *et al.*, 2006). IgG₂ antibodies are capable of classical and alternative complement activation. Cattle in the pasture management system had significantly higher anti-KLH IgG₂ responses than those in the TMR system, and cattle on the microalgae supplements had higher responses than those on control. Production of anti-KLH IgG_2 did not follow the characteristic immunization response pattern. The concentrations of anti-KLH IgG_2 were much lower in quantity than anti-KLH IgG_1 , which was surprising since IgG_2 is usually the predominant IgG isotype in bovine serum (Butler *et al.*, 1971).

A previous study conducted by van Altena et al. (2016) investigated the ability of naturally produced antibodies specific for KLH in dairy cattle to recognize common microbial structures. These cattle had not been previously immunized with KLH; however, they did have non-specific natural antibodies that bound KLH. It was discovered that cattle with higher titers of natural anti-KLH IgM displayed higher IgM binding capacity to Escherichia coli and Salmonella typhimurium overall (van Altena et al., 2016). Cattle which produced high or low titers of natural anti-KLH IgG had equal IgG binding capacity to E. coli (van Altena et al., 2016). This study concluded that cattle producing higher natural anti-KLH IgM and anti-KLH IgG concentrations had enhanced ability to bind pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), and also a reduced chance in developing mastitis (van Altena et al., 2016). The majority of naturally produced antibodies are of the IgM isotype (Baumgarth et al., 2005), and the cattle in AIF Trial #7 displayed almost 63 fold higher IgM production than IgG. The KLH-specific antibodies were also produced in higher quantities belonging to the IgM isotype, which was almost 10 fold higher than the IgG isotype at the primary response, and this was typical of a primary response to immunization. Since cattle with higher natural anti-KLH IgM titers have been shown to have reduced incidence of mastitis (van Altena et al., 2016), cattle in the pasture feed management system while consuming the microalgae supplement likely had increased antibody binding capacity to PAMPS and decreased risk of developing mastitis.

IgA is predominantly a mucosal isotype produced by B1 cells, and contributes to mucosal immunity while neutralizing antigen (Liu et al., 1991; Pabst, 2012). Since IgA is the major Ig in mucosal secretions (Butler et al., 1971; Guidry et al., 1980), it was quantified in bovine milk. Total IgA responses were highest overall in cattle that grazed pasture, and microalgae-fed cattle had higher concentrations than fish-oil fed cattle. This effect remained at the long-term response measure. Total IgA concentrations did increase from the baseline to KLH d7, however total IgA concentrations did not follow the typical pattern of an antibody response to immunization with a rapid increase during the secondary response followed by a gradual decline in antibody concentrations specific for the immunizing antigen. In fact, the responses were completely inconsistent between supplements, and the TMR-fed cattle seemed to display diminishing total IgA concentrations over the KLH immunization schedule while the cattle in the pasture group appeared to increase total IgA concentrations. Anti-KLH IgA responses were higher in the pasture group of cattle, and this pattern was consistently observed over primary, secondary and long-term responses.

The presence of anti-KLH IgA production in milk suggests that a mucosal immune response occurred during systemic KLH immunization. In order to further explore impact of these dietary supplements and feed managements on the mucosal immune response, other mucosal samples besides milk should be collected for measurement and analysis of Ig concentrations, such as nasal secretions (Corbeil *et al.* 1984), salivary secretions (Sakaquchi *et al.* 2013), or faecal samples (Tolleson *et al.* 2013). The total Ig concentrations within milk collections may have fluctuated naturally over the weeks following parturition, with the possibility of steadily decreasing antibody transfer to the

calf influencing the total Ig concentrations in milk more strongly than the KLH immunization did. It is also important to consider that the responses over primary, secondary and long-term responses may have differed if the KLH was administered mucosally instead of the intramuscular (systemic) injection. However, it is possible that mucosal KLH immunization may not have induced a stronger Ig production response since the delivery of antigen to a mucosal surface may also induce tolerance, and this route of antigen tolerization has been shown in cattle (Weiss *et al.* 2006).

Specific cytokine concentrations were analyzed an effort to examine mechanisms of immunomodulation and shifts in the balance of T_H1 and T_H2 cell responses. IL-4 was chosen as a T_H2 marker in the analysis of KLH immunization parameters because its signaling regulates the differentiation of naïve $CD4^+$ T cells into helper T_H2 cells, (Paul, 1991), it is involved in B cell isotype class switching to IgG_1 (Pinchuk *et al.*, 2003) and is considered a T_H2 signature cytokine. It was difficult to measure serum IL-4 as it was undetectable at the primary and secondary responses. At the long-term response, IL-4 was detectable in serum, spleen and caecum, but no differences between feed management system or omega-3 supplements were found. IFN- γ was chosen as a T_H1 marker in the analysis of KLH immunization parameters since it has involvement in cell-mediated immunity, and is considered a $T_{\rm H}1$ signature cytokine (Schroder *et al.*, 2004). Similar to IL-4, it was difficult to measure IFN- γ in serum since it was undetectable at most points throughout the trial. Splenic and caecal IFN- γ concentrations measured at the end of the trial did not differ between feed management systems or dietary PUFA supplements. The fact that the IFN- γ tissue concentrations did not differ at the end of the trial may not however be representative of tissue IFN- γ concentration fluctuations throughout the trial.

Unfortunately, it was not possible to take these tissue measurements during the trial. It was interesting that IFN- γ concentrations were highest in serum at KLH d14, which was the day cattle received their booster KLH dose, perhaps reflecting a heightened T_H memory response, as the blood was drawn within hours of the cattle receiving the KLH injections. If IL-4 and IFN- γ concentrations had shown change, IL-4/IFN- γ production ratios would have been calculated to determine if there was a shift towards either T_H1 cell mediated activity or T_H2 humoral activity (Becker, 2006; Paul, 1991; Roman *et al.*, 1997). However, this was not possible because serum concentrations of these T_H1 and T_H2 cytokines were not detectable at several time points during the trial. Serum cytokine quantification is often not the optimal measure to monitor the activity of IL-4 and IFN- γ (Albers *et al.*, 2005). While tissue measures are preferable, they are not always possible.

TGF- β 1 was chosen in the analysis of KLH immunization parameters because it is an important T_{reg} cytokine (Tran, 2012), it inhibits monocyte activation, influences antibody class switching to IgA in B cells and it can be also be considered a T_H2 cytokine (Li *et al.*, 2006; Rubtsov and Rudensky, 2007). At baseline, secondary and long-term response measurement points, cattle in the pasture feed management system produced higher serum concentrations of active TGF- β 1 than those in the TMR system. In splenic tissue (representing a systemic measure), cattle in the TMR system displayed higher active TGF- β 1 concentrations than those in the pasture system. In caecal tissue (representing a mucosal measure), the opposite pattern emerged and cattle in the pasture system on each diet produced higher active TGF- β 1 concentrations than those in the TMR system. It is acknowledged that TGF- β 1 may have also been produced not only by immune cells but also by the intestinal epithelial cells of the caecal tissue, and this may represent direct effects of the diet in the pasture management system. At baseline, one day following initial immunization with KLH, secondary and long-term measurement points, cattle in the pasture feed management system produced higher serum concentrations of total TGF- β 1 than those in the TMR system. Higher total TGF- β 1 concentrations were also evident in the caecal tissue of cattle in the pasture group. At the baseline measure, cattle consuming fish oil had the highest serum total TGF- β 1 concentrations, while cattle which consumed microalgae had the highest splenic total TGF- β 1 concentrations suggesting a long-term on impact of this supplement on systemic TGF- β 1 production. These patterns of serum active and total TGF- β 1 production do follow the total IgA and anti-KLH IgA responses measured in milk, which were most strongly influenced by the pasture feed management system.

A previous study conducted by Garcia *et al.* (2014) measured immune responses in newborn Holstein calves which received unsaturated fatty acid supplements in the form of either high or low linoleic acid (an omega-6 PUFA). The *ex-vivo* IFN- γ production by isolated peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) after stimulation with concanavalin A was measured, and it was found that PBMCs isolated from calves on high linoleic acid had increased production of IFN- γ . The study conclusions were that calves receiving the high linoleic acid supplement had earlier development of T_H1 activity due to increased capacity to produce IFN- γ (Garcia *et al.*, 2014).

An objective of AIF Trial #7 was to measure whether or not there were shifts in the balance of T_H1 and T_H2 activity based on systemic or mucosal concentrations of IL-4, IFN- γ , active and total TGF- β 1. Since there were no apparent differences due to feed system or supplement on concentrations of IL-4 and IFN- γ , it was difficult to determine a direct T_H1/T_H2 shift based on these cytokines. However, active and total TGF- β 1 concentrations

in serum and tissue were highest in cattle in the pasture feed management system, and TGF- β 1 is an important regulatory cytokine with an ability to influence T_H1 and T_H2 activity. Cattle in the pasture system also produced higher concentrations of total and anti-KLH specific antibodies, which suggests heighted T_H2 activity. Additionally, there was a shift in the balance of anti-KLH IgG₁ and anti-KLH IgG₂ concentrations. IgG₂ production is associated with T_H1 activity and IgG₁ production is indicative of T_H2 activity (Mix *et al.*, 2006). IgG₂ antibodies are typically more predominant in bovine serum than IgG₁ (Butler *et al.*, 1971); however, cattle produced higher serum concentrations of anti-KLH IgG₁ than anti-KLH IgG₂ throughout the response to KLH immunization. The total increase in Ig production and anti-KLH IgG₁/IgG₂ antibody prevalence further indicates a shift towards T_H2 activity. Specifically, cattle in the pasture management system and those supplemented with microalgae (higher DHA and lower EPA content than fish oil) demonstrated a response indicative of shift towards T_H2 activity greater than those in the TMR system or on the control.

Studies have previously investigated differences between pasture and TMR management systems in dairy cattle, but their focus has mainly been on milk production and overall milk quality (Bargo *et al.*, 2002; Kolver and Muller, 1998). It has been reported that cattle in pasture have lower milk production (Kolver and Muller, 1998), and cattle in confinement fed TMR produce milk with higher fat and protein content (Bargo *et al.*, 2002). The differences between these feed systems on cattle immunity and various health parameters are under-studied. Diverse variables may contribute to the impact of feed system. For example, it is possible that differences in exercise, social interaction or isolation and barn-associated stressors may influence immune activity. AIF trial #7 results

demonstrate distinct differences between these two feed management systems with respect to bovine immunization responses, suggesting that feed management systems do have an impact on immune parameters, although the mechanism behind these differences remains to be determined.

Microalgae and fish oil have been previously supplemented in the bovine diet, however the extent to which they may influence bovine immunity has not been thoroughly investigated. A study which investigated microalgae feeding found that cattle produced milk with higher DHA content while on the microalgae supplement, and this milk was considered to have higher nutritional quality (Franklin *et al.*, 1999). In a separate study investigating the effects of supplementing the bovine diet with fish oil, it was found that fish oil consumption did not influence the expression of genes involved in lipid metabolism in skeletal muscle or in the liver (Gessner *et al.*, 2016). There have not been any negative impacts of omega-3 fatty acid supplementation on bovine health or metabolism parameters reported in the literature. After analyzing data collected during AIF Trial #7, cattle on the omega-3 supplements produced higher concentrations of total IgA, total IgG, anti-KLH IgG, anti-KLH IgG₁/IgG₂, and anti-KLH IgM than cattle on control, and production was most often higher in cattle which consumed microalgae. These findings demonstrate that the source of omega-3 and the DHA/EPA ratio may differentially modulate immune activity, as suggested by Caroprese et al. (2009) and Franklin et al. (1999). Given that the KLH formulations did not contain any adjuvant, supplementing the bovine diet with omega-3 fatty acids, specifically microalgae, could be an effective strategy in optimizing responses to routine vaccinations. Since polysaccharides from algae have been proposed to activate TLR4 (Zhang et al. 2016), this could be a possible adjuvant mechanism involved

in the enhancement of the response to immunization induced by dietary microalgae supplements.

It was acknowledged that the group of cattle which grazed in pasture may have had more exercise than the cattle fed TMR while housed in barn tie stalls. In a human metaanalysis study investigating the efficacy of exercise prior to influenza vaccination, it was determined that the level of exercise did not influence the efficacy of the vaccination (Grande et al., 2016). The influence of exercise on cattle immunization parameters has not been well documented, and the amount and frequency of cattle movement or exercise was not recorded during the AIF Trial #7, making it difficult to equate the immunological findings with exercise. Experimentation on the metabolic properties of these cattle was conducted by Dr. Payam Vahmani (PhD candidate at NSAC during the time of the trial), and he calculated the net energy balances between feed management systems and supplements. There were no significant differences in net energy balance between cattle grazing pasture and cattle fed TMR in barn tie stalls, and no significant differences between cattle on fish oil or microalgae supplements (Vahmani et al., 2014). However, cattle grazing pasture did have lower blood glucose concentrations and lower energy intake overall ($P \ge 0.13$, Vahmani *et al.*, 2014).

In future trials investigating immunization responses in cattle on various supplements or feed management systems, it will be important to consider the timing of sample collections, the types of samples that should be collected, and the immunizing agent. In the current trial, serum and milk were collected for Ig concentration measurements at baseline, 7, 14, 21 and 51 day following KLH immunization. After Ig analysis, the timing of these sample collections did represent strong differences between

the two feed management systems, however it did not allow for an investigation of the potential impact on kinetics of the anti-KLH response. In order to examine this aspect of the response to immunization, blood should be collected every one to two days so that potential differences in the time to peak antibody responses may be compared between cattle on different dietary supplements and feed management systems. For a full investigation of a mucosal response to immunization, other samples in addition to milk during a typical lactation cycle should be collected, such as salivary or nasal secretions and faecal samples. It would also be interesting in future feed management studies to vaccinate cattle with an infectious agent that would be relevant to cattle, such as J-VAC® (Merial Canada Inc., Baie d'Urfé, Québec, Canada). This bovine vaccine is protective against *E. coli* mastitis, and also endotoxemia caused by *E. coli* and *S. typhimurium*. This vaccination strategy may be useful in studying whether pasture grazing cattle have higher concentrations of antibodies that will protect against frequently encountered infectious agents.

In conclusion, the pasture feed management system affected the magnitude of the bovine response to KLH immunization to a greater extent than the TMR system. The cattle which grazed pasture produced higher total and anti-KLH antibody concentrations over primary, secondary and long-term responses. Additionally, dietary omega-3 supplementation improved the bovine response to KLH immunization compared to control, and microalgae supplementation (higher DHA/lower EPA ratio than fish oil) was more frequently associated with higher total and anti-KLH antibody production than fish oil. The pasture feed management system and microalgae supplement supported a shift toward T_{H2} activity during KLH immunization, and cattle in these groups displayed higher

concentrations of serum and tissue TGF- β , an important cytokine involved in immunoregulation. The pasture management system and supplementation with dietary microalgae may lead to improvement of current bovine immunization strategies. This information may be useful for the design of feed supplements to optimize immune responses to routine immunization programs in dairy cattle and to improve the overall quality of bovine health.

Cytokine	Cellular Source	Cellular Target & Role	References
IFN-γ	Interferon-γ is produced by activated NK cells, CD4 ⁺ and CD8 ⁺ T lymphocytes	Impact on macrophage activation, MHC class I and II expression, antigen processing and presentation ability	(Schroder <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2004)
IL-4	Interleukin-4 is produced by mast cells, T lymphocytes and bone marrow stromal cells	Regulates the differentiation of naïve $CD4^+$ T cells into helper T_H2 cells	(Paul, 1991)
TGF-β1	Transforming growth factor-β1 is produced by almost every cell type	Multifunctional, regulates cell proliferation, growth and differentiation. Exists in active and latent forms.	(Annes <i>et al.</i> , 2003)
Immunoglobulin			
IgA	Antibody produced by plasma cells, predominately at mucosal surfaces and in milk/colostrum	Contributes to protective immunity and mucosal homeostasis, neutralizes antigens in epithelial endosomes	(Pabst, 2012)
IgG	Antibody produced by plasma cells in blood stream and in tissues, bovine IgGs are divided into two subclasses	Generally involved in neutralization of antigen and interacts with complement	(Butler <i>et al.</i> , 1971)
IgG1	Most abundant subclass of IgG	Production induced by IL-4 and inhibited by IFN-γ, involved in neutralization and opsonization of antigens and interacts with complement	(Butler <i>et al.</i> , 1971; Mix <i>et al.</i> , 2006)
IgG2	Second most abundant subclass of IgG, although most prevalent in bovine serum	Production induced by IFN- γ and inhibited by IL-4, involved in neutralization of antigens and interacts with complement	(Butler <i>et al.</i> , 1971; Mix <i>et al.</i> , 2006)

Table 1-1. Cytokines and immunoglobulin isotypes measured for determination of the impact of dietary fatty acids on bovine immunity.

This table is continued on the next page.

 Table 1-1 continued.

Immunoglobulin	Cellular Source	Cellular Target & Role Reference			
IgM	Plasma cells,	Ells, First antibody isotype to			
	predominately in the	be produced during an	and Notley,		
	blood	immune response,	2010)		
		polyvalent due to its			
		pentameric structure,			
		involved in			
		neutralization and			
		opsonization of antigens			
		and interacts with			
		complement			

Trial Day	Day Since Calving	Day Since KLH Immunization			
		& Activity Completed			
0	- 30				
30	$0 \rightarrow$ birthing day				
69	39	0 → baseline measure, primary immunization			
70	40	1 → first day following immunization			
76	46	7 \rightarrow primary response measured			
83	53	14 → booster dose, secondary immunization			
90	60	21 → secondary response measured			
120	90	51 → long-term response measured			

Table 1-2. AIF Trial #7 days corresponding to the days since calving and days sinceKLH immunization.

		IL-4*						
		Supplements			Statistics – <i>P</i> value			
Measure	Feed	Control	Fish Oil	Microalgae	Feed	Suppl.	Feed System	
**	System				System		× Suppl.	
Serum	Pasture	1.5 ± 1.2	BLQ	1.5 ± 1.5	n/a	n/a	n/a	
KLH d0	TMR	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ				
Serum	Pasture	4.6 ± 4.6	2.6 ± 2.6	BLQ	n/a	n/a	n/a	
KLH d1	TMR	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ				
Serum	Pasture	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ	n/a	n/a	n/a	
KLH d7	TMR	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ				
Serum	Pasture	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ	n/a	n/a	n/a	
KLH d21	TMR	BLQ	BLQ	2.0 ± 2.0				
Serum	Pasture	14.1 ±	$10.1 \pm$	7.2 ± 3.0	0.392	0.485	0.988	
KLH d51		8.9	10.1					
	TMR	9.4 ± 5.1	7.0 ± 4.5	2.3 ± 1.3				
Spleen	Pasture	41.6 ±	61.7 ±	52.4 ± 26.2	0.661	0.702	0.621	
KLH d51		20.8	30.9					
	TMR	$57.7 \pm$	$56.3 \pm$	53.9 ± 26.9				
		28.8	28.1					
Caecum	Pasture	16.3 ±	26.7 ±	0.0 ± 0.0	0.107	0.144	0.702	
KLH d51		16.3	22.1					
	TMR	$50.2 \pm$	$65.0 \pm$	$484.4 \pm$				
		17.1	32.9	484.4				

Table 1-3. Serum IL-4 concentrations at selected time points after KLH immunization, and final measurements in systemic and mucosal tissue.

* IL-4 concentrations (pg/mL in serum and pg/g in tissue) are presented as mean \pm SEM. Significance (P < 0.05) for phenotype, diet, and interaction between phenotype × diet was determined by two-way ANOVA. ** n = 4 per supplement/feed management system, with the exception of KLH d1 which measured all cows in the trial; n = 8 on control, n = 7 on fish oil and n = 8 on microalgae in the pasture feed management system. system. n = 9 on control, n = 8 on fish oil and n = 8 on microalgae in the TMR feed management system.

		IFN-γ [*]						
		Supplements			Statistics – <i>P</i> value			
Measure	Feed	Control	Fish Oil	Microalgae	Feed	Suppl.	Feed System	
**	System				System		× Suppl.	
Serum	Pasture	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ	n/a	n/a	n/a	
KLH d0	TMR	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ				
Serum	Pasture	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ	n/a	n/a	n/a	
KLH d1	TMR	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ				
Serum	Pasture	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ	n/a	n/a	n/a	
KLH d7	TMR	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ				
Serum	Pasture	$445.2 \pm$	389.1 ±	462.9 ±	0.953	0.263	0.578	
KLH d14		76.5	109.4	105.3				
	TMR	$546.0 \pm$	333.5 ±	429.5 ± 43.2				
		31.5	101.7					
Serum	Pasture	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ	n/a	n/a	n/a	
KLH d21	TMR	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ				
Serum	Pasture	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ	n/a	n/a	n/a	
KLH d51	TMR	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ				
Spleen	Pasture	67.4 ±	249.1 ±	346.0 ±	0.338	0.281	0.112	
KLH d51		43.3	123.7	134.1				
	TMR	$138.9 \pm$	$164.6 \pm$	167.5 ± 69.4				
		95.7	81.6					
Caecum	Pasture	BLQ	293.2 ±	BLQ	0.338	0.281	0.112	
KLH d51			220.7					
	TMR	304.6 ±	94.2 ±	162.8 ±				
		304.6	94.2	162.8				

Table 1-4. IFN- γ concentrations in serum at selected time points after KLH immunization, and final measurements in systemic and mucosal tissue.

* IFN- γ concentrations (pg/mL in serum and pg/g in tissue) are presented as mean \pm SEM. Significance (*P* < 0.05) for phenotype, diet, and interaction between phenotype × diet was determined by two-way ANOVA.

^{**} n = 8 on control, n = 7 on fish oil and n = 8 on microalgae in the pasture feed management system. n = 9 on control, n = 8 on fish oil and n = 8 on microalgae in the TMR feed management system. n = 4 per supplement/feed management system in tissue analysis.

	Active TGF-β1 [*]						
		Supplements			Statistics – <i>P</i> value		
Measure	Feed	Control	Fish Oil	Microalgae	Feed	Suppl.	Feed System
**	System				System		× Suppl.
Serum	Pasture ^{<i>α</i>}	9.9 ± 4.0	13.9 ±	7.5 ± 2.7	0.015	0.644	0.197
KLH d0			5.3α				
	TMR ^β	2.3 ± 2.0	0.8 ± 0.6^{eta}	4.1 ± 3.1			
Serum	Pasture	14.9 ±	13.6 ±	5.5 ± 2.6	0.731	0.302	0.973
KLH d1		7.6	3.1				
	TMR	15.0 ±	16.3 ±	7.9 ± 3.8			
		7.4	7.9				
Serum	Pasture	22.8 ±	$18.2 \pm$	18.8 ± 4.6	0.319	0.955	0.629
KLH d7		4.7	3.4				
	TMR	$15.2 \pm$	$17.4 \pm$	17.4 ± 3.0			
		2.9	4.8				
Serum	Pasture	10.3 ±	4.2 ± 4.2	6.2 ± 4.3	0.666	0.296	0.934
KLH d14		5.7					
	TMR	8.5 ± 6.0	1.2 ± 1.2	3.6 ± 2.8			
Serum	Pasture ^{<i>a</i>}	29.7 ±	21.2 ±	33.9 ± 6.1	0.006	0.269	0.701
KLH d21		6.4 ^α	5.5				
	TMR ^β	9.9 ±	11.9 ±	19.3 ± 8.8			
		3.5 ^β	5.7				
Serum	Pasture ^{<i>a</i>}	$49.8 \pm$	$36.8 \pm$	58.6 ± 10.4^{a}	< 0.001	0.613	0.136
KLH d51		9.7α	9.6				
	TMR^{β}	$27.8 \pm$	$21.9 \pm$	$15.1 \pm 5.2^{\beta}$			
		7.6 ^β	4.2				
Spleen	Pasture ^{<i>a</i>}	BLQ	$23.6 \pm$	29.2 ± 10.7	0.017	0.335	0.881
KLH d51			8.9				
	TMR ^β	$49.0 \pm$	$59.3 \pm$	87.0 ± 37.7			
		22.9	27.9				
Caecum	Pasture ^{<i>a</i>}	118.6 ±	$190.4 \pm$	126.2 ±	< 0.001	0.551	0.159
KLH d51		17.5 ^α	46.5 ^α	19.3α			
	TMR^{β}	$27.5 \pm$	$5.4 \pm 5.4^{\beta}$	$22.5 \pm 22.5^{\beta}$			
		21.0 ^β					

Table 1-5. Active TGF- β 1 concentrations in serum at selected time points after KLH immunization, and final measurements in systemic and mucosal tissue.

^{*} Active TGF- β 1 concentrations (pg/mL in serum and pg/g in tissue) are presented as mean ± SEM. Significance (*P* < 0.05) for phenotype, diet, and interaction between phenotype × diet was determined by two-way ANOVA. Different symbols denote significant differences between feed system overall or within a particular diet group as determined by Tukey's multiple comparison test.

** n = 8 on control, n = 7 on fish oil and n = 8 on microalgae in the pasture feed management system. n = 9 on control, n = 8 on fish oil and n = 8 on microalgae in the TMR feed management system. n = 4 per supplement/feed management system in tissue analysis.

		Total TGF-β1*					
		Supplements		Statistics – P value			
Measure	Feed	Control	Fish Oil	Microalgae	Feed	Suppl.	Feed System
**	System			_	System		× Suppl.
Serum	Pasture ^{<i>a</i>}	1567.7 ±	$2422.2 \pm$	1365.3 ±	0.046	0.021	0.096
KLH d0		307.3 ^a	620.2 ^{aα}	292.4 ^b			
	TMR ^β	1778.6 ±	1259.0 ±	776.0 ±			
		184.3 ^{aγ}	240.7 ^{aγδ}	244.2 ^{bδ}			
Serum	Pasture ^{<i>a</i>}	1348.0 ±	1465.2 ±	959.6 ±	0.042	0.110	0.688
KLH d1		259.8	477.9	284.5			
	TMR ^β	1283.6 ±	$654.8 \pm$	565.6 ±			
		288.1	180.1	183.6			
Serum	Pasture	2312.1 ±	3218.4 ±	2268.3 ±	0.230	0.210	0.170
KLH d7		316.2	850.2	446.3			
	TMR	2859.9 ±	2093.9 ±	1668.6 ±			
		261.9	481.2	313.4			
Serum	Pasture	2218.9 ±	1870.5 ±	1848.9 ±	0.100	0.659	0.975
KLH		498.1	319.4	268.0			
d14	TMR	1718.5 ±	1478.3 ±	1445.0 ±			
		448.1	417.9	417.6			
Serum	Pasture ^{<i>a</i>}	2127.1 ±	$2255.8 \pm$	3043.2 ±	0.025	0.545	0.421
KLH		387.9	313.2	593.4 ^α			
d21	TMR ^β	$1860.8 \pm$	1763.4 ±	1744.1 ±			
		266.3	231.7	238.7^{β}			
Serum	Pasture ^{<i>a</i>}	3581.0 ±	2187.1 ±	1757.9 ±	0.009	0.165	0.543
KLH		1026.3	889.6	155.6 ^α			
d51	TMR ^β	$1580.3 \pm$	1468.1 ±	910.7 ±			
		302.8	337.0	167.2 ^β			
Spleen	Pasture	12 112.4	10 116.1	$25\ 260.9\ \pm$	0.749	0.007	0.498
KLH		$\pm 3843.5^{a}$	±	4471.4 ^b			
d51			3314.5 ^a				
	TMR	10 339.8	13 837.9	$20\;446.5\;\pm$			
		$\pm 2324.3^{a}$	$\pm 965.6^{a}$	5048.2 ^b			
Caecum	Pasture ^{<i>a</i>}	12 112.4	10 116.1	$25\ 260.9\ \pm$	< 0.001	0.925	0.841
KLH		$\pm 3843.5^{a}$	±	4471.4^{α}			
d51			3314.5 ^α				
	TMR ^β	10 339.8	13 837.9	$20.446.5 \pm$			
		$\pm 2324.3^{\beta}$	$\pm 965.6^{\beta}$	5048.2^{β}			

Table 1-6. Total TGF- β 1 concentrations in serum at selected time points after KLH immunization, and final measurements in systemic and mucosal tissue.

^{*} Total TGF- β 1 concentrations (pg/mL in serum and pg/g in tissue) are presented as mean ± SEM. Significance (*P* < 0.05) for phenotype, diet, and interaction between phenotype × diet was determined by two-way ANOVA. Superscripted letters denote significant differences between supplements, and symbols denote significant differences between supplement overall or feed system overall as determined by Tukey's multiple comparison test.

^{**} Sample *n* was the same as in the active TGF- β analysis (Table 1-5).



Figure 1-1. IgM concentrations quantified in serum following KLH immunization over primary, secondary and long-term time points in cattle on omega-3 dietary supplements and separate feed management systems. Significance (P < 0.05) for feed management system, supplement and interactions were determined using REML analysis, with Fisher's LSD multiple range test to determine differences between groups. a. Total IgM concentrations; the effect of feed system (P < 0.001) was significant. **b**. Anti-KLH IgM concentrations; the effect of feed system (P < 0.001), supplement (P = 0.043) and feed system × supplement interaction (P = 0.049) were significant.



Figure 1-2. IgG concentrations quantified in serum following KLH immunization over primary, secondary and long-term time points in cattle on omega-3 dietary supplements and separate feed management systems. Significance (P < 0.05) for feed management system, supplement and interactions were determined using REML analysis, with Fisher's LSD multiple range test to determine differences between groups. **a**. Total IgG concentrations; differences between feed systems (P < 0.001), supplements (P = 0.003) and feed system × supplement interaction (P = 0.008) were significant. **b**. Anti-KLH IgG concentrations; the effect of feed system (P < 0.001), supplement (P = 0.041) and feed system × supplement interaction (P = 0.044) were significant.



Figure 1-3. Anti-KLH IgG subclass concentrations quantified in serum following KLH immunization over primary, secondary and long-term time points in cattle on omega-3 dietary supplements and separate feed management systems. Significance (P < 0.05) for feed management system, supplement and interactions were determined using REML analysis, with Fisher's LSD multiple range test to determine differences between groups. **a**. Anti-KLH IgG₁ concentrations; the effect of feed system (P < 0.001) and feed system × supplement interaction (P = 0.023) were significant. **b**. Anti-KLH IgG₂ concentrations; the effect of feed system × supplement interaction (P = 0.047) and feed system × supplement interaction (P = 0.013) were significant.



Figure 1-4. IgA concentrations quantified in milk following KLH immunization over primary, secondary and long-term time points in cattle on omega-3 dietary supplements and separate feed management systems. Significance (P < 0.05) for feed management system, supplement and interactions were determined using REML analysis, with Fisher's LSD multiple range test to determine differences between groups. **a**. Total IgA concentrations; the effect of feed system (P = 0.003) and supplement (P = 0.003) were significant. **b**. Anti-KLH IgA concentrations; the effect of feed system was significant (P < 0.001).

Chapter 2: Examining Effects of β2-1 fructans on the immune system in a human clinical trial

Introduction

The Intestinal Barrier and Mucosal Immunity

Mucosal surfaces of the body are in direct contact with the external environment and are protected by the mucosal immune system. The gastrointestinal (GI) tract is the largest mucosal surface in the body. Human intestines are colonized by commensal bacteria shortly after birth and the GI tract provides bacteria with nutrients from digested food (Honda and Takeda, 2009). Commensal bacteria of the intestinal tract are beneficial for the host since they aid in food digestion to supply essential nutrients and also prevent the invasion of pathogenic microbes (Honda and Takeda, 2009). Intestinal epithelial cells (IEC) form a physical barrier dividing the intestinal tissues from direct contact with the gut microbiota. Several mechanisms operate at the IEC level for separating the host from the microbiota, and these include tight junctions to prevent bacteria from moving between the epithelial cells, microvilli-covered surfaces to prevent bacterial attachment, and secretions from goblet cells which create mucous to prevent bacteria from penetrating the cells (Artis, 2008). Antimicrobial proteins such as defensins are also considered an immune mechanism in protecting the IEC as they aid in eliminating bacteria that penetrate the mucus layer (Hooper and Macpherson, 2010). The single monolayer of IEC has many important duties, including not only nutrient uptake, but also transmitting signals from luminal bacteria to immune cells such as macrophages and natural killer cells to respond to microbial threats (Vizoso Pinto *et al.*, 2009). Due to these roles, IEC are often considered to be participants in the innate immune response.

The mucous membranes of the GI tract comprise the MALT and are essential in protecting the host from pathogenic bacteria. The synthesis of secretory immunoglobulin-A (sIgA) by B cells is a very important component in mucosal immunity. Mucosal IgA is involved in regulating the balance and composition of bacteria within the intestines and it has the ability to affect bacterial glycosylation (Peterson *et al.*, 2007). sIgA produced by B cells is transcytosed across IEC into the lumen via the polymeric immunoglobulin receptor (pIgR), where it can bind to bacteria. sIgA thus creates an effective immunological barrier which may prevent infection by neutralization of pathogens (Leblanc *et al.*, 2004), and therefore offers protection for the host since it maintains mucosal homeostasis (Johansen *et al.*, 1999). The presence of sIgA often prevents enteropathogens from adhering to the intestinal epithelium walls and subsequent colonization or invasion (Leblanc *et al.*, 2004). In addition, sIgA has been shown to play an essential role in creating a "firewall" environment in the mesenteric lymph nodes, preventing the gut microbiota from penetrating further into the MALT and the lymphatic system (Macpherson and Uhr, 2004).

Dietary Fibre, Prebiotics and Bifidobacteria

Prebiotics are nondigestible oligosaccharides which selectively stimulate the growth of certain bacteria within the colon, and are believed to improve host health (Gibson and Roberfroid, 1995). The definition of a prebiotic demonstrates the fulfilment of three specific criteria for the classification of prebiotic fibre (Gibson *et al.*, 2004). These criteria are that the fibre must be resistant to enzymatic digestion and gastrointestinal absorption, the fibre must be fermentable by the colonic microbiota, and the fibre must promote growth of intestinal bacteria which initiates a change towards a healthier microbiota balance (Gibson *et al.*, 2004). Prebiotics have been widely claimed to be beneficial for the host, as

these fermentable materials have been reported to promote the activity of Bifidobacteria and Lactobacilli species (Brownawell *et al.*, 2012; Kau *et al.*, 2011). Associations of these bacteria with potentially health-promoting qualities such as mucin production by IEC have been described in the literature (Gibson and Roberfroid, 1995). Bifidobacteria have been associated with accelerated colonic transit time (Marteau et al., 2002), synthesis of vitamins in the GI tract (Crittenden *et al.*, 2003), and protection of the IEC barrier (Lievin *et al.*, 2000). However, the effects of increased Bifidobacteria content in the gut may vary between individuals (Macfarlane *et al.*, 2006), and while there are numerous reports of effects of Bifidobacteria on the immune system, there are also many questions surrounding the extent of their effects in healthy adults.

Much remains to be determined about the full extent of the effects of prebiotic fibres on the gut microbiota community structure. The degree to which the dietary fibre is fermented is characterized by the structure of the fibre as well as by the composition of the gut microbiota (Abnous *et al.*, 2009). An area of key interest is determining if shifts in gut microbiota composition induced by the fermentation of these dietary fibres impose a health benefit for the host (Abnous *et al.*, 2009). Until recently, most gut microbiota studies have relied on cultivation-based techniques to enumerate and identify the gut bacteria – an ineffective approach as many of these microbes are strict anaerobes and are not readily cultured. Current molecular approaches should reveal the true extent of prebiotic effects on the gut microbiota.

Effects of β 2-1 Fructans on the Immune System

 β 2-1 Fructans include fructooligosaccharides (FOS) and inulin; they are among the most well-known fermentable materials which have been claimed to have effects on the gut microbiota. These substrates have been reported to stimulate the growth of Bifidobacteria *in vivo* (Bouhnik *et al.*, 2006) and *in vitro* (Langlands *et al.*, 2004), however the use of *Bifidobacterium* levels has been debated as a biomarker of gut health (Ouwehand *et al.*, 2005). FOS is composed of short-length chains of 2-8 fructose units with a terminal glucose linked by β 2-1 glycosidic bonds, whereas inulin is composed of 9-60 repeating fructose units (Roberfroid, 2005; Singh and Singh, 2010). β 2-1 Fructans are rapidly and completely fermented in the proximal colon (Singh and Singh, 2010). Fermentation of β 2-1 fructans leads to the production of lactate and short chain fatty acids (SCFA) (Looijervan Langen and Dieleman, 2009).

The presence of SCFA in the gut has been reported to stimulate the attachment of Lactobacilli species to the intestinal mucosa and to deter pathogen adhesion (Bomba *et al.*, 2002). The terminal sugars of oligosaccharides inhibit the adherence of pathogenic bacteria and prevent colonization of the intestinal epithelium (Fukuda *et al.*, 2011; Zopf and Roth, 1996). There is evidence to suggest that SCFA are important mediators in the interactions between gut microbiota on the immune system, as the SCFA butyrate has been shown to modulate the ubiquitination and degradation of Nuclear Factor- κ B (NF- κ B) inhibitor I κ B- α (Kumar *et al.*, 2009). The SCFA liberated from dietary fibre fermentation have also been associated with increased intestinal IgA concentrations in rats (Kudoh *et al.*, 1998; Lim *et al.*, 1997). It has been hypothesized that the production of SCFA in the intestine may be involved in regulating a mucosal immune response (Looijer-van Langen and Dieleman,

2009), and it has been reported that these SCFA have involvement in immunomodulatory activities in the event of colonic inflammation (Kumar *et al.*, 2009). In murine models, dietary supplementation with SCFA has been shown to attenuate colitis in wild type mice through the enhancement of FOXP3⁺ T_{reg} cell activity, however the same effect was not observed in *Gpr43^{-/-}* mice, which lacked an important signaling receptor for SCFA (Smith *et al.*, 2013).

β2-1 Fructans have been shown to prevent attachment of pathogenic strain *Clostridium difficile* using *in vitro* experiments (Hopkins and Macfarlane, 2003), and to stimulate the growth of protective bacteria including *Bifidobacterium spp.* and *Lactobacillus spp.* (Looijer-van Langen and Dieleman, 2009) suggesting an association with IEC defense mechanisms. Lactic acid produced by β2-1 fructan fermentation lowers the pH of the colon, and this has been suggested as a mechanism to exclude pathogens from the gut (Lomax and Calder, 2009). However, several contradictions regarding the protective nature of β2-1 fructan fermentation in the gut exist in the literature. For example, FOS has been shown to impair resistance to *Salmonella enteritidis* infection and increase intestinal permeability in rats (Ten Bruggencate *et al.*, 2004; Ten Bruggencate *et al.*, 2005), and also to decrease intestinal barrier function in healthy men (Ten Bruggencate *et al.*, 2006).

Rodent models have been used to collect the majority of data on the physiological and immunological effects of β 2-1 fructans (Bovee-Oudenhoven *et al.*, 2003; Ryz *et al.*, 2009; Ten Bruggencate *et al.*, 2005), and only a few studies to date have investigated the impact of β 2-1 fructans on immune parameters in healthy human subjects in homeostatic conditions. A study investigating impacts on the immune system in healthy middle-aged subjects who consumed β 2-1 fructans for 4 weeks did not find alterations in immune cell populations of neutrophils or monocytes, NK cell activity, or circulating Ig concentrations (Lomax *et al.*, 2012). A separate study investigating non-smoking men found decreased percentages of NK cells and immune cells expressing intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) (Seidel *et al.*, 2007). In another study involving women with type 2 diabetes, circulating concentrations of LPS and TNF- α decreased after 8 weeks of β 2-1 fructan consumption (Dehghan *et al.*, 2014), suggesting an anti-inflammatory effect. The most consistent finding reported regarding β 2-1 fructan supplementation in human subjects is that it increases faecal Bifidobacteria content (Bouhnik *et al.*, 2006; Lomax *et al.*, 2012), although it is not clear whether this generates an immunological or physiological benefit for the majority of healthy adults who have consumed it.

Functional parameters of systemic immunity should be analyzed in order to determine if gut microbiota shifts are beneficial for the host. TLRs are pattern-recognition receptors (PRR) which are expressed on innate immune cells such as macrophages and dendritic cells (DC). When TLRs bind microbial motifs, referred to as PAMPs, a signal transduction pathway is activated. TLR2 is activated by peptidoglycan or lipoteichoic acid while TLR4 is activated in the presence of LPS. Stimulated TLR2 and TLR4 receptors induce a signalling cascade through adaptor molecules including myeloid differentiation factor 88 (MyD88), and TLR4 can also induce signalling via the MyD88-indepent pathway involving TIR domain-containing adapter-inducing interferon-β (TRIF) and TRIF-related adaptor molecule (TRAM) (Abreu, 2010). These signalling cascades ultimately facilitate the activation of the NF-κB transcription factor and lead to production of proinflammatory cytokines (Abreu, 2010).
There have been suggestions in the literature that the gut microbiota influence TLR expression (Furrie *et al.*, 2005; Vizoso Pinto *et al.*, 2009), and this is an aspect of prebiotic fibre delivery that has not been analyzed in detail. Changes in TLR expression or in responses to TLR agonists may provide a sensitive indicator of alterations in the innate immune response. The measurement of TLR expression on immune cell populations can be carried out through immunofluorescence with anti-TLR antibodies, and assessed functionally by stimulation of monocytes and DCs with TLR2 and TLR4 agonists (Schaaf *et al.*, 2009; Versteeg *et al.*, 2009). Since systemic immunity has been shown to be influenced by the gut microbiota (Balmer *et al.*, 2014; Clarke *et al.*, 2010), measuring responses to TLR agonists provides a novel method to determine effects of dietary FOS on the innate immune response.

Chapter 2 Study Objectives

A randomized, double blind, cross-over clinical trial was conducted to examine whether ingestion of β 2-1 fructans could influence the immune system in healthy adults. Direct comparison of fermentable and non-fermentable dietary supplements was used to determine if consumption of β 2-1 fructans influenced the gut microbiota community structure and whether such changes created detectable changes in immune activity. This investigation was a collaborative project with researchers at Health Canada (Ottawa, ON) and Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada (Guelph, ON and Kentville, NS), who performed analyses on the gut microbiota, and with researchers at McMaster University (Hamilton, ON), who performed analyses on gastrointestinal distress and parameters of well-being. My role in the trial was to determine the impact of β 2-1 fructan supplementation on immune parameters in healthy subjects through examining its effects on the immune system using a range of immunological measures. It was hypothesized that dietary β 2-1 fructan supplementation would have a pronounced impact on the immune system, and subjects would have higher levels systemic pro-inflammatory activity on the β 2-1 fructan phase of the trial in comparison to placebo. The cytokines measured in determining the impact of β 2-1 fructan supplementation on immune parameters are shown in **Table 2-1**.

Objective: to examine impacts of β 2-1 fructans on immune activity in healthy subjects under steady-state conditions (in the absence of immune challenge, infection or disease).

Methods

Human Clinical Trial Subjects

Subjects were recruited for this investigation from Guelph, Ontario and its surrounding area by a newspaper advertisement. The trial involved 30 healthy adults (13 men and 17 women) who were not taking medication or other dietary supplements, and did not have a history of GI diseases or food allergies. The average age of the subjects was 28 years, and the ages ranged between 20-42 years. All subjects provided informed consent for their participation. Clinical visits took place at Nutrasource Diagnostics Inc. (Guelph, Ontario, Canada).

Human β 2-1 Fructan Trial Design

The clinical β 2-1 fructan trial began in January 2011 was designed as a doubleblind, placebo-controlled, randomized crossover experiment. Since each participant consumed both dietary supplements, individuals served as their own control for each dietary supplement. The test supplement contained an oligofructose-enriched inulin, while the control diet was maltodextrin (did not contain β 2-1 fructans). The trial subjects were randomized into groups based on the order in which they were to receive placebo or the β 2-1 fructan supplement using an online randomization program (Seed no. 26285, Tufts University, Medford, MA, USA: www.tufts.edu/~ gdallal/random_block_size.htm). Subjects were instructed to consume the individually packaged 5 g supplement three times daily mixed in a beverage and taken with meals, for a total of 15 g of supplement each day. The trial participants consumed either the test or control dietary supplements for 28 days, followed by a 14 day wash out period, and continued with consuming the alternate supplement for another 28 days. Fasting blood (12 hours) and faecal samples were collected at the beginning and end of each dietary supplement period for a total of four sample collection points. Subjects maintained daily diaries to record bowel movements, self-reported adverse events, or changes in their normal routine.

The test diet was Orafti®Synergy1 (Beneo-Orafti, Tienen, Belgium); a dietary supplement containing oligofructose-enriched inulin derived from chicory root. This supplement is currently available in European countries and is marketed as a prebiotic nutritional supplement with bone health properties (Holloway et al., 2007). The control supplement (placebo) was food grade maltodextrin (Beneo-Orafti, Tienen, Belgium); a soluble fibre which is digested rather than fermented in the GI tract. Maltodextrin is a common food additive used as a thickening or bulking agent (Oliveira et al., 2009). Subject compliance was calculated from the amount of returned (unconsumed) supplement packets. β 2-1 fructans present in the background diet were estimated for each subject using a semi-quantitative food frequency questionnaire and data on the average portion sizes from Canadian Community Health Survey (http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/fnthe an/surveill/nutrition/commun/cchs_focus-volet_escc-eng.php). The midpoint of the ranges reported was used in calculating the consumption of β 2-1 fructan-containing foods (Moshfegh et al., 1999) to obtain a value representative of the average grams/day consumption of β 2-1 fructans in the base diet.

Approval was received from the UOIT Research Ethics Board (REB) to commence the investigation in fall 2011. To have full involvement in the human clinical trial, I attended two Tri-Council Policy Statement (TCPS) training seminars to become informed

57

of the appropriate ethical conduct, procedures and limitations for research involving human subjects.

Measurement of Blood Parameters

Serum blood urea nitrogen (BUN) concentrations were measured at Health Canada using an ABX Pentra 400 automated clinical chemistry analyser and ABX Pentra Urea CP (urease-glutamate dehydrogenase) test kits (Horiba Canada Inc., Burlington ON, Canada). All other biochemical and haematological biomarkers were analyzed by LifeLabs Medical Services (Toronto, Ontario, Canada). These measures included standard haematological profiles, serum biochemistry (fasting glucose, creatinine, aspartate, γ -glutamyl-transferase, C-reactive protein (CRP), globulin, albumin and total blood protein) and lipid profiles (low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol, high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol, total cholesterol and triglycerides.

Peripheral Immune Cell Population Analysis by Flow Cytometry

The flow cytometry laboratory technologist at Health Canada, Emily Chomyshyn, performed whole blood cell population analysis using flow cytometry with monoclonal antibodies to estimate population percentages of specific circulating immune cells. The list of antibodies used in the analysis are shown in **Table 2-3**. Peripheral populations analyzed included T cells and T cell subsets (CD4⁺ and CD8⁺), B cells, NK cells, plasmacytoid Dendritic cells (pDC) and myeloid DC (mDC), macrophages and granulocytes. Flow cytometry analysis was completed at the time of blood collection for the final day (d28) of each dietary supplement period. Blood samples were initially treated with ImmunoprepTM

Reagent system (Beckman Coulter, Indianapolis, IN, USA) to remove erythrocytes that could interfere with cell staining. Flow cytometry analysis was performed using a BD FACSCaliburrTM flow cytometer (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, USA), equipped with a blue laser (488 nm) and a red diode laser (488 nM). Forward scatter and side scatter gating techniques used during acquisition of 10 000 viable cells/lymphocytes were standard and similar to those outlined by Shingadia *et al.* (2001). Analysis of immune cell populations was conducted using BD FACSDIVATM software (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, USA).

In addition to cell population analysis, a subset of the whole blood samples was stimulated with the TLR-4 agonist LPS (1 µg/mL; Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) diluted in Roswell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI) 1640 medium (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) in order to investigate effects of β 2-1 fructan supplementation on monocyte and mDC TLR-signaling activity. After a 1-hour incubation with the TLR4 agonist at 37°C and 5% CO₂, samples were treated with Brefeldin A (BFA; 10 µg/mL; Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) in order to allow accumulation of intracellular cytokines. BFA is a known inhibitor of protein transport that prevents cytokine secretion (Della Bella et al., 2008), and BFA treatment is a standard technique to optimize intracellular cytokine detection. Samples were further incubated at 37°C and 5% CO₂ for an additional 2 hours. Following the incubation, immune cells were collected by centrifugation and were permeabilized for intracellular staining with anti-TNF- α and anti-IL-12p70. Once treated, the cells were analyzed by flow cytometry and intracellular production of TNF- α and IL-12p70 were measured.

Measurement of Circulating Cytokine Profiles

Initially, a BDTM Cytometric Bead Array (CBA) Human Flex set (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, USA) was used to quantify circulating cytokine concentrations. This assay system was customizable and utilized flow cytometry to detect soluble analytes, such as cytokines. The assay system was analogous to an ELISA, however the CBA was less time consuming than conventional ELISAs and offered high throughput capabilities since multiple cytokines could be measured in a single assay. The assay beads had a capture surface for specific proteins, and the cytokines were detected by the flow cytometer through the attachment of fluorescent antibodies. A collection of cytokines representing anti-inflammatory, pro-inflammatory, regulatory, T_H1 and T_H2 responses were measured to obtain a complex profile and include IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10 and IL-12p70.

Serum samples from all subjects at baseline and end point for each supplement were analyzed using the BD CBA Flex Set system on a BD LSRFortessaTM Flow Cytometer (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, USA). However, there were no serum samples containing measurable amounts of cytokines IFN- γ , IL-2, IL-4, IL-6 or IL-12p70. Out of all the tested samples, there were only two samples with detectable TNF- α , a single sample with IL-1 β , and a single sample with IL-10. The only cytokine that was consistently detected in all serum samples was IL-8. Circulating cytokine concentrations are usually low in serum from healthy individuals, and the lack of detection of most cytokines may reflect the relative sensitivity of the multiplexed CBA approach compared to that of optimized ELISAs (Dossus *et al.*, 2009; Young *et al.*, 2008). For this reason, serum cytokines were quantified again using ELISA, and cytokine concentrations in keeping with those anticipated in healthy adults were obtained with this format. The cytokine profile was expanded to include granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (G-CSF), granulocytemacrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF), IFN- γ , IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1Ra), IL-1 β , IL-4, IL-6, IFN- γ -induced protein 10 (IP-10/CXCL10), soluble CD40 ligand (sCD40L/TNFSF5), all measured using DuoSet ELISA Development kits (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA); IL-10, IL-12p70 and TNF- α using ELISA MaxTM Sets (BioLegend, San Diego, CA, USA); and IL-8 was measured using a human IL-8 ELISA kit (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA). Both active and total TGF- β 1 concentrations were measured in plasma using the same methods as outlined in Chapter 1. In addition to the cytokines, LPS binding protein (LBP) was measured in serum using the HK315 Human LBP ELISA Kit (Hycult Biotech, Uden, The Netherlands).

ELISAs were carried out using 96-well high-binding half area microplates (Greiner Bio-One, Frickenhausen, Germany), using antibody concentrations recommended by the manufacturers protocols. Serum and plasma samples were pre-tested for appropriate assay dilutions. ELISA plates were coated with capture antibody diluted in phosphate buffered saline, and incubated overnight at 4°C. Following sample incubation, biotinylated detection antibody and horseradish peroxidase-conjugated streptavidin were added at separate steps, and its substrate TMB (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) was added. The colorimetric reaction was stopped with the addition of 1.8 N H₂SO₄, and the optical density of the reactions in the microplates were read at a wavelength of 450 nm on a Synergy HT multi-detection microplate reader using KC4 v3.4 analysis software (BioTek Instruments Inc, Winooski VT, USA).

Endotoxin Detection in Serum Samples

Initially, a HEK-BlueTM hTLR4 cell based assay (SEAP Reporter HEK293 cells expressing the human TLR4 gene; InvivoGen, San Diego, CA, USA) was tested to quantify the presence of LPS in plasma and serum samples. However, this assay system was difficult to use and results were inconsistent. The success of the assay depends on completely consistent cell culture growth rate and density, and is easily influenced by any biological contaminants (for example, selected cytokines and free fatty acids). The HEK293 cells used in this assay system retain expression of TLR3, TLR5 and NOD1 receptors in addition to increased expression of TLR4. Additionally, low concentrations of TNF- α are capable of activating NF- κ B and lead to a colorimetric change in this assay, influencing the interpretation of LPS concentration that may be calculated. Many trial subjects had measurable concentrations of circulating TNF- α , so it was highly possible that this factor would have influenced LPS measurements in this assay system. After preliminary testing, it was decided to shift to a more established protocol to measure endotoxin concentrations, the Limulus Amebocyte Lysate (LAL) Assay.

Serum endotoxin concentrations were quantified using the LAL QCL-100 Assay (Lonza, Basel, Switzerland). All reagents and samples were brought to room temperature prior to reconstitution and use. Great care was used in minimizing potential sources of LPS contamination during this assay, and the entire experiment was carried under aseptic conditions. Only sterile, endotoxin-free consumables were used in this assay, such as endotoxin-free reagent reservoirs, sterile 96-well microplates suitable for cell culture, filter pipette tips and serological pipettes. The water used for preparing reagents and sample dilutions was HyPure Cell Culture Grade Water, endotoxin-free < 0.005 EU/mL (Hyclone Laboratories, Logan, UT, USA).

To prepare for the assay, LAL was reconstituted immediately before use with endotoxin free water (3.0 mL/vial lysate) and vials were pooled to create one master LAL reagent. The LAL was gently swirled to avoid foaming and was protected from direct light. *E. coli* O111:B4 endotoxin was reconstituted by the addition of 1.0 mL endotoxin-free water, to obtain a stock concentration of 26 EU/mL. The endotoxin vial was shaken vigorously for 15 minutes on a vortex mixer to ensure even distribution. Endotoxin standards were then prepared in glass vials: 1.0, 0.5. 0.25, 0.1 EU/mL in endotoxin-free water. Each standard was mixed vigorously for 1 minute before use. The chromogenic substrate was reconstituted by the addition of 6.5 mL of endotoxin-free water to the vial, gently swirled and protected from light exposure. The LAL assay instructions suggested adjusting the pH of all samples to be within a biological range of 6.0 - 8.0 using 1N sodium hydroxide or 0.1N hydrochloric acid. In a subset of serum samples, the pH ranged from 7.6 - 7.78. Since these measurements were within a biological range, pH adjustments were not necessary.

To carry out the assay, a lidded 96-well sterile tissue culture grade plate was prewarmed to 37°C using a dry heat block (VWR, Randor, PA, USA). To begin the assay, 50 μ L of undiluted serum samples (run in duplicate), standards and blanks were dispensed in appropriate wells. All reagent additions and incubations were absolutely identical. At T = 0, 50 μ L LAL was added to each well, and the plate was gently tapped to ensure thorough mixing before it was returned to the heating block. The samples were then incubated for 10 minutes at 37°C. At T = 10 minutes, 100 μ L of pre-warmed chromogenic substrate solution was added to each well, and the plate was gently tapped to ensure thorough mixing before it was returned to the heating block and incubated for an additional 6 minutes at 37° C. At T = 16 minutes, 100 µL of stop reagent (25% glacial acetic acid in endotoxin-free water v/v) was added to each well, and the plate was gently mixed by tapping. The absorbance of the microplate was then immediately read at 405 nm using a Synergy HT microplate reader (Bio-Tek, Winooski, VT, USA).

Since the serum samples had varying shades of colour ranging from pale wheat to amber, possibly due to red blood cell (RBC) lysis, the creation of serum sample blanks was necessary to ensure that background colour did not interfere with endotoxin quantification. Individual sample background blanks were created by mixing 50 μ L sample, 150 μ L endotoxin-free water and 100 μ L stop reagent without incubation. Once the microplate was read at 405 nm and the assay background was subtracted from all samples, individual sample backgrounds were separately subtracted from each sample value before endotoxin concentrations were calculated. If sample endotoxin concentrations were above the standard curve, serum samples were diluted 1/5 and assayed again. A simplified procedure for endotoxin detection is shown in **Table 2.4**.

Measurement of Serum and Faecal Antibody Profiles

Resting-state serum antibody isotype profiles were measured using the Human Immunoglobulin Isotyping Magnetic Bead Panel (MILLIPLEX Map Kit; EMD Millipore Corp. Billerica, MA, USA) using a Luminex 200 analyzer (Austin, TX, USA). The immunoglobulin isotype profile quantified consisted of IgG₁, IgG₂, IgG₃, IgG₄, IgA and IgM. The Luminex assay format utilizes magnetic beads and detection antibodies conjugated to phycoerythrin (PE), which is a fluorescent reporter signal used to quantify the proteins of interest. Advantages to this immunoassay format include customizable assays, an automated 96 well plate system that enables high throughput screening, and reduction of measuring inaccuracies since many samples can be measured all at once. Total IgG concentrations were not quantified by Luminex since the IgG subclasses cannot be measured at the same time (multiplexed) as total IgG, and this was a rather expensive assay to run with only one parameter. A random group of serum from 6 subjects over all four time points was retested by ELISA to confirm the results obtained by Luminex.

In order to quantify the resting-state faecal Ig concentrations, thawed faeces were prepared in a 1:5 (w/v) PBS solution containing 10 mg/mL bovine serum albumin (BSA) and 1% Protease Inhibitor Cocktail (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) and incubated for 10 minutes at room temperature. Samples were then completely homogenized using a Brinkman Polytron PT3000 homogenizer (Kinematica, Luuzern Schweiz, Switzerland), centrifuged ($4000 \times g$ for 30 minutes at 20°C), and supernatants were collected and stored at -80°C until analysis. The faecal antibody isotype profiles were measured using the Human Ig ELISA Quantitation Set for IgA, IgG and IgM (Bethyl Laboratories Inc., Montgomery, TX, USA), and ELISA plates were read at a wavelength of 450 nm on a microplate reader (Infinite® 200 Pro Series; Tecan, Männedorf, Switzerland).

Measurement of ex vivo TLR-Induced Responses in Whole Blood Culture

Whole blood cultures from the end points of the β 2-1 fructan and placebo phases of the trial were treated with TLR ligands to investigate responsiveness to TLR stimulation. Whole blood cultures which had been collected in sodium heparin blood collection tubes were stimulated separately with TLR2 agonist Pam3Cys (P3C; 10 μ g/mL; Novabiochem (EMD Millipore Corp.) and TLR4 agonist LPS (1 μ g/mL; Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) diluted in RPMI-1640 medium, in addition to an unstimulated control. Whole blood cultures were incubated at 37°C and 5% CO₂ in a humidified incubator. After 20 hours of incubation, blood assay tubes were centrifuged at 1300 × g for 5 minutes, and the supernatants were stored at -80°C until analysis.

Cytokine production profiles within the supernatants collected from the whole blood culture assay were measured using the BD CBA Human Flex set BD and acquired on a BD LSRFortessaTM flow cytometer (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, USA), equipped with blue (488 nm), red (640 nm) and violet (405 nm) lasers. Cytokine concentrations measured in the supernatants included anti-inflammatory, pro-inflammatory and regulatory cytokines – specifically IFN- α , TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, IL-10 and IL-12p70. These stimulated samples from the whole blood culture assay had higher cytokine concentrations and were above the concentration of the lowest assay standard, making it possible to use the CBA multiplex approach at this stage.

After the majority of the physiological, immunological, psychological, and microbiological data were collected and analyzed, the identities of the supplements as either placebo or β 2-1 fructan test diet were revealed. Immediately following the supplement phase identification, statistical analyses were performed.

Statistical Analyses

The statistical program Statistica v12 (StatSoft Inc., Tulsa, OK USA) was used to analyze data collected during this trial. Repeated-measures ANOVA (rANOVA) was utilized with time point (d0 and d28) and supplement (placebo and β 2-1 fructan) as the repeated variables. In cases where there was only a single time point, as in the immune cell phenotype data, rANOVA were used with supplement as the repeated measure. A *P* value of < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. When significant values were obtained, rANOVA analysis was followed by Tukey's honest significant difference (HSD) test to determine differences within groups. For some measures, there were several values that were below the limit of quantification (LoQ). In these instances, the values were set to LoQ/2 (Armbruster *et al.*, 1994) for analysis with Friedman's test (non-parametric) followed by a Wilcoxon's matched-pairs signed-rank test. Data was normalized using Box-Cox transformations when necessary. All results in tables are presented as the mean ± SEM.

Results

Characteristics of the Trial Subjects

The baseline demographic data of the individual subjects at the study baseline is shown in Appendix B, Table A1. All subjects were found to have a healthy status before the trial began. The average participant age was 27 and the average BMI was 24.2 kg/m². Daily intakes of β 2-1 fructans in the base diet were estimated (**Table 2-5**), and no significant difference (*P* = 0.150) was found between the placebo (1.09 g/day) and β 2-1 fructan (0.96 g/day) supplement phases in the regular diets of the subjects. Supplement receiving order was analyzed for every measured immune parameter in the study as a factor in a rANOVA, however no differences were attributable to the order in which subjects entered the supplement phases. Subject compliance was calculated by the number of supplements consumed/total amount provided for each phase of the trial; the placebo phase compliance was 97.6 ± 0.5 %, and the β 2-1 fructan phase compliance was 99.9 ± 6.9 %.

Assessment of Blood Parameters

Supplementation with either β 2-1 fructan or placebo had no impact on BMI, BUN, standard blood biochemistry including lipid profiles, or haematological profiles (**Table 2-6**).

Analysis of Peripheral Immune Cell Populations and mDC/Monocyte Cytokine Activity

Immune cell populations were examined to determine if the consumption of β 2-1 fructans had an impact on circulating population profiles. Percentages of CD282⁺/TLR2⁺

mDC significantly increased after β 2-1 fructan supplementation (*P* = 0.008; **Table 2-7**). A tendency of higher CD284⁺/TLR4⁺ mDC (*P* = 0.060) and CD284⁺/TLR4⁺ granulocyte (*P* = 0.050) percentages was also found after β 2-1 fructan supplementation. No other differences were found between placebo and β 2-1 fructan supplementation for percentages of mDC, pDC, monocytes, granulocytes, neutrophils, NK cells, B cells, T cells or T cell subsets.

Following LPS stimulation of whole blood samples, intracellular cytokine production was measured in mDC and monocytes using flow cytometry to further investigate responses to TLR4 activation at a cell-specific level. In a subgroup of six subjects, accumulation of TNF- α and IL-12 in mDC and monocytes was measured at the supplement phase end points (**Table 2-8**). The percentages of mDC and monocytes expressing TNF- α and IL-12 did not differ between supplement phases in unstimulated controls or after LPS stimulation. Percentages of mDC and monocytes expressing TNF- α did increase after LPS stimulation, however this was not linked with supplementation. Percentages of mDC and monocytes expressing IL-12 did not change after LPS stimulation, suggesting that the 1 µg/mL stimulation may not have been strong enough to induce a response.

Assessment of Circulating Cytokine Profiles, Serum Endotoxin and LBP

Circulating cytokine profiles, LPS and LBP concentrations were measured to determine if β 2-1 fructan supplementation influenced systemic immune activity. The mean serum concentrations are presented in **Table 2-9a**, and the median values with the 25th-75th percentiles are presented in **Table 2-9b** to show the natural variation in these

measures in healthy adult subjects. By the end of the β 2-1 fructan phase, subjects had lower concentrations of regulatory cytokine IL-10 (P < 0.001), and increased concentrations of T_H2 cytokine IL-4 (P < 0.001) and proinflammatory cytokine GM-CSF (P = 0.002). Concentrations of TNF- α were higher on day 28 of the placebo phase than day 0 (P < 0.001), however the day 28 placebo value was not different from either time point measured during the β 2-1 fructan phase. IP-10 (CXCL10) concentrations were lower on day 28 of the β 2-1 fructan phase than day 0 (P = 0.010), however this value was not different from the values obtained during the placebo phase. No effects due to supplement or phase day were found for serum concentrations of sCD40L, G-CSF, IFN- γ , IL-1 β , IL-1Ra, IL-6, IL-8 and IL-12p70, or for plasma concentrations of active and total TGF- β 1.

Serum LPS concentrations were significantly higher after 28 days of β 2-1 fructan supplementation than any other time point measured in the trial (*P* < 0.03). Serum LBP concentrations did not differ significantly within or between supplement phases.

Assessment of Circulating and Faecal Ig Profiles

Resting-state antibody profiles were measured to determine if supplement had an impact on adaptive immunity in the absence of a defined challenge. Although there were several differences between serum Ig concentrations over the time points measured, these differences did not correlate with treatment phase (**Table 2-10**). Concentrations of IgA, IgM and all subclasses of IgG (IgG₁, IgG₂, IgG₃, IgG₄) were significantly different between day 0 and day 28 of the placebo phase, however the d-28 values did not differ from the values measured in the β 2-1 fructan phase. Serum IgA was lower on day 28 of

the β 2-1 fructan phase, and it was not different from the values measured in the placebo phase. Serum IgG₁ and IgG₂ were lower on day 28 of the β 2-1 fructan phase than day 0 and day28 of the placebo phase.

 β 2-1 Fructan supplementation did not appear to impact faecal Ig profiles either; the only difference was found for IgM concentrations between day 0 and day 28 during the placebo phase (*P* < 0.005), and the values on placebo at day 28 were not different from either time point measured in the β 2-1 fructan phase.

Assessment of Responses to ex vivo TLR2 and TLR4 Stimulation in Whole Blood Cultures

The *ex vivo* whole blood TLR stimulation assay was utilized to examine differences in TLR responsiveness to microbial-derived agonist stimulation between supplement phases and was analyzed by measuring cytokine production. There were no significant differences in cytokine production in the unstimulated or LPS stimulated blood cultures (**Table 2-11**). P3C-induced IL-10 concentrations significantly increased at the end of the β 2-1 fructan phase (*P* = 0.016). TNF- α concentrations were higher after stimulation with LPS than P3C, however these differences were not associated with a supplement phase. IFN- α was below the level of detection at all time points measured, and only one individual displayed IL-12p70 production after P3C stimulation on day 28 of the β 2-1 fructan phase.

Discussion

After four weeks of supplementing the diet of healthy adults with β 2-1 fructans, several impacts on host immune activity were identified. However, supplementation with either β 2-1 fructan or placebo had no impact on BMI, BUN, routine blood biochemistry including lipid profiles, or haematological profiles. The subjects who participated had a healthy status entering the trial, so the unchanged blood chemistry and haematological profiles according to phase provided assurance that supplements did not change these clinical biomarkers. Several studies have suggested β 2-1 fructan consumption may be associated with lowering blood lipid profiles and total cholesterol concentrations. Serum triglyceride concentrations decreased after 20 g per day of β 2-1 fructan consumption over three weeks in hypercholesterolemic men (Causey et al. 2000), and HDL-cholesterol concentrations increased after 10 g per day of β 2-1 fructan and soy supplementation in hyperlipidemic adults (Wong *et al.*, 2010). No alterations in blood lipids were found during this trial, which is similar to a study in healthy women who consumed 14 g of β 2-1 fructans over a four-week period, where no differences were found in plasma concentrations of total cholesterol, HDL-cholesterol, LDL-cholesterol or triacylglycerol after supplementation (Pedersen *et al.*, 1997). The differences in findings from these studies suggest β 2-1 fructans may impact blood lipids differentially in healthy adults versus those with conditions of high blood lipids.

An interesting topic regarding β 2-1 fructans in the literature is their potential use in promoting satiation. In a study of healthy females consuming 6 g of inulin daily with their breakfast meal for a period of eight days, it was found that inulin consumption lowered the desire to eat and prospective food consumption, but did not influence hunger or overall energy intake (Heap *et al.*, 2016). Another study involving both males and females who had consumed 22.4 g of inulin per day for a seven-day period found no changes in qualitative or quantitative appetite measures (Darzi *et al.*, 2016). These indices of appetite were not evaluated in the current trial, although it is unlikely that this β 2-1 fructans supplement had long-term influences on appetite since the BMI or total weight did not fluctuate between phases.

Serum and faecal antibody concentrations were measured since Ig concentrations and isotype profiles can serve as a biomarker for changes in host adaptive immune activity (Albers et al., 2005; Cassidy et al., 1974). After 4 weeks of consuming β2-1 fructans at a dose of 15 g per day, there were no associations found between β 2-1 fructan supplementation and Ig concentrations or isotype profiles, which was in common with another study of healthy middle-aged adults in which subjects consumed 8 g of β 2-1 fructans daily for 4 weeks (Lomax et al., 2012). A considerable degree of variation was observed in both serum and faecal Ig concentrations over the course of the trial, which occurred independently of placebo or β 2-1 fructan supplementation. Circulating Ig concentrations are subject to short-term periodic fluctuations; serum IgA and IgG concentrations may change by 20% on a bi-weekly basis in healthy individuals (Veys et al., 1977). Ig concentrations can change in response to seasonality, with greatest variation observed during fall and winter months, markedly between mid-August to mid-February (Nordby and Cassidy, 1983). Since this trial took place from January to April, it is possible that some of the Ig fluctuations could be attributed to seasonality, as treatment order analysis did not reveal any differences in Ig concentrations. Natural variations in concentrations of serum Ig exist between healthy individuals due to effects of gender, ethnicity and age (Cassidy et al., 1974; Maddison et al., 1975), menstrual cycles (Vellutini

et al., 1997), alcohol consumption and cigarette smoking (Gonzalez-Quintela *et al.*, 2008), adding complexity to the interpretation of changes in total serum Ig in this type of study.

In a trial involving infants, faecal sIgA concentrations significantly increased after 16 weeks of consumption of a β 2-1 fructan-supplemented formula in comparison to standard formula-fed infants (Bakker-Zierikzee *et al.*, 2006). A separate study following infants for the first 26 weeks after birth found that a β 2-1 fructan-supplemented formulafed infants had higher faecal sIgA than infants on a control formula (Scholtens *et al.*, 2008). It is not clear in the literature how β 2-1 fructans influence faecal Ig concentrations in healthy adults. Positive correlations have been found between dietary fibre consumption and intestinal IgA concentrations in rat models (Kudoh *et al.*, 1998; Lim *et al.*, 1997), which has led to suggestions that dietary fibre or the products of its fermentation may support B cell responses in the gut and thus influence IgA production (Kim *et al.*, 2016). While β 2-1 fructans had no clear impact on serum or faecal Ig concentrations or isotype profiles in this study, these determinations were carried out under resting conditions and it remains a possibility that differences might be apparent following an immune challenge such as an infection or immunization.

 β 2-1 fructans have been shown to modulate adaptive immunity in response to immunization. Infants between 7-9 months of age who had consumed a β 2-1 fructan-supplemented cereal (0.2 g β 2-1 fructan per kg body weight per day) for 10 weeks had higher serum antibody concentrations of anti-measles IgG after vaccination to protect against measles (Firmansyah *et al.*, 2001; Saavedra and Tschernia, 2002). In a recent study involving healthy middle-aged adults consuming β 2-1 fructans (8 g per day) subjects were immunized with a trivalent seasonal influenza vaccine after 4 weeks of supplementation.

Concentrations of serum vaccine-specific IgG₁ antibodies and serum antibody titers against influenza H3N2 were higher in those consuming β 2-1 fructan two weeks post-vaccination (Lomax *et al.*, 2015). These studies suggest that β 2-1 fructan supplementation may enhance responses to immunization, however these small sample sizes of infants and middle-aged adults may not be representative of effects on larger cohorts of adults.

There were several results of this study which suggest that immune cells had increased exposure to microbial components during the β 2-1 fructan phase of the trial. percentages of CD282⁺/TLR2⁺ mDC significantly increased Peripheral and CD284⁺/TLR4⁺ mDC and CD284⁺/TLR4⁺ granulocyte percentages tended to be higher following β 2-1 fructan supplementation. Increased exposure to TLR ligands has been shown to increase TLR2 and TLR4 expression (Juarez et al., 2010; Visintin et al., 2001), suggesting the increase in TLR2⁺ and TLR4⁺ mDC populations reflect increased contact with microbial components. DC in the gut may interact with bacteria through epithelial tight junctions, as they are capable to extending dendrites to sample the gut lumen, they may encounter bacterial components within the lamina propria, or they may indirectly interact with bacterial components through M cells (Bekiaris et al., 2014; Farache et al., 2013). In a study investigating rectal biopsies of Crohn's disease patients, increased percentages of intestinal DC expressing TLR2 and TLR4 were found after β 2-1 fructan supplementation, in addition to increased percentages of IL-10 producing DC (Lindsay et al., 2006). This study demonstrated impacts of β 2-1 fructan supplementation on immune cells in local gut tissue, however peripheral immune cells percentages were not examined to determine if the supplement had a systemic impact. In the current investigation, it was not possible to biopsy gut tissue, although it is speculated that there may have been impacts at the local gut level since effects on immune cells had manifested systemically.

There were no alterations in lymphocyte populations observed in this trial, in keeping with another β 2-1 fructan study investigating impacts on immune parameters in middle-aged healthy adults (Lomax *et al.*, 2012). However, a study utilizing elderly subjects found that β 2-1 fructan supplementation increased percentages of total T lymphocytes and subsets CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells (Guigoz *et al.*, 2002). Taken together, these findings suggest that β 2-1 fructan supplementation may differentially modulate immune parameters in separate age categories.

β2-1 fructans had an impact on circulating cytokines, as concentrations of T_H2 cytokine IL-4 and proinflammatory cytokine GM-CSF increased, and regulatory cytokine IL-10 concentrations decreased. Higher concentrations of IL-4 would lead to increased B and T cell proliferation, higher GM-CSF concentrations would lead to increased macrophage, neutrophil and DC activity, and lower IL-10 concentrations implies decreased ability to maintain immune homeostasis, however interpreting the outcome of cytokine concentration is context dependent. Circulating concentrations of LPS were significantly higher after the β2-1 fructan phase. Measuring circulating LPS is an indirect measure of assessing gut permeability (Albers *et al.*, 2005; Bala *et al.*, 2014; Bischoff *et al.*, 2014), and increased LPS concentrations insinuate that microbial contents were translocated across the IEC barrier. A study of healthy men consuming β2-1 fructans for 2 weeks suggested that β2-1 fructans irritate the gut mucosa since increased faecal mucin excretion and intestinal discomfort were observed (Ten Bruggencate *et al.*, 2006), effects likely stemming from rapid β2-1 fructan fermentation and liberation of SCFA which decrease

lumen pH. This study of healthy men had a similar β 2-1 fructan dosage to the current trial (20 g per day versus 15 g day), and it was only half of the duration (two weeks versus four weeks), so it is probable that β 2-1 fructan may have had a greater impact on gut mucosa irritation with the increased length of supplementation. In rat models, β 2-1 fructan consumption has been associated with increased intestinal permeability and also increased translocation of *S. enteritidis* (Ten Bruggencate *et al.*, 2004; Ten Bruggencate *et al.*, 2005). Heightened potential for microbial components to cross the IEC barrier could explain the alterations observed in circulating cytokine profiles, and also the increase in TLR2 and TLR4-expressing peripheral immune cells. However, LBP concentrations did not differ between phases, and neither did CRP, a measure of inflammation (Pagana and Pagana, 2002), suggesting that changes to IEC barrier integrity were non-acute.

The *ex vivo* whole blood culture assay allowed for determination of effects of β 2-1 fructan supplementation on responses to TLR agonist stimulation, as TLR-expressing cells in blood samples respond by producing and releasing cytokines. This assay provided a means to determine the effects of β 2-1 fructan fermentation on this aspect of the immune response at the systemic level. The profile and cytokine production amount provided a measure of the strength of the TLR-induced response, and some insight into the responding cell types, as certain cytokines are produced by distinct cell types. The cytokines analyzed in plasma included IFN- α , the pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8 and IL-12p70, and the regulatory cytokine IL-10. IFN- α is produced by pDCs in response to TLR stimulation; monocytes and macrophages produce IL-6, IL-8 IL-10, IL-12p70 and TNF- α ; T lymphocytes produce IL-6 and IL-10 and T_H1 cells produce TNF- α ; B cells

produce IL-10, IL-12p70 and TNF- α ; and mDC produce IL-1 β , TNF- α and IL-12p70 (Della Bella *et al.*, 2008).

β2-1 Fructans may also directly influence immune activity through interaction with TLRs. Previous *in vitro* studies have shown TLR2 activation by FOS in human T84 IECs (Vogt et al., 2014), predominant TLR2 activation and mild TLR4, 5, 7, 8 and nucleotidebinding oligomerisation domain-containing protein (NOD) 2 activation in reporter cell lines, and stimulation of cytokine production by human PBMCs (Vogt *et al.*, 2013). Cross talk between immune cells and gut microbiota through PPRs including TLRs may influence MyD88 signaling, which is necessary for NF-κB activation and subsequent proinflammatory cytokine production. Although the impact of the gut microbiota on TLR expression may vary with specific type of TLR (Brandao *et al.*, 2015). Microbiota depletion via antibiotics has been shown to influence TLR expression in the ileum and in the colon in a murine model; however, increases or decreases in TLR expression depended on which TLR was examined (Grasa *et al.*, 2015).

Analysis of the cytokine profiles produced in the *ex vivo* whole blood culture assay revealed that IL-10 concentrations increased after stimulation with TLR2 agonist P3C in whole blood collected from the endpoint of the β 2-1 fructan phase. This finding suggests increased sensitivity to a TLR2 agonist, which may influence the host's ability to respond to infection since TLRs and the innate immune system are the primary line of defence (Barreiro *et al.*, 2009; Turvey and Hawn, 2006). The increased sensitivity to a TLR2 agonist is also consistent with the increased peripheral mDC CD282⁺/TLR2⁺ populations, and could be indicative of increased microbial component exposure during the β 2-1 fructan phase. Stimulation with TLR4 agonist LPS did not change the cytokine profiles between supplement phases. Since circulating LPS concentrations increased during the β 2-1 fructan phase, peripheral immune cells had contact with this bacterial motif. The diminished TLR response to LPS stimulation could be interpreted in two ways, either TLR synergy or the phenomenon of LPS tolerance. TLR synergy implies that costimulation with both TLR2 and TLR4 agonists will amplify cytokine production (Cao, 2016; Sato et al., 2000), and the increased LPS concentrations in the blood combined with P3C stimulation may have synergized to increase the production of IL-10. LPS tolerance may have also occurred, which is decreased surface expression of TLR4 due to continuous exposure to LPS (Cao, 2016; Sato et al., 2000; Ziegler-Heitbrock, 1995). The latter reason may be less probable, since mDC CD284⁺/TLR4⁺ tended to increase at the end of the β 2-1 fructan phase, however TLR4 expression was not measured on all immune cell populations. Cigarette smoking may influence TLR responsiveness in whole blood assay cytokine production after stimulation with LPS and P3C, and also TLR2 and TLR4 expression on monocytes (Versteeg et al., 2009), however it was not known if any of the subjects in the trial were active smokers as it was not a factor in trial exclusion criteria or in the initial health assessment.

Immune responses can vary between sexes, and males have been shown to have higher macrophage TLR4 expression and macrophage proinflammatory cytokine production than females (Klein and Flanagan, 2016). Additionally, IL-10 production stimulated by TLR9 and TNF- α production by LPS is greater in PBMCs isolated from males than females (Asai *et al.*, 2001; Klein and Flanagan, 2016). A study in a rat model has shown differences in concentrations of colonic and liver IL-10 and caecal and liver IL-6 between males and females after β 2-1 fructan feeding (Shastri *et al.*, 2015b). It is highly probable that sex differences in immune responses may have been apparent in the peripheral immune cell population analysis and in the cytokine production of the TLR agonist *ex vivo* whole blood culture assay. Since this current trial was not designed to investigate differences between males and females, the sample numbers for sex were not evenly matched, as there were 13 males and 17 females. In separating the data according to sex, there were several pronounced differences found in mDC CD282⁺ and CD284⁺ subpopulations, circulating cytokine and LPS concentrations, serum and faecal Ig concentrations, and *ex vivo* TLR-induced cytokine production (**Appendix B**, **Figure B1**, **Table B2**, **Table B3**, and **Table B4**), suggesting that sex differences would be an interesting consideration in future dietary supplement clinical trial design.

In this human clinical trial, the amount of blood volume per subject was limited to 20 mL for each sampling time point; higher volumes were considered to be above the safe blood draw limit for healthy volunteers. This blood volume limited the number of TLR agonists that could be used in the *ex vivo* whole blood culture assay, and also limited the number of samples available for the mDC and monocyte TLR-signaling activity assay involving intracellular cytokine production measurements. Vaccination with a seasonal influenza preparation would be interesting in determining impacts at a systemic level and to further understand the role of β 2-1 fructans in adaptive immunity. It was not possible to directly explore mucosal responses to β 2-1 fructan supplementation since tissue samples could not be taken from these healthy volunteers. Measurement of the mucin content in faeces using newly available ELISA formats may provide information in determining if alterations in mucin excretion exist after continuous β 2-1 fructan consumption, as increased mucin sloughing has been suggested as a result of mucosal irritation induced by

 β 2-1 fructans (Ten Bruggencate *et al.*, 2006), although this effect has varied between studies of healthy human (Scholtens *et al.*, 2006). Lastly, measuring the urinary excretion of chromium-labeled EDTA (Ten Bruggencate *et al.*, 2006) could provide a way to confirm the suggestions made in this study regarding β 2-1 fructan consumption compromising the integrity of the IEC barrier.

Several non-immunological impacts of β 2-1 fructans on host well-being and gut microbiota structure were discovered by other researchers involved in the trial, and these findings have been published in Clarke et. al (2016). Dr. Premsyl Bercik and Dr. Christian Avila (McMaster University, Hamilton, ON) investigated measures of well-being and gut symptomology. It was found that β 2-1 fructan consumption significantly increased indigestion and these subjects and had a tendency of increased abdominal pain. B2-1 fructan supplementation was also associated with increased headaches, gas, bloating and cramping. Dr. Martin Kalmokoff (AAFC, Kentville, NS) and Dr. Stephen Brooks (Health Canada, Ottawa, ON) investigated the impacts of β 2-1 fructans on faecal Bifidobacteria populations from subjects in this study. It was determined that β 2-1 fructan supplementation increased the content of faecal Bifidobacteria 16S rRNA genes, in keeping with findings from other human clinical trials (Lindsay et al., 2006; Lomax et al., 2012). However, there was no effect on the frequency of daily bowel movements, a claim that has been frequently contradicted in previous human trials (Dahl et al., 2005; Marteau et al., 2011; Slavin and Feirtag, 2011).

In conclusion, supplementation with β 2-1 fructans had some impact on immune activity in healthy subjects under steady-state conditions. β 2-1 fructan supplementation significantly increased serum GM-CSF and IL-4 concentrations, while IL-10

81

concentrations decreased. Circulating population percentages of CD282⁺/TLR2⁺ mDC increased, and there was a tendency toward higher CD284⁺/TLR4⁺ mDC and CD284⁺/TLR4⁺ granulocyte population percentages. β 2-1 fructan supplementation was associated with higher serum LPS concentrations, suggesting heightened microbial contact during this phase. Increased IL-10 production was observed in response to TLR2 stimulation with P3C in an ex vivo whole blood culture assay, implying increased sensitivity to TLR2 agonists. While TLR cross talk patterns can be complex, heightened sensitivity to one TLR ligand can occur as a result of prior exposure to another TLR ligand (Cao, 2016). Whether this sensitivity extended to other TLR agonists would require further testing of a range of TLR agonists, which could not be performed in this study due to sample volume limitations. Collectively, the findings of this study suggest that the innate immune system had increased contact with microbial-derived stimuli during the β 2-1 fructan phase of the trial, possibly due to alterations in gut barrier integrity, and demonstrate that dietary supplementation with β 2-1 fructans can, to an extent, influence immune activity at the systemic level in healthy adults.

Cytokine /Chemokine	Cellular Source	Cellular Target & Role	References
sCD40L	Cell surface protein released from B cells, monocytes, dendritic cells and T lymphocytes	Involved in proliferation and differentiation of B cells, and Ig class switching	(Huang <i>et al.</i> , 2012)
G-CSF	Macrophages, fibroblasts, endothelial cells and bone marrow stroma	Stimulates the development of progenitor cells to neutrophils	(Demetri and Griffin, 1991)
GM-CSF	Monocytes, T-lymphocytes, fibroblasts and endothelial cells	Stimulates development of neutrophils, dendritic cells and macrophages, promotes eosinophil proliferation and development	(Caux <i>et al.</i> , 1992)
IFN-α	Peripheral blood leukocytes and lymphoblastoid cells	Influences cell proliferation, modulates immune responses, promotes resistance against viral infections and inhibits release of eosinophil granule proteins	(Aldebert <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 1996)
IFN-γ	Activated NK cells, CD4 ⁺ and CD8 ⁺ T lymphocytes	Promotes macrophage activation, MHC class I and II expression, antigen processing and presentation ability; T _H 1 signature cytokine.	(Schroder <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2004)
IL-1β	Monocytes, tissue macrophages and dendritic cells	Proinflammatory cytokine, promotes IL-2 release, B-cell maturation and proliferation	(Dinarello, 1989)
IL-1Ra	Monocytes and macrophages	Competitively inhibits the activity of IL-1 β	(Arend and Gabay, 2000)
IL-2	T lymphocytes	Promotes signaling required for T-cell proliferation	(Popmihajlov et al., 2012)
IL-4	Mast cells, T lymphocytes and bone marrow stromal cells	Regulates the differentiation of naïve CD4 ⁺ T cells into helper T_H2 cells; T_H2 signature cytokine	(Paul, 1991)

Table 2-1. Cytokines measured in subjects receiving β 2-1 fructan supplementation or placebo.

This table is continued on the next page.

Cytokine /Chemokine	Cellular Source	Cellular Target & Role	References
IL-6	T lymphocytes, monocytes, macrophages, fibroblasts and endothelial cells	Proinflammatory cytokine and also considered an adipokine, regulates immune responses and stimulates antibody production	(Mauer <i>et al.</i> , 2015)
IL-8 /CXCL8	Monocytes, macrophages and endothelial cells, and is considered a chemokine	Proinflammatory, chemoattractant of neutrophils and T cells	(Hersh et al., 1998)
IL-10	Monocytes, macrophages (M2), T lymphocytes, B cells and keratinocytes	Regulatory, inhibits $T_H 1$ cell activity, prevents macrophage cytokine release; T_{reg} signature cytokine.	(Borish, 1998)
IL-12p70	Activated monocytes, macrophages and B cells	Induces IFN- γ production by NK and T cells, promotes growth of NK cells and T _H cells	(Vignali and Kuchroo, 2012)
IP-10 /CXCL10	Interferon and LPS stimulated cells in the thymus, spleen and lymph nodes	Chemoattracts monocytes and T _H 1 lymphocytes, stimulates adhesion of activated T cells and NK cells to endothelial cells	(Dufour <i>et al.</i> , 2002)
TGF-β1	Produced by almost every cell type	Immunoregulatory, regulates cell proliferation, growth and differentiation, involved in class switching to IgA	(Annes <i>et al.</i> , 2003)
TNF-α	T _H 1 cells, adipocytes, B cells, activated monocytes and macrophages	Proinflammatory, cytotoxic, activates macrophages and induces nitric oxide production	(Bradley, 2008)

 Table 2-1 continued.

Table 2-2. Description of standard biochemistry and haematological markers analyzed in subjects receiving β 2-1 fructan supplementation or placebo.

Clinical Indicator	Clinical Marker
Diabetic/pre-diabetic/insulin resistant	fasting glucose
Renal function	creatine, glomerular filtration rate, globulin, albumin, total protein, blood urea nitrogen
Liver function	aspartate aminotransferase, gamma- glutamyltransferase
Inflammation	C-reactive protein
Anemia	Haemoglobin
Complete Blood Cell Counts	Haematocrit, white blood cell count, red blood cell count, mean corpuscular volume, mean corpuscular haemoglobin, mean corpuscular haemoglobin
Differential Blood Cell Counts	Neutrophil, lymphocyte, monocyte, eosinophil and basophil counts
Serum lipids	Total cholesterol; LDL-C – Low density lipoprotein cholesterol; HDL-C - High density lipoprotein cholesterol; T/HC – TC/HDL-C ratio; TG – Triacylglycerol

Marker	Description	Clone	Conjugate ¹	Manufacturer ²
Control	Isotype – IgG1	T1B9	PE	Invitrogen
Control	Isotype – IgG1	T1B9	FITC	Invitrogen
$\mathbf{CD3}^3$	T lymphocytes	SK7	FITC	BD Biosciences
$CD4^3$	T_{H1} and T_{H2} T cells, monocytes, macrophages	SK3	APC	BD Biosciences
$\mathbf{CD8}^3$	cytotoxic T cells	SK1	PE	BD Biosciences
CD11c	myeloid DC	S-HCL-3	APC	BD Biosciences
CD14	monocytes	M5E2	APC	BD Biosciences
CD16	NK cells and granulocytes	3G8	AF647	BD Biosciences
CD16 ³	NK cells and granulocytes	B73.1	PE	BD Biosciences
CD19 ³	B cells	SJ25C1	APC	BD Biosciences
CD45	leukocytes	2D1 (HLe-1)	FITC	BD Biosciences
$CD45^3$	leukocytes	2D1 (HLe-1)	PerCP	BD Biosciences
CD56 ³	NK cells	NCAM 16.2	PE	BD Biosciences
CD86	monocytes, activated B cells, DC	2331 (FUN-1)	PE	BD Biosciences
CD123	plasmacytoid DC	9F5	PE	BD Biosciences
CD282	TLR-2	TLR2.1	PE	BioLegend
CD284	TLR-4	HTA125	PE	BioLegend
HLA-DR	MHC II, B cells, monocytes, activated T cells	L243	PerCP	BD Biosciences
IL-12	intracellular IL-12	C8.6	FITC	Invitrogen
lin1	T lymphocytes, monocytes, macrophages, neutrophils, eosinophils, neutrophils, NK cells, B lymphocytes	SK7, 3G8, SJ25C1, L27, M Pφ9, NCAM16.2	FITC	BD Biosciences
TNF-α	intracellular TNF-α	6401.1111	PE	BD Biosciences

 Table 2-3. Flow cytometry antibodies used in peripheral cell population analysis.

¹ AF647, Alexa Fluor 647; APC, allophycocyanin; FITC, fluorescein isothiocyanate; PE, phycoerythrin; PerCP, peridinin–chlorophyll–protein complex.

² Location of manufacturers: BD Biosciences, San Jose CA; BioLegend, San Diego CA, USA; Invitrogen, Carlsbad CA, USA.

³ Part of a BD MultitestTM kit.

Procedure	Sample	Blank
Test sample or standard	50 µL	
LAL reagent water		50 µL
LAL	50 µL	50 µL
Mix and incubate at 37°C	10 minutes	10 minutes
Substrate solution at 37°C	100 µL	100 µL
Mix and incubate at 37°C	6 minutes	6 minutes
Stop Reagent	100 µL	100 µL
Mix immediately		
Read plate	405 nm	405 nm

 Table 2-4. Simplified LAL assay procedure.

\mathbf{ID}^1	Placebo Phase	β2-1 Fructan Phase
	$(\mathbf{g} \boldsymbol{\beta} 2 \cdot 1 \mathbf{fructan})^2$	(g β2-1 fructan)
001	1.29	0.52
002	0.83	1.14
003	1.86	2.40
004	0.58	0.94
005	1.45	0.92
006	1.10	0.50
007	0.69	0.77
008	1.31	1.39
009	1.17	0.35
010	0.80	0.68
011	1.06	1.13
012	1.82	2.13
013	0.49	0.42
015	2.36	0.74
016	1.18	1.48
018	0.22	0.52
022	2.04	1.53
023	0.47	0.30
024	0.74	0.65
025	1.40	0.98
026	1.28	0.92
027	0.32	0.22
028	1.13	0.70
029	2.29	2.05
030	1.74	2.12
031	0.13	0.42
032	0.95	0.95
033	1.24	0.69
034	0.17	0.13
035	0.46	1.03
Estimated	1.09	0.96
β 2-1 fructan		
intake (g)		

Table 2-5. Estimated daily background dietary β 2-1 fructan intakes in subjects during placebo and β 2-1 fructan phases.

 1 *n* = 30.

² Data is represented as midpoint values of reported ranges.

Marker ²	Placebo	Placebo	β2-1 Fructan	β2-1 Fructan
	day 0 ³	day 28	day 0	day 28
BMI	24.1 ± 0.5	24.2 ± 0.5	24.1 ± 0.5	24.2 ± 0.5
BUN	5.0 ± 0.2	4.7 ± 0.3	4.9 ± 0.3	4.8 ± 0.3
fast Glu	4.9 ± 0.1	4.9 ± 0.1	4.9 ± 0.1	4.9 ± 0.1
Creat	77.1 ± 2.7	76.7 ± 0.1	75.8 ± 2.4	75.4 ± 2.3
eGFR	91.0 ± 2.5	90.8 ± 2.2	91.4 ± 2.4	92.5 ± 2.2
AST	24.1 ± 1.6	23.4 ± 1.2	23.8 ± 0.9	24.1 ± 1.0
GGT	18.9 ± 1.7	20.2 ± 1.8	19.8 ± 2.2	20.4 ± 1.8
Glob	26.6 ± 0.5	27.2 ± 0.5	26.5 ± 0.5	27.2 ± 0.6
T-Pr	71.9 ± 0.5	72.9 ± 0.5	71.9 ± 0.5	72.7 ± 0.6
Alb	45.3 ± 0.5	45.7 ± 0.5	45.7 ± 0.5	45.5 ± 0.4
hs CRP	2.7 ± 0.8	3.4 ± 1.3	3.0 ± 1.0	2.5 ± 0.9
TC	4.6 ± 0.1	4.5 ± 0.1	4.5 ± 0.1	4.7 ± 0.1
LDL	2.6 ± 0.1	2.5 ± 0.1	2.4 ± 0.1	2.6 ± 0.1
HDL	1.5 ± 0.1	1.5 ± 0.1	1.5 ± 0.1	1.5 ± 0.1
TC/HDL	3.3 ± 0.2	3.1 ± 0.1	4.0 ± 0.9	3.2 ± 0.2
TG	1.0 ± 0.1	1.3 ± 0.3	1.1 ± 0.1	1.2 ± 0.1
Hgb	138.0 ± 2.2	137.9 ± 2.4	137.1 ± 2.0	138.7 ± 0.6
HCT	0.4 ± 0.0	0.4 ± 0.0	0.4 ± 0.0	0.4 ± 0.0
WBC	6.4 ± 0.4	6.4 ± 0.4	6.5 ± 0.3	6.3 ± 0.3
RBC	4.7 ± 0.1	4.7 ± 0.1	4.6 ± 0.1	4.7 ± 0.1
MCV	89.0 ± 0.6	89.1 ± 0.7	88.9 ± 0.7	88.9 ± 0.7
MCH	29.6 ± 0.3	29.6 ± 0.3	29.5 ± 0.3	29.8 ± 0.3
MCHC	333.3 ± 1.9	332.6 ± 1.7	332.5 ± 1.7	334.7 ± 1.8
RDW	13.0 ± 0.1	13.0 ± 0.1	13.0 ± 0.1	13.1 ± 0.1
Pl.Ct.	257.9 ± 14.3	264.0 ± 13.6	270.4 ± 13.6	264.2 ± 13.5

Table 2-6. BMI, BUN and routine biochemical and haematological biomarkers at baseline and endpoint of placebo and β 2-1 fructan phases¹.

¹ Values expressed as mean \pm SEM (n = 30). rANOVA analysis did not find differences between time points or phases for any marker.

² Alb, albumin; AST, aspartate aminotransferase; BMI, body mass index; BUN, blood urea nitrogen; Creat, creatinine; eGFR, calculated glomerular filtration rate; fast GLU, fasting glucose; GGT, gamma glutamyltransferase; Glob, globulin protein; HCT, haematocrit; Hgb, haemoglobin; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; hs CRP, high sensitivity C-reactive protein; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; MCH, mean corpuscular haemoglobin; MCHC, mean corpuscular haemoglobin concentration; MCV, mean corpuscular volume; Pl.Ct., platelet count; RBC, red blood cell count; RDW, red cell distribution width; T-Pr, total protein; TC, total cholesterol; TC/HDL, total cholesterol/high-density lipoprotein ration; TG, triglycerides; WBC, white blood cell count.
Cell Phenotype ¹	Placebo	β2-1 fructan	rANOVA
	day 28	day 28	P value
lymphocytes ²	34.2 ± 1.7	34.9 ± 1.1	NS
CD3 ⁺ T cells ³	74.2 ± 1.2	73.9 ± 1.2	NS
CD3 ⁺ CD4 ⁺ T _H cells ³	45.5 ± 1.5	45.6 ± 1.4	NS
CD3 ⁺ CD8 ⁺ cytotoxic T cells ³	27.5 ± 1.2	27.0 ± 1.2	NS
CD3 ⁻ CD19 ⁺ B cells ³	12.6 ± 0.7	13.0 ± 0.7	NS
CD3 ⁺ CD16 ⁺ CD56 ⁺ NK cells ³	12.4 ± 1.1	12.2 ± 1.1	NS
CD3 ⁺ CD4 ⁻ CD8 ⁻ γδ T cells ³	3.0 ± 0.3	2.9 ± 0.3	NS
CD3 ⁻ 14 ⁺ monocytes ⁴	7.2 ± 0.4	7.0 ± 0.3	NS
CD3 ⁻ 16 ⁺ neutrophils and	47.3 ± 1.6	45.3 ± 1.7	NS
granulocytes ⁴			
lin1 ⁻ HLA-DR ⁺ CD123 ⁺ pDCs ⁵	10.4 ± 1.3	10.8 ± 1.1	NS
lin1 ⁻ HLA-DR ⁺ CD11c ⁺ mDCs ⁵	23.2 ± 1.3	22.2 ± 1.9	NS
CD86 ⁺ mDCs ⁵	13.5 ± 1.0	13.3 ± 1.2	NS
CD282 ⁺ /TLR2 ⁺ mDCs ⁵	8.8 ± 0.8	11.2 ± 1.2	0.008
CD284 ⁺ /TLR4 ⁺ mDCs ⁵	9.7 ± 1.0	11.4 ± 1.3	0.060
HLA-DR ⁺ CD14 ⁺ monocytes ⁴	5.5 ± 0.3	5.3 ± 0.3	NS
CD282 ⁺ /TLR2 ⁺ monocytes ⁴	6.5 ± 0.8	7.8 ± 0.9	NS
CD284 ⁺ /TLR4 ⁺ monocytes ⁴	7.3 ± 0.9	8.8 ± 1.1	NS
HLA-DR ⁻ CD16 ⁺ granulocytes ⁴	28.1 ± 1.8	30.2 ± 1.6	NS
CD282 ⁺ /TLR2 ⁺ granulocytes ⁴	0.6 ± 0.2	1.6 ± 0.5	NS
CD284 ⁺ /TLR4 ⁺ granulocytes ⁴	1.0 ± 0.2	2.7 ± 0.8	0.050

Table 2-7. Peripheral immune cell populations on day 28 of placebo and β 2-1 fructan phases.

¹ Data is shown as the percentage of immune cells expressing the surface markers indicating the cell type \pm SEM (*n* = 30).

² Determined by white blood cell differential count on a Beckman Coulter instrument.
³ Expressed as % of lymphocytes.
⁴ Expressed as % of leukocytes.
⁵ Expressed as % of lin1⁻HLA-DR⁺ cells.

Unstimulated (control) or LPS		Placebo	β2-1 Fructan	Phase	Stimulation
Stimulation ¹ Cell Popu	lation %	day 28	day 28	P value ²	P value ³
Mean %	Control	25.13 ± 1.38	22.10 ± 1.76	0.086	0.270
mDC	LPS	23.92 ± 0.77	20.67 ± 2.67		
% Actual	Control	1.68 ± 1.39	3.36 ± 2.70	0.938	0.012
TNF- α^+ mDC	LPS	17.68 ± 6.85	15.10 ± 4.22		
% Actual	Control	6.40 ± 2.08	7.92 ± 3.25	0.375	0.953
IL-12 ⁺ mDC	LPS	5.55 ± 1.68	10.76 ± 5.27		
Mean %	Control	5.78 ± 0.63	4.86 ± 0.72	0.179	0.351
monocytes	LPS	6.18 ± 0.82	4.96 ± 0.52		
% Actual	Control	0.00 ± 0.00	7.47 ± 4.52	0.590	0.034
TNF-α ⁺ monocytes	LPS	30.49 ± 6.66	25.78 ± 6.02		
% Actual	Control	3.99 ± 1.94	8.36 ± 3.18	0.780	0.571
IL-12 ⁺ monocytes	LPS	7.95 ± 2.34	7.90 ± 1.91		

Table 2-8. Peripheral mDC and monocyte intracellular cytokine production after placebo and β 2-1 fructan supplementation.

¹ Data is shown as the percentage of immune cells expressing the surface markers indicating the cell type and the actual percentage of the specific cell type producing cytokines \pm SEM (*n* = 6). ² rANOVA *P* value according to phase

² rANOVA *P* value according to phase. ³ rANOVA *P* value according to stimulation with LPS.

Table 2-9a. Mean values for serum LPS, LBP and cytokine/chemokine concentration
from participants receiving placebo or β 2-1 fructan supplements.

Marker ¹	Plac	cebo	β2-1 Fructan			
	day 0	day 28	day 0	day 28		
LPS	0.52 ± 0.09	0.53 ± 0.09	0.53 ± 0.07	0.62 ± 0.10^2		
(EU/mL)						
LBP	12.8 ± 1.3	15.2 ± 1.7	13.8 ± 1.5	14.2 ± 1.4		
(µg/mL)						
sCD40L	6.6 ± 4.7	6.7 ± 4.9	6.2 ± 4.8	5.5 ± 4.0		
(ng/mL)						
G-CSF	11.7 ± 4.20	14.4 ± 3.63	2.9 ± 1.6	5.4 ± 2.5		
(pg/mL)						
GM-CSF	223.5 ± 172.2	238.2 ± 176.6	220.4 ± 173.9	$242.0 \pm$		
(pg/mL)				178.2^{3}		
IFN-γ	BLQ	2.7 ± 2.1	15.2 ± 7.9	66.5 ± 22.9		
(pg/mL)						
IL-1β	164.4 ± 104.7	162.3 ± 104.9	165.1 ± 105.1	169.5 ± 114.2		
(pg/mL)						
IL-1Ra	81.2 ± 40.4	107.1 ± 51.4	71.0 ± 41.6	573.5 ± 413.2		
(pg/mL)						
IL-4	13.0 ± 6.45	11.6 ± 6.35	10.4 ± 5.5	14.0 ± 7.23^4		
(pg/mL)						
IL-6	93.3 ± 57.7	78.6 ± 48.7	46.6 ± 31.1	82.9 ± 51.1		
(pg/mL)						
IL-8	18.4 ± 5.00	23.1 ± 8.39	26.8 ± 8.3	30.3 ± 9.5		
(pg/mL)						
IL-10	71.5 ± 36.2	79.8 ± 42.15	51.9 ± 28.0	41.2 ± 29.0^4		
(pg/mL)						
IL-12p70	215.7 ± 153.1	199.8 ± 139.0	153.9 ± 118.4	206.7 ± 161.8		
(pg/mL)						
IP-10	386.7 ± 261.1	487.4 ± 282.0	480.9 ± 263.2	453.7 ±		
(pg/mL)				275.25		
TNF-a	61.4 ± 39.3	$123.0 \pm 85.5^{\circ}$	106.7 ± 83.1	123.5 ± 100.9		
(pg/mL)						
Active TGF-β1	2.5 ± 1.2	3.4 ± 1.2	3.0 ± 1.3	5.4 ± 2.1		
(pg/mL)	1005	27.12.0		0.000		
Total TGF-β1	4027.8 ±	3763.0 ±	3992.0 ±	3724.1 ±		
(pg/mL)	318.3	374.6	379.5	376.6		

¹ Concentrations are shown as mean \pm SEM (n = 30).

² Value was significantly different from all other time points (rANOVA with LSD test P < 0.03).

³ Value was significantly different from all other time points (rANOVA with LSD test, P = 0.002). ⁴ Values were significantly different from all other time points (rANOVA with LSD test, P < 0.001).

⁵ Value was significantly different from fructan d0 (rANOVA with LSD test, P = 0.01).

⁶ Value was significantly different from placebo d0 (rANOVA with LSD test, P < 0.001).

Marker ¹	Placebo				β2-1 Fructan			
	da	y 0	day 28		d	day 0		y 28
	Median	25 th -75 th	Median	25 th -75 th	Median	25 th -75 th	Median	25 th -75 th
		percentiles		percentiles		percentiles		percentiles
LPS EU/mL	0.27	0.17-0.89	0.28	0.16-1.08	0.37	0.12-0.90	0.36	0.27-0.83
LBP μg/mL	10.7	9.7-32.0	11.9	9.1-19.3	11.7	9.9-15.1	12.5	9.3-15.1
sCD40L pg/mL	700.4	424.3-1085.0	454.0	224.1-	500.3	331.1-	449.1	209.6-646.7
				916.1		706.3		
G-CSF pg/mL	0.6	0.6-11.8	0.6	0.6-31.0	0.6	0.6-0.6	0.6	0.6-0.6
GM-CSF pg/mL	3.7	0.2-39.0	6.2	0.2-28.0	5.1	0.2-23.2	0.2	0.2-27.8
IFN- γ pg/mL	4.1	4.1-4.1	4.1	4.1-4.1	4.1	4.1-4.1	4.1	4.1-101.5
IL-1β pg/mL	1.3	0.3-32.9	5.4	0.3-24.6	0.3	0.3-21.2	0.3	0.3-11.1
IL-1Ra pg/mL	5.0	5.0-32.3	5.0	5.0-127.9	5.0	5.0-61.5	5.0	5.0-47.0
IL-4 pg/mL	0.1	0.1-5.8	0.1	0.1-4.7	0.1	0.1-2.9	1.5	0.6-7.5
IL-6 pg/mL	2.9	0.1-18.9	0.4	0.1-13.6	1.3	0.1-12.7	0.1	0.1-14.4
IL-8 pg/mL	8.6	7.8-28.2	6.7	5.6-11.8	8.4	6.8-17.0	8.1	4.4-23.7
IL-10 pg/mL	4.1	1.6-33.3	8.3	3.9-57.0	7.4	3.9-20.8	2.5	0.5-29.1
IL-12p70 pg/mL	2.9	2.9-24.3	2.9	2.9-19.9	2.9	2.9-19.2	2.9	2.9-31.3
IP-10 pg/mL	54.8	38.7-114.7	71.1	41.2-104.2	71.1	43.6-178.6	60.3	37.5-116.5
TNF- α pg/mL	0.2	0.2-8.4	1.5	0.2-17.1	0.2	0.2-16.0	0.2	0.2-9.1
Active	1.0	1.0-1.0	1.0	1.0-1.0	1.0	1.0-1.0	1.0	1.0-1.0
TGF-β1 pg/mL								
Total	3968.2	2582.4-	3480.2	2122.6-	3732.2	2253.6-	3387.5	1980.6-4938.0
TGF-β1 pg/mL		5133.3		4528.8		5023.8		

Table 2-9b. Median values for serum LPS, LBP and cytokine/chemokine concentrations from participants receiving placebo or β 2-1 fructan supplements.

¹ Concentrations are shown as the median (n = 30).

Sample ¹	Class	Plac	cebo	β2-1 Fructan		
		day 0	day 28	day 0	day 28	
Serum	IgA	698.4 ± 75.6	1490.8 ± 236.7^2	1389.9 ± 234.2	911.7 ± 138.2^3	
(ng/mL)	IgM	403.8 ± 33.3	821.3 ± 138.3^2	776.6 ± 124.8	485.8 ± 66.5	
	IgG1	2746.9 ± 217.6	7196.4 ± 1257.2^2	5148.6 ± 797.7	$2878.6 \pm 214.5^{3,4}$	
	IgG ₂	1655.0 ± 130.9	20759.1 ± 6911.7^2	9659.1 ± 2348.5	$1595.6 \pm 181.4^{3,4}$	
	IgG ₃	10452.2 ± 1237.7	$28\ 181.8 \pm 3644.5^2$	$28\ 647.1\pm 2913.6$	$30\ 560.7\pm 3355.6$	
	IgG ₄	677.1 ± 122.6	2203.7 ± 472.5^2	1767.1 ± 364.5	2148.0 ± 440.2	
Faecal	IgA	95 076.4 ± 17 617.1	92 189.3 ± 15 075.2	84 686.0 ± 15 752.7	87 428.8 ± 12 137.8	
(ng/g)	IgM	6009.3 ± 2581.5	$13\ 399.3 \pm 2955.4^2$	$22\ 513.8\pm7029.3$	$14\ 108.7\pm4834.1$	
	IgG	2704.2 ± 1538.6	918.5 ± 261.0	697.2 ± 154.1	2406.9 ± 983.6	

Table 2-10. Concentrations of serum and faecal Ig at baseline and endpoint of placebo and β 2-1 fructan phases.

n = 30 for serum Ig, n = 30 for faecal Ig at time points except for placebo d0, n = 29, values expressed as mean \pm SEM. ² Value was significantly different between placebo d-0 and d-28 (rANOVA with LSD test, P < 0.005).

³ Value was significantly different between placebo d-28 and β 2-1 fructan d-28 (rANOVA with LSD test, *P* < 0.005).

⁴ Value was significantly different between β 2-1 fructan d-0 and β 2-1 fructan d-28 (rANOVA with LSD test, *P* < 0.005).

Table 2-11. Ex vivo cytokine production in unstimulated and TLR agonist-stimulated whole blood cultures from subjects at the endpoints of placebo and β 2-1 fructan phases.

Cytokine	Unstimulated ¹	Unstimulated	LPS	LPS	P3C	P3C
	Placebo	β2-1 Fructan	Placebo	β2-1 Fructan	Placebo	β2-1 Fructan
	day 28	day 28	day 28	day 28	day 28	day 28
IFN-α	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ
(pg/mL)						
IL-1β	BLQ	0.03 ± 0.0	8.2 ± 1.1	9.2 ± 1.6	0.3 ± 0.1	0.5 ± 0.1
(ng/mL)						
IL-6	0.1 ± 0.0	0.4 ± 0.3	34.4 ± 1.4	36.6 ± 1.7	8.5 ± 0.9	11.5 ± 1.9
(ng/mL)						
IL-8	5.3 ± 1.3	17.8 ± 8.1	64.8 ± 1.9	72.7 ± 2.3	57.0 ± 3.2	60.7 ± 4.9
(ng/mL)						
IL-10	BLQ	21.14 ± 21.1	2044.0 ± 147.0	2001.0 ± 188.0	16.0 ± 7.2	52.0 ± 18.5^{3}
(pg/mL)						
IL-12p70 ²	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ	3.3 ± 3.3
(pg/mL)						
TNF-α	BLQ	0.1 ± 0.1	2.6 ± 0.3	3.0 ± 0.3	0.2 ± 0.0	0.2 ± 0.0
(ng/mL)						

1 n = 30 for unstimulated samples and LPS stimulation; n = 24 for P3C stimulation; concentrations expressed as mean \pm SEM. 2 IL-12p70 was detected in only 1 subject after P3C stimulation in whole blood culture collected at the end of the β 2-1 fructan phase.

³ Value was significantly different from the placebo group (rANOVA with LSD test, P = 0.016).

Chapter 3: Effects of Dietary Fermentable Material and a High-Energy Diet on Obesity-Associated Immune Biomarkers in Sprague Dawley Rats

Introduction

Obesity, High Energy Diets and Inflammation

Interactions between metabolic parameters and the immune system are evident in obesity and metabolic syndrome disorders (Iyer *et al.*, 2015; Matarese and La Cava, 2004). Obesity has been associated with continuous low grade systemic inflammation (Barbarroja *et al.*, 2010). In metabolic syndrome, gut level inflammation increases with high energy (HE) diets (Hotamisligil *et al.*, 1995), which further perpetuate systemic inflammation. Obese individuals have been shown to have higher expression of proinflammatory cytokines TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, and also have greater macrophage infiltration in visceral adipose tissue when compared to lean subjects (Barbarroja *et al.*, 2010). Greater expression of TNF- α has been positively correlated to adipose mass in obese subjects (Hotamisligil *et al.*, 1995). The increase in expression of proinflammatory cytokines has also been observed in HE feeding trials involving obese animal models, including Wistar (Stemmer *et al.*, 2012; Zhu *et al.*, 2014) and Sprague Dawley rats (Boonloh *et al.*, 2015; Barbier de La Serre *et al.*, 2010). Continuous and dysregulated expression of proinflammatory cytokines contribute to the metabolic dysfunction observed in obses subjects (Weisberg *et al.*, 2003).

Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPAR) are a family of transcription factors (PPAR α , PPAR β/δ & PPAR γ) which regulate inflammation and also have involvement in energy homeostasis (Stienstra *et al.*, 2007). Activation of PPAR α prevents hepatic fat storage through stimulating hepatic fatty acid oxidation (Kersten *et al.*, 1999),

and also inhibits inflammatory gene expression through blocking NF- κ B activation of IL-6 transcription (Delerive *et al.*, 1999). PPAR β/δ activation has also been associated with decreased fat storage in the liver and reduced production of IL-6 and TNF- α (Nagasawa *et al.*, 2006). Activation of PPAR γ reduces macrophage accumulation and inflammatory gene expression, thereby reducing production of nitric oxide, TNF- α , IL-1 β and IL-6 (Weisberg *et al.*, 2003). Both obese humans and animal models typically have decreased activation of PPAR transcription factors, which may in part account for obesity-induced inflammation (Stienstra *et al.*, 2007).

Proinflammatory cytokines TNF- α , IL-1 β and IL-6 are of special interest in obesity studies since these cytokines are continuously produced by macrophages and adipocytes residing in adipose tissue, and continuous and dysregulated production of these proinflammatory cytokines may lead to insulin resistance (Aroor et al., 2013) and contribute to metabolic dysfunction (Weisberg et al., 2003). Within adipose tissue, macrophages and adipocytes are involved in local cross-talk which propagates continuous proinflammatory cytokine release (Schaffler et al., 2007). Macrophages produce TNF-a, which activates the TNF- α receptor on adjocytes and induces NF- κ B activation. Activation of TLR4 by LPS on both macrophages and adipocytes will also induce NF- κ B activation, leading to the production of proinflammatory cytokines (Suganami et al., 2007). Additionally, NF- κ B activation induced by TNF- α leads to lipolysis in adipocytes (Suganami et al., 2005), which releases free fatty acids that are capable of activating TLR4 on macrophages (Schaeffler et al., 2009; Suganami et al., 2005; Suganami et al., 2007). The continuous cytokine and free fatty acid release by macrophages and adipocytes leads to a steady state of inflammation in the adipose tissue. To further propagate inflammation,

consumption of a high fat diet increases LPS absorption across the intestinal barrier and leads to increased serum LPS concentrations; this effect has been observed in rodents (Cani *et al.*, 2007; Barbier de La Serre *et al.*, 2010) and in humans (Erridge *et al.*, 2007).

Macrophages may be activated into distinct states, including the classically activated M1 macrophage phenotype or the alternatively activated M2 macrophage phenotype (Gordon and Taylor, 2005; Mantovani et al., 2002). M1 macrophages may be polarized by $T_{\rm H}1$ cytokine activity involving IFN- γ or TNF- α , and also through TLR4 activation by LPS (Martinez and Gordon, 2014). The classically activated macrophage phenotype will promote $T_{\rm H1}$ responses, has involvement in antigen presentation, and contributes to high levels of proinflammatory activity leading to tissue damage (Mantovani et al., 2002). The M1 macrophage cytokine profile has been identified as having high IL-12 and IL-23 expression and low IL-10 expression (Mantovani et al., 2004). M2 macrophages are polarized by IL-4, a signature T_H2 cytokine, and this macrophage phenotype is typically involved in tissue remodelling and anti-inflammatory activity (Biswas and Mantovani, 2010; O'Neill and Pearce, 2016). The M2 macrophage cytokine profile has been identified as having high expression of IL-10 and IL-1Ra, and low expression of IL-12 (Mantovani et al., 2002), although the alternatively activated macrophages have been further classified into a spectrum of M2 macrophages, including M2a, M2b and M2c (Mantovani et al., 2004). These subsets are defined by differences in cytokine production and cell surface molecule expression, although these differences are not as clear-cut in their identification and overlap one another. A mouse model of dietinduced obesity has shown macrophage polarization to the M1 phenotype in adipose tissue, which contributed to greater inflammation and insulin resistance (Lumeng et al., 2007).

However, there remains debate regarding the appropriate cellular markers and cytokine measurements to categorize macrophage phenotypes, as well as differences between humans and rodents.

Key adipokines of interest in studying the onset of obesity and metabolic disease include leptin, adiponectin and resistin, and these are produced by adipocytes in adipose tissue deposits. Leptin in particular has been shown to be a mediator involved in innate and adaptive immune responses (Mackey-Lawrence and Petri, 2012), and increases in leptin concentrations have been associated with autoimmune disorders (Fernandez-Riejos et al., 2010; Matarese and La Cava, 2004). Since the primary production source of leptin is adipocytes, obese subjects are more prone to leptin-resistance and dysregulation of appetite and energy expenditure (Villanueva and Myers, 2008), and to interruptions in lymphocyte homeostasis, such as an altered balance between $T_H 1-T_H 2$ activity (Matarese *et al.*, 2002). Leptin also functions as a hormone in that it decreases appetite while increase energy expenditure (Friedman, 2010). Adiponectin has a role in energy metabolism as it regulates blood glucose and fatty acids, and also plays a role in inflammation (Cheng et al., 2012). Adiponectin has been shown to suppress TNF- α and IL-6 production while increasing IL-10 production by macrophages stimulated with LPS (Wulster-Radcliffe et al., 2004). Resistin has been shown to promote TNF- α , IL-6 and IL-8 production (Dong *et al.*, 2013), and also has a role in energy metabolism. Dysregulation of resistin production impairs glucose tolerance (Flier, 2001) and may lead to insulin resistance (Aroor et al., 2013).

Peptide hormones of interest in studying metabolic disease include insulin and glucagon, and these are produced in the pancreas and function to regulate blood glucose levels. Insulin is an important peptide hormone that functions to regulate and reduce blood

99

glucose levels through facilitating glucose absorption by muscle, liver or fat cells. Insulin's activity may be impacted by adipokines and dysregulated inflammation, such as the continuous release of TNF- α and IL-6 in adipose tissue, which could mediate the onset of insulin resistance (Aroor et al., 2013). Glucagon functions in a manner opposite to insulin, raising glucose levels in instances when blood glucose is low, and has a role in appetite control and energy intake (Flint et al., 1998). Glucagon production increases in the presence of inflammatory cytokine IL-6 (Barnes et al., 2014), and also after LPS injection in rodents (Nguyen et al., 2014). Circulating concentrations of sICAM-1/sCD54 are elevated in obese animal models (Matarese et al., 2002) and increased concentrations of this marker correlate with increased risk of cardiovascular disease (Albers et al., 2005). Dysregulation of sICAM-1 release has been shown to impair neutrophil emigration (Sligh et al., 1993) and wound healing, to influence disease progression (van de Stolpe and van der Saag, 1996; Witkowska, 2005), and has been associated with insulin and leptin resistance (Kent et al., 2004). Adipokines and peptide hormones are intricately connected with the immune system and dysregulated in obesity; leptin and resistin concentrations increase in obesity while adiponectin and glucagon concentrations are lower, and insulinresistance is common.

Gut Microbiota and Inflammation

It has been previously suggested that alterations in the gut microbiota structure affect energy homeostasis since certain bacterial communities may extract or store energy more efficiently (Ley *et al.*, 2005), and changes with the gut bacterial community have been linked with obesity (Ley, 2010). These statements have insinuated that shifts in the

presence and abundance of communities within the microbiota could therefore alter the energy balance so that more energy could be potentially obtained from food. Gut microbiota shifts have been shown in obese mice, and these shifts created a reduction in Bacteroidetes and increased the abundance of Firmicutes when compared to lean counterparts (Ley et al., 2005). However, the gut microbiota shifts that have occurred in mouse models are not always indicative of shifts that may occur in other animal models or in humans. A meta-analysis investigation has shown that signature microbiome structures of lean and obese individuals are inconsistent between studies, even when similar methods of analysis are employed (Walters et al., 2014). A separate meta-analysis investigation has also determined that variability between studies is greater than the differences found in lean and obese individuals of the same study (Finucane et al., 2014). Investigators involved in these meta-analyses have concluded that the low Bacteroidetes/Firmicutes is not an accurate representation of every obese individual, the ratio is frequently inconsistent, and that cohort selection, methodology, and statistical analysis strategies will need to mirror each other for appropriate comparisons (Finucane et al., 2014; Walters et al., 2014).

Although the exact alterations of gut microbiome structure of obese models have been debated, HE diets have been shown to shift microbiota profiles and increase systemic inflammation. Studies in mice have shown that diets high in saturated fats altered the gut microbiota profile and increased gut permeability compared to control diets (Lam *et al.*, 2012), which suggests that HE diets may further increase systemic inflammation in an obese-prone model. Studies in obese rat models have also shown shifts in gut microbiota composition after consumption of HE diets, and that the fluctuation may have been associated in the development of systemic inflammation (Barbier de La Serre *et al.*, 2010). Specifically, obese rats had higher plasma LPS concentrations, and this was likely due to intestinal inflammation diminishing the epithelial barrier integrity (Barbier de La Serre *et al.*, 2010). Further studies are required in obese models to determine if gut microbiota shifts introduced through dietary fermentable material (DFM) consumption alter the inflammation that is typically observed in obesity.

Dietary Fibre and Inflammation

Acetic acid, propionic acid and butyric acid are SCFA liberated after fermentation of dietary fibre by the gut microbiota. SCFA can significantly decrease the pH of the intestinal tract and cause mucosal injury in otherwise healthy humans (Ten Bruggencate et al., 2006) and in rats (Lin et al., 2002). High concentrations of butyrate can inhibit proliferation and induce apoptosis of the human IEC line Caco-2 (Peng et al., 2007), suggesting one route through which butyrate could influence epithelial integrity. In addition, increased permeability in the colon after acute exposure to butyrate has been reported in normal rat colonic mucosa (Mariadason et al., 1999). Butyrate has also been reported to cause cell necrosis and reduction of functional tight junctions between IEC (Mariadason et al., 1999), which would result in increased permeability in intestinal mucosa. Intestinal trefoil factor (ITF) is expressed in goblet cells within the intestinal tract and has involvement in mucosal defense (Lin et al., 2005). An investigation of mucosal injury in newborn rats has shown that ITF gene expression is down-regulated in the presence of SCFA (Lin et al., 2005). This down-regulation may indicate that the goblet cells are among the first to perish during mucosal injury. With decreases in goblet cell populations, there would also be decreases in mucin secretion, which combined with IEC

death and the accompanying decrease in IgA translocation, would further diminish mucosal defense, suggesting a negative role for SCFA production by the gut microbiota. However, the role of SCFA is not easily classified as completely detrimental or beneficial. Interestingly, acetate production by *Bifidobacterium* has been reported to inhibit IEC uptake of Shiga-like toxin during infection by *Escherichia coli* O157:H7, suggesting some beneficial effects of SCFA in the context of host defence (Fukuda *et al.*, 2011). These contradictory roles of SCFA highlight the need for further study on its effects on the immune system.

The effects of fructooligosaccharides (FOS, 2-8 repeating fructose units) and inulin (9-60 repeating fructose units) during intestinal infections have been studied in rats (Ten Bruggencate *et al.*, 2004; Ten Bruggencate *et al.*, 2005). It has been determined that dietary FOS and inulin impair resistance to *Salmonella enteritidis* due to increases in intestinal permeability (Ten Bruggencate *et al.*, 2004; Ten Bruggencate *et al.*, 2005). The altered permeability would subsequently increase translocation of *Salmonella* to sites beyond the intestinal tract enhancing opportunities for systemic infection. Feeding upon FOS and inulin also increased mucin production in rat colonic contents (Ten Bruggencate *et al.*, 2005). Increases in mucin secretion may actually be a protective action for IEC to prevent damage from the SCFA produced as a result of FOS and inulin fermentation. Since increased mucin production is also considered to be a basic mechanism of host defence, it appears that the effects of FOS in the context of infection are not clear cut. However, the observations during intestinal infection with *Salmonella* do reveal how dietary FOS and inulin could potentially increase systemic inflammation.

The SCFA profile differs during the fermentation of specific fibres, as does the context in which DFM may influence bacterial community structure and immune activity. A study analyzing the faecal community composition of BioBreeding rats found increased bacterial community richness in animals which received either wheat bran or oat bran compared to the control diet (Abnous et al., 2009). BioBreeding rats on diets supplemented with wheat bran have been previously shown by Shastri et al. (2016) to have decreased T cell and CD4⁺T_H cell percentages in the mesenteric lymph nodes (MLN), while having increased B cell percentages in the spleen in comparison to rats on a control diet. In this same study, rats on oat bran and resistant starch (RS)-supplemented diets displayed increased concentrations of TGF- β in the liver (Shastri *et al.* 2016), indicating impact at the systemic level. A study which investigated effects of dietary supplementation with wheat bran, oat bran, RS and FOS on colon tumor formation in male Fischer 344 rats found that tumor burden was significantly reduced in rats on the wheat bran diet (Raju et al., 2016). RS-supplemented diets have led to increased faecal SCFA concentrations in BioBreeding rats (Kalmokoff et al., 2013); however, RS diets have also been shown to decrease faecal and caecal bacterial community diversity compared to control diets in this same rat strain (Kalmokoff *et al.*, 2015). FOS has been previously shown to interact directly with TLRs (Vogt et al., 2013; Vogt et al., 2014); RS may also directly influence immune activity through TLR activation. A study by Bermudez-Brito et al. (2015) has shown that RS binds to TLR2 on human DC and modulates immune activity through increased chemokine production. With the results of the above trials taken together, it seems that different DFM distinctly influence immune activity and may have compartmental effects on either systemic or mucosal immunity.

An Obesity Model to Study Inflammation and Fibre Supplementation

Sprague Dawley rats are an outbred multipurpose albino rat breed which are frequently used in medical and metabolic studies. When Sprague Dawley rats are fed HE diets, they can be readily separated into diet-induced obesity prone or obesity resistant phenotypes based on weight gain after 2 weeks of feeding diets higher in fat and energy density than regular rodent diets (Aziz *et al.*, 2009; Barbier de La Serre *et al.*, 2010). Under these conditions, some of the rats will gain significantly more weight than others, an outcome that parallels the human situation. While roles for the gut microbiota in the development of obesity and systemic low-grade inflammation have been proposed (Bleau *et al.*, 2015), much remains to be determined about the nature of gut microbiota interactions with the immune system, outcomes with respect to immunometabolism and the extent to which DFM can influence these outcomes.

Chapter 3 Study Objectives

A trial was designed to evaluate the effects of DFM on inflammation and obesity in the context of a high fat diet using a rat model. The purpose of the experiment was to investigate interactions of DFM and a HE diet on obesity-associated immune biomarkers in Sprague Dawley rats. The trial took place from July to November 2014. DFM were selected to include a range of structural properties and degree of fermentability, and included wheat bran, oat bran, high amylose corn starch (resistant starch type II: RS) and FOS. These DFM have been previously shown to differ in their effects on gut microbiota diversity, short and branched chain fatty acid production, gut mucosal cytokine profiles, and in the ability to influence cytokine profiles at the mucosal and systemic level in rat models (Kalmokoff et al. 2015; Shastri et al. 2015b, 2016). A preliminary phase of the trial was utilized for the development of obese and non-obese phenotypes while rats consumed a HE diet. Immediately following the segregation of phenotypes, rats consumed HE diets supplemented with DFM for 11 to 12 weeks. It was hypothesized that the obese rats would have higher levels of inflammation than the non-obese rats, and that rats on the HE FOS diet would have increased concentrations of proinflammatory cytokines than rats on the other diets. The fermentation properties of the DFM utilized in this study are shown in Table 3-1, and the cytokines and chemokines measured while investigating immune activity are shown in **Table 3-2**.

Objective 1: to evaluate associations between diet-induced obesity, inflammation and associated immune parameters after consumption of a HE diet for a 2-week period (the preliminary phase of the trial).

Objective 2: to evaluate inflammation and immune parameters associated with obesity after an 11 to 12-week period on selected HE DFM diets, while monitoring differences between obese and non-obese phenotypes which diverged during the preliminary trial.

Methods

Trial Design

Sprague Dawley rats display a continuum of weight gain when exposed to a moderately high-fat/HE diet. This diet was based on the standard rat chow, the American Institute of Nutrition 93G growth purified diet (AIN-93G; ingredients and nutritional profile is provided in **Appendix C**, **Table C1**), with increased fat content. Feeding Sprague-Dawley rats high fat diets is a common method for promoting the exhibition of obesity-prone or obesity resistant phenotypes (Barbier de La Serre *et al.*, 2010; Levin *et al.*, 1997). In this model, obese rats (Diet-Induced Obesity, DIO) are identified as belonging to the upper 40% of weight gainers and resistant rats (Diet-Induced Obesity Resistant, DR) are identified as the lower 40% of weight gainers.

Initially, 176 weanling male Sprague Dawley rats were obtained from Charles River (Saint Constant, QC) in July 2014. The animals were 28-32 days old upon arrival at the Animal Research Division at the Banting Research Centre, Health Canada (Ottawa, ON). Animals were numbered (the odd-numbered rats received a black marking on their upper tail) and paired-housed in Sealsafe® PLUS Rat IVC Green Line cages with wire mesh bottoms separating the rats from the corn cob bedding (Bed-o'Cobs, The Andersons Lab Bedding Products, Maumee, OH, USA). This separation was necessary to prevent coprophagia and ingestion of bedding material, which could influence the study outcome (Le Leu *et al.*, 2015). The environmental enrichment provided included sanitized nylon gnawing sticks, a flat stainless steel sheet for resting, a covered tunnel, and continuous music from a radio (French-Canadian Radio). Water and AIN-93G rat chow were provided *ad libitum* in self-feeding hoppers. The animal room was programmed with a 12-hour light/dark cycle, and temperature was held constant at 22°C. Animals were assessed daily by the Animal Research Division staff for signs of distress (reduced feed consumption, sensitivity to handling, sensitivity to noise or light, and listlessness). The protocol for animal care procedures was approved by the Health Canada Animal Care Committee and the University of Ontario Institute of Technology's Animal Care Committee. In order to participate in the trial sample collections and necropsies, I completed the Canadian Council on Animal Care in Science's Institutional Animal User Training Program and received additional training in animal handling and sample collection procedures.

After animals experienced an acclimatization period of seven days, a HE diet consisting of 16% dietary fat (HE AIN-93G) was introduced for two weeks to identify DIO and DR phenotypes. The DIO rats were the 40% highest weight gainers and the DR rats were the 40% lowest weight gainers, with 70 animals per group, and the remaining 36 rats were designated as intermediate responders (MID). At this time, the 10 highest weighing DIO and 10 lowest weighing DR rats were autopsied (August 2014) to determine effects of the HE diet alone on physiological measures in both groups. After the initial two-week feeding trial, a tail vein blood sample was obtained from the remaining 60 DIO and 60 DR rats for immune and metabolic measures. At this same time, faecal samples were collected to establish baseline structures of the bacterial community before fibre diets were introduced. Animals were then re-paired if necessary to match DIO, DR and MID rats together in cages, and the odd-numbered rats received ear notches to reinforce their markings. Rat pairs were randomly assigned to receive one of six diet groups (ten rats per diet group for DIO and DR) for a further 11-12 weeks. These diets were formulated from modifications of the standard AIN-93G rat chow, and include control (AIN-93G), HE

control (AIN-93G modified with high fat content) and HE DFM-supplemented diets (AIN-93G modified with high fat content and DFM) including HE wheat bran, HE oat bran, HE high amylose corn starch resistant starch type II (RS), and HE FOS. The diet formulations were created by Dr. Stephen PJ Brooks (Bureau of Nutritional Sciences, Health Canada) and are shown in **Table 3-3**. Each rat in the trial had their weight recorded on a weekly basis.

Upon trial completion, necropsies were performed on all animals. Euthanasia by exsanguination was carried out under isoflurane anesthesia. Pathologist Dr. Don Caldwell (Scientific Services Division, Bureau of Chemical Safety Food Directorate, Health Products and Food Branch, Health Canada) inspected all rats for abnormalities and performed tissue sectioning. Tissues were collected, rinsed in ice-cold PBS, weighed and immediately cryopreserved in liquid nitrogen to examine effects on cytokine/adipokine production, and included systemic (serum, liver, spleen), mucosal (ileum, ileal Peyer's patches (PP), caecum, proximal colon, distal colon, MLN), and adipose tissue (epididymal fat and mesenteric fat). Tissues were then transferred to -80°C storage pending homogenization. Caecal and faecal contents were also collected cryopreserved to determine bacterial community structures and SCFA analysis.

In order to conduct histological scoring of the gut tissue and examination of immune cells present in the gut wall, additional intestinal tissues were preserved in 1.0 cm cylindrical sections in 10% neutral buffered formalin in 20 mL glass scintillation vials. These tissues included duodenum, mid jejunum, ileum, proximal colon and mid colon. Blood samples were divided into lavender cap BD Vacutainer K₂EDTA blood collection tubes (#367861, BD, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA) for whole blood TLR assay (4.0 mL), lavender cap BD microtainer K₂EDTA tubes (#365974, BD, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA) for hematology (0.2 mL), orange cap BD Vacutainer serum separation tubes (SST; #367983, BD, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA) for serum immunological analysis (3.5 mL), and yellow cap BD microtainer SST (#365967, BD, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA) for BUN and glucose measurements. Anti-coagulated whole blood samples collected in lavender cap BD Vacutainer K₂EDTA was used immediately following necropsies for hematological measures and the TLR agonist assay. Once blood collected in the orange and yellow cap BD Vacutainer SST was separated into serum, samples were stored at -80°C until analysis.

Histology

Dr. Don Caldwell (Scientific Services Division, Bureau of Chemical Safety Food Directorate, Health Products and Food Branch, Health Canada) performed histological scoring of gut tissue collected during the preliminary and final necropsies. Samples fixed in neutral buffered formalin were trimmed, processed and embedded into 4 μ M thick H and E stained slides. Pathological examination was carried by light microscopy on duodenum, jejunum, ileum, proximal and mid colon samples from three rats of each diet group, using an assessment protocol adapted from Dickson *et al.* (2006). Attention was focused on the following: mucosal inflammation, villous architecture and ratio, crypts, lamina propria, muscularis mucosae, enterocytes, the composition of and numbers of inflammatory cells in the lamina propria and lining enterocytes, the brush border and the lumen border. Intraepithelial lymphocytes (IELs) were counted per 100 villous enterocytes for 5 villi per section in the small bowel.

Immune Cell Population Analysis by Flow Cytometry

Hematology measures were used to investigate circulating cell populations from blood collected immediately following both preliminary and final necropsies. Hematological measures were performed by Dominique Patry (Hematology & Biochemistry lab, Animal Research Division, Health Canada) using the AcTTM 5diff Cap Pierce hematology analyzer (Beckman Coulter, Brea, CA, USA). This same cell counter was used to determine cell concentrations for flow cytometry analysis.

Analysis of cell population patterns allows determination of DFM effects on total leukocytes, B and T lymphocytes (including T helper (T_H) cells, cytotoxic T cells, $\gamma\delta$ -T cells, and Foxp3⁺ regulatory T cells which will be referred to as Treg cells), T cell homing receptor expression (referred to as memory T cells (Obhrai et al., 2006)), Dendritic cells (DC), Natural Killer (NK) cells and macrophages (total macrophages and M1/M2 subsets). At the final necropsy, immunofluorescence and flow cytometry were utilized to examine immune cell populations (n = 5 per diet/phenotype/tissue) in systemic tissue (spleen) and mucosal tissues (MLN and ileal PP). To prepare cells for staining, tissues were placed on a 70 µm cell strainer in a 50 mL Falcon tube. Cells were strained through using a syringe plunger and 5 mL of ice-cold RPMI-1640 medium supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA). Cell suspensions were centrifuged at $340 \times$ g for 6 minutes, and re-suspended in phosphate buffered saline to determine concentration. The immune cell markers were divided into three separate panels and details on all antibodies and conjugated fluorochromes may be found in **Table 3-4**. The same panels were used to enumerate immune cell population percentages in the spleen, MLN and ileal PP. To determine concentrations for optimal detection, fluorescent antibodies against standard cell markers were titrated and tested. A viability stain was used to irreversibly label dead cells prior to permeablization and staining procedures to ensure that viable cells were gated separately, and an isotype control was used to assess non-specific binding in Foxp3⁺ T cells. Cells were diluted to 1×10^7 cells/mL for viability staining, and a minimum of 1×10^6 cells/mL was required for antibody staining.

Flow cytometry was performed using a BD LSRFortessa[™] flow cytometer (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, USA), equipped with blue (488 nm), red (640 nm) and violet (405 nm) lasers. The forward scatter and side scatter gating techniques used during acquisition of 10 000 viable cells/lymphocytes were standard and similar to those outlined by Shingadia *et al.* (2001). Initial analysis of immune cell populations was conducted using BD FACSDIVA[™] software (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, USA), and additional analysis was conduced on cell populations with improved gating using FlowJO 10.0.8 software (Ashland, OR, USA) with assistance from Jason Fine, flow cytometry technician with Animal Research Division at Health Canada.

An ex vivo Whole Blood TLR Stimulation Assay

Direct measurement of TLR expression on rat immune cell populations using immunofluorescence with anti-TLR antibodies was not possible due to the unavailability of anti-rat CD282 and CD284 antibodies suitable for flow cytometry. However, TLR activity may be measured functionally by stimulating monocytes and DCs with TLR ligands, such as peptidoglycan (TLR2), LPS (TLR4), Flagellin (TLR5) and CpG DNA (TLR9). This whole blood stimulation method allows for determination of effects on responses to TLR agonist stimulation, as TLR-expressing cells in blood samples will respond by releasing cytokines.

Blood collected from 20 animals at the preliminary necropsy was stimulated with the following TLR agonists; P3C (TLR2, Calbiochem, EMD Millipore, Etobicoke, ON, Canada), LPS (TLR4, Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA), Flagellin (TLR5, Alexis Biochemicals, Enzo Life Sciences, Farmingdale, NY, USA), *Escherichia coli* ssDNA (TLR9, InvivoGen, San Diego, CA, USA), CpG ODN 2006 DNA (TLR9, Imgenex, Novus Biologicals, Littleton, CO, USA), and RPMI-1640 medium (unstimulated control, Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA). The TLR agonist stimulation concentrations tested in the preliminary trial are listed in **Table 3-5**, are were selected based on other studies using this approach (Gillaux et al., 2011; Li et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2012). All TLR agonists were diluted in RMPI-1640 medium, and stock concentrations were prepared in volumes which made it possible to add 12 μL of agonist to 1.2 mL of whole blood to achieve the desired concentration.

To begin the assay, lavender cap BD Vacutainer K₂EDTA (#367861, BD, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA) blood collection tubes were gently inverted five times to ensure mixing, and three 1.2 mL aliquots were prepared from each rat in 5 mL polypropylene round-bottom tubes (#352063, BD, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA). In an effort to maintain aliquot reproducibility and reduce sample retention, Axygen Maxymum Recovery Universal Fit filter pipette tips (Union City, CA, USA) were used. From each rat, two aliquots were used for stimulation with two different TLR agonists, and the third aliquot was used as an unstimulated control. Once 12 μ L of the appropriate TLR agonist was evenly distributed in the

sample. Blood tubes were subsequently placed in a 5% CO_2 humidified incubator set at 37°C on a 5° slant with loose caps to prevent evaporation but allow for gas exchange.

After 20 hours of incubation, blood assay tubes were centrifuged at $1300 \times g$ for 5 minutes. The supernatants were carefully transferred into microtubes (approximately 2 × 200 µL) and frozen at -80°C until analysis. Cytokines analyzed in these samples included proinflammatory cytokines CINC-1/CXCL1, CINC-2 $\alpha\beta$ /CXCL3, IFN- γ , IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF- α , and the regulatory cytokine IL-10. All cytokines were measured using rat DuoSet ELISA Development kits according to manufacturer's procedures (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA). After the preliminary trial samples were analyzed, it became clear that whole blood stimulation with a TLR-9 agonist would not be possible at the end of the trial due to cost. The optimal stimulating concentrations determined for each agonist at the final necropsy were 10 µg/mL for P3C, 5 µg/mL for LPS, and 100 ng/mL for Flagellin.

Whole blood collected from DIO and DR animals at the final necropsy (n = 60) was stimulated with TLR2, TLR4 and TLR5 agonists using the same protocol as outlined for the preliminary trial. At the end of the trial, the concentrations of cytokines measured included CINC-1, IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-10 and TNF- α .

Detection of Serum Endotoxin

Serum endotoxin was quantified in order to determine whether circulating concentrations of this gut microbial component differed between HE DFM-supplemented diets. Serum endotoxin levels were analyzed from blood drawn at the preliminary necropsy (n = 20) and at the end of the trial for DR (n = 60) and DIO rats (n = 60), using the LAL

Assay QCL-100 (Lonza, Basel, Switzerland) following the procedure as described in Chapter 2. In a subset of serum samples, the pH ranged from 7.63 - 7.69. Since these measurements were within a biological range, pH adjustments were not necessary. There were several amendments made to the LAL assay during pre-testing with rat serum. This time, serum samples were diluted 1/5 in endotoxin-free water, heat-inactivated for 10 minutes at 70°C in a water bath (Cani *et al.*, 2008), and Pyrosperse Dispersing Reagent F188 (Lonza, Basel, Switzerland) was added to samples at a 1/200 final dilution prior to beginning the LAL assay (Dehghan *et al.*, 2014). Pyrosperse is a metallo-modified polyanionic dispersant, and it is used to reduce interference during the endotoxin assay. The heating and Pyrosperse steps were added to reduce and disperse lipid micelles which may have been introduced by the high fat diet in an effort to maintain LAL assay sensitivity. An alternate stop reagent, sodium dodecyl sulfate (10% w/v) was necessary for use with the Pyrosperse Dispersing Reagent.

Assessment of Blood Glucose and Blood Urea Nitrogen

Non-fasting blood glucose and blood urea nitrogen (BUN) were measured from serum collected at the preliminary necropsy and from all animals (DR, DIO and middle gainers) at the end of the trial to determine if HE and selected fibre diets altered glucose or nitrogen metabolism. Fasting measurements were not possible since this would have diminished the available fresh caecal and feceal sample collections, which were needed for bacterial community analysis and to measure SFCA content. Serum BUN and glucose concentrations were measured at Health Canada using a VITROS® 5,1 FS automated clinical chemistry analyser with VITROS® urea/BUN and glucose test kits (Ortho-Clinical Diagnostics, Markham ON, Canada).

Tissue Homogenization

Tissue homogenates were prepared in an immunoprecipitation buffer adapted from Burgos-Ramos *et al.* (2012; 50 mM NaH₂PO₄, 100 mM Na₂PO₄, 0.1% sodium dodecyl sulfate, 0.5% NaCl, 1% Triton X-100, 5 mg/mL sodium deoxycholate) with the addition of 1% Protease Inhibitor Cocktail (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA). The tissues were suspended in immunoprecipitation buffer at a ratio of 1:5 (wt/vol) and then homogenized using a VWR®200 homogenizer (VWR International, Radnor PA, USA) and centrifuged (17 200 × g for 30 min at 4°C). Supernatants were collected and stored at -80°C until cytokine analysis. Only MLN tissue homogenates required a second round of centrifuging due to high lipid levels. A small section from the left lateral lobe of the liver was homogenized in place of the entire organ.

Before tissue homogenates were analyzed for cytokine, chemokine and adipokine profiles, Bradford assays were carried out to ensure consistent protein concentrations among tissue homogenates. Coomassie Plus Protein Assay Reagent and albumin standards (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) were used in this assay. Samples were diluted 1/15 in water, and standards were diluted in a 1/15 solution of homogenization buffer to account for background. Microplates were read at a wavelength of 595 nm to determine protein concentration, and values are expressed as protein (mg) per gram (g) tissue.

Assessment of Cytokine Profiles

Cytokine quantifications allow insight into the effects of each diet on gut-associated lymphoid tissue, and more specifically the T cell subsets. Cytokines profiles analyzed in serum and tissue homogenates collected from both preliminary (n = 10 per diet) and final necropsies (n = 10 per diet/phenotype) included both regulatory and proinflammatory cytokines/chemokines. Regulatory cytokines included in the analysis were active and total TGF-\beta1, IL-10 and IL-22; proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines included CINC-1, CINC-2αβ, CINC-3, GM-CSF, soluble ICAM-1/CD54, IFN-γ, IL-1β, IL-4, IL-6, IL-17 and TNF- α . Cytokine/chemokine profiles were examined in serum and both mucosal and systemic immune tissue homogenates (spleen, liver, epididymal fat, mesenteric fat, MLN, ileum, ileal PP, caecum, distal colon and proximal colon). All cytokines in serum and tissues were quantified using rat DuoSet ELISA Development kits according to manufacturer's procedures (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA). ELISAs were carried out using 96-well high-binding half area microplates (Greiner Bio-One, Frickenhausen, Germany). The optical density of the reactions in the ELISA plates were read at wavelength of 450 nm on a Synergy HT multi-detection microplate reader (BioTek Instruments Inc, Winooski, VT, USA) using KC4 v3.4 analysis software (BioTek Instruments Inc., Winooski, VT, USA). In addition to the cytokine analysis, CRP was quantified in serum and liver homogenates via ELISA (R&D Systems, Minneapolis MN, USA).

For quantification of IL-22 in ileum, caecum, distal colon and MLN homogenates collected from the preliminary trial (n = 3 per diet/phenotype), a Mouse/Rat IL-22 Quantikine® ELISA kit was used (R&D Systems, Minneapolis MN, USA). This same IL-22 ELISA format was utilized again for distal colon and caecal homogenates collected

from the end of the trial (n = 10 per diet/phenotype). Due to the expensive cost of this assay, it was not possible to expand the IL-22 measurements to other tissues.

MLN and ileal PP of DIO and DR animals (n = 5 per diet group/phenotype/tissue) at the final necropsy were analyzed separately for CINC-2 $\alpha\beta$, CINC-3, GM-CSF, sICAM-1/sCD54, IFN- γ , IL-1 β , IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-10 and TNF- α using the Rat Magnetic Luminex® Screening Assay (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA) on a Luminex 200 analyzer (Austin, TX, USA).

Assessment of Peptide Hormone and Adipokine Profiles

Peptide hormone and adipokine concentrations (non-fasting) were measured to determine if the selected diets created alterations in insulin signaling and metabolism. Leptin was quantified in mesenteric fat, epididymal fat, distal colon homogenates and serum collected during the preliminary trial (n = 3 per phenotype/tissue) using the Mouse/Rat Leptin ELISA kit (B-Bridge International Inc., Santa Clara, CA, USA). Leptin, insulin and glucagon were measured in final necropsy serum samples (n = 5 per diet/phenotype) using the MILLIPLEX Map Kit Rat Metabolic Magnetic Bead Panel (EMD Millipore Corp. Billerica, MA, USA) on a Luminex 200 analyzer (Austin, TX, USA). Adiponectin was measured in serum and epididymal fat tissue homogenates (n = 10 per diet/phenotype) via Rat Adiponectin/ARP30 ELISA (R&D Systems, Minneapolis MN, USA), since this is the most prevalent adipokine and is difficult to multiplex accurately. Leptin was also measured in distal colon homogenates (n = 6 per diet/phenotype) using the MILSA (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA). Again,

due to the expensive cost of this assay, it was not possible to expand leptin measurements to other tissues.

Statistical Analyses

The statistical program SigmaPlot v13.0 (Systat Software Inc., San Jose, CA, USA) was used to analyze data collected during this trial. In the preliminary trial analysis, unpaired *t*-tests (Student's *t*-tests) were carried out to determine differences between DR and DIO phenotypes, and the Mann-Whitney *U* test was utilized when data were not normally distributed. For data collected at the end of the trial, two-way ANOVA was used to examine differences between DR and DIO phenotypes, overall effects of diet and interactions (Phenotype × Diet). ANOVA analysis was followed by Tukey pairwise multiple comparison tests. Data was transformed if it did not pass normality (Shapiro-Wilk) or equal variance (Brown-Forsythe) tests, using common transformations available in the software program. A *P* value of < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. For some measures, there were several values that were below the LoQ. In these instances, the values were set to LoQ/ $\sqrt{2}$ (Armbruster *et al.*, 1994) for analysis.

All results in tables are presented as the mean \pm SEM. Figures were created using GraphPad Prism v7.01 software (La Jolla, CA, USA). The figures in this chapter are box and whisker plots; the ends of the boxes represent the upper and lower quartiles, the line in the centre of the box indicates the median value, and the whiskers display the maximum and minimum values.

Results

Preliminary Trial Analysis

The preliminary trial was considered to be the first two weeks after the acclimatization period, during which time all rats consumed the modified HE AIN-93G diet, referred to as the HE control diet. The average weights of the rats at this time point were as follows; 290.2 ± 0.7 g for DIO rats, 277.4 ± 0.2 g for MID rats, and 263.0 ± 0.7 g for DR rats. The amount of weight gained during the two week HE feeding period is displayed in **Figure 3-1a**, and there was a distinct and significant separation between the weights of DR, MID and DIO rats (P < 0.001). Tissues were collected from ten of the lightest DR rats and ten of the heaviest DIO rats at the end of this period. The average amount of food consumed each day during the preliminary trial is displayed in **Figure 3-1b**, and DIO rats (P < 0.001) and MID rats (P = 0.003) consumed more food each day than DR rats. The main goals of the preliminary trial were to determine effects of the HE diet alone on immunological and physiological measures in DR and DIO groups, and to pretest several assays so that optimized procedures were in place for analysis of samples collected at the end of the trial.

The first analyses were performed on blood samples using standard hematology measures. Hematological analysis did not reveal any differences in peripheral immune cell populations between groups; however, DIO rats had higher percentages of red blood cell (rbc) distribution width (P = 0.032), higher platelet counts (P = 0.028) and higher mean platelet volumes (P = 0.013) than DR rats (**Table 3-6**). DR and DIO phenotypes did not reveal differences in serum measures, including cytokine/chemokine, CRP, LPS, BUN or blood glucose concentrations (**Table 3-7**). The whole blood TLR stimulation assay

performed after the two-week preliminary HE feeding was mainly used to test a panel of TLR agonists and stimulatory concentrations in preparation for the end of the trial (**Table 3-8**). Sample numbers were small since two concentrations per agonist were tested, making it difficult to determine if differences were apparent between phenotypes in responsiveness to TLR stimulation. Based on this preliminary testing, the following agonist stimulation concentrations were selected: 10 µg/mL for P3C (TLR2), 5 µg/mL for LPS (TLR4) and 100 ng/mL for Flagellin (TLR5). Responses to TLR9 stimulation with CpG ODN 2006 at 10 µg/mL were measurable, however this agonist was very costly and it was decided not to continue with it for analysis at the end of the trial. Overall, hematology and TLR agonist based measures did not reveal many immunological or physiological differences between phenotypes in the preliminary trial.

Examination of gut mucosal tissues was then conducted. Histological scoring was used to assess the presence of gut-level inflammation in sections of the small and large bowel, and there were no differences in morphology found between the DIO and DR groups after the initial two-week HE diet feeding. There were no differences in IEL counts in the duodenum, and no IELs were found in the jejunum of DR or DIO rats (**Table 3-9**). In ileal tissue, DR rats displayed a trend toward higher concentrations of total TGF- β 1 than DIO rats (P = 0.051, **Table3-10**). The opposite effect was noted in the caecum, where DIO rats displayed a trend toward higher total TGF- β 1 concentrations than DR rats (P = 0.061, **Table 3-11**). In the proximal colon (**Table 3-12**), higher concentrations of all measured cytokines were highest in DIO rats, however only IL-10 (P = 0.032) and TNF- α (P = 0.016) were significantly higher in DIO rats, and IL-17F trended to be higher in DIO rats (P = 0.070). Cytokine concentrations in distal colon samples were also highest in the DIO

phenotype (**Table 3-13**). Although the differences were not statistically significant in this tissue, IL-17F (P = 0.061), IL-22 (P = 0.059), and total TGF- β 1 (P = 0.072) all trended to be higher in DIO rats. Overall, the pattern in the intestinal tissue was that DIO rats displayed higher concentrations of inflammatory cytokines and of total TGF- β 1, a regulatory cytokine.

Cytokine profiles were also analyzed in the liver, spleen, MLN, and ileal PP to examine impact of diet on immune tissues at systemic and local levels. In liver homogenates, CINC-1 was significantly higher in DIO rats (P = 0.017, **Table 3-14**). Active and total TGF- β 1 concentrations were nearly matching, indicating that all TGF- β 1 in the liver was in its active form. In spleen homogenates, very low IL-10 concentrations, just at the level of detection, were present in both phenotypes. DIO rats displayed higher splenic TNF- α concentrations (P = 0.049) than DR rats (**Table 3-15**). Examination of the MLN revealed that DR rats had higher concentrations of sICAM-1/sCD54 (P = 0.018) than DIO rats (**Table 3-16**). No differences in cytokine or chemokine concentrations or profiles were found in the ileal PP (**Table 3-17**). Overall, there were relatively minor differences found in cytokine profiles at either systemic or local immune locations.

The final group of tissue analyzed was adipose tissue. In mesenteric fat, no differences in cytokine or chemokine concentrations were detected, other than a trend toward higher CINC- $2\alpha/\beta$ concentrations in DR rats (P = 0.053, **Table 3-18**). Although every effort was made to ensure that all MLN were dissected out of the mesenteric fat, it remains possible that some MLN could have been present during mesenteric fat homogenization, and this could have influenced cytokine measurements. Since no major differences were found in the mesenteric fat, it was decided not to pursue analysis of this

tissue at the end of the trial. In epididymal fat, DIO rats displayed somewhat elevated CINC-2 $\alpha\beta$, CINC-3, IL-6 and TNF- α concentrations in comparison to DR rats, although statistically significant differences were not found (**Table 3-19**). It was interesting that DIO rats had reduced IL-10 concentrations (a regulatory cytokine) in comparison to DR rats. Analysis of mesenteric and epididymal fat revealed opposite patterns, with DR rats having higher cytokine concentrations in mesenteric fat, and lower concentrations in the epididymal fat.

Leptin was the adipokine chosen for the preliminary trial analysis. Concentrations of leptin were measured in serum and adipose tissue (mesenteric and epididymal), as well as distal colon for a mucosal measure (**Figure 3-2**). DIO rats had consistently higher concentrations of leptin than DR rats overall, with significantly higher concentrations in the distal colon (P < 0.001) and a trend of heightened leptin concentrations in serum (P = 0.077) and mesenteric fat (P = 0.067).

After the preliminary two-week HE control diet, DIO and DR phenotypes did segregate at a few immunological measures, however biochemical measures seemed to be unaffected at this point. Overall, measurements in intestinal gut tissue revealed higher concentrations of inflammatory cytokines and regulatory total TGF- β 1 in DIO rats, minor differences were detected at systemic and local immune tissues, and epididymal fat of DIO rats had higher inflammatory cytokine concentrations. A continuous pattern of higher leptin concentrations was found in all locations measured in DIO rats, although it was only statistically higher in the distal colon. Data collected from assays pre-tested in the preliminary trial were used in determining the profiles of cytokines, chemokines and adipokines measured in samples collected at the end of the trial.

End of Trial Analyses

The feeding trial concluded after consumption of the AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks. On the morning of necropsy, the animals' final weights were recorded, and the average weight was 533.0 ± 4.1 g for DIO rats and 479.3 ± 3.6 g for DR rats. The total weight gained during the 11-12 weeks on the AIN-93G modified diets is displayed in Figure 3-3a/b. An overall phenotype effect was observed in the weight gain values (P < P0.001), DIO rats had higher weight gain than DR rats on the HE control (P < 0.001), HE oat bran (P = 0.008), HE RS (P = 0.002) and HE FOS (P = 0.007) diets. An overall diet effect was also observed in the weight gain values (P < 0.001). Rats on the HE oat bran diet had higher weight gain that rats on the control (P < 0.001), HE control (P < 0.001), HE wheat bran (P = 0.031) and HE RS (P = 0.005) diets. Additionally, rats on HE wheat bran (P = 0.007), HE RS (P = 0.041) and HE FOS (P = 0.001) diets had higher final weights than those on the control diet. Within the DR phenotype, rats on the HE oat bran diet had higher weight gain than those on the HE control (P = 0.005) and control (P < 0.001) diets. Within the DIO phenotype, rats on the HE oat bran (P < 0.001), HE FOS (P = 0.012) and HE control (P = 0.036) diets had higher weight gain than those on the control diet.

The average amount of food consumed each day during the trial is displayed in **Figure 3-4a/b**. Rats in each diet group had significantly different daily average food intakes from the other diet groups (P = 0.036 or less) with the following exceptions: rats on the control diet did not consume more than rats on the HE wheat bran or HE FOS diets, rats on the HE control did not consume more than rats on the HE RS or HE FOS diets, and rats on HE RS did not consume more than rats on HE FOS. Overall, DIO rats consumed significantly more food each day than DR rats (P < 0.001). It is important to note that the
recorded daily intakes for the HE oat bran diet may be higher than the amount rats on this diet actually consumed, since it was found that this particular kibble diet was brittle, and increased the possibility of food spillage.

Analysis of Peripheral and Tissue Immune Cell Populations

Hematological analysis revealed an effect on white blood cell (wbc) counts according to phenotype, with DR rats having lower concentrations overall than DIO rats (P = 0.008,**Table 3-20a/b**). On the HE oat bran diet, DR rats had lower wbc counts than DIO rats (P = 0.014). An overall diet effect was observed for rbc counts (P = 0.017); rats on the HE FOS diet had higher counts than rats on the control diet (P = 0.020), regardless of phenotype. Hematocrit levels were lower in DR rats on the HE oat bran diet than in DIO rats (P = 0.036). On the control diet, DIO rats had higher neutrophil counts than DR rats (P = 0.028). An overall phenotype effect was observed for percentages of circulating monocytes, with DIO rats having higher percentages than DR rats (P = 0.022). Within the DR phenotype, monocyte percentages for rats on the HE oat bran diet were higher than those on the control diet (P = 0.031), and the same pattern was present within the DIO phenotype (P = 0.026). Additionally, a diet effect (P < 0.001) was observed on the monocyte population. Overall, circulating monocyte percentages for rats on the HE control (P = 0.014), HE wheat bran (P = 0.016), HE oat bran (P < 0.001) and HE FOS (P = 0.015)diets were higher than those on the control diet.

Immune cell populations investigated within the spleen are shown in **Table 3-21a/b**. Within the DIO phenotype, rats on the HE RS diet displayed lower CD3⁺ T lymphocyte percentages than those on the control diet (P = 0.043). Within CD3⁺ T lymphocyte populations, there was an overall effect due to diet, with rats on the HE FOS diet displaying higher CD3⁺ percentages than those on the control diet (P = 0.019), regardless of phenotype. There was an effect on CD3⁺CD62L⁺ memory T cells due to diet within the DR phenotype; rats on HE RS (P = 0.034) and HE FOS (P = 0.002) diets had higher percentages than those on the control diet. Within the DIO phenotype, rats on the HE RS diet had higher CD3⁺CD62L⁺ percentages than those on the HE control (P = 0.006) and control (P = 0.004) diets, and rats on the HE FOS diet had lower CD3⁺CD62L⁺ percentages than those on the HE control (P = 0.003) and control (P = 0.002) diets. A diet effect was observed for CD3⁺CD62L⁺ memory T cells (P < 0.001), with combined phenotypes on the HE oat bran (P = 0.030), HE RS (P < 0.001) and HE FOS (P < 0.001) diets having higher CD3⁺CD62L⁺ memory T cell percentages than those on the control diet. Combined phenotypes on the HE RS (P = 0.003) and HE FOS (P < 0.001) diets had higher CD3⁺CD62L⁺ percentages than those on the HE control diet, while rats consuming the HE wheat bran displayed higher $CD3^+CD62L^+$ percentages than those on the HE FOS diet (P = 0.019). In splenic CD3⁺CD8a⁺ cytotoxic T cell populations, DIO rats on the HE FOS diet had lower percentages than those on the control diet (P = 0.044). With combined phenotypes, a diet effect was also observed (P = 0.005), with rats on the HE RS (P = 0.042) and HE FOS (P = 0.010) diets having lower CD3⁺CD8a⁺ cytotoxic T cell percentages than those on the control diet. DIO rats on the HE RS (P = 0.015) and HE FOS (P = 0.005) diets had lower percentages of CD3⁺CD45⁺ leukocytes than those on the control diet. There was also an overall diet effect on CD3⁺CD45⁺ leukocyte populations in the spleen (P < 0.001), with combined phenotypes on the HE RS diet having higher percentages than rats on the control diet (P = 0.010), and rats on the HE FOS diet having lower percentages than rats

on the control diet (P < 0.001). An effect due to diet was observed on splenic CD3⁻ CD45RA⁺ B cell populations (P = 0.015). All rats on the HE FOS diet had lower B cell percentages than those on the control diet (P = 0.042), regardless of phenotype. A mix of NK cells and activated monocytes are present in the CD3⁻CD161a⁺ populations. Within the DIO phenotype, rats on the HE FOS diet had lower percentages of NK cells/activated monocytes than rats on the control diet (P = 0.001), and rats on the HE oat bran diet had higher percentages than rats on the HE FOS diet (P = 0.029). Within this population of splenic CD3⁻CD161a⁺ cells, an overall diet effect was observed (P = 0.006), with all DR and DIO rats combined on the HE FOS diet having lower percentages than rats on the control diet (P = 0.006), and higher percentages than rats on the HE oat bran diet (P =0.025). In the CD3⁻CD161a⁺ NK cell population (activated monocytes are excluded) an overall effect due to diet was observed (P = 0.045). Within the DIO phenotype, rats on the HE FOS diet had lower CD3⁻CD4⁻CD161a⁺ NK cell percentages than rats on the control diet (P = 0.022). Within the macrophage population defined by CD3⁻His36⁺ cells, DR rats on the HE FOS diet had elevated percentages in comparison to DIO rats on the same diet (P = 0.016). No differences between diets or phenotypes were observed in percentages of CD3⁺CD4⁺ T_H cells, CD3⁺γδTCR⁺ T cells, CD3⁺CD4⁺Foxp3⁺CD25⁺ T_{reg} cells or CD3⁻ CD103⁺ DCs.

In summary, the diets which appeared to impact splenic immune cell population percentages most frequently in this study were the HE RS and HE FOS diets. Rats on the HE RS diet had decreased percentages of T lymphocytes and cytotoxic T cells, and increased memory T cells and leukocytes relative to rats on the control diet. Rats on the HE FOS diet displayed lower splenic cell population percentages of cytotoxic T cells, leukocytes, B cells and NK cells, and higher percentages of T lymphocytes and memory T cells relative to rats fed the control diet.

Immune cell populations investigated within the MLN are shown in **Table 3-22a/b**. On the control diet, DR rats had higher percentages of $CD3^+CD4^+$ T_H cells than DIO rats (P = 0.041). On the HE control diet, DIO rats had higher CD3⁻CD45RA⁺ B cell percentages than DR rats (P = 0.028). An effect due to diet was observed on MLN B cell populations (P = 0.045); combined phenotypes on the HE oat bran diet had higher percentages than rats on the HE FOS diet (P = 0.030). A phenotype × diet interaction was observed in the CD3⁻ $CD103^+$ DC population (P = 0.002). Within the DIO phenotype, rats on the HE wheat bran diet displayed higher CD3⁻CD103⁺ DC percentages than rats on the HE FOS diet (P =0.020). On the HE wheat bran diet, DIO rats had higher CD3⁻CD103⁺ DC percentages than DR rats (P = 0.002). On the HE FOS diet, DR rats had higher CD3⁻CD103⁺ DC percentages than DIO rats (P = 0.024). Within the MLN CD3⁻His36⁺ macrophage population, DR rats on the HE RS diet had elevated percentages in comparison to DIO rats on the same diet (P = 0.019). Within the DIO phenotype, rats on the HE RS diet had higher MLN CD3⁺ $\gamma\delta$ TCR⁺ T cell percentages than rats on the HE control diet (P = 0.041). On the HE control diet, DR rats had higher CD3⁺ $\gamma\delta$ TCR⁺ percentages than DIO rats (P = 0.017). Upon examining T_{reg} cell populations in the MLN, an overall diet effect was observed (P = 0.043). Rats of both phenotypes on the HE oat bran diet had lower CD3⁺CD4⁺Foxp3⁺CD25⁺ T_{reg} cell percentages (P = 0.023) than rats on the HE RS diet. In the DR phenotype, rats on the HE oat bran diet had lower percentages of $CD3^+CD4^+Foxp3^+CD25^+$ cells (P = 0.031) than rats on the HE RS diet. No differences between diets or phenotypes were observed in percentages of CD3⁺ T lymphocytes, CD3⁺CD62L⁺ memory T cells, CD3⁺CD8a⁺ cytotoxic T cells, CD3⁺CD45⁺ leukocytes, CD3⁻CD161a⁺ or CD3⁻CD4⁻CD161a⁺ NK cells.

To summarize the MLN immune cell population percentages, rats on the HE oat bran diet had higher B cell percentages than those on HE FOS and higher T_{reg} cell percentages than those on HE RS, and rats of the DIO phenotype on HE wheat bran had higher DC percentages than those on HE FOS, and DIO rats on HE RS had higher $CD3^+\gamma\delta TCR^+T$ cell percentages than those on the HE control diet.

Immune cell populations investigated within the ileal PP are shown in **Table 3**-23a/b. On the control diet, DR rats had higher percentages of CD3⁺ T lymphocyte populations than DIO rats (P = 0.016). A similar pattern was observed in CD3⁺CD4⁺ T_H cell populations where DR rats on the control diet had higher percentages than DIO rats (P = 0.018). Within the DR phenotype, rats on the HE RS (P = 0.034) and HE FOS (P = 0.031) diets had lower CD3⁺CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cell percentages than those on the control diet. There was an overall diet effect on ileal PP CD3⁺CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cell percentages (P =0.021), with DIO rats having lower percentages than DR rats on the control diet (P = 0.006). An overall diet effect on CD3⁺CD45⁺ leukocytes was also present (P = 0.022), and rats from both phenotypes on the HE wheat bran diet had higher percentages than those on the HE FOS diet (P = 0.046). In populations of CD3⁻CD45RA⁺ B cells within the DR phenotype, rats on the HE RS diet had lower percentages than rats on the HE oat bran (P = 0.039) and control (P = 0.046) diets. Within the DIO phenotype, rats on the HE FOS diet had lower CD3⁻CD45RA⁺ B cell percentages than rats on the HE wheat bran (P = 0.008), HE oat bran (P = 0.034) and HE control (P = 0.006) diets. Also in the DIO phenotype, rats on the HE control diet had higher CD3⁻CD45RA⁺ percentages than those on the control

diet (P = 0.043). An overall diet effect on CD3⁻CD45RA⁺ B cells (P = 0.039) was present; rats on HE FOS diet had lower percentages than rats on the HE control diet (P = 0.009). In populations of CD3⁻CD161a⁺ NK cells with activated monocytes, DIO rats had higher percentages than DR rats within HE control diet group (P = 0.015). Within the DIO phenotype, rats the HE FOS diet had lower CD3⁻CD161a⁺ NK cell percentages than those on the HE control diet (P = 0.022). A phenotype \times diet interaction was observed in the CD3⁻CD4⁻CD161a⁺ NK cell population (P = 0.040). Within the DIO phenotype, rats on the HE FOS diet had lower CD3⁻CD4⁻CD161a⁺ cell percentages than rats on the HE control diet (P = 0.015). Overall, the DIO phenotype had higher CD3⁻CD4⁻CD161a⁺ cell percentages than DR rats on the HE RS (P = 0.039) and HE control (P = 0.006) diets. In populations of ileal PP CD3⁻CD103⁺ DCs, DIO rats had higher percentages than DR rats on the HE RS diet (P = 0.043). DR rats displayed higher percentages of CD3⁻His36⁺ macrophages than DIO rats on the HE RS diet (P = 0.018). No differences between diets or phenotypes were observed in percentages of CD3⁺CD62L⁺ memory T cells, $CD3^+\gamma\delta TCR^+$ T cells, or $CD3^+CD4^+Foxp3^+CD25^+$ T_{reg} cells in the ileal PP.

In summary of the ileal PP immune cell population percentages, T lymphocytes, $CD4^+$ T_H cells and cytotoxic T cell percentages were lower in DIO rats than DR rats on control. Leukocytes percentages were higher in rats on the HE wheat bran diet than those on the HE FOS diet. Effects of diet on B cell population percentages differed between phenotypes; DR rats on HE RS had lower percentages than those on HE oat bran or control diets, and DIO rats on the HE FOS diet had lower percentages than those on HE wheat bran diet that higher bran, HE oat bran and HE control diets, while those on HE control diet had higher

percentages than those on the control diet. In NK cell populations, DIO rats had lower percentages on the HE FOS diet compared to the HE control.

Due to unfortunate circumstances, the flow cytometry laboratory at Health Canada was unavailable during the timing of the preliminary necropsy, preventing pre-testing of antibodies. During the flow cytometry acquisition at the end of the trial, the intracellular pan macrophage marker CD68⁺ was not effectively measured, and subsequent macrophage markers in the same panel for CD197⁺ M1 macrophages and CD163⁺ M2 macrophages were subsequently omitted from the analyses of immune cell populations in the spleen, MLN and ileal PP tissues.

Ex vivo Analysis of TLR Agonist Induced Responses of Peripheral Blood Cells

The *ex vivo* whole blood culture assay involving stimulation of peripheral immune cells with TLR agonists was utilised to investigate and compare systemic innate immune responses between phenotype and diet groups. At trial completion, the following cytokines were measured in supernatants collected from whole blood cultures that had been stimulated separately with TLR2 (P3C), TLR4 (LPS) or TLR5 (Flagellin) agonists as well as an unstimulated control: CINC-1, IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-10 and TNF- α .

CINC-1 concentrations measured from the whole blood TLR assay are in **Table 3-24a/b**. In unstimulated whole blood collected from rats on the HE FOS diet, DIO rat blood had higher CINC-1 concentrations than DR rat blood (P = 0.039). In TLR4 stimulated whole blood cultures from rats on the HE wheat bran diet, CINC-1 concentrations were higher in DR rats than in DIO rats (P = 0.026). A phenotype × diet interaction was found in TLR5 stimulated whole blood (P = 0.037). Whole blood cultures from DR rats on the HE wheat bran diet had higher CINC-1 concentrations than DIO rats (P = 0.042), and within the HE FOS diet, blood collected from DIO rats had higher CINC-1 concentrations than DR rats (P = 0.008). No differences were detected between diets or phenotypes for CINC-1 production from whole blood stimulated with TLR2.

IL-1 β concentrations measured from the whole blood TLR assay may be found in **Table 3-25a/b**. Within unstimulated whole blood samples collected from rats on the HE oat bran diet, DR rats produced higher IL-1 β concentrations than DIO rats (*P* = 0.015). A phenotype × diet interaction was found in TLR2 simulated whole blood cultures (*P* = 0.040). In whole blood collected from DR rats and stimulated with TLR2, rats on the HE oat bran diet had higher IL-1 β concentrations in than rats on the control (*P* = 0.017), HE control (*P* = 0.034), HE wheat bran (*P* = 0.028), HE RS (*P* = 0.010) and HE FOS (*P* = 0.010) diets. Additionally, DR rats on the HE oat bran diet had higher IL-1 β concentrations in blood cultures stimulated with TLR2 than DIO rats on the same diet (*P* = 0.001). No differences were detected between diets or phenotypes for IL-1 β production from whole blood stimulated with TLR4 or TLR5.

IL-6 concentrations measured from the whole blood TLR assay are in **Table 3-26a/b**. Within the control diet, TLR2 stimulated whole blood cultures produced higher IL-6 concentrations from the DR phenotype than the DIO phenotype (P = 0.009). Within the HE control diet, TLR4 stimulated samples produced higher IL-6 concentrations in blood collected from the DR phenotype than DIO (P = 0.047). No differences were detected between diets or phenotypes for IL-6 production from whole blood stimulated with TLR5 or in the unstimulated control. IL-10 concentrations measured from the whole blood TLR assay may be found in **Table 3-27a/b**. An overall diet effect was observed for TLR4 stimulated samples (P = 0.019), regardless of phenotype. IL-10 concentrations of blood cultures from all rats on the HE RS diet were higher than rats on the control (P = 0.018), HE bran (P = 0.042) and HE FOS (P = 0.034) diets. No differences were detected between diets or phenotypes for IL-10 production from whole blood cultures stimulated with TLR2 or TLR5, or in the control.

TNF- α concentrations measured from the whole blood TLR assay are in **Table 3-28a/b**. Within the DIO phenotype, unstimulated whole blood cultures collected from rats on the HE FOS diet had lower TNF- α concentrations than those on the control diet (*P* = 0.010), but higher TNF- α concentrations than those on the HE control (*P* = 0.027) and the HE oat bran (*P* = 0.027) diets. Within the HE FOS diet, unstimulated blood collected from DIO rats had higher TNF- α concentrations than blood collected from DR rats (*P* = 0.002). A phenotype × diet interaction was found in TLR4 stimulated whole blood (*P* = 0.026). Within whole blood cultures collected from DIO rats and stimulated with TLR4, rats from the HE oat bran diet displayed higher TNF- α concentrations than those on the HE control diet, DIO rats had higher TNF- α concentrations than DR rats (*P* = 0.027). In TLR4 stimulated blood cultures from rats on the HE control diet, DIO rats had higher TNF- α concentrations than DR rats (*P* = 0.027) in the TLR4 stimulated blood cultures. No differences were detected between diets or phenotypes for TNF- α production from whole blood cultures stimulated with TLR2 or TLR5.

To encapsulate the main findings of the *ex-vivo* whole blood TLR agonist assay, there were no overall differences due to phenotype. The only overall difference due to diet was found in TLR4-stimulated IL-10 production, where blood collected from rats on the HE RS diet produced higher concentrations than those on HE oat bran, HE FOS and control diets. A consistent pattern of change across the measured cytokines and TLR agonists could not be established for phenotype or for a specific diet.

Assessment of Serum Cytokines, Chemokines, CRP, LPS, BUN and Glucose

Serum measures are displayed in Table 3-29a/b. Within the HE FOS diet, DIO rats had significantly higher CINC-1 concentrations than DR rats (P = 0.006). DIO rats on the HE RS diet displayed significantly higher CINC-2 concentrations than DR rats on the same diet (P = 0.042). A phenotype × diet interaction was found in CINC-3 concentrations (P =0.036); DIO rats on the HE oat bran diet had lower CINC-3 concentrations that DR rats on the same diet (P = 0.047), and DIO rats on the HE RS diet had significantly higher CINC-3 concentrations than DR rats on the same diet (P = 0.015). A phenotype \times diet interaction was also found in examining sICAM-1/sCD54 concentrations (P = 0.044); DIO rats on the HE control diet had higher sICAM-1/sCD54 concentrations that DR rats (P < 0.001). Within the control diet, DR rats displayed higher concentrations of active TGF- β 1 than DIO rats (P = 0.045). Within the DR phenotype, rats on the HE control diet had significantly higher CRP concentrations than rats on the HE RS diet (P = 0.020). Within the DIO phenotype, rats on the control diet had significantly higher CRP concentrations than rats on the HE RS diet (P = 0.016). Additionally, an overall diet effect was observed with CRP concentrations (P = 0.043), with rats on the control (P = 0.005), HE control (P= 0.011) and HE wheat bran (P = 0.027) diets having higher CRP concentrations than rats on the HE RS diet.

Analysis of serum samples collected at the final necropsy revealed a diet effect (P < 0.001) on BUN concentrations, and the highest concentrations were present in the animals which consumed the control diet, regardless of phenotype. The HE diet appeared to decrease BUN concentrations. Within the DR phenotype, rats on the HE RS diet had lower BUN concentrations than rats on the control diet (P = 0.037). Within the DIO phenotype, rats on the HE control (P = 0.007), HE oat bran (P = 0.001), HE RS (P = 0.006) and HE FOS (P < 0.001) diets had lower BUN concentration than rats on the control (P = 0.020), HE wheat bran (P = 0.003), HE oat bran (P < 0.001), HE RS (P < 0.001) diets had lower BUN concentration than rats on the control diet. Combining phenotypes, all rats on HE control (P = 0.020), HE wheat bran (P = 0.003), HE oat bran (P < 0.001), HE RS (P < 0.001) and HE FOS (P < 0.001) diets displayed lower BUN concentrations than rats on the control diet. There were no differences found between phenotypes or diet groups in blood glucose or serum LPS or total TGF- β 1 concentrations.

Assessment of Immune Activity in Gut Tissues

Histological scoring was performed to assess the presence of gut-level inflammation in sections of the small and large bowel collected from DIO rats at the end of the trial to determine if the addition of DFM to a HE diet produced any visible morphological change in intestinal tissues. After the examination of duodenum, jejunum, ileum, proximal and mid colon sections, pathological assessment did not reveal any differences in bowel morphology between the fibre supplemented diets in DIO rats. Furthermore, there were no differences in IEL counts in the duodenum or jejunum between diets (**Table 3-30**).

In the analysis of ileal tissue, concentrations of both proinflammatory and regulatory cytokines were measured (**Table 3-31a/b**). No differences were apparent in IL-

1 β , IL-6, IL-10, IL-17F, active and total TGF- β 1 concentrations in the ileum between phenotype or any of the diet groups after a multiple comparison test.

The cytokine/chemokine profile used to examine caecal tissue is in Table 3-32a/b. A diet effect on CINC-2 $\alpha\beta$ concentrations was evident (P = 0.014). In the DR phenotype, rats on the HE wheat bran (P = 0.035) and HE RS (P = 0.027) diets had lower CINC-2 $\alpha\beta$ concentrations than those on the control diet, rats on the HE wheat bran (P = 0.017), HE RS (P = 0.013) and HE FOS (P = 0.044) diets had lower CINC-2 $\alpha\beta$ concentrations than those on the HE control diet, and rats on the HE oat bran diet had higher CINC- $2\alpha\beta$ concentrations than those on HE wheat bran (P = 0.038) and HE RS (P = 0.029) diets. Within the DR phenotype, rats on the HE RS diet had lower IL-6 concentrations than rats on the HE control (P = 0.044), HE wheat bran (P = 0.040) and HE FOS (P = 0.003) diets. An overall diet effect was also observed for IL-6 concentrations in caecal tissue (P = 0.003) when combining phenotypes; rats on the HE RS diet had lower IL-6 concentrations than those on the control (P = 0.010), HE control (P = 0.037) and HE FOS (P = 0.002) diets. A phenotype effect was observed for total TGF- β 1 concentrations (P = 0.047), with DIO rats having higher total TGF- β 1 concentrations overall than DR rats. No differences were apparent between phenotypes or diets for CINC-1, CINC-3, GM-CSF, IL-10, IL-17F, IL-22, or active TGF- β 1 concentrations in the caecum. During necropsy, the caeca collected from rats of both phenotypes on the HE RS and HE FOS diets were visibly different from rats on other diets. The caeca from rats on the HE RS diet were wrinkled and shriveled in appearance, and the caeca from rats on the HE FOS dies were notably larger and distended.

The cytokine/chemokine profile used to examine the proximal colon is in **Table 3-33a/b**. A phenotype × diet interaction was found in examining IL-6 concentrations (P = 0.016). Within the DIO phenotype, rats on the HE oat bran (P = 0.050) and HE FOS (P = 0.006) diets had lower IL-6 concentrations than rats on the control diet. A trend was observed for a diet effect (P = 0.060), and DIO rats on the control diet had higher IL-6 concentrations than DR rats on the same diet (P = 0.003). Within the DIO phenotype, rats on the HE FOS diet had significantly lower IL-17F concentrations than rats on the control diet (P = 0.012). When examining TGF- β 1, DIO rats on the HE RS diet had higher concentrations of active TGF- β 1 (P = 0.040) and total TGF- β 1 (P = 0.038) than DR rats on the same diet. No differences were apparent between phenotypes or diets for IL-10 or TNF-α concentrations in the proximal colon.

The cytokine/chemokine profile used to examine the distal colon is in **Table 3-34a/b**. Within the HE control diet, DR rats had higher IL-10 concentrations than DIO rats (P = 0.037). DR rats displayed higher IL-22 concentrations on the HE RS diet than DIO rats (P = 0.041). When examining total TGF- β 1 concentrations on the control diet, DIO rats had higher concentrations than DR rats (P = 0.022). No differences were apparent between phenotypes or diets for IL-6, IL-17F, TNF- α or active TGF- β 1 concentrations in the distal colon.

After the assessment of immune activity within gut tissues, it was clear that there were no lasting impacts of diet on ileal tissue, and no morphological differences were apparent between phenotype or diet groups after histological examination of the small and large bowel. Rats on HE RS and HE FOS diets had caeca that appeared remarkably different from rats on the other diets, however, the caeca collected from rats on the HE RS and HE FOS diets had lower pro-inflammatory cytokine and chemokine concentrations than rats on the control diets. In the proximal colon, DIO and DR phenotypes differed at

active and total TGF- β 1 concentrations, and in the distal colon, DIO rats displayed higher IL-6 concentrations than DR rats, while DR rats displayed higher IL-10 concentrations than DIO rats.

Assessment of Immune Activity in Systemic and Local Tissues

The cytokine/chemokine profile examined in the liver is shown in **Table 3-35a/b**. Within the DR phenotype, rats on the HE control (P = 0.008), HE oat bran (P = 0.001) and HE RS (trend at P = 0.058) diets had higher CINC-2 $\alpha\beta$ concentrations than those on the control diet. On the control diet, DIO rats had higher CINC- $2\alpha\beta$ concentrations than DR rats (P = 0.035). An overall diet effect was observed for CINC-2 $\alpha\beta$ concentrations (P =0.005); rats combined from DIO and DR phenotypes on the HE control (P = 0.039), HE oat bran (P = 0.010) and HE RS (P = 0.032) diets had higher CINC-2 $\alpha\beta$ concentrations than rats on the control diet. Within the DIO phenotype, rats on the HE RS diet had lower liver CRP concentrations that rats on the control diet (P = 0.030). On the control diet, DIO rats had higher CRP concentrations that DR rats (P = 0.038). An overall diet effect was revealed (P = 0.046) in the analysis of liver IL-1 β concentrations, and rats on the HE oat bran diet had higher concentrations than rats on the control diet (P = 0.025). No differences were apparent between phenotypes or diets for CINC-1, CINC-3, IFN-γ, IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, TNF- α , active or total TGF- β 1 concentrations in the liver. As previously noted in the preliminary trial results, concentrations of active and total TGF- β in the liver nearly matched, indicating all TGF- β was in its active form.

The cytokine/chemokine profile examined in the spleen is in **Table 3-36a/b**. On the HE control diet, DR rats had higher CINC-3 concentrations than DIO rats (P = 0.018).

Within the DIO phenotype, rats on the HE wheat bran diet had much lower GM-CSF concentrations than rats on the HE oat bran diet (P = 0.015). A diet effect was observed in the analysis of splenic GM-CSF concentrations (P = 0.017); overall, rats on the HE wheat bran diet had lower concentrations than rats on the HE oat bran diet (P = 0.047). No differences were apparent between phenotypes or diets for CINC-1, CINC-2 $\alpha\beta$, IFN- γ , IL-1 β , IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, TNF- α , active or total TGF- β 1 concentrations in the spleen.

A profile of eleven cytokines/chemokines was analyzed in MLN homogenates (**Table 3-37a/b**) using Luminex technology. On the control diet, CINC-2 $\alpha\beta$ concentrations were higher in DIO rats than in DR rats (P = 0.017). On the HE control diet, DIO rats had lower CINC-3 concentrations than DR rats (P = 0.003). A phenotype effect was also observed within CINC-3 concentrations, and DIO rats overall had lower concentrations than DR rats (P = 0.003). A phenotype effect was also observed within CINC-3 concentrations, and DIO rats overall had lower concentrations than DR rats (P = 0.005). On the HE FOS diet, DR rats had higher IFN- γ concentrations than DIO rats (P = 0.046). Within the DIO phenotype, rats on the HE RS diet had lower IL-2 (P = 0.029) and lower IL-1 β (P = 0.018) concentrations in the MLN than rats on the control diet (P = 0.018). On the HE RS diet, DR rats had higher IL-1 β concentrations than DIO rats (P = 0.019). Within the DIO phenotype, rats on the HE wheat bran diet had lower IL-10 concentrations in the MLN than DR rats (P = 0.021). No differences were apparent between phenotypes or diets for GM-CSF, sICAM-1/sCD54, IL-4, IL-6, or TNF- α concentrations in the MLN.

The same profile of eleven cytokines/chemokines analyzed in the MLN was also used examined in the ileal PP homogenates (**Table 3-38a/b**) with Luminex technology. A phenotype effect was present, and DIO rats had significantly higher CINC- $2\alpha\beta$ concentrations than DR rats (P = 0.038). Within the DIO phenotype, rats on the HE oat bran diet had higher CINC-2 $\alpha\beta$ concentrations than rats on the HE control diet (P = 0.047). An overall diet effect was also present (P = 0.007), with combined phenotypes on the HE oat bran diet having higher CINC-2 $\alpha\beta$ concentrations than rats on the HE control (P = 0.017) and HE FOS (P = 0.007) diets. After multiple comparison tests, no differences were apparent between phenotypes or diets for CINC-3, GM-CSF, sICAM-1/sCD54, IFN- γ , IL-1 β , IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-10 or TNF- α concentrations in the ileal PP.

In summary, cytokine profile analyses of systemic tissues indicated that HE diets increased liver CINC-2 $\alpha\beta$ concentrations relative to the control diet, the HE RS diet lowered liver CRP concentrations in the DIO phenotype, and rats on the HE wheat bran diet had lower splenic GM-CSF concentrations than those on the HE oat bran diet. In the assessment of cytokine profiles within local tissues, it was found that DIO rats had lower MLN CINC-3 concentrations than DR rats, DIO rats on the HE RS diet had lower MLN IL-1 β and IL-2 concentrations in comparison to the control diet, DIO rats had higher ileal PP CINC-2 $\alpha\beta$ concentrations than DR rats, and rats on the HE oat bran diet had higher cINC-2 $\alpha\beta$ concentrations in the ileal PP than rats on the control diet. Overall, there were relatively few patterns in immune activity according to diet and phenotype noted, given how many measurements were performed on systemic and local immune tissues.

Assessment of Immune Activity in Adipose Tissue

The cytokine profile examined in epididymal fat is present in **Table 3-39a/b**. Rats on the HE wheat bran diet displayed lower CINC- $2\alpha\beta$ concentrations than those on the control diet (*P* = 0.042), and DR rats on the HE wheat bran diet had higher CINC- $2\alpha\beta$ concentrations than DIO rats on the same diet (P = 0.012). Although TNF- α concentrations were relatively low in this tissue, DIO rats had higher concentrations than DR rats on the control diet (P = 0.030). An overall diet effect was observed on epididymal fat concentrations of active TGF- β 1 (P = 0.012); rats on the HE wheat bran (P = 0.040), HE RS (P = 0.027) and HE FOS (P = 0.012) diets had lower concentrations than rats on the HE control diet. DR rats on the HE wheat bran (P = 0.012) and control (P = 0.047) diets had lower active TGF- β 1 concentrations than those on the HE control diet, and DR rats had higher active TGF- β 1 concentrations than DIO rats on the HE FOS diet (P = 0.044). An overall diet effect was also observed in epididymal fat total TGF- β 1 concentrations (P = 0.048) and HE oat bran (P = 0.040) diets had lower total TGF- β 1 concentrations than rats on the HE control diet. No differences were apparent between phenotypes or diets for CINC-1, CINC-3, IL-1 β , IL-6, or IL-10 concentrations in the epididymal fat.

Assessment of Peptide Hormones and Adipokines

Serum concentrations of peptide hormones glucagon and insulin, as well as adipokines leptin and adiponectin were measured. There was an overall diet effect on glucagon concentrations (P = 0.032, Figure 3-5a/b); rats on the HE FOS diet had higher glucagon concentrations than rats on the HE oat bran diet (P = 0.036). A phenotype effect was present in insulin concentrations (P = 0.013, Figure 3-6a/b); overall, DIO rats had higher serum insulin concentrations than DR rats. On the HE oat bran diet, DIO rats displayed higher insulin concentrations than DR rats (P = 0.032). A phenotype effect was also present for serum leptin concentrations (P = 0.034, Figure 3-7/b); DIO rats had higher

concentrations overall than DR rats. On the control diet, DIO rats had higher leptin concentrations than DR rats (P = 0.004). After multiple comparison tests, no differences were apparent between phenotypes or diets for adiponectin concentrations in the serum (**Figure 3-8a/b**).

In epididymal fat tissue, adiponectin concentrations were quantified. (Figure 3-9a/b). Like the serum concentrations, no differences were apparent between phenotypes or diets for adiponectin concentrations in the epididymal fat. In the distal colon, leptin concentrations were measured (Figure 3-10a/b). Within the DR phenotype, rats on the HE oat bran diet had higher leptin concentrations in the distal colon that rats on the control (P = 0.013) and HE RS (P = 0.011) diets. There was an overall diet effect on leptin concentrations (P = 0.007); rats from both phenotypes on the HE oat bran diet had higher leptin concentration (P = 0.029) and HE RS (P = 0.026) diets.

Overall, in examining peptide hormones and adipokines, DIO rats had higher concentrations of serum insulin and leptin than DR rats. Additionally, rats on the HE FOS diet displayed higher serum glucagon concentrations than rats on the HE oat bran diet, and rats on the HE oat bran diet had higher distal colon leptin concentrations that rats on the HE RS and control diets.

Discussion

After consumption of a HE diet for only two weeks, Sprague Dawley rats displayed two distinct phenotypes, DR or DIO, based on the amount of weight the animals gained. There were distinct differences in weight gain between DR, MID and DIO rat groups; the average weight of DR rats was 263 g and the average weight of DIO rats was 290 g. The trial continued for another 11-12 weeks with 60 DR animals and 60 DIO animals, allowing for an investigation of the impact of selected DFM-containing HE diets on immune biomarkers, gut inflammation and systemic inflammation. At the end of the trial, the distinct DR and DIO phenotypes remained, further indicating the utility of the Sprague Dawley rat strain as a model for diet-induced obesity (Abnous et al., 2009; Barbier de la Serre et al., 2010). The final average weights were 479 g for DR rats and 533 g for DIO rats, and it was not surprising to find that DIO rats consumed significantly more food each day than DR rats. Rats on the HE diets displayed higher weight gain overall than those on the control diet, although this did not necessarily mirror the pattern in the daily amount of food consumed. Rats of both phenotypes had the highest weight gain on the HE oat bran diet. The HE oat bran diet had slightly more fat (1.2 - 1.8%) than the other HE diets, providing more energy available from fat in the diet. The separation of DR and DIO phenotypes according to weight provided non-obese and obese states to study the effects of DFM-supplemented HE diets and to compare differences in immune and obesityassociated biomarkers.

Hematological analysis was performed to assess whether DFM-supplemented HE diets altered standard blood cell measures. After the preliminary trial, there were relatively minor hematological differences between DR and DIO rats due to rbc distribution width, platelet counts and mean platelet volume. Red blood cell dysfunction may have been

suspected if alterations were present in either the rbc count or rbc distribution width. Red blood cell dysfunction can lead to increased interaction with macrophages leading to enhanced macrophage adhesion to endothelial cells, and has been proposed as a contributor to atherosclerosis in a mouse model of diet-induced obesity on high-fat diet (Unruh *et al.*, 2015). However, the rbc component differences between phenotypes found after the preliminary trial dissipated by the end of the trial, and only rats on the HE FOS diet had higher rbc counts than rats on the control diet at the trial completion. There were diet and phenotype effects observed at the end of the trial on hematocrit levels and neutrophil percentages. DR rats had lower hematocrit levels than DIO rats on the HE oat bran diet, and DIO rats had higher neutrophil percentages than DR rats on the control diet. While these differences, as those observed in the preliminary trial, were relatively minor, other hematological differences observed at the end of the trial between circulating monocytes and wbc counts may have more significance in the context of this study. Rats of both phenotypes had higher circulating monocyte percentages on the HE diets compared to those on the control diet. DIO rats displayed higher total wbc counts than DR rats, and this population includes lymphocytes, monocytes, neutrophils, basophils and eosinophils. Although higher wbc counts would potentially be in keeping with higher circulating cytokine and chemokine concentrations, this was not found after serum cytokine analysis. Increased numbers of immune cell populations are not necessarily connected to higher cytokine or chemokine production levels unless there is involvement of an immune stimulus. A study performed by Shabbir et al. (2015) found that increased wbc counts coincided with increased serum IL-6 concentrations in obese Sprague Dawley rats on an HE diet. However, the serum proinflammatory cytokines measured in the current trial did

not increase in a pattern that would reflect heighted monocyte activity in rats on the HE diets or wbc activity in DIO rats.

The diets with the greatest impact on immune cell populations in the spleen were HE RS and HE FOS. Rats on the HE RS diet had higher percentages of total leukocytes and memory T cells but lower percentages of cytotoxic T cells compared to rats on the control diet, and DIO rats on HE RS had lower total T cell percentages than DR rats. Rats on the HE FOS diet had the lowest percentages of T lymphocytes, memory T cells, cytotoxic T cells, leukocytes, B cells and NK cells relative to those on the control diet, and DIO rats on the HE FOS diet had lower percentages of macrophages than DR rats. Rats on FOS-supplemented diets have been previously shown to have decreased percentages of splenic T cells (Shastri et al., 2015b), which demonstrates that FOS diets influence systemic immune cell populations. Since rats consuming the HE FOS diet had lower splenic lymphocyte percentages (NK cells, B cells and T cells), it is possible that the rats on this diet could have an impaired immune response should infection occur, since few lymphocytes would available to migrate from the spleen. However, further testing would be required to determine the extent of the outcome of these population changes in the context of an immune challenge.

In the MLN, rats on the HE oat bran diet had higher B cell percentages than rats on the HE FOS diet and higher T_{reg} cell percentages than those on the HE RS diet. DIO rats on the HE wheat bran had higher DC percentages than those on HE FOS, and DIO rats on HE RS had higher $\gamma\delta TCR^+T$ cell percentages than those on HE FOS. Since rats consuming the HE FOS diet had decreased percentages of B cells, T_{reg} cells, DC and $\gamma\delta TCR^+T$ cells in the MLN compared to other diet groups, it is possible that the HE FOS diet may influence B and T cell migration to the gut, an effect that would have a negative impact in the event of an infection.

Percentages of T lymphocyte populations in the ileal PP were impacted by phenotype on the control diet, as DIO rats had lower percentages of total T cells, CD4⁺ T_H cells and cytotoxic T cells than DR rats. Rats on the HE wheat bran diet had higher leukocyte percentages than rats on the HE FOS diet. B cell percentages in the ileal PP fluctuated between diets and phenotypes, and a consistent pattern of change was not established other than that rats on the HE FOS diet had the lowest B cell population percentage. In examining NK cell populations, DIO rats had higher percentages than DR rats on the HE control diet, and rats on the HE FOS diet had lower percentages than those on the HE control diet. On the HE RS diet, DIO rats had higher DC percentages than DR rats, and this pattern was reversed for macrophage percentages on the same diet, as DR rats had higher macrophage percentages than DIO rats. The ileal PP are considered part of the gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT), and the immune cells contained in these organized lymphoid nodules are the first to encounter antigens present in the lower ileum. These results suggest that DIO rats may have altered immune responses due to lower percentages of T lymphocytes, CD4⁺ T_H cells and CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cells compared to DR rats, which would ultimately be anticipated to result in decreased cytokine production, T cell help and killing of virus-infected cells during infection.

Literature suggests that the gut microbiota (Furrie *et al.*, 2005) and high-fat diets (Jialal *et al.*, 2014; Suganami *et al.*, 2005) influence TLR expression. A change in response to TLR agonists is a sensitive indicator of alterations in the innate immune response (Della Bella *et al.*, 2008; Ida *et al.*, 2006), and we have previously used this technique to assess

147

effects of DFM on human and rat innate immune activity (Clarke *et al.*, 2016; Shastri, 2015a). A whole blood TLR-agonist assay was performed to assess parameters of systemic immunity and to determine the effects of dietary fibre fermentation by gut microbiota on immune responses. This *ex vivo* whole blood stimulation method allows for determination of effects on responses to TLR2, 4 and 5 agonist stimulation, as TLR-expressing immune cells in blood samples will respond by releasing cytokines. The cytokine concentrations and the profile produced provide a measure of the strength of the TLR-induced response, and insight into the responding cell types, as certain cytokines are produced by distinct cell types. The cytokines measured in this assay were CINC-1, IL-1β, IL-6, IL-10 and TNF-α. Circulating monocytes produce all of these cytokines; macrophages produce IL-6 and IL-10 and TNF-α, and M2 macrophages produce IL-10; T lymphocytes produce IL-6 and IL-10 and T_H1 cells produce TNF-α; B cells produce IL-10 and TNF-α; and mDC produce IL-1β.

CINC-1 concentrations produced in the *ex vivo* assay mainly differed according to phenotype. With TLR4 and TLR5 stimulation, DR rats on the HE wheat bran diet produced higher CINC-1 concentrations than DIO rats on the same diet, and DIO rats on HE FOS had higher CINC-1 production than DR rats after TLR5 stimulation. IL-1 β production after TLR2 stimulation was higher in DR rats than in DIO rats on the HE oat bran diet, and DR rats on the HE oat bran diet produced the highest IL-1 β concentrations compared to DR rats on the other diets. IL-6 production was higher in DR rats than DIO rats than DIO rats after TLR2 stimulation on the control diet and after TLR4 stimulation on the HE control diet. IL-10 production after TLR4 stimulation was higher in DR rats on the HE RS diet than DIO rats, and DIO rats produced higher IL-10 concentrations than the DR rats on the HE FOS diet. After TLR4 stimulation with LPS, rats on the HE RS diet had the highest IL-10 response overall. TNF- α production in unstimulated whole blood cultures differed between diets in the DIO phenotype; rats on the control diet had the highest TNF- α concentrations in comparison to rats on all HE diets. After TLR4 stimulation, DIO rats had higher TNF- α concentrations than DR rats on the HE control and HE RS diets. A consistent pattern of change in the cytokines produced after TLR activation by various agonists was not established for phenotype or diet. The greatest amount of cytokine production was induced by TLR4 stimulation, and the cytokine profiles were indicative of monocyte, macrophage, M2 macrophage, B cell activity.

The most robust TLR agonist of this assay was LPS, activating TLR4, since the highest levels of cytokine production were detected after LPS stimulation. Cytokine profiles induced by TLR5 stimulation with flagellin had fewer differences due to phenotype or diet in cytokine production than did TLR2 and TLR4 activation with P3C and LPS respectively. This *ex vivo* assay could be expanded in future experiments to include different agonists for TLR2 and TLR4 stimulation, such as a fungal-derived ligand in addition to the microbial-derived ligands. The addition of *Candida albicans* to PBMC *in vitro* has been shown to activate TLR2 and TLR4, the addition of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* activates TLR2, and both strains enhance cytokine production by monocytes (Rizzetto *et al.*, 2016). Another option could be the use of zymosan, a cell wall component of *S. cerevisiae*, as a TLR2 ligand (Underhill *et al.*, 1999). Inclusion of a fungal agonist to activate pattern recognition receptors (PPR) in the *ex vivo* whole blood assay would encompass possible stimulus from the mycobiome, a relatively unexplored area in examining impacts of DFM and in obesity. It would have also been interesting to further

explore the TLR9 activation with unmethylated CpG DNA as an agonist, since TLR9 is internal and cells must endocytose antigen for its activation, whereas TLR2, TLR4 and TLR 5 are expressed on the outer cell membrane.

After the preliminary trial, there were no significant differences found in blood glucose or BUN between DIO and DR rats, so it is unlikely that the two week HE diet altered the physiological parameters to a point where glucose and nitrogen metabolism were affected. By the end of the trial, blood glucose concentrations did not differ between phenotypes or diet groups, but the BUN concentration was significantly reduced in rats on all HE diets compared to the control diet. Rats on HE RS had the lowest BUN concentrations in the DR phenotype, and this effect on BUN in association with a RS supplemented diet has been observed before in rats (Kalmokoff et al., 2013). Through fermentation of dietary or endogenous protein in the gut, ammonia may be derived from the breakdown of urea (Smith and MacFarlane, 1998). Rats consuming RS diets have been shown to have reduced ammonia content in the caecum (Younes et al., 1995). It has been previously proposed that gut bacteria may be utilizing more ammonia derived from endogenous urea due to changes in the diet, making less urea available for the host and thereby reducing circulating BUN concentrations (Kalmokoff et al., 2013). There have been examples of influence on BUN concentrations following consumption of diets with varied carbohydrate, fat and protein proportions (Alford et al., 1990) and due to diets containing rapidly fermented fibres (Kalmokoff et al., 2013). However, less is known about the fluctuation of BUN concentrations in the context of a HE diet, or about the impact of this effect on nitrogen utilization on the immune system.

Serum LPS concentrations were quantified after the preliminary 2-week HE diet and at the end of the trial as an indirect measure of intestinal integrity (Albers *et al.*, 2005). No differences in serum LPS concentrations that would have been attributable to diet or phenotype were found at either time point. It was surprising there were no differences associated with HE feeding in the DIO rats, considering associations of high fat diets and elevated LPS concentrations in other studies (Erridge *et al.*, 2007; Ghanim *et al.*, 2009). A gut leakiness test was performed by project collaborators at Health Canada; rats were gavaged with a sugar probe and temporarily housed into metabolic cages for urine collection. Analysis of the gut leakiness test results are pending, and could reveal information about the integrity of the IEC barrier that may not have been apparent after analysis of circulating LPS concentrations.

After the preliminary HE feeding trial, no differences were found in serum cytokine or CRP concentrations. At the end of the trial, no differences due to diet were found in concentrations of circulating chemokines or regulatory cytokines; however, differences were apparent between the two phenotypes within specific diets. On the HE FOS diet, DIO rats had higher CINC-1 concentrations than DR rats, and had higher CINC-2 $\alpha\beta$ and CINC-3 concentrations on the HE RS diet. On the HE oat bran diet however, DR rats had significantly higher serum CINC-3 concentrations than DIO rats. On the control diet, active TGF- β 1 concentrations were higher in DR rats than in DIO rats, but this difference was not apparent on any of the test diets. Overall, these differences in CINC-3 and active TGF- β 1 were the only instances where DR rats had higher circulating cytokine concentrations than DIO rats. CRP is a marker of inflammatory disorders; the protein interacts with the complement system by binding to complement C1q to activate the classical complement pathway, and is functionally analogous to IgG, although it is not antigen specific (Pagana and Pagana, 2002). Rats on the HE RS diet had lower serum CRP concentrations than rats on control, HE control and HE wheat bran diets, however it was not suspected that any of the rats were in a state of inflammatory disorder since concentrations of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines did not reflect this. DIO rats had higher concentrations of sICAM-1 than DR rats on the HE control diet. The serum represented one means of measuring immune activity at the systemic level, however it did not appear that diet or phenotype consistently influenced circulating cytokine or chemokine concentrations. Spleen and liver tissue may have been more appropriate tissues to measure the impact of HE diets on systemic immune activity since blood concentrations only represent the net outcome of cytokine production from all tissues in the body (Albers *et al.*, 2005). Consequently, these systemic tissues were examined.

Histological scoring of tissue collected from section of the small and large bowel did not reveal any pathological differences in intestinal mucosa after the 2-week preliminary HE feeding or at the end of the trial. This was a surprising finding since RS and FOS are rapidly fermented in the lower gut and rapidly decrease the pH of the lumen due to increased SCFA production, which could potentially lead to epithelial injury (Ten Bruggencate *et al.*, 2003). It was expected that RS and FOS would have different histological scorings from control, wheat bran or oat bran diets to due how quickly and completely RS and FOS are fermented in the caecum and proximal colon (Cummings *et al.*, 1996; Singh and Singh, 2010), and due to the changes in gross morphology evident in

the caecum of these rats. However, this was not the case. In a study investigating the effects of FOS and lactulose-supplemented diets in Wistar rats, histological analysis of the intestinal mucosa did not reveal mucosal inflammation in rats fed FOS diets before they were infected orally with Salmonella enteritidis (Bovee-Oudenhoven et al., 2003). After infection however, the rats consuming the FOS diet had more severe mucosal inflammation compared to rats on a control diet (Bovee-Oudenhoven et al., 2003). This work suggests that even though differences were not apparent with the HE FOS diet alone, differences might be evident if there was an infectious or pro-inflammatory challenge. IEL counts from the duodenum and jejunum of DR and DIO rats did not differ between phenotypes or diets after the preliminary trial or at the end of the trial. The IELs represent movement of immune cells from the MLN to the lumen for surveillance and are influenced by the microbiota (Hooper and Macpherson, 2010). Abnormally high IEL counts, greater than 40 IELs per 100 epithelial cells, would be indicative of inflammation, and are seen in inflammatory bowel disease and coeliac disease (Dickson et al., 2006). However, the rats in this trial were healthy and these histopathology measures indicated that severe inflammation was not induced with the HE and HE DFM-supplemented diets.

In the analysis of ileal tissue after the preliminary trial, it was found that DR rats tended to have higher total TGF- β concentrations than DIO rats. By the end of the trial, no differences were apparent in the ileum for any of the proinflammatory or regulatory cytokines measured. This was not a surprising finding since the selected DFMs used in this study were not fermented in the small intestine, but further along the GI tract at either the caecum, proximal or distal colon. A study which involved mice on high fat diets found that the expression of glucose and lipid metabolism-related genes had been altered in the small

intestine, providing an adaptation to the metabolic changes induced by the high fat diet (Clara *et al.*, 2017). It is possible that the rats in this trial may have metabolically adapted to the HE DFM supplemented diets over the 11-12 week period, however sampling after DFM supplementation was limited to the trial end point. It would be interesting to determine whether there was early evidence of proinflammatory immune activation followed by regulation, perhaps 2-3 weeks into the trial.

In the analysis of caecal cytokines after the preliminary trial, it was found that DIO rats tended to have higher total TGF- β concentrations than DR rats. By the end of the trial, rats on the HE wheat bran, HE RS and HE FOS diets had lower concentrations of CINC- $2\alpha\beta$ than rats on the HE control diet. Rats on the HE RS starch diet had the lowest caecal IL-6 concentrations, which was interesting since RS is quickly fermented in the caecum. Since the caeca of rats on the HE RS diet were visibly wrinkled and shriveled, and the caeca of rats on the HE FOS diet were notably bloated and distended, it was expected that these caeca would have had altered immune activity in comparison to the other diets. However, there were no differences in the cytokine profiles that would be in keeping with alterations in immune activity in the caeca of HE RS and HE FOS fed rats.

In the analysis of proximal colon tissue after the preliminary trial, concentrations of IL-10 and TNF- α were higher in DIO rats than in DR rats, and IL-17F concentrations tended to be higher in the DIO rats. In the distal colon, DIO rats had a tendency toward higher IL-17F, IL-22 and total TGF- β concentrations compared to the DR rats. These initial findings suggested involvement of mucosal IL-17F/IL-22 activity in the DIO phenotype apparent after only 2 weeks of a HE diet. IL-17F is produced by T_H17 cells which are involved in the clearance of pathogens (Korn *et al.*, 2009), and IL-22 is involved in mucosal

epithelial repair mediated through activation of STAT3 in IEC (Mizoguchi, 2012; Neufert *et al.*, 2010), although the roles of IL-17 and IL-22 in the context of HE diets and metabolism remains to be explored. By the end of the trial, rats on the HE oat bran and HE FOS diets had lower IL-6 concentrations than rats on the control diet in the proximal colon. DIO rats on the HE FOS diet had lower IL-17F concentrations than rats on the control diet, and DIO rats on the HE RS diet had higher active and total TGF-β1 concentrations than DR rats in the proximal colon. In the distal colon, IL-10 concentrations were higher in DR rats on the HE RS diet. Also, DIO rats had higher IL-22 concentrations than DIO rats on the HE RS diet. Also, DIO rats had higher total TGF-β concentrations than DIO rats on the HE RS diet. Also, DIO rats had higher total TGF-β concentrations than DR rats on the control diet. In the assessment of immune activity within gut tissues, it was difficult to associate an overall pattern with diet. The patterns found in the preliminary trial due to phenotype dissipated by the end of the trial. It did not appear that HE DFM-supplemented diets had major or long-term effects on immune activity in the GI tissues after 11-12 weeks of consumption.

After 2 weeks on a HE diet, DIO rats had higher liver CINC-1 concentrations than DR rats. By the end of the trial, rats on the HE oat bran, HE RS and HE control had higher CINC-2 $\alpha\beta$ concentrations in the liver than rats on the control diet. Rats of the DIO phenotype on the HE RS diet had lower liver CRP concentrations than rats on the control diet. Rats on the HE oat bran diet had higher liver IL-1 β concentrations than rats on the control diet. A rather large panel of cytokines was measured in the liver and no other differences were found. In the analysis of splenic tissue after the preliminary trial, DIO rats had higher TNF- α concentrations than DR rats. At the end of the trial, DR rats had higher CINC-3 concentrations in the spleen than DIO rats. A diet effect was observed for GM-

CSF, as rats on HE wheat bran had lower splenic GM-CSF concentrations than rats on the HE oat bran diet, and DIO rats on the HE wheat bran diet had lower GM-CSF concentrations than DR rats. As in the liver analysis, a very large panel of cytokines was measured in the spleen, but only a few minor differences were found between phenotypes within specific diets. At the systemic level, it does not appear that the HE DFM-supplement diets induced major changes in immune activity.

In the analysis of the MLN after the preliminary trial, it was found that DR rats had higher concentrations of sICAM-1 than DIO rats. By the end of the trial, this effect on sICAM-1 had dissipated in the MLN, however there were several differences found between phenotypes on specific diets. CINC- $2\alpha\beta$ concentrations were higher in DIO rats than in DR rats on the control diet, and DIO rats had lower concentrations of CINC-3 than DR rats on the HE control diet. There was an overall phenotype effect on CINC-3; DIO rats had lower concentrations than DR rats. On the HE FOS diet, DR rats had higher IFN- γ concentrations than DIO rats, and on the HE RS and control diets, DR rats had higher IL-1β and IL-2 concentrations in the MLN than DIO rats. DIO rats had higher MLN IL-10 concentrations on the control diet than did DR rats, while DIO rats on the HE wheat bran diet had lower IL-10 concentrations than on the control diet. After 2 weeks on the HE diet, no differences were apparent in the ileal PP between phenotypes. By the end of the trial, differences due to phenotype and to diet were apparent in CINC- $2\alpha\beta$ concentrations of the ileal PP; DIO rats had higher concentrations than DR rats, and rats on the HE oat bran diet had higher concentrations than rats on the HE control or HE FOS diets. These small changes in the CINC- $2\alpha\beta$ concentrations may represent increased neutrophil activity in the DIO rats and those which consumed the HE oat bran diet, as monocytes and macrophages

are key sources of this cytokine. At the local immune tissue level, the most pronounced differences were that CINC-3 concentrations were lower in the MLN and CINC- $2\alpha\beta$ concentrations were higher in the ileal PP of DIO rats. Small differences between phenotypes within diet groups were apparent, although it did not appear that any specific diet produced a long-lasting effect on cytokine or chemokine production in the MLN and ileal PP. Lymph fluids from the ileum, caecum and proximal colon drain into the MLN (Mowat and Agace, 2014), making it a suitable tissue to examine immune activity from these regions. Lymph fluid from the distal colon drains into the caudal lymph node (Mowat and Agace, 2014), and this tissue may have been more representative of some immune activity influenced by the DFM which are fermented further along the proximal colon and in the distal colon.

No differences were found in the analysis of epididymal fat cytokine production after the preliminary trial. At the end of the trial, DIO rats had higher TNF- α concentrations than DR rats in the epididymal fat, suggesting potential for higher proinflammatory activity. Since no other differences were apparent between phenotype or diet in concentrations of IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-10, it was not possible to determine if there were be fluctuations in the activity of M1 and M2 macrophages in the adipose tissue. A rise in IL-10 production on a particular diet or in one phenotype over the other may have indicated increased M2 macrophage activity, since heightened IL-10 expression is a marker of M2 macrophage activity (Mantovani *et al.*, 2002). Although an appropriate ELISA format for IL-12 was not available at the time of analysis, increased concentrations of IL-12 in the adipose tissue may have indicated increased M1 macrophage activity (Mantovani *et al.*, 2004). Increased M1 macrophage polarization has been shown in obese models and it exacerbates inflammation to a point where it may influence metabolism and insulin resistance (Lumeng *et al.*, 2007).

Leptin was the only adipokine measured after the preliminary analysis. Higher leptin concentrations were found in DIO rats in all tissues measured, with significantly higher concentrations than DR rats in the distal colon. Leptin concentrations tended to be higher in the serum and mesenteric fat, and no differences were found in epididymal fat. At the end of the trial, adiponectin, leptin, glucagon and insulin were measured in serum. Rats on the HE FOS diet had higher glucagon concentrations that rats on the HE oat bran diet. DIO rats had higher serum insulin and leptin concentrations than DR rats overall, and this result was expected due to the difference in body mass between the phenotypes. In the distal colon, rats on the HE oat bran diet had higher leptin concentrations than rats on the HE RS and control diets. No differences were found in adiponectin concentrations in serum or epididymal fat. Adipokines, specifically leptin, are produced in proportion to body fat mass (Matarese and La Cava, 2004) and are involved in immunomodulation by adipocytes. Leptin influences TLR expression and responsiveness in pre-adipocytes and mature adipocytes (Batra et al., 2007). Elevated concentrations of serum and tissue leptin were quantified in the DIO rats compared to the DR, and this finding, combined with the observed occasional increases in proinflammatory cytokine concentrations in systemic and local immune tissues, suggested that DIO rats would be predicted to have heightened sensitivity to TLR stimulation in the whole blood TLR agonist assay. However, the results of the *ex vivo* TLR assay did not suggest that DIO rats were more sensitive than DR rats to TLR stimulation through TLR2, TLR4 or TLR5.

Resistin is another adipokine which would have been interesting to measure, however Luminex or ELISA rat formats were not readily available during the time of this study. Increased resistin concentrations are capable of influencing inflammation and the expression of adhesion molecules, including ICAM-1 (Verma *et al.*, 2003). Resistin has also been shown to upregulate proinflammatory cytokine production by PMBCs *in vitro* (Bokarewa *et al.*, 2005), and correlations have been found between plasma resistin concentrations and IL-6, CRP and ICAM-1 concentrations in non-diabetic women (Zhang *et al.*, 2010). DIO rats from the current trial had elevated concentrations of sICAM-1 on the HE control diet compared to DR rats, however it has not been established if resistin has involvement in sICAM-1 concentrations in obesity.

Composition of the gut bacterial community has been linked to obesity in the literature (Ley, 2010; Yoshimoto *et al.*, 2013). Most research investigating this topic has been in mice (Ley *et al.*, 2005; Vijay-Kumar *et al.*, 2010), however there are inconsistencies with human research (Duncan *et al.*, 2008; Finucane *et al.*, 2014; Walters *et al.*, 2014). Gut community analysis of the faecal and caecal microbial communities by research collaborators at Health Canada and AAFC will provide further insight into the role of the gut microbiota and effects of DFM in the context of HE diets and their impact on obesity and metabolism-associated immune parameters in DIO and DR rats.

This study has examined how HE DFM-supplemented diets influence mucosal, systemic and obesity-associated biomarkers under homeostatic immune conditions. Although two distinct phenotypes of DR and DIO were investigated, the obese rats were disease-free and represented a resting condition. Much of the focus for this study was on baseline and innate measures of immune activity. The rats were not immunized since there

was interest in determining how DFM impact the immune system in the absence of an adaptive immune challenge. Since several differences were observed between diets in lymphocyte populations at the systemic and local immune tissue levels, it could be useful to investigate the response to immunization. A strong T cell dependent antigen such as KLH (Harris and Markl, 1999) should be used in determining if DFM influence responsiveness to immunization during HE diet exposure.

The observed impact of a HE diet on the immune system at the systemic as well as the mucosal level after only two weeks indicates the extent to which a HE diet can rapidly influence immune parameters, even in the absence of additional immune challenges such infection or defined sources of inflammation. DIO rats had elevated leptin concentrations in serum and tissue, and elevated concentrations of regulatory and proinflammatory cytokine activity in the distal and proximal colon, liver and spleen in comparison to the DR rats. Addition of DFM with distinct physical and chemical characteristics and wide range of fermentability to the HE diet had varied impacts on cytokine and adipokine profiles associated with diet-induced obesity. Many of the observed effects of the HE diet between phenotypes dissipated after DFM supplementation. The phenotypic differences by the end of the trial were that DIO rats had higher concentrations of CINC-3 in the MLN, higher concentrations of CINC- $2\alpha\beta$ in the ileal PP, and higher serum insulin and leptin concentrations than DR rats. The most frequently observed influences on immune activity according to diet involved the HE oat bran and HE FOS diets. Although rats on the HE oat bran diet consumed more food and weighed more than rats on other diets in the trial, this group of rats displayed lower IL-6 concentrations in the proximal colon and had higher concentrations of CINC- $2\alpha\beta$ and IL- 1β in the liver, higher

CINC- $2\alpha\beta$ concentrations in the ileal PP and higher leptin concentrations in the distal colon relative to rats on the control diet. HE FOS-fed rats displayed decreased splenic lymphocyte population percentages in comparison to rats on the control diet and decreased lymphocyte and DC population percentages in the MLN in comparison to rats on other HE DFM diets. The effects of DFM-supplemented HE diets on gut microbial communities and the network of interactions with the immune system and host metabolism remain to be explored, as do the ramifications for the immune changes observed in the context of a defined immune challenge.
Fibre	Solubility	Structural	Fermentation	References
		Properties	Location	
Wheat Bran	Insoluble	Arabinoxylan; branched chain polymer of β1-4 linked D- xylopyranosyl units	Slowly and incompletely fermented in the distal colon	Chen <i>et al.</i> 2011; Izydorcyzck and Biliaderis, 1993
Oat Bran	Soluble	β-glucan; β1-4 linked glucose units separated by β1-3 linked glucose every 2-3 units	Slowly fermented in the proximal colon	Andersson <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> 2010; Drzikova <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> 2005
Resistant Starch Type II	Soluble	Amylose; polymer of α1-4 linked glucosidic chains	Rapidly and completely fermented in the caecum	Cummings <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> 1996; Tharanathan, 2002
Fructo- oligosaccharide	Soluble	Composed of short-length chains of 2-8 fructose units with a terminal glucose, linked by β2-1 glycosidic bonds	Rapidly and completely fermented in the proximal colon	Roberfroid, 2005; Singh and Singh, 2010

Table 3-1. Structural and fermentation properties of DFM added to HE diets used in the obese rat trial.

Cytokine or Chemokine	Cellular Source	Cellular Target & Role	References
CINC-1 /CXCL1	Monocytes, macrophages and epithelial cells	Neutrophil activation	(Shibata <i>et al.</i> , 2000)
CINC-2αβ /CXCL3	Monocytes, macrophages and epithelial cells	Neutrophil activation, first chemokine produced in the presence of LPS	(Takano and Nakagawa, 2001)
CINC-3 /CXCL2	Monocytes, macrophages and epithelial cells (previously named MIP- 2)	Neutrophil activation, most potent of CINCs but produced in smaller quantities	(Shibata <i>et al.</i> , 1995; Shibata <i>et al.</i> , 2000)
GM-CSF	Monocytes, T- lymphocytes, fibroblasts and endothelial cells	Stimulates development of neutrophils, dendritic cells and macrophages, promotes eosinophil proliferation and development	(Caux <i>et al.</i> , 1992)
IFN-γ	Activated NK cells, CD4 ⁺ and CD8 ⁺ T lymphocytes	Impact on macrophage activation, MHC class I and II expression, antigen processing and presentation ability; T _H 1 signature cytokine.	(Schroder <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2004)
IL-1β	Monocytes, tissue macrophages and dendritic cells	Proinflammatory cytokine, promotes IL-2 release, B-cell maturation and proliferation	(Dinarello, 1989)
IL-2	T lymphocytes	Promotes signaling required for T-cell proliferation	(Popmihajlov et al., 2012)
IL-4	Mast cells, T lymphocytes and bone marrow stromal cells	Regulates the differentiation of naïve $CD4^+$ T cells into helper T_{H2} cells; T_{H2} signature cytokine	(Paul, 1991)
IL-6	T lymphocytes, monocytes, macrophages, fibroblasts and endothelial cells	Proinflammatory cytokine and also considered an adipokine, regulates immune responses and stimulates antibody production	(Mauer <i>et al.</i> , 2015)

Table 3-2. Cytokines and chemokines measured to determine the impact of DFM-supplemented HE diets on rat immune parameters.

Cytokine or Chemokine	Cellular Source	Cellular Target & Role	References
IL-10	Monocytes, macrophages (M2), T lymphocytes, B cells and keratinocytes	Regulatory, inhibits T_{H1} cell activity, prevents macrophage cytokine release; T_{reg} signature cytokine.	(Borish, 1998)
IL-17F	T _H 17 cells	Stimulates proliferation and activation of T cells, stimulates epithelial cells to secrete chemokines	(Korn <i>et al.</i> , 2009)
IL-22	T lymphocytes	Regulatory mucosal cytokine, inhibits IL- 4 production by T_H2 cells, protective in preserving the epithelial barrier	(Zheng et al., 2008)
sICAM-1 /sCD54	Endothelial and smooth muscle cells; ICAM-1 is membrane bound (provides adhesion between endothelial cells and leukocytes after injury); sICAM-1 is released and circulating	Competes with bound ICAM-1 and stimulates leukocyte cytokine production	(Witkowska, 2005)
TGF-β1	Produced by almost every cell type	Immunoregulatory, regulates cell proliferation, growth and differentiation, involved in class switching to IgA	(Annes <i>et al.</i> , 2003)
TNF-α	T _H 1 cells, adipocytes, B cells, activated monocytes and macrophages	Proinflammatory, cytotoxic, activates macrophages and induces nitric oxide production	(Bradley, 2008)

Product#	D14062202	D14062203	D14062204	D14062205	D14062206	D14062207
Diet Name	Control (AIN-93G	High-Energy Control	HE Wheat Bran	HE Oat Bran	HE Resistant	HE FOS
	Modified)	(AIN-93G Modified)		_	Starch	
Ingredient	200	g	g	150 T	100	100
Casein	200	190	109.2	132.7	190	190
L-Cystine	3	172.2	159.4	3	3	3
Corn Starch	387.5	1/3.3	158.4	110.5	155.3	1/2.0
Maltodextrin 10	122	68.5	53.4	5.5	50.5	6/.0
Sucrose	100	283.3	268.4	220.3	265.3	282.0
Cellulose, BW 200	/0	/0	3.3	40	40	40
Corn Starch, High Amylose	0	0	122.2	0	83.9	0
Wheat Bran	0	0	133.3	260.0	0	0
Oat Bran	0	0	0	260.9	0	
Oligofructose	0	120.2	0	0	0	32.2
Soybean Oil	/0	120.3	120.3	120.3	120.3	120.5
Milk Fat, Anhydrous	0.014	44.2	44.2	44.2	44.2	44.2
tBHQ	0.014	0.014	0.014	0.014	0.014	0.014
Mineral Mix S10022G	55	55	35	35	35	35
Potassium Phosphate, Monobasic	0	0	0	0	0	0
Vitamin Mix V10037	10	10	10	10	10	10
Choline Bitartrate	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5	2.5
FD&C Red Dye #5	0	0	0	0	0.05	0.025
FD&C Yellow Dye #40	0	0.05	0	0.025	0	0
FD&C Blue Dye #1	0	0	0.05	0.025	0	0.025
Total	1000.014	999.964	1001.0644	1004.564	999.864	1000.064
	Diet 1	Diet 2	Diet 3	Diet 4	Diet 5	Diet 6
g	170.0	170.0	170 7	1747	170.0	170.0
Protein	1/9.0	170.2	172.7	1/4.7	170.2	170.2
Carbohydrate (digestible)	609.5	524.9	508.8	495.0	520.6	522.8
Fat	70.0	164.5	170.1	183.0	164.5	164.5
Fiber	/0.0	/0.0	/0.0	70.0	70.0	12.2
Resistant Starch	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	30.0	0.0
Potassium	3.6	3.6	3.6	3.6	3.6	3.6
Phosphorus	3.0	2.9	2.7	2.6	2.9	2.9
<u>g%</u>						
Protein	17.9	17.0	17.3	17.4	17.0	17.0
Carbohydrate (digestible)	60.9	52.5	50.8	49.3	52.1	52.3
Fat	7.0	16.5	17.0	18.2	16.5	16.4
Fiber	7.0	7.0	7.0	7.0	7.0	7.2
Resistant Starch	7.0	7.0	7.0	7.0	7.0	7.2
kcal						
Protein	716	681	691	699	681	681
Carbohydrate	2438	2100	2035	1980	2082	2091
Fat	630	1481	1531	1647	1481	1481
Total	3784	4261	4257	4326	4244	4253
kcal%						
Protein	19	16	16	16	16	16
Carbohydrate	64	49	48	46	49	49
Fat	17	35	36	38	35	35

Table 3-3. AIN-93G modified diets^{*} with high fat and wheat bran, oat bran, RS or FOS.

^{*} These formulations were created by Dr. Stephen PJ Brooks (Bureau of Nutritional Sciences, Health Canada) and this table was reproduced with permission.

Marker	Description	Clone	Conjugate [*]	Manufacturer
Control	Isotype – IgG1	F8-11-13	AF700	AbD Serotec
CD3	T lymphocytes	IF4	APC	BD Biosciences
CD3 **	T lymphocytes	G4.18	PerCP-eFluor	eBioscience
CD4	T helper cells	OX-35	PE-Cy7	BD Biosciences
CD4 ***	T helper cells	OX-35	V450	BD Biosciences
CD8a	Cytotoxic T cells	OX-8	V450	BD Biosciences
CD25	T cell IL-2R α chain	OX-39	FITC	BD Biosciences
CD45	Leukocytes	OX-1	APC-Cy7	BD Biosciences
CD45RA	B cells	OX-33	PE-Cy5	BD Biosciences
CD62L	T cell subsets,	11RL1	PE	BD Biosciences
	effector/memory			
CD68	Pan macrophage	ED1	AF700	AbD Serotec
CD103	Dendritic cells	OX-62	AF647	BioLegend
CD161a	NK cells	10/78	FITC	BD Biosciences
CD163	M2 macrophage	ED2	AF647	AbD Serotec
CD197	M1 macrophage	Y59	PE-Cy7	abcam
Foxp3	Treg	FJK-16s	PE	eBioscience
HIS36	Pan macrophage	HIS36	PE	BD Biosciences
γδ-ΤCR	γδ-T cells	V65	FITC	eBioscience
Viability	Labels dead cells		eFluor 506	eBioscience
dve				

Table 3-4. Anti-rat antibodies used in flow cytometry for analysis of cell populations in spleen, MLN and ileal PP.

* Conjugates: AF647: Alexa Fluor 647, APC: allophycocyanin, FITC: fluorescein isothiocyanate, MHC II: Major histocompatibility complex class molecule II, PE: phycoerythrin, PerCP: peridinin–chlorophyll– protein complex.

** Alternate fluorochrome-conjugated anti-CD3 antibody used to differentiate populations in panel 2.

*** Alternate fluorochrome-conjugated anti-CD4 antibody used to differentiate populations in panel 3. Manufacturers: BD Biosciences (San Jose, CA, USA); BioLegend (San Diego, CA, USA); AbD Serotec (Oxford, UK); abcam (Cambridge UK); eBioscience (San Diego, CA, USA).

Receptor	Agonist	Concentrations Tested
TLR2	P3C	10μ g/mL and 20μ g/mL
TLR4	LPS	$5 \mu g/mL$ and $10 \mu g/mL$
TLR5	Flagellin	100 ng/mL and 200 ng/mL
TLR9	E. coli ssDNA	$2.5 \ \mu g/mL$ and $5 \ \mu g/mL$
TLR9	CpG ODN 2006	5 μg/mL and 10 μg/mL
Control	RPMI-1640 medium	n/a

Table 3.5. Preliminary trial TLR stimulating concentrations used in *ex vivo* whole blood assay.

Measure*	Phenotype	Value	2-tailed <i>P</i> value
WBC	DR	7.1 ± 0.7	0.748
$10^{9}/L$	DIO	7.4 ± 0.7	
RBC	DR	6.50 ± 0.10	0.124
10 ⁹ /L	DIO	6.31 ± 0.06	
Hgb	DR	134 ± 1.07	0.683
g/L	DIO	133 ± 1.89	
Hct	DR	0.386 ± 0.004	0.674
L/L	DIO	0.383 ± 0.006	
MCV	DR	59 ± 0.67	0.192
fL	DIO	61 ± 0.79	
МСН	DR	20.6 ± 0.25	0.171
pg	DIO	21.1 ± 0.23	
MCHC	DR	347 ± 0.88	0.863
g/L	DIO	347 ± 0.73	
RDW	DR	12.1 ± 0.14	0.032
%	DIO	12.5 ± 0.14	
PLT	DR	822 ± 24.68	0.028
10 ⁹ /L	DIO	899 ± 20.94	
MPV	DR	6.2 ± 0.13	0.013
fL	DIO	6.7 ± 0.10	
NE	DR	9.0 ± 0.92	0.203
%	DIO	10.6 ± 0.76	
LY	DR	87.2 ± 1.02	0.134
%	DIO	84.8 ± 1.13	
МО	DR	2.4 ± 0.23	0.147
%	DIO	3.2 ± 0.46	
EO	DR	1.0 ± 0.14	0.760
%	DIO	1.1 ± 0.36	
BA	DR	0.3 ± 0.06	0.899
%	DIO	0.3 ± 0.05	

Table 3-6. Hematological measures from the preliminary trial.

* WBC, White blood cell count; RBC, Red blood cell count; Hgb, Hemoglobin; Hct, Hematocrit; MCV, Mean corpuscular volume, MCH, Mean corpuscular hemoglobin; MCHC, Mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration, RDW, Red cell distribution width; PLT, platelet count; MPV, mean platelet volume; NE, neutrophil count, LY, lymphocyte count; MO, monocyte count; EO, eosinophil count; BA, basophil count. Concentrations or percentages are presented as mean \pm SEM, n = 10. Statistical analyses were performed using unpaired *t*-tests.

Measure	Phenotype	Concentration *	2-tailed <i>P</i> value
CINC-1	DR	132.4 ± 14.3	0.376
pg/mL	DIO	115.8 ± 11.4	
CINC-2αβ	DR	30.7 ± 3.1	0.668
pg/mL	DIO	29.0 ± 2.2	
CINC-3	DR	14.0 ± 0.6	0.811
pg/mL	DIO	13.8 ± 0.5	
Active TGF-β	DR	419.3 ± 22.3	0.141
pg/mL	DIO	380.0 ± 11.8	
Total TGF-β	DR	14.6 ± 1.1	0.777
ng/mL	DIO	15.0 ± 1.2	
sICAM-1/sCD54	DR	6412.0 ± 475.0	0.355
pg/mL	DIO	5893.5 ± 270.1	
CRP	DR	277.6 ± 18.6	0.516
pg/mL	DIO	296.3 ± 21.4	
LPS	DR	0.443 ± 0.063	0.456
(EU/mL)	DIO	0.548 ± 0.122	
BUN	DR	4.41 ± 0.32	0.640
mmol/L	DIO	4.64 ± 0.36	
Glucose	DR	7.70 ± 0.34	0.460
mmol/L	DIO	8.09 ± 0.39	

Table 3-7. Serum cytokine/chemokine and biochemistry measures from the preliminary trial.

* Concentrations are presented as mean \pm SEM, n = 10. Statistical analyses were performed using unpaired *t*-tests.

		Measure [*] (pg/mL)					
Agonist	Phenotype	CINC-1	IFN-γ	IL-1β	IL-6	IL-10	TNF-α
P3C	DR unstim ³	4.4 ± 4.0	0.0 ±	59.1 ±	100.4 ±	$48.8 \pm$	37.9 ±
10 µg/mL			0.0	145.8	53.1	48.8	37.9
	DR stim ³	4.8 ± 4.8	21.5 ±	145.8 ±	89.5 ±	82.1 ±	31.2 ±
			21.5	42.7	52.1	69.6	21.2
	DIO unstim ²	5.4 ± 5.4	$20.8 \pm$	61.5 ±	149.0 ±	34.8 ±	32.7 ±
			20.8	61.5	98.0	6.4	11.7
	DIO stim ²	2.4 ± 2.4	$0.0 \pm$	$587.5 \pm$	$120.0 \pm$	$61.1 \pm$	$44.4 \pm$
			0.0	506.6	105.1	12.0	11.4
P3C	DR unstim ²	6.7 ± 6.7	$64.4 \pm$	41.7 ±	$402.7 \pm$	$48.8 \pm$	37.9 ±
$20 \mu g/mL$			64.4	41.7	387.8	48.8	37.9
	DR stim ²	6.7 ± 6.7	$0.0 \pm$	47.3 ±	$185.0 \pm$	82.1 ±	31.2 ±
			0.0	47.3	98.2	69.6	31.2
	DIO unstim ³	5.1 ± 5.1	$0.0 \pm$	24.8 ±	$104.8 \pm$	34.8 ±	32.7 ±
			0.0	24.8	36.3	6.4	11.7
	DIO stim ³	7.1 ± 7.1	$0.0 \pm$	$82.8 \pm$	92.9 ±	61.1 ±	44.4 ±
			0.0	46.4	51.4	12.0	11.4
LPS	DR unstim ³	4.4 ± 4.0	$0.0 \pm$	59.1 ±	$100.5 \pm$	50.2 ±	31.3 ±
5 μg/mL		10.4	0.0	31.6	53.1	15.7	24.4
	DR stim ³	$10.4 \pm$	$0.0 \pm$	$453.2 \pm$	$112.5 \pm$	$80.8 \pm$	$174.6 \pm$
		8.2	0.0	95.9	33.3	10.0	19.6
	DIO unstim ²	5.4 ± 5.4	$20.8 \pm$	$61.4 \pm$	$149.0 \pm$	$58.8 \pm$	9.4 ± 9.4
	DIO atim ²	12.5	20.8	01.4	98.0	32.5	<u> 99 5 ± 0 2</u>
	DIO sum-	$42.5 \pm$	$0.0 \pm$	$414.0 \pm$	$119.8 \pm$	$0/.4 \pm 20.2$	88.5 ± 9.2
IDC	DP unstim ²	42.3	64.4	04.1	402.7	30.5	27.0 +
$10 \mu g/mI$	DK ulisulli	0.7 ± 0.7	04.4 ± 61.4	$41.7 \pm$ 11.7	402.7 ± 387.8	40.0 ±	37.9± 37.0
10 µg/IIIL	DR stim ²	10.3 +	04.4	168.3 +	$138.2 \pm$	40.0 81 / +	$104.7 \pm$
	DR sum	10.3 ± 10.3	0.0	71.3	123.4	81.4	54 2
	DIO unstim ³	5.1 + 5.1	0.0 +	24.8 +	104.8 +	34.8+	32.7 +
		011 - 011	0.0	24.8	36.3	6.4	11.7
	DIO stim ³	11.9 ±	0.0 ±	510.1 ±	80.4 ±	86.1 ±	203.3 ±
		6.1	0.0	171.2	46.6	20.3	68.3
Flagellin	DR unstim ²	2.4 ± 2.4	$0.0 \pm$	111.9 ±	257.9 ±	110.7 ±	13.1 ±
100			0.0	33.9	10.9	25.7	13.1
ng/mL	DR stim ²	3.0 ± 3.0	$0.0 \pm$	172.0 ±	276.0 ±	123.4 ±	50.1 ± 1.8
			0.0	14.6	21.7	10.8	
	DIO unstim ³	5.4 ± 5.4	$0.0 \pm$	69.9 ±	113.4 ±	$44.0 \pm$	17.1 ± 8.8
			0.0	36.1	59.8	28.6	
	DIO stim ³	5.8 ± 5.8	$5.8 \pm$	$234.8 \pm$	$127.2 \pm$	$52.5 \pm$	30.2 ± 1.8
			5.8	93.9	63.6	35.1	
Flagellin	DR unstim ³	71.9 ±	$0.0 \pm$	$86.2 \pm$	117.2 ±	51.2 ±	27.1 ± 7.2
200		71.9	0.0	44.3	58.9	28.6	
ng/mL	DR stim ³	50.1 ±	$0.0 \pm$	117.1 ±	148.9 ±	34.1 ±	42.4 ±
		50.1	0.0	60.8	53.6	2.0	15.7
	DIO unstim ²	0.0 ± 0.0	$0.0 \pm$	53.0 ±	$101.2 \pm$	$18.4 \pm$	44.9 ±
		0.0.00	0.0	53.0	71.8	12.5	18.7
	DIO stim ²	0.0 ± 0.0	$0.0 \pm$	$170.3 \pm$	$108.8 \pm$	$41.5 \pm$	0.0 ± 0.0
			0.0	57.4	108.8	41.5	

Table 3-8. Cytokine/chemokine concentrations measured from whole blood cultures after TLR stimulation in the preliminary trial.

Table 3-8 continued.

		Measure [*] (pg/mL)					
Agonist	Phenotype	CINC-1	IFN-γ	IL-1β	IL-6	IL-10	TNF-α
E. coli	DR unstim ²	$110.3 \pm$	$0.0 \pm$	146.5 ±	$186.6 \pm$	79.4 ±	19.4 ± 6.8
ssDNA		105.5	0.0	0.6	82.2	57.0	
2.5 μg/mL	DR stim ²	77.9 ±	$0.0 \pm$	138.3 ±	197.4 ±	79.1 ±	45.2 ±
		73.7	0.0	15.3	93.0	50.7	30.7
	DIO unstim ¹	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	29.4
	DIO stim ¹	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	12.5	0.0
E. coli	DR unstim						
ssDNA	DR stim						
5 μg/mL	DIO unstim ²	8.1 ± 8.1	$0.0 \pm$	60.4 ±	83.3 ±	20.1 ±	42.7 ±
			0.0	60.4	53.9	14.3	20.9
	DIO stim ²	5.1 ± 5.1	$0.0 \pm$	22.1 ± 5.6	$100.8 \pm$	39.5 ±	10.4 ± 7.6
			0.0		28.3	5.1	
CpG	DR unstim ¹	0.0	0.0	78.0	247.0	85.1	0.0
ODN	DR stim ¹	0.0	0.0	72.5	268.8	97.7	65.7
2006	DIO unstim ¹	0.0	0.0	89.1	202.9	97.7	0.0
5 μg/mL	DIO stim ¹	0.0	0.0	123.0	225.1	110.5	0.0
CpG	DR unstim ²	0.0 ± 0.0	$0.0 \pm$	55.8 ±	123.6 ±	65.6 ±	34.3 ± 0.5
ODN			0.0	55.8	101.5	42.8	
2006	DR stim ²	0.0 ± 0.0	$0.0 \pm$	72.9 ±	$220.7 \pm$	121.2 ±	61.3 ±
10 µg/mL			0.0	72.9	98.4	15.2	12.9
	DIO unstim ¹	0.0	0.0	105.9	173.0	31.0	26.2
	DIO stim ¹	0.0	0.0	128.6	276.0	80.9	44.8

* Concentrations are presented as mean \pm SEM. CINC-2 $\alpha\beta$ concentrations was also measured; however, this chemokine was below the level of quantification in every sample.

 $n^{1} n = 1$ $n^{2} n = 2$ $n^{3} n = 3$

Table 3-9. Histological analysis of IEL coun	ts in small bowel sections collected from the
preliminary trial.	

Small Bowel Section	Phenotype	IEL count [*]	2-tailed <i>P</i> value		
Duodenum	DR	2.53 ± 1.56	0.449		
	DIO	4.49 ± 1.90			
Jejunum ^{**}	DR	0.00	n/a		
-	DIO	0.00			

* IELs were enumerated per 100 villous enterocytes for 5 villi per section in the small bowel. Counts are presented as mean \pm SEM, n = 5. Statistical analyses were performed using unpaired *t*-tests. ** There were no visible IELs in the jejunum of any DR or DIO rat examined.

Measure	Phenotype	2-tailed <i>P</i> value			
IL-1β	DR	11.7 ± 1.9	0.327		
ng/mL	DIO	14.8 ± 2.4			
IL-6	DR^1	1199.7 ± 396.0	0.093		
pg/mL	DIO ²	498.1 ± 97.4			
IL-22	DR ³	88.5 ± 29.7	0.582		
pg/mL	DIO ³	134.2 ± 70.3			
TNF-α	DR	17.9 ± 2.0	0.429		
pg/mL	DIO	26.6 ± 10.6			
Active TGF-β1	DR^2	635.9 ± 65.7	0.942		
pg/mL	DIO ⁴	647.6 ± 134.2			
Total TGF-β1	DR^4	6324.9 ± 735.4	0.051		
pg/mL	DIO ⁴	4339.9 ± 543.2	7		

Table 3-10. Ileal cytokine concentrations measured in rats from the preliminary trial.

* Concentrations are presented as mean \pm SEM, n = 10 (unless otherwise specified). Statistical analyses were performed using unpaired *t*-tests.

were performed using unpaired *i*-tests. ¹ n = 5 for IL-6 in DR rats. ² n = 6 for IL-6 in DIO rats and active TGF- β in DR rats. ³ n = 3 for IL-22 in DR and DIO rats. ⁴ n = 7 for active TGF- β in DIO rats, and total TGF- β in both DR and DIO rats.

Measure	Phenotype	Concentration [*]	2-tailed <i>P</i> value
CINC-1	DR	292.3 ± 12.8	0.308
pg/mL	DIO	264.8 ± 13.3	
CINC-2αβ	DR	426.1 ± 56.6	0.261
pg/mL	DIO	335.6 ± 53.7	
IL-6	DR	2182.6 ± 84.4	0.192
pg/mL	DIO	1972.0 ± 130.4	
IL-10	DR	1048.2 ± 73.2	0.679
pg/mL	DIO	1097.0 ± 90.0	
IL-22	DR^1	126.0 ± 29.7	0.482
pg/mL	DIO ¹	160.2 ± 32.6	
TNF-α	DR	63.8 ± 7.7	0.500
pg/mL	DIO	92.8 ± 41.4	
Active TGF-β1	DR	1092.2 ± 21.4	0.183
pg/mL	DIO	1176.9 ± 57.2	
Total TGF-β1	DR	2986.3 ± 148.5	0.061
pg/mL	DIO	3445.3 ± 175.4	

Table 3-11. Caecal cytokine/chemokine concentrations measured in rats from the preliminary trial.

* Concentrations are presented as mean \pm SEM, n = 10 (unless otherwise specified). Statistical analyses were performed using unpaired *t*-tests. $^{1}n = 3$ for IL-22 in DR and DIO rats.

Measure	Phenotype	Concentration *	2-tailed <i>P</i> value
IL-6	DR	4736.4 ± 299.8	0.230
pg/mL	DIO	5350.6 ± 393.2	
IL-10	DR	4155.1 ± 136.6	0.032
pg/mL	DIO	4644.6 ± 160.2	
IL-17F	DR	505.8 ± 38.6	0.070
pg/mL	DIO	609.0 ± 37.0	
TNF-α	DR	1481.0 ± 85.3	0.016
pg/mL	DIO	1827.2 ± 97.7	
Active TGF-β1	DR	527.7 ± 59.8	0.280
pg/mL	DIO	597.1 ± 17.3	
Total TGF-β1	DR	1494.9 ± 137.7	0.096
pg/mL	DIO	1799.0 ± 104.8	

Table 3-12. Proximal colon cytokine concentrations measured in rats from the preliminary trial.

* Concentrations are presented as mean \pm SEM, n = 10. Statistical analyses were performed using unpaired *t*-tests.

Measure	Phenotype	Concentration *	2-tailed <i>P</i> value
IL-6	DR	3920.9 ± 358.4	0.152
pg/mL	DIO	4503.5 ± 152.1	
IL-10	DR	2638.9 ± 142.1	0.368
pg/mL	DIO	2817.9 ± 131.5	
IL-17F	DR	395.1 ± 34.3	0.061
pg/mL	DIO	501.3 ± 40.4	
IL-22	DR^1	67.4 ± 13.9	0.059
pg/mL	DIO ¹	132.9 ± 20.8	
TNF-α	DR	1026.1 ± 56.1	0.110
pg/mL	DIO	1148.2 ± 46.3	
Active TGF-β1	DR	591.4 ± 34.4	0.107
pg/mL	DIO	675.2 ± 35.5	
Total TGF-β1	DR	1522.0 ± 129.8	0.072
pg/mL	DIO	1914.7 ± 158.7	

Table 3-13. Distal colon cytokine concentrations measured in rats from the preliminary trial.

* Concentrations are presented as mean \pm SEM, n = 10 (unless otherwise specified). Statistical analyses were performed using unpaired *t*-tests. ¹ n = 3 for IL-22 in both DR and DIO rats.

Measure	Phenotype	Concentration [*]	2-tailed <i>P</i> value		
CINC-1	DR	2679.4 ± 164.8	0.017		
pg/mL	DIO	3387.9 ± 211.3			
CINC-2αβ	DR	12.9 ± 1.3	0.815		
ng/mL	DIO	13.3 ± 0.8			
CINC-3	DR	3845.7 ± 491.9	0.149		
pg/mL	DIO	4809.8 ± 409.3			
IL-1β	DR	64.8 ± 6.2	0.098		
ng/mL	DIO	82.7 ± 8.1			
IL-4	DR	7283.7 ± 626.8	0.339		
pg/mL	DIO	8070.9 ± 500.0			
IL-6	DR	61.8 ± 4.8	0.109		
ng/mL	DIO	74.6 ± 5.9			
IL-10	DR	30.4 ± 2.4	0.185		
ng/mL	DIO	35.3 ± 2.6			
TNF-α	DR	23.2 ± 2.1	0.163		
ng/mL DIO		27.7 ± 2.3			
Active TGF-β1 DR		$4\overline{811.0 \pm 298.7}$	0.902		
pg/mL	DIO	$4\overline{864.4 \pm 311.1}$			
Total TGF-β1	DR	$4\overline{663.0 \pm 321.5}$	0.696		
pg/mL	DIO	$4\overline{830.1 \pm 272.0}$			

Table 3-14. Liver cytokine/chemokine concentrations measured in rats from the preliminary trial.

* Concentrations are presented as mean \pm SEM, n = 10. Statistical analyses were performed using unpaired *t*-tests.

Measure	Phenotype	Concentration [*]	2-tailed <i>P</i> value
CINC-1	DR	1572.2 ± 57.2	0.972
pg/mL	DIO	1575.6 ± 77.8	
CINC-2αβ	DR	1722.2 ± 83.8	0.769
pg/mL	DIO	1755.0 ± 71.5	
CINC-3	DR	239.7 ± 25.8	0.391
pg/mL	DIO	263.9 ± 9.3	
IL-1β	DR	81.6 ± 6.0	0.295
ng/mL	DIO	90.9 ± 6.1	
IL-6	DR	170.4 ± 53.8	0.244
pg/mL	DIO	273.6 ± 66.5	
IL-10	DR	53.3 ± 0.0	0.331
pg/mL	DIO	55.6 ± 2.2	
TNF-α	DR	141.5 ± 28.6	0.049
pg/mL	DIO	215.0 ± 19.8	

Table 3-15. Spleen cytokine/chemokine concentrations measured in rats from the preliminary trial.

* Concentrations are presented as mean \pm SEM, n = 10. Statistical analyses were performed using unpaired *t*-tests.

Measure	Phenotype	Concentration [*]	2-tailed <i>P</i> value	
IL-1β	DR	51.8 ± 15.9	0.705	
ng/mL	DIO	44.9 ± 8.4		
IL-6	DR	1662.0 ± 480.2	0.260	
pg/mL	DIO	1089.7 ± 105.1		
IL-10 DR		505.7 ± 155.8	0.738	
pg/mL	DIO	568.6 ± 99.5		
IL-22	DR^1	168.7 ± 86.3	0.835	
pg/mL	pg/mL DIO ¹			
sICAM-1/sCD54	DR	73.1 ± 14.8	0.018	
ng/mL	DIO	32.5 ± 5.1		

Table 3-16. MLN cytokine concentrations measured in rats from the preliminary trial.

*Concentrations are presented as mean \pm SEM, n = 10 (unless otherwise specified). Statistical analyses were performed using unpaired *t*-tests. ¹ n = 3 for IL-22 in both DR and DIO rats.

Measure	Phenotype	Concentration [*]	2-tailed <i>P</i> value
CINC-3 **	DR	BLQ	n/a
pg/mL	DIO	BLQ	
IFN-γ	DR	224.0 ± 58.5	0.601
pg/mL	DIO	187.2 ± 37.0	
IL-4	DR	226.4 ± 27.1	0.940
pg/mL	DIO	223.2 ± 31.2	
IL-6	DR	674.8 ± 206.8	0.957
pg/mL	DIO	704.0 ± 488.2	
IL-10	DR	721.7 ± 77.4	0.480
pg/mL	DIO	814.1 ± 101.9	
IL-17F	DR	501.5 ± 41.0	0.952
pg/mL	DIO	504.4 ± 23.8	
TNF-α	DR	364.8 ± 63.4	0.205
pg/mL	DIO	514.5 ± 94.4	

Table 3-17. Ileal PP cytokine/chemokine concentrations measured in rats from the preliminary trial.

* Concentrations are presented as mean \pm SEM, n = 10. Statistical analyses were performed using unpaired *t*-tests.

** CINC-3 was below the level of quantification in all PP analyzed.

Measure	Phenotype	Concentration [*]	2-tailed <i>P</i> value
CINC-1	DR	418.6 ± 70.3	0.169
pg/mL	DIO	309.2 ± 30.0	
CINC-2αβ	DR	699.6 ± 106.9	0.053
pg/mL	DIO	459.6 ± 45.1	
IL-6	DR	5869.2 ± 1131.5	0.111
pg/mL	DIO	3497.4 ± 849.0	
IL-10	DR	5542.4 ± 1157.4	0.154
pg/mL	DIO	3491.5 ± 748.1	
TNF-α	DR	1615.1 ± 369.9	0.092
pg/mL	DIO	896.0 ± 161.6	

Table 3-18. Mesenteric fat cytokine/chemokine concentrations measured in rats from the preliminary trial.

* Concentrations are presented as mean \pm SEM, n = 10. Statistical analyses were performed using unpaired *t*-tests.

Measures	Phenotype	Concentrations [*]	2-tailed <i>P</i> value
CINC-1	DR	1280.7 ± 121.2	0.944
pg/mL	DIO	1296.3 ± 184.6	
CINC-2αβ	DR	3861.4 ± 352.1	0.690
pg/mL	DIO	4089.7 ± 439.8	
CINC-3	DR	586.9 ± 139.3	0.712
pg/mL	DIO	665.8 ± 157.4	
IL-6	DR	13.1 ± 1.4	0.712
ng/mL	DIO	13.8 ± 1.3	
IL-10	DR	13.3 ± 1.8	0.566
ng/mL	DIO	11.9 ± 1.6	
TNF-α	DR	4591.2 ± 533.4	0.562
pg/mL	DIO	5095.9 ± 651.4]

Table 3-19. Epididymal fat cytokine/chemokine concentrations measured in rats from the preliminary trial.

*Concentrations are presented as mean \pm SEM, n = 10. Statistical analyses were performed using unpaired *t*-tests.

		Control		High Energy Diets				Stat	istics - P v	alue
Measure*		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat Bran	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype
						Starch II				× Diet
WBC	DR	4.4 ± 0.6	4.0 ± 0.2	4.8 ± 0.4	4.5 ± 0.3^{lpha}	4.4 ± 0.4	5.1 ± 0.6	0.008	0.233	0.368
10 ⁹ /L	DIO	4.4 ± 0.3	4.9 ± 0.3	4.9 ± 0.3	$5.9\pm0.4^{\beta}$	5.6 ± 0.6	4.9 ± 0.4			
RBC	DR	8.23 ±	8.25 ± 0.12	8.41 ± 0.09	8.26 ± 0.09	8.30 ± 0.11	$8.58 \pm$	0.316	0.017	0.737
10 ⁹ /L		0.10 ^α					0.13 ^β			
	DIO	$8.05 \pm$	8.20 ± 0.17	8.37 ± 0.12	8.40 ± 0.13	8.06 ± 0.14	8.51 ±			
		0.13 ^α					0.15 ^β			
Hgb	DR	146 ± 1.85	146 ± 1.94	149 ± 2.62	146 ± 1.47	148 ± 2.22	150 ± 1.83	0.708	0.638	0.586
g/L	DIO	146 ± 2.50	148 ± 2.04	149 ± 1.67	151 ± 2.65	147 ± 2.21	147 ± 1.44			
Hct	DR	$0.447 \pm$	$0.447 \pm$	0.456 ± 0.008	$0.439 \pm$	0.451 ± 0.007	$0.457 \pm$	0.605	0.739	0.400
L/L		0.006	0.007		0.011 ^α		0.006			
	DIO	$0.448 \pm$	$0.451 \pm$	0.456 ± 0.005	$0.459 \pm$	0.444 ± 0.007	$0.452 \pm$			
		0.007	0.006		0.008^{β}		0.004			
MCV	DR	54 ± 0.83	54 ± 1.08	54 ± 0.79	54 ± 0.53	54 ± 0.54	53 ± 0.64	0.168	0.358	0.938
fL	DIO	56 ± 0.31	55 ± 0.86	54 ± 0.72	55 ± 1.16	56 ± 0.75	53 ± 1.10			
MCH	DR	17.8 ± 0.28	17.8 ± 0.34	17.7 ± 0.25	17.7 ± 0.19	17.8 ± 0.22	17.4 ±	0.142	0.275	0.982
pg							0.22			
	DIO	18.1 ± 0.18	18.1 ± 0.28	17.9 ± 0.29	18.0 ± 0.35	18.2 ± 0.30	$17.4 \pm$			
							0.35			
MCHC	DR	326.5 ±	327.3 ±	326.9 ± 0.75	326.4 ± 1.01	328.2 ± 1.59	327.1 ±	0.784	0.491	0.844
g/L		1.06	1.02				1.25			
	DIO	$325.2 \pm$	$328.7 \pm$	327.2 ± 1.33	328.1 ± 1.48	328.4 ± 1.82	326.1 ±			
		1.92	1.10				1.35			

Table 3-20a. Hematological measures of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks.

		Control		Hi	Stat	istics - P v	alue			
Measure*		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat Bran	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype
						Starch II				× Diet
RDW	DR	11.4 ± 0.24	11.4 ± 0.24	11.6 ± 0.32	11.8 ± 0.22	11.3 ± 0.11	11.7 ±	0.091	0.456	0.652
%							0.19			
	DIO	10.8 ± 0.09	11.4 ± 0.23	11.7 ± 0.16	11.4 ± 0.34	11.3 ± 0.23	10.9 ±			
							0.73			
PLT	DR	672 ±	720 ±	668 ± 20.08	691 ± 26.71	603 ± 50.74	644 ±	0.758	0.138	0.681
10 ⁹ /L		29.12	56.34				31.20			
	DIO	631 ±	704 ±	675 ± 19.96	681 ± 33.50	624 ± 40.61	723 ±			
		26.96	44.38				37.53			
MPV	DR	6.2 ± 0.10	6.6 ± 0.21	6.2 ± 0.09	6.1 ± 0.08	6.3 ± 0.08	6.4 ± 0.07	0.924	0.127	0.469
fL	DIO	6.4 ± 0.09	6.3 ± 0.14	6.2 ± 0.09	6.3 ± 0.11	6.1 ± 0.10	6.4 ± 0.15			
NE	DR	$5.3 \pm 0.58^{\alpha}$	6.7 ± 0.52	5.8 ± 0.55	7.1 ± 0.58	7.2 ± 0.91	6.2 ± 0.14	0.327	0.413	0.306
%	DIO	$7.1 \pm 0.69^{\beta}$	7.1 ± 0.80	6.5 ± 0.72	6.9 ± 0.30	5.8 ± 0.40	7.1 ± 0.93			
LY	DR	91.0 ± 0.86	88.5 ± 0.56	89.7 ± 0.71	87.3 ± 0.99	88.5 ± 1.23	$89.0 \pm$	0.067	0.195	0.423
%							0.29			
	DIO	88.3 ± 1.01	87.5 ± 1.16	87.8 ± 1.46	87.4 ± 0.51	89.4 ± 0.63	87.7 ±			
							0.98			
MO	DR	$3.0\pm0.29^{a\alpha}$	3.9 ±	$3.8\pm0.25^{ab\beta}$	$4.3\pm0.20^{b\beta}$	3.6 ± 0.30^{ab}	4.0 ±	0.022	< 0.001	0.995
%			0.34 ^{abβ}				0.18 ^{abβ}			
	DIO	$3.5\pm0.50^{a\alpha}$	4.7 ±	$4.7\pm0.54^{ab\beta}$	$5.0\pm0.44^{b\beta}$	4.1 ± 0.31^{ab}	4.4 ±			
			0.51 ^{abβ}				0.37 ^{abβ}			

 Table 3-20a continued.

Control				Hi	Statistics - P value					
Measure*		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat Bran	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype
						Starch II				× Diet
EO	DR	0.4 ± 0.06	0.5 ± 0.08	0.3 ± 0.05	1.0 ± 0.55	0.4 ± 0.10	0.4 ± 0.05	0.981	0.831	0.331
%	DIO	0.7 ± 0.21	0.4 ± 0.09	0.7 ± 0.43	0.4 ± 0.04	0.4 ± 0.09	0.5 ± 0.13			
BA	DR	0.3 ± 0.05	0.3 ± 0.04	0.3 ± 0.03	0.3 ± 0.05	0.3 ± 0.03	0.4 ± 0.01	0.644	0.185	0.429
%	DIO	0.4 ± 0.05	0.3 ± 0.05	0.4 ± 0.05	0.4 ± 0.03	0.4 ± 0.04	0.4 ± 0.03			

Table 3-20a continued.

^{*} WBC, White blood cell count; RBC, Red blood cell count; Hgb, Hemoglobin; Hct, Hematocrit; MCV, Mean corpuscular volume, MCH, Mean corpuscular hemoglobin; MCHC, Mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration, RDW, Red cell distribution width; PLT, platelet count; MPV, mean platelet volume; NE, neutrophil count, LY, lymphocyte count; MO, monocyte count; EO, eosinophil count; BA, basophil count. Concentrations or percentages are presented as mean \pm SEM, n = 10. Significance (P < 0.05) for phenotype, diet, and interaction between phenotype × diet was determined by two-way ANOVA. Superscripted letters denote significance differences between diets within a phenotype, and symbols denote significant differences between overall diet or overall phenotype as determined by Tukey's multiple comparison test.

Measure	Phenotype	Value [*]
WBC	DR	4.5 ± 0.2
10 ⁹ /L	DIO	5.1 ± 0.2
RBC	DR	8.34 ± 0.05
10 ⁹ /L	DIO	8.26 ± 0.06
Hgb	DR	147 ± 0.81
g/L	DIO	148 ± 0.86
Hct	DR	0.449 ± 0.003
L/L	DIO	0.452 ± 0.003
MCV	DR	54 ± 0.30
fL	DIO	55 ± 0.35
МСН	DR	17.7 ± 0.10
pg	DIO	17.9 ± 0.12
MCHC	DR	327.1 ± 0.45
g/L	DIO	327.3 ± 0.62
RDW	DR	11.5 ± 0.09
%	DIO	11.2 ± 0.15
PLT	DR	666 ± 15.73
10 ⁹ /L	DIO	674 ± 14.47
MPV	DR	6.3 ± 0.05
fL	DIO	6.3 ± 0.05
NE	DR	6.4 ± 0.25
%	DIO	6.7 ± 0.27
LY	DR	89.0 ± 0.36
%	DIO	88.0 ± 0.41
МО	DR	3.8 ± 0.12
%	DIO	4.4 ± 0.19
EO	DR	0.5 ± 0.10
%	DIO	0.5 ± 0.08
BA	DR	0.3 ± 0.02
%	DIO	0.4 ± 0.02

Table 3-20b. Hematological measures of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks, separated by phenotype.

*Concentrations or percentages are presented as mean \pm SEM, n = 60.

		Control		High Energy Diets				Statistics - P value			
Cell		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype	
Marker [*]				Bran		Starch II				× Diet	
CD3 ⁺	DR^1	5.23 ±	5.71 ±	5.68 ±	5.90 ±	6.23 ± 1.29^{lphaeta}	7.18 ±	0.435	0.019	0.488	
		1.12 ^α	1.39 ^{αβ}	$0.42^{lphaeta}$	0.43 ^{αβ}		1.00^{β}				
	DIO ¹	6.26 ±	$7.00 \pm$	6.48 ±	3.60 ±	6.14 ± 1.17^{blphaeta}	$4.70 \pm$				
		1.88 ^{aα}	1.25 ^{abαβ}	$0.81^{ablphaeta}$	$0.52^{ablphaeta}$		1.32 ^{abβ}				
CD3 ⁺	DR^1	0.63 ±	$1.02 \pm$	1.65 ±	$1.87 \pm$	$1.69\pm0.70^{b\beta\delta}$	1.37 ±	0.632	< 0.001	0.729	
$CD62L^+$		0.59 ^{ααγδ}	$0.59^{aba\gamma\delta}$	0.55 ^{abαγδ}	$0.66^{ab\beta\gamma\delta}$		0.61 ^{bβ}				
	DIO ¹	$1.64 \pm$	1.21 ±	1.55 ±	$0.82 \pm$	$1.94\pm0.86^{bc\beta\delta}$	$1.01 \pm$				
		1.17 ^{ααγδ}	0.69 ^{ααγδ}	0.63 ^{abcaγδ}	0.34 ^{abcβγδ}		$0.77^{bc\beta}$				
CD3 ⁺	DR^1	2.76 ± 0.47	3.14 ± 0.82	3.23 ± 0.31	3.23 ± 0.21	3.77 ± 0.78	4.27 ±	0.339	0.063	0.444	
$CD4^+$							0.58				
	DIO ¹	3.26 ± 0.96	3.96 ± 0.88	3.55 ± 0.53	1.92 ± 0.28	3.52 ± 0.55	$2.88 \pm$				
							0.71				
CD3 ⁺	DR^1	2.13 ±	2.27 ±	2.13 ±	2.26 ±	$2.18\pm0.55^{\beta}$	$2.50 \pm$	0.779	0.005	0.656	
CD8a ⁺		0.63 ^α	0.53 ^{αβ}	0.23 ^{αβ}	0.38 ^{αβ}		0.41 ^β				
	DIO ¹	2.63 ±	2.66 ±	$2.62 \pm$	1.51 ±	$2.28\pm0.71^{ab\beta}$	1.59 ±				
		0.85 ^{aα}	$0.38^{ablphaeta}$	$0.34^{ablphaeta}$	$0.26^{ablphaeta}$		0.55 ^{bβ}				
CD3 ⁺	DR^1	11.97 ±	11.74 ±	12.76 ±	12.63 ±	$13.08\pm2.49^{\beta}$	$15.88 \pm$	0.371	< 0.001	0.437	
CD45 ⁺		1.92 ^α	2.71 ^{αβ}	$1.80^{lphaeta}$	$0.80^{lphaeta}$		1.79 ^β				
	DIO ¹	$14.07 \pm$	15.80 ±	13.25 ±	8.18 ±	$13.00 \pm 2.15^{b\beta}$	9.97 ±				
		3.49 ^{aα}	1.89 ^{abαβ}	1.53 ^{abαβ}	1.22 ^{abαβ}		3.22 ^{bβ}				

Table 3-21a. Total immune cell population percentages within the spleen of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks.

		Control		Н	igh Energy Di	iets		Stat	istics - P v	alue
Cell		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype
Marker*				Bran		Starch II				× Diet
CD3 ⁻	DR^1	3.19 ±	2.28 ±	3.09 ±	3.46 ±	2.98 ± 0.41^{lphaeta}	3.39 ±	0.851	0.015	0.645
CD45RA ⁺		0.28α	$0.70^{lphaeta}$	$0.60^{lphaeta}$	0.21 ^{αβ}		0.32 ^β			
	DIO ¹	$4.08 \pm$	4.16 ±	2.99 ±	$1.98 \pm$	2.93 ± 0.50^{lphaeta}	3.09 ±			
		0.92 ^α	$0.47^{lphaeta}$	0.25 ^{αβ}	0.29 ^{αβ}		1.01 ^β			
CD3 ⁻	DR^1	0.76 ±	$0.80 \pm$	0.61 ±	$0.66 \pm$	$0.80 \pm 0.12^{lphaeta\gamma}$	$1.12 \pm$	0.350	0.006	0.218
CD161a ⁺		0.04 ^{αγ}	$0.14^{lphaeta\gamma}$	$0.05^{lphaeta\gamma}$	0.05 ^{αγ}		0.16^{β}			
	DIO^1	$0.87 \pm$	$1.06 \pm$	$0.74 \pm$	$0.53 \pm$	$0.84 \pm$	$0.47 \pm$			
		0.27 ^{ααγ}	0.23 ^{abαβγ}	$0.11^{ablphaeta\gamma}$	0.13 ^{ααγ}	$0.08^{ablphaeta\gamma}$	$0.16^{b\beta}$			
CD3 ⁻ CD4 ⁻	DR^1	0.66 ± 0.04	0.69 ± 0.12	0.48 ± 0.06	0.57 ± 0.07	0.65 ± 0.09	$0.94 \pm$	0.254	0.045	0.163
CD161a ⁺							0.15			
	DIO^1	$0.74 \pm$	$0.86 \pm$	0.59 ± 0.06^{ab}	$0.46 \pm$	0.69 ± 0.06^{ab}	$0.39 \pm$			
		0.21ª	0.17^{ab}		0.12 ^{ab}		0.12 ^b			
CD3 ⁻	DR	0.14 ± 0.02	0.10 ± 0.02	0.11 ± 0.02	0.10 ± 0.01	0.17 ± 0.04	$0.12 \pm$	0.159	0.548	0.583
CD103 ⁺							0.03			
	DIO	0.10 ± 0.02	0.14 ± 0.04	0.10 ± 0.02	0.08 ± 0.02	0.12 ± 0.04	$0.09 \pm$			
							0.02			
CD3 ⁻	DR	0.35 ± 0.09	0.35 ± 0.11	0.34 ± 0.06	0.27 ± 0.03	0.49 ± 0.10	$0.52 \pm$	0.973	0.687	0.089
His36 ⁺							0.09 ^α			
	DIO	0.31 ± 0.06	0.66 ± 0.22	0.55 ± 0.26	0.44 ± 0.19	0.40 ± 0.08	$0.20 \pm$			
							0.10 ^β			
CD3 ⁺	DR	0.24 ± 0.04	0.17 ± 0.05	0.19 ± 0.03	0.17 ± 0.02	0.28 ± 0.06	0.20 ±	0.911	0.083	0.300
γδΤCR+							0.04			
	DIO	0.20 ± 0.04	0.21 ± 0.04	0.27 ± 0.04	0.18 ± 0.03	0.25 ± 0.03	0.13 ±			
							0.03			

 Table 3-21a continued.

Table	3-21 a	continued.
-------	---------------	------------

Control				Statistics - P value						
Cell		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	AIN-93G Wheat Oat Bran Resistant FOS				Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype
Marker*				Bran		Starch II				× Diet
CD3 ⁺	DR	1.89 ± 0.31	1.97 ± 0.22	2.02 ± 0.21	1.88 ± 0.14	2.31 ± 0.33	$2.02 \pm$	0.796	0.367	0.863
CD4 ⁺							0.16			
Foxp3 ⁺	DIO	1.72 ± 0.28	1.71 ± 0.24	2.21 ± 0.36	1.82 ± 0.18	2.12 ± 0.26	2.28 ±			
CD25 ⁺ **							0.19			

* Data are shown as the mean percentage of viable cells \pm SEM, n = 5 (unless otherwise specified). Significance (P < 0.05) for phenotype, diet, and interaction between phenotype × diet was determined by two-way ANOVA. Superscripted letters denote significant differences between diets within a phenotype, and symbols denote significant differences between overall diet or overall phenotype as determined by Tukey's multiple comparison test.

^{**} Foxp3⁺ ISO control has been removed from total CD4⁺Foxp3⁺CD25⁺ T_{reg} cell percentage.

¹ For antibody panel 1, n = 4 for DR rats on control, HE control, HE wheat bran and HE oat bran only diets, and n = 4 for DIO rats on control and HE control diets.

Cell Marker [*]	Phenotype	Cell Percentage
CD3 ⁺	DR^1	6.04 ± 0.40
	DIO ¹	5.63 ± 0.49
CD3 ⁺	DR^1	1.38 ± 0.24
CD62L ⁺	DIO ¹	1.36 ± 0.29
CD3 ⁺	DR^1	3.45 ± 0.24
CD4 ⁺	DIO ¹	3.15 ± 0.27
CD3 ⁺	DR^1	2.25 ± 0.18
CD8a ⁺	DIO ¹	2.19 ± 0.22
CD3 ⁺	DR^1	13.12 ± 0.80
CD45 ⁺	DIO ¹	12.22 ± 0.99
CD3 ⁻	DR^1	3.07 ± 0.18
CD45RA ⁺	DIO ¹	3.14 ± 0.27
CD3 ⁻	DR^1	0.80 ± 0.05
CD161 a ⁺	DIO ¹	0.74 ± 0.07
CD3 ⁻ CD4 ⁻	DR^1	0.68 ± 0.05
CD161 a ⁺	DIO ¹	0.61 ± 0.06
CD3 ⁻	DR	0.12 ± 0.01
CD103 ⁺	DIO	0.11 ± 0.01
CD3 ⁻	DR	0.39 ± 0.04
His36 ⁺	DIO	0.43 ± 0.07
CD3 ⁺	DR	0.21 ± 0.02
γδTCR+	DIO	0.21 ± 0.01
CD3+CD4+Foxp3+	DR	2.01 ± 0.09
CD25 ⁺	DIO	1.98 ± 0.11

Table 3-21b. Total immune cell population percentages within the spleen of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks, separated by phenotype.

* Percentages are presented as mean \pm SEM, n = 30 (unless otherwise specified) ¹ n = 26 for DR rats and n = 28 for DIO rats in antibody panel 1.

Control				Statistics - P value						
Cell		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat Bran	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype ×
Marker*						Starch II				Diet
CD3 ⁺	DR^1	67.55 ±	$72.65 \pm$	69.25 ± 2.10	67.48 ± 4.32	64.30 ± 4.11	$64.84 \pm$	0.196	0.650	0.320
		1.56	2.70				3.38			
	DIO ¹	59.15 ±	$64.63 \pm$	67.52 ± 3.80	60.84 ± 5.40	70.82 ± 3.72	$65.60 \pm$			
		3.09	4.64				3.78			
CD3 ⁺	DR^1	3.23 ± 2.86	$10.94 \pm$	17.59 ± 6.48	18.87 ± 6.81	13.70 ± 5.65	11.77 ±	0.973	0.555	0.950
$CD62L^+$			6.39				4.62			
	DIO ¹	9.41 ± 5.40	$10.82 \pm$	14.99 ± 6.04	13.27 ± 5.43	16.20 ± 6.76	$10.70 \pm$			
			6.17				6.90			
CD3 ⁺	DR^1	$40.65 \pm$	$44.05 \pm$	42.20 ± 2.18	36.60 ± 4.45	39.58 ± 5.13	$40.62 \pm$	0.135	0.327	0.445
CD4 ⁺		2.01 ^α	2.13				2.08			
	DIO^1	$29.30 \pm$	$38.08 \pm$	39.38 ± 3.56	35.18 ± 3.99	43.20 ± 3.93	$39.52 \pm$			
		4.45 ^β	4.20				2.07			
CD3 ⁺	DR^1	$25.05 \pm$	$27.13 \pm$	25.30 ± 2.80	29.18 ± 1.41	22.90 ± 2.48	$22.46 \pm$	0.982	0.811	0.526
CD8a ⁺		1.01	1.95				1.81			
	DIO^1	$26.58 \pm$	$24.78 \pm$	26.54 ± 2.63	23.84 ± 1.95	25.92 ± 3.91	$24.86 \pm$			
		0.73	1.63				3.39			
CD3 ⁺	DR^1	83.85 ±	$86.18 \pm$	86.65 ± 1.57	88.70 ± 2.43	81.50 ± 3.22	81.66 ±	0.206	0.345	0.475
CD45 ⁺		2.64	2.58				2.49			
	DIO^1	76.35 ±	$84.80 \pm$	85.18 ± 2.34	81.90 ± 3.51	85.54 ± 4.62	$80.66 \pm$			
		2.72	3.74				3.49			

Table 3-22a. Total immune cell population percentages within the MLN of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks.

		Control		Hi	Stat	Statistics - P value				
Cell		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat Bran	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype ×
Marker*						Starch II				Diet
CD3 ⁻	DR^1	$12.43 \pm$	$10.26 \pm$	$14.75 \pm$	17.25 ±	$13.80 \pm$	$12.64 \pm$	0.727	0.045	0.254
CD45RA ⁺		$1.47^{\gamma\delta}$	1.28 ^{αγδ}	$1.88^{\gamma\delta}$	2.46 ^γ	2.09 ^{γδ}	1.75^{δ}			
	DIO^1	$13.48 \pm$	$16.05 \pm$	$13.58 \pm$	$17.28 \pm$	$11.57 \pm$	$11.27 \pm$			
		$1.40^{\gamma\delta}$	2.51 ^{βγδ}	$1.12^{\gamma\delta}$	1.42 ^γ	1.67 ^{γδ}	0.91^{δ}			
CD3 ⁻	DR^1	0.58 ± 0.31	0.34 ± 0.08	0.40 ± 0.13	0.54 ± 0.05	0.60 ± 0.17	$0.89 \pm$	0.893	0.851	0.320
CD161a ⁺							0.29			
	DIO^1	0.45 ± 0.13	1.01 ± 0.46	0.49 ± 0.16	0.52 ± 0.14	0.68 ± 0.21	0.31 ±			
							0.06			
CD3 ⁻ CD4 ⁻	DR^1	0.24 ± 0.07	0.17 ± 0.02	0.21 ± 0.07	0.27 ± 0.07	0.20 ± 0.02	$0.32 \pm$	0.845	0.895	0.759
CD161a ⁺							0.13			
	DIO^1	0.19 ± 0.06	0.30 ± 0.09	0.16 ± 0.03	0.21 ± 0.05	0.32 ± 0.11	$0.18 \pm$			
							0.04			
CD3 ⁻	DR	0.22 ± 0.02	0.20 ± 0.02	0.15 ± 0.01^{lpha}	0.25 ± 0.03	0.31 ± 0.06	$0.28 \pm$	0.708	0.580	0.002
CD103 ⁺							0.05^{γ}			
	DIO	$0.22 \pm$	$0.25 \pm$	$0.34\pm0.05^{a\beta}$	0.31 ± 0.05^{ab}	0.20 ± 0.04^{ab}	$0.15 \pm$			
		0.04 ^{ab}	0.05 ^{ab}				0.03 ^{bδ}			
CD3 ⁻	DR	0.08 ± 0.01	0.05 ± 0.01	0.06 ± 0.01	0.08 ± 0.01	$0.12 \pm 0.03^{\alpha}$	$0.09 \pm$	0.178	0.514	0.137
His36 ⁺							0.03			
	DIO	0.04 ± 0.01	0.07 ± 0.01	0.07 ± 0.01	0.10 ± 0.02	$0.05 \pm 0.01^{\beta}$	$0.07 \pm$			
							0.01			
CD3 ⁺	DR	0.64 ± 0.14	$0.70 \pm$	0.56 ± 0.07	0.71 ± 0.09	0.67 ± 0.10	$0.48 \pm$	0.360	0.243	0.127
γδΤCR+			0.08α				0.02			
	DIO	0.55 ±	0.41 ±	0.66 ± 0.10^{ab}	0.56 ± 0.06^{ab}	$0.76\pm0.09^{\rm b}$	$0.56 \pm$			
		0.06^{ab}	0.03 ^{aβ}				0.06^{ab}			

 Table 3-22a continued.

Control				Statistics - P value						
Cell		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat Bran	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype ×
Marker*						Starch II				Diet
CD3 ⁺	DR	$2.60 \pm$	2.55 ±	2.37 ±	2.20 ±	3.32 ±	2.59 ±	0.133	0.043	0.700
$CD4^+$		$0.25^{ablphaeta}$	0.30 ^{abαβ}	0.30 ^{abαβ}	0.41 ^{aα}	0.35 ^{bβ}	$0.10^{ablphaeta}$			
Foxp3 ⁺	DIO	$2.42 \pm$	2.11 ±	2.45 ± 0.21^{lphaeta}	$2.15 \pm 0.08^{\alpha}$	$2.67\pm0.24^{\beta}$	2.51 ±			
CD25 ^{+**}		$0.27^{lphaeta}$	0.11 ^{αβ}				$0.12^{lphaeta}$			

* Data are shown as the mean percentage of viable cells \pm SEM, n = 5 (unless otherwise specified). Significance (P < 0.05) for phenotype, diet, and interaction between phenotype × diet was determined by two-way ANOVA. Superscripted letters denote significant differences between diets within a phenotype, and symbols denote significant differences between overall diet or overall phenotype as determined by Tukey's multiple comparison test.

** Foxp3⁺ ISO control has been removed from total CD4⁺Foxp3⁺CD25⁺ T_{reg} cell percentage.

¹ For antibody panel 1, n = 4 for DR rats on control, HE control, HE wheat bran and HE oat bran diets, and n = 4 for DIO rats on control and HE control diets.

Cell Marker [*]	Phenotype	Cell Percentage
CD3 ⁺	DR^1	67.44 ± 1.34
	DIO ¹	64.96 ± 1.72
CD3 ⁺	DR^1	12.69 ± 2.27
$CD62L^+$	DIO ¹	12.74 ± 2.34
CD3 ⁺	DR^1	40.58 ± 1.32
$CD4^+$	DIO ¹	37.71 ± 1.59
CD3 ⁺	DR^1	25.13 ± 0.88
$CD8a^+$	DIO ¹	25.35 ± 1.04
CD3 ⁺	DR^1	84.51 ± 1.10
CD45 ⁺	DIO ¹	82.54 ± 1.43
CD3 ⁻	DR^1	13.50 ± 0.81
CD45RA ⁺	DIO ¹	13.81 ± 0.70
CD3 ⁻	DR^1	0.57 ± 0.08
CD161 a ⁺	DIO ¹	0.57 ± 0.09
CD3 ⁻ CD4 ⁻	DR^1	0.24 ± 0.03
CD161 a ⁺	DIO ¹	0.23 ± 0.03
CD3 ⁻	DR	0.24 ± 0.02
CD103 ⁺	DIO	0.25 ± 0.02
CD3 ⁻	DR	0.08 ± 0.01
His36 ⁺	DIO	0.07 ± 0.01
CD3 ⁺	DR	0.63 ± 0.04
γδΤCR+	DIO	0.58 ± 0.03
CD3+CD4+Foxp3+	DR	2.60 ± 0.13
CD25 ⁺	DIO	2.39 ± 0.08

Table 3-22b. Total immune cell population percentages within the MLN of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks, separated by phenotype.

*Percentages are presented as mean \pm SEM, n = 30 (unless otherwise specified). ¹ n = 26 for panel 1 DR rats and n = 28 for DIO rats in antibody panel 1.

		Control	High Energy Diets				Statistics - P value			
Cell		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype ×
Marker*				Bran		Starch II				Diet
CD3 ⁺	DR^1	7.95 ±	4.09 ± 2.26	8.17 ± 5.11	4.27 ± 1.87	1.82 ± 0.36	2.36 ± 1.10	0.587	0.074	0.117
		2.75 ^α								
	DIO ¹	1.75 ±	5.83 ± 1.09	4.04 ± 0.33	4.28 ± 1.29	4.32 ± 1.42	1.65 ± 0.46			
		0.61 ^β								
CD3 ⁺	DR^1	0.50 ± 0.31	0.40 ± 0.20	1.67 ± 1.22	0.71 ± 0.54	0.29 ± 0.14	0.53 ± 0.23	0.760	0.624	0.784
CD62L ⁺	DIO ¹	0.36 ± 0.22	0.46 ± 0.28	0.68 ± 0.29	0.72 ± 0.36	0.69 ± 0.28	0.25 ± 0.14			
CD3 ⁺	DR^1	5.19 ±	2.70 ± 1.66	4.84 ± 2.96	2.63 ± 1.24	1.14 ± 0.19	1.53 ± 0.75	0.601	0.118	0.154
CD4 ⁺		2.22 ^α								
	DIO ¹	1.01 ±	3.76 ± 0.90	2.68 ± 0.26	2.42 ± 0.75	2.68 ± 0.88	1.09 ± 0.34			
		0.39 ^β								
CD3 ⁺	DR^1	2.17 ±	1.11 ± 0.51^{ab}	2.78 ± 2.09^{ab}	1.20 ± 0.44^{ab}	$0.50 \pm$	0.56 ±	0.651	0.021	0.069
$CD8a^+$		0.60 ^{aα}				0.15 ^b	0.27 ^b			
	DIO ¹	0.51 ±	1.51 ± 0.28	0.94 ± 0.13	1.27 ± 0.36	0.85 ± 0.25	0.42 ± 0.10			
		0.16^{β}								
CD3 ⁺	DR^1	21.88 ±	14.51 ±	15.99 ±	19.81 ±	5.21 ±	9.20 ±	0.675	0.022	0.196
CD45 ⁺		7.61 ^{αβ}	6.28 ^{αβ}	4.36 ^α	$10.47^{lphaeta}$	1.33 ^{αβ}	4.02 ^β			
	DIO ¹	$7.00 \pm$	23.63 ±	20.74 ±	16.28 ±	15.75 ±	5.36 ±			
		$1.68^{lphaeta}$	2.30 ^{αβ}	5.24 ^α	3.87 ^{αβ}	5.03 ^{αβ}	2.53 ^β			

Table 3-23a. Total immune cell population percentages within the ileal PP of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks.

Cont		Control	High Energy Diets					Statistics - P value		
Cell		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype ×
Marker*				Bran		Starch II				Diet
CD3 ⁻	DR^1	$12.43 \pm$	$8.90 \pm$	$7.22 \pm$	14.31 ±	$2.76 \pm$	6.16 ±	0.408	0.039	0.203
CD45RA ⁺		4.65 ^{aαβ}	3.54 ^{abα}	1.24 ^{abαβ}	8.30 ^{ααβ}	0.95 ^{bαβ}	$2.82^{ab\beta}$			
	DIO ¹	4.66 ±	$15.50 \pm$	$14.72 \pm$	$10.80 \pm$	$10.68 \pm$	3.40 ±			
		1.52 ^{acαβ}	1.80 ^{bα}	$4.37^{ablphaeta}$	$2.44^{ablphaeta}$	$3.76^{abc\alpha\beta}$	1.98 ^{cβ}			
CD3 ⁻	DR^1	0.12 ± 0.07	0.08 ± 0.05^{lpha}	0.09 ± 0.05	0.10 ± 0.04	0.10 ± 0.04	0.11 ± 0.06	0.381	0.249	0.104
CD161a ⁺	DIO ¹	0.09 ±	0.29 ±	0.08 ± 0.01^{ab}	0.07 ± 0.02^{ab}	$0.22 \pm$	0.03 ±			
		0.04^{ab}	$0.07^{a\beta}$			0.11 ^{ab}	0.02 ^b			
CD3 ⁻ CD4 ⁻	DR^1	0.09 ± 0.04	$0.04 \pm 0.02^{\alpha}$	0.09 ± 0.05	0.06 ± 0.01	$0.06 \pm$	0.06 ± 0.03	0.246	0.185	0.040
CD161a ⁺						0.02^{α}				
	DIO ¹	$0.06 \pm$	0.21 ±	0.05 ± 0.01^{ab}	0.05 ± 0.02^{ab}	$0.17 \pm$	$0.02 \pm$			
		0.02 ^{ab}	$0.05^{a\beta}$			$0.10^{ab\beta}$	0.01 ^b			
CD3 ⁻	DR^2	0.11 ± 0.04	0.07 ± 0.03	0.17 ± 0.11	0.14 ± 0.05	$0.04 \pm$	0.08 ± 0.05	0.340	0.381	0.272
CD103 ⁺						0.04α				
	DIO ²	0.18 ± 0.11	0.19 ± 0.07	0.11 ± 0.02	0.09 ± 0.02	$0.18 \pm$	0.03 ± 0.01			
						0.07 ^β				
CD3 ⁻	DR ²	0.05 ± 0.02	0.04 ± 0.01	0.08 ± 0.05	0.11 ± 0.07	$0.28 \pm$	0.06 ± 0.02	0.806	0.810	0.207
His36 ⁺						0.18 ^α				
	DIO^2	0.08 ± 0.05	0.17 ± 0.15	0.15 ± 0.08	0.07 ± 0.06	$0.03 \pm$	0.06 ± 0.03			
						0.01 ^β				
CD3 ⁺	DR ²	0.06 ± 0.01	0.04 ± 0.02	0.04 ± 0.01	0.05 ± 0.01	0.03 ± 0.02	0.03 ± 0.01	0.501	0.482	0.714
γδΤCR+	DIO ²	0.06 ± 0.02	0.05 ± 0.02	0.05 ± 0.02	0.04 ± 0.02	0.07 ± 0.03	0.02 ± 0.02			

 Table 3-23a continued.

Table 3-23a co	ontinued.
----------------	-----------

Control			High Energy Diets					Statistics - P value		
Cell		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype ×
Marker*				Bran		Starch II				Diet
CD3 ⁺	DR ³	0.62 ± 0.16	0.77 ± 0.13	0.84 ± 0.20	0.53 ± 0.16	0.96 ± 0.32	0.72 ± 0.23	0.435	0.419	0.737
CD4 ⁺	DIO ³	0.63 ± 0.15	0.52 ± 0.18	0.79 ± 0.19	0.61 ± 0.08	1.62 ± 0.73	0.87 ± 0.25			
Foxp3 ⁺										
CD25 ^{+**}										

* Data are shown as the mean percentage of viable cells \pm SEM, n = 5 (unless otherwise specified). Significance (P < 0.05) for phenotype, diet, and interaction between phenotype \times diet was determined by two-way ANOVA. Superscripted letters denote significant differences between diets within a phenotype and symbols denote significant differences between overall diet or overall phenotype as determined by Tukey's multiple comparison test.

** Foxp3⁺ ISO control has been removed from total CD4⁺Foxp3⁺CD25⁺ T_{reg} cell percentage.

¹ For antibody panel 1, n = 4 for DR rats on control, HE control, HE wheat bran and HE oat bran diets, and n = 4 for DIO rats on control and HE control diets.

² For antibody panel 2, n = 4 for DR rats on control, HE control and HE FOS diets, and n = 3 for DIO rats on the HE control diet.

³ For antibody panel 3, n = 4 for DR and DIO rats on the HE control diet.
Cell Marker*	Phenotype	Cell Percentage
CD3 ⁺	DR^1	4.57 ± 1.03
	DIO ¹	3.64 ± 0.46
CD3 ⁺	DR^1	0.66 ± 0.21
CD62L ⁺	DIO ¹	0.54 ± 0.11
CD3 ⁺	DR^1	2.87 ± 0.67
CD4 ⁺	DIO ¹	2.26 ± 0.30
CD3 ⁺	DR^1	1.32 ± 0.36
CD8a ⁺	DIO ¹	0.91 ± 0.11
CD3 ⁺	DR^1	13.88 ± 2.47
CD45 ⁺	DIO ¹	14.75 ± 1.91
CD3 ⁻	DR^1	8.31 ± 1.68
CD45RA ⁺	DIO ¹	9.95 ± 1.41
CD3 ⁻	DR^1	0.10 ± 0.02
CD161 a ⁺	DIO ¹	0.13 ± 0.03
CD3 ⁻ CD4 ⁻	DR^1	0.06 ± 0.01
CD161 a ⁺	DIO ¹	0.09 ± 0.02
CD3 ⁻	DR ²	0.10 ± 0.02
CD103 ⁺	DIO ²	0.13 ± 0.03
CD3 ⁻	DR ²	0.11 ± 0.04
His36 ⁺	DIO ²	0.09 ± 0.02
CD3 ⁺	DR ²	0.04 ± 0.01
γδΤCR+	DIO ²	0.05 ± 0.01
CD3 ⁺ CD4 ⁺ Foxp3 ⁺	DR ³	0.74 ± 0.08
CD25 ⁺	DIO ³	0.85 ± 0.15

Table 3-23b. Total immune cell population percentages within the ileal PP of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks, separated by phenotype.

*Percentages are presented as mean \pm SEM. ¹n = 26 for DR rats and n = 28 for DIO rats in antibody panel 1. ²n = 27 for DR rats and n = 28 for DIO rats in antibody panel 2. ³n = 29 for both DR and DIO rats in antibody panel 3.

				CINC-1	pg/mL*						
		Control		High Energy Diets					Statistics - <i>P</i> value		
TLR		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat Bran	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype ×	
Control	DR	59.3 ± 22.2	74.3 ± 41.2	65.5 ± 35.0	22.1 ± 7.8	27.5 ± 14.5	14.8 ±	0.852	0.873	0.061	
	DIO	30.5 ± 12.6	33.1 ± 13.7	8.5 ± 4.1	87.6 ± 63.9	25.5 ± 7.2	6.5^{u} 96.2 ± 28.8 ^β				
TLR2 P3C	DR	43.2 ± 23.9	103.4 ± 53.2	32.0 ± 11.7	13.0 ± 5.0	17.1 ± 7.7	10.3 ± 5.9	0.516	0.619	0.123	
	DIO	25.6 ± 13.5	30.7 ± 15.5	7.6 ± 4.6	104.1 ± 93.6	20.3 ± 9.8	114.1 ± 50.3				
TLR4 LPS	DR	70.2 ± 29.8	92.3 ± 49.4	$105.8 \pm 62.0^{\alpha}$	38.0 ± 17.6	43.5 ± 28.5	33.7 ± 13.9	0.201	0.866	0.145	
	DIO	59.5 ± 26.4	21.2 ± 14.9	$8.3 \pm 5.5^{\beta}$	33.1 ± 10.1	32.2 ± 15.3	94.9 ± 31.1				
TLR5	DR	49.1 ± 20.6	43.6 ± 31.6	$70.9\pm49.1^{\alpha}$	30.0 ± 6.3	30.6 ± 18.1	$10.4\pm8.9^{\gamma}$	0.664	0.485	0.037	
Flagellin	DIO	47.7 ± 25.0	36.6 ± 15.6	$7.8 \pm 4.6^{\beta}$	133.8 ± 107.5	24.1 ± 8.8	$78.2 \pm 31.5^{\delta}$				

Table 3-24a. CINC-1 concentrations measured from TLR agonist-stimulated whole blood cultures of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks.

* CINC-1 concentrations (pg/mL) are presented as mean \pm SEM. Significance (P < 0.05) for phenotype, diet, and interaction between phenotype \times diet was determined by two-way ANOVA. Superscripted letters denote significant differences between diets within a phenotype, and symbols denote significant differences between overall diet or overall phenotype as determined by Tukey's multiple comparison test.

** n = 10 for unstimulated controls and n = 6-7 for TLR2, TLR4 and TLR5 stimulated blood cultures.

Table 3-24b. CINC-1 concentrations measured from TLR agonist-stimulated whole blood cultures of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks, separated by phenotype.

TLR Agonist*	Phenotype	CINC-1 (pg/mL)
Control	DR	43.9 ± 10.2
(Unstimulated)	DIO	47.2 ± 12.6
TLR2	DR	36.5 ± 11.3
P3C	DIO	49.9 ± 18.5
TLR4	DR	65.2 ± 14.9
LPS	DIO	42.3 ± 8.9
TLR5	DR	38.3 ± 10.5
Flagellin	DIO	52.9 ± 17.7

* In the DR phenotype, n = 60 for control, n = 39 for TLR2, n = 39 for TLR4 and n = 41 for TLR5 stimulated blood cultures. In the DIO phenotype, n = 59 for control and n = 40 for TLR2, TLR4 and TLR5 stimulated blood cultures.

				IL-1ß	IL-1β pg/mL [*]						
		Control		High Energy Diets				Statistics - P value			
TLR		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat Bran	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype ×	
Agonist**						Starch II				Diet	
Control	DR	8.0 ± 6.3	11.4 ± 9.8	7.2 ± 5.6	28.0 ± 15.5^{a}	5.0 ± 2.4	1.7 ± 0.0	0.285	0.628	0.149	
	DIO	2.7 ± 1.0	1.7 ± 0.0	1.7 ± 0.0	$3.1 \pm 1.4^{\beta}$	15.5 ± 12.2	10.2 ± 6.2				
TLR2 P3C	DR	4.5 ± 2.9^{a}	$9.2\pm7.5^{\mathrm{a}}$	$12.0\pm5.7^{\mathrm{a}}$	42.5 ±	$2.3\pm0.6^{\mathrm{a}}$	$1.7\pm0.0^{\mathrm{a}}$	0.439	0.156	0.040	
					24.0 ^{bα}						
	DIO	14.5 ± 12.1	2.2 ± 0.5	15.8 ± 8.5	$7.0 \pm 3.5^{\beta}$	49.9 ± 48.3	11.9 ± 10.2				
TLR4 LPS	DR	77.4 ± 31.5	93.7 ± 33.1	111.5 ± 41.6	131.4 ± 33.3	91.5 ± 23.3	89.5 ± 30.6	0.929	0.729	0.559	
	DIO	79.1 ± 34.8	72.5 ± 35.3	49.6 ± 17.0	162.3 ± 51.2	55.2 ± 29.4	87.7 ± 32.4				
TLR5	DR	22.8 ± 14.4	13.3 ± 4.7	67.3 ± 62.4	17.7 ± 10.5	6.2 ± 4.1	2.5 ± 0.8	0.634	0.818	0.463	
Flagellin	DIO	15.0 ± 13.4	35 + 12	71+55	223 ± 123	254 + 236	204 + 95	1			

Table 3-25a. IL-1 β concentrations measured from TLR agonist-stimulated whole blood cultures of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks.

FlagellinDIO 15.0 ± 13.4 3.5 ± 1.2 7.1 ± 5.5 22.3 ± 12.3 25.4 ± 23.6 20.4 ± 9.5 * IL-1β concentrations (pg/mL) are presented as mean ± SEM. Significance (P < 0.05) for phenotype, diet, and interaction between phenotype × diet was determined by two-way ANOVA. Superscripted letters denote significant differences between diets within a phenotype, and symbols denote significant differences between overall diet or overall phenotype as determined by Tukey's multiple comparison test.

** n = 10 for unstimulated controls and n = 6-7 for TLR2, TLR4 and TLR5 stimulated blood cultures.

Table 3-25b. IL-1 β concentrations measured from TLR agonist-stimulated whole blood cultures of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks, separated by phenotype.

TLR Agonist*	Phenotype	IL-1β (pg/mL)
Control	DR	10.2 ± 3.4
(Unstimulated)	DIO	5.8 ± 2.3
TLR2	DR	11.5 ± 4.3
P3C	DIO	17.0 ± 8.8
TLR4	DR	98.5 ± 12.8
LPS	DIO	85.4 ± 14.7
TLR5	DR	21.8 ± 11.1
Flagellin	DIO	15.5 ± 5.1

* In the DR phenotype, n = 60 for control, n = 39 for TLR2, n = 39 for TLR4 and n = 41 for TLR5 stimulated blood cultures. In the DIO phenotype, n = 59 for control and n = 40 for TLR2, TLR4 and TLR5 stimulated blood cultures.

Table 3-26a. IL-6 concentrations measured from TLR agonist-stimulated whole blood cultures of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks.

				IL-6 pg	g/mL*					
		Control		Hig	h Energy Diet	S		Statistics - P value		
TLR		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat Bran	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype ×
Agonist**						Starch II				Diet
Control	DR	17.3 ± 13.0	22.2 ± 10.1	2.6 ± 0.0	18.4 ± 9.9	31.2 ± 14.1	22.6 ±	0.921	0.377	0.768
							13.3			
	DIO	13.0 ± 8.5	11.5 ± 6.3	21.4 ± 10.7	7.0 ± 3.1	36.8 ± 16.6	20.7 ±			
							16.1			
TLR2 P3C	DR	25.9 ±	12.1 ± 6.1	2.6 ± 0.0	24.8 ± 12.0	14.1 ± 5.3	33.1 ±	0.256	0.331	0.320
		15.4 ^α					27.4			
	DIO	$10.8\pm6.0^{\beta}$	15.0 ± 8.1	22.1 ± 12.9	2.6 ± 0.0	57.7 ± 28.8	2.6 ± 0.0			
TLR4 LPS	DR	9.8 ± 6.1	$35.0 \pm 17.1^{\alpha}$	5.3 ± 2.7	13.5 ± 10.9	25.3 ± 22.6	2.6 ± 0.0	0.888	0.404	0.134
	DIO	5.0 ± 2.4	$2.6\pm0.0^{\beta}$	37.2 ± 17.3	4.0 ± 1.4	26.2 ± 13.2	10.9 ± 8.3			
TLR5	DR	22.5 ± 14.6	15.5 ± 12.9	26.9 ± 24.3	27.5 ± 14.5	15.7 ± 9.6	8.8 ± 5.5	0.491	0.244	0.312
Flagellin	DIO	2.6 ± 0.0	14.1 ± 8.4	17.5 ± 14.5	2.8 ± 0.2	39.4 ± 21.5	4.9 ± 2.3			

* IL-6 concentrations (pg/mL) are presented as mean \pm SEM. Significance (P < 0.05) for phenotype, diet, and interaction between phenotype \times diet was determined by two-way ANOVA. Superscripted letters denote significant differences between diets within a phenotype, and symbols denote significant differences between overall diet or overall phenotype as determined by Tukey's multiple comparison test.

** n = 10 for unstimulated controls and n = 6-7 for TLR2, TLR4 and TLR5 stimulated blood cultures.

Table 3-26b. IL-6 concentrations measured from TLR agonist-stimulated whole blood cultures of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks, separated by phenotype.

TLR Agonist*	Phenotype	IL-6 (pg/mL)
Control	DR	19.1 ± 4.5
(Unstimulated)	DIO	18.5 ± 4.6
TLR2	DR	18.9 ± 6.0
P3C	DIO	18.8 ± 7.1
TLR4	DR	15.6 ± 5.2
LPS	DIO	14.3 ± 4.2
TLR5	DR	19.6 ± 5.7
Flagellin	DIO	14.1 ± 4.9

^{*} In the DR phenotype, n = 60 for control, n = 39 for TLR2, n = 39 for TLR4 and n = 41 for TLR5 stimulated blood cultures. In the DIO phenotype, n = 59 for control and n = 40 for TLR2, TLR4 and TLR5 stimulated blood cultures.

				IL-10 p	g/mL [*]					
		Control		High Energy Diets				Statistics - P value		
TLR		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat Bran	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype ×
Agonist**						Starch II				Diet
Control	DR	1.4 ± 0.0	3.4 ± 1.9	1.4 ± 0.0	1.4 ± 0.0	1.4 ± 0.0	1.4 ± 0.0	0.800	0.588	0.233
	DIO	1.4 ± 0.0	1.4 ± 0.0	1.4 ± 0.0	2.5 ± 1.1	1.4 ± 0.0	3.0 ± 1.0			
TLR2 P3C	DR	1.4 ± 0.0	6.9 ± 4.0	1.4 ± 0.0	8.4 ± 4.4	2.0 ± 0.6	1.4 ± 0.0	0.159	0.864	0.644
	DIO	1.4 ± 0.0	4.7 ± 3.3	10.9 ± 8.8	7.2 ± 5.8	18.4 ± 17.0	12.2 ± 8.7			
TLR4 LPS	DR	8.1 ± 4.9^{a}	13.9 ± 8.4^{lphaeta}	3.1 ± 1.0^{lphaeta}	15.3 ± 9.3^{a}	$46.0\pm23.5^{\beta}$	$1.4 \pm 0.0^{\alpha}$	0.987	0.019	0.841
	DIO	$1.4 \pm 0.0^{\alpha}$	19.1 ±	$11.7 \pm 6.6^{\alpha}$	10.9 ± 7.0^{lphaeta}	$32.4 \pm 17.0^{\beta}$	$11.5 \pm 5.4^{\alpha}$			
			17.2 ^{αβ}							
TLR5	DR	3.9 ± 2.5	1.4 ± 0.0	1.4 ± 0.0	3.7 ± 2.2	1.43 ± 0.0	5.0 ± 3.5	0.183	0.363	0.780
Flagellin	DIO	1.4 ± 0.0	5.8 ± 3.6	1.4 ± 0.0	8.6 ± 7.2	4.1 ± 2.7	13.0 ± 8.9			

Table 3-27a. IL-10 concentrations measured from TLR agonist-stimulated whole blood cultures of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks, separated by phenotype.

^{*} IL-10 concentrations (pg/mL) are presented as mean \pm SEM. Significance (P < 0.05) for phenotype, diet, and interaction between phenotype \times diet was determined by two-way ANOVA. Superscripted letters denote significant differences between diets within a phenotype, and symbols denote significant differences between overall diet or overall phenotype as determined by Tukey's multiple comparison test.

** n = 10 for unstimulated controls and n = 6-7 for TLR2, TLR4 and TLR5 stimulated blood cultures.

Table 3-27b. IL-10 concentrations measured from TLR agonist-stimulated whole blood cultures of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks, separated by phenotype.

TLR Agonist*	Phenotype	IL-10 (pg/mL)
Control	DR	1.8 ± 0.3
(Unstimulated)	DIO	1.9 ± 0.3
TLR2	DR	3.6 ± 1.0
P3C	DIO	9.0 ± 3.6
TLR4	DR	14.5 ± 4.7
LPS	DIO	14.0 ± 4.1
TLR5	DR	2.8 ± 0.8
Flagellin	DIO	5.8 ± 2.0

* In the DR phenotype, n = 60 for control, n = 39 for TLR2, n = 39 for TLR4 and n = 41 for TLR5 stimulated blood cultures. In the DIO phenotype, n = 59 for control and n = 40 for TLR2, TLR4 and TLR5 stimulated blood cultures.

		TNF-α pg/mL*									
		Control		High Energy Diets					Statistics - P value		
TLR		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat Bran	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype ×	
Agonist**						Starch II				Diet	
Control	DR	1.2 ± 0.4	0.8 ± 0.0	1.6 ± 0.8	0.8 ± 0.0	1.1 ± 0.3	0.8 ± 0.0^{lpha}	0.205	0.172	0.143	
	DIO	$18.2 \pm$	$1.5\pm0.7^{\mathrm{ac}}$	0.8 ± 0.0^{abc}	$2.5 \pm 1.7^{\mathrm{ac}}$	$2.8 \pm 2.0^{\mathrm{abc}}$	$12.3 \pm 7.2^{b\beta}$				
		16.6 ^{ac}									
TLR2 P3C	DR	2.1 ± 1.3	0.8 ± 0.0	0.8 ± 0.0	0.8 ± 0.0	5.6 ± 4.7	0.8 ± 0.0	0.235	0.535	0.955	
	DIO	0.8 ± 0.0	2.1 ± 1.3	5.6 ± 4.8	4.7 ± 3.9	8.1 ± 7.3	2.9 ± 1.4				
TLR4 LPS	DR	28.9 ± 10.2	$2.6 \pm 1.8^{\alpha}$	8.4 ± 4.8	16.8 ± 12.7	4.5 ± 2.6^{a}	13.0 ± 6.8	0.467	0.240	0.026	
	DIO	10.9 ± 6.0^{ab}	29.6 ±	44.5 ± 39.5^{a}	5.8 ± 3.5^{ab}	39.6 ±	20.6 ± 7.8^{b}				
			13.7 ^{abβ}			17.8 ^{bβ}					
TLR5	DR	1.2 ± 0.4	0.8 ± 0.0	2.73 ± 1.9	0.8 ± 0.0	1.6 ± 0.8	0.8 ± 0.0	0.149	0.729	0.498	
Flagellin	DIO	0.8 ± 0.0	0.8 ± 0.0	0.8 ± 0.0	6.8 ± 6.0	5.1 ± 2.9	6.9 ± 6.1				

Table 3-28a. TNF- α concentrations measured from TLR agonist-stimulated whole blood cultures of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks.

* TNF- α concentrations (pg/mL) are presented as mean ± SEM. Significance (P < 0.05) for phenotype, diet, and interaction between phenotype × diet was determined by two-way ANOVA. Superscripted letters denote significant differences between diets within a phenotype, and symbols denote significant differences between overall diet or overall phenotype as determined by Tukey's multiple comparison test.

** n = 10 for unstimulated controls and n = 6-7 for TLR2, TLR4 and TLR5 stimulated blood cultures.

Table 3-28b. TNF- α concentrations measured from TLR agonist-stimulated whole blood cultures of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks, separated by phenotype.

TLR Agonist*	Phenotype	TNF-α (pg/mL)
Control	DR	1.1 ± 0.2
(Unstimulated)	DIO	6.2 ± 2.8
TLR2	DR	1.8 ± 0.8
P3C	DIO	4.0 ± 1.6
TLR4	DR	12.6 ± 3.4
LPS	DIO	24.7 ± 7.7
TLR5	DR	1.3 ± 0.4
Flagellin	DIO	3.5 ± 1.5

* In the DR phenotype, n = 60 for control, n = 39 for TLR2, n = 39 for TLR4 and n = 41 for TLR5 stimulated blood cultures. In the DIO phenotype, n = 59 for control and n = 40 for TLR2, TLR4 and TLR5 stimulated blood cultures.

Control		Control		Statistics - P value						
Measure*		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype
				Bran		Starch II				× Diet
CINC-1	DR	$187.0 \pm$	238.7 ±	213.3 ± 29.8	159.5 ± 22.2	156.0 ± 25.7	154.3 ±	0.123	0.132	0.121
pg/mL		25.2	37.8				23.8 ^α			
	DIO	$198.3 \pm$	$222.6 \pm$	176.0 ± 22.4	209.4 ± 28.8	152.4 ± 17.4	$249.2 \pm$			
		34.9	16.9				24.6^{β}			
CINC-2αβ	DR	20.6 ± 0.6	21.1 ± 1.0	19.9 ± 0.9	20.6 ± 0.6	$19.8\pm1.0^{\alpha}$	19.9 ± 0.7	0.668	0.937	0.148
pg/mL	DIO	19.7 ± 0.7	19.5 ± 0.5	20.3 ± 0.9	20.1 ± 0.5	$22.2\pm1.4^{\beta}$	21.4 ± 0.8			
CINC-3	DR	13.9 ± 0.5	14.6 ± 1.1	13.3 ± 0.6	$16.2 \pm 1.6^{\alpha}$	$12.9\pm0.4^{\alpha}$	13.5 ± 0.7	0.646	0.676	0.036
pg/mL	DIO	13.5 ± 0.6	14.0 ± 1.1	15.3 ± 1.5	$13.5\pm0.7^{\beta}$	$16.2 \pm 1.2^{\beta}$	13.4 ± 0.4			
sICAM-	DR	9.9 ± 0.6	8.7 ± 0.57^{lpha}	10.4 ± 0.6	10.3 ± 0.8	10.6 ± 0.6	11.0 ± 0.9	0.068	0.311	0.044
1/sCD54	DIO	9.8 ± 0.8	$11.9 \pm 0.7^{\beta}$	10.9 ± 0.7	11.0 ± 0.7	9.5 ± 0.3	11.8 ± 0.6			
ng/mL										
Active	DR	$711.2 \pm$	611.5 ±	652.9 ± 46.2	641.5 ± 34.6	566.4 ± 61.6	612.1 ±	0.318	0.801	0.523
TGF-β1		73.6 ^α	28.2				42.4			
pg/mL	DIO	573.3 ±	619.4 ±	595.5 ± 39.0	617.5 ± 22.4	583.5 ± 27.0	$639.8 \pm$			
		77.5 ^β	22.1				56.8			
Total	DR	20.3 ± 1.5	$2\overline{0.7 \pm 2.7}$	19.1 ± 1.5	20.2 ± 1.5	17.1 ± 1.9	$2\overline{0.5 \pm 1.6}$	0.480	0.695	0.900
TGF-β1	DIO	21.2 ± 1.9	19.3 ± 2.0	20.9 ± 2.4	21.1 ± 1.7	19.7 ± 1.5	19.8 ± 1.6			
ng/mL										

Table 3-29a. Serum cytokines/chemokines, CRP, LPS, BUN and glucose concentrations of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks.

		Control		High Energy Diets		Statistics - P value				
Measure*		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype
				Bran		Starch II				× Diet
CRP µg/mL	DR	439.3 ±	515.7 ±	410.4 ±	381.6 ±	341.5 ±	346.4 ±	0.731	0.043	0.737
		$60.9^{ab\alpha}$	85.6 ^{aα}	37.2 ^{abα}	39.7 ^{abαβ}	49.2 ^{bβ}	31.0 ^{abαβ}			
	DIO	$479.0 \pm$	411.9 ±	$441.0 \pm$	$368.8 \pm$	$333.5 \pm$	$406.4 \pm$			
		34.6 ^{aα}	47.3 ^{abα}	51.1 ^{abα}	47.5 ^{abαβ}	35.7 ^{bβ}	41.5 ^{abαβ}			
LPS EU/mL	DR	0.472 ±	0.520 ±	$0.564 \pm$	0.490 ± 0.041	$0.449 \pm$	0.505 ±	0.766	0.299	0.670
		0.046	0.055	0.059		0.035	0.033			
	DIO	$0.459 \pm$	$0.522 \pm$	$0.499 \pm$	0.646 ± 0.096	$0.461 \pm$	$0.489 \pm$			
		0.031	0.043	0.041		0.049	0.046			
BUN	DR	7.4 ± 0.1^{alpha}	$7.1 \pm 0.4^{ab\beta}$	$6.6\pm0.2^{ab\beta}$	$6.6\pm0.2^{ab\beta}$	$6.5 \pm 0.1^{b\beta}$	$8.4 \pm 0.2^{ab\beta}$	0.887	< 0.001	0.389
mmol/L	DIO	7.8 ± 0.2^{alpha}	$6.6\pm0.3^{b\beta}$	$6.9\pm0.2^{ab\beta}$	6.5 ± 0.1^{beta}	$6.6\pm0.2^{b\beta}$	$6.4\pm0.2^{b\beta}$			
Glucose	DR	8.9 ± 0.3	8.7 ± 0.3	8.8 ± 0.3	8.6 ± 0.3	8.7 ± 0.3	6.7 ± 0.4	0.821	0.262	0.637
mmol/L	DIO	8.8 ± 0.2	8.9 ± 0.5	9.1 ± 0.2	9.1 ± 0.3	8.2 ± 0.2	8.4 ± 0.3			

 Table 3-29a continued.

*Concentrations are presented as mean \pm SEM, n = 10. Significance (P < 0.05) for phenotype, diet, and interaction between phenotype \times diet was determined by two-way ANOVA. Superscripted letters denote significant differences between diets within a phenotype, and symbols denote significant differences between overall diet or overall phenotype as determined by Tukey's multiple comparison test.

Measure*	Phenotype	Concentration
CINC-1	DR	184.9 ± 11.7
pg/mL	DIO	201.3 ± 10.6
CINC-2αβ	DR	20.3 ± 0.3
pg/mL	DIO	20.5 ± 0.4
CINC-3	DR	14.1 ± 0.4
pg/mL	DIO	14.3 ± 0.4
sICAM-1/sCD54	DR	10.1 ± 0.3
ng/mL	DIO	10.8 ± 0.3
Active TGF-β1	DR	632.6 ± 20.5
pg/mL	DIO	604.8 ± 18.0
Total TGF-β1	DR	19.7 ± 0.7
ng/mL	DIO	20.3 ± 0.7
CRP	DR	405.8 ± 22.4
µg/mL	DIO	406.8 ± 18.0
LPS	DR	0.500 ± 0.019
EU/mL	DIO	0.513 ± 0.023
BUN	DR	6.8 ± 0.1
mmol/L	DIO	6.8 ± 0.1
Glucose	DR	8.7 ± 0.1
mmol/L	DIO	8.7 ± 0.1

Table 3-29b. Serum cytokine/chemokine, CRP, LPS, BUN and glucose concentrations of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks, separated by phenotype.

n : = 60 for DR and DIO rats.

Table 3-30. Histological analysis of IEL counts in small bowel sections collected from DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks.

	Control		High Energy Diets							
Section*	AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat Bran	Oat Bran	Resistant Starch II	FOS	P value			
Duodenum	8.93 ± 1.19	7.33 ± 0.07	7.87 ± 1.57	7.20 ± 1.20	7.00 ± 1.42	8.73 ± 0.59	0.753			
Jejunum	6.93 ± 3.73	4.93 ± 2.53	12.13 ± 0.79	2.67 ± 2.67	3.47 ± 3.47	13.83 ± 3.28	0.086			

* IELs were enumerated per 100 villous enterocytes for 5 villi per section in the small bowel. Counts are presented as mean \pm SEM, n = 5. Statistical analyses were performed using one-way ANOVA.

		Control		H	ligh Energy Di	ets		Statistics - P value		alue
Measure*		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype
				Bran		Starch II				× Diet
IL-1 β ng/g	DR	10.6 ± 2.5	9.7 ± 2.5	9.1 ± 2.3	11.1 ± 2.8	7.4 ± 1.5	8.3 ± 2.2	0.624	0.577	0.822
	DIO	9.1 ± 3.2	5.2 ± 2.2	8.4 ± 2.3	11.4 ± 2.5	7.6 ± 2.1	10.4 ± 2.0			
IL-6	DR	$1586.7 \pm$	1382.7 ±	$1296.8 \pm$	1852.7 ±	$1069.8 \pm$	1161.7 ±	0.323	0.235	0.788
pg/g		171.7	246.1	286.8	280.2	278.0	250.8			
	DIO	$1579.6 \pm$	$1148.8 \pm$	$1358.4 \pm$	1230.1 ±	$998.6 \pm$	1149.1 ±			
		236.0	267.2	335.5	257.5	255.0	185.7			
IL-10 pg/g	DR	$477.8 \pm$	$457.9 \pm$	391.7 ±	526.9 ± 67.3	$243.3 \pm$	451.3 ± 85.2	0.232	0.219	0.509
		86.1	106.5	85.0		49.7				
	DIO	$465.5 \pm$	295.0 ± 57.7	$372.0 \pm$	406.2 ± 83.5	$354.4 \pm$	338.8 ± 66.7			
		85.0		55.3		64.6				
IL-17F	DR	495.3 ±	502.1 ±	$452.0 \pm$	452.0 ± 85.1	$449.4 \pm$	470.2 ± 103.0	0.421	0.833	0.689
pg/g		92.8	111.2	94.4		57.6				
	DIO	$455.5 \pm$	333.8 ± 67.0	$351.5 \pm$	554.6 ± 92.0	$432.5 \pm$	461.7 ± 57.7			
		65.9		60.6		81.2				
Active	DR	1.8 ± 0.7	1.9 ± 0.6	1.3 ± 0.2	1.3 ± 0.2	2.8 ± 0.5	1.8 ± 0.3	0.204	0.163	0.721
TGF-β1	DIO	1.6 ± 0.2	1.7 ± 0.4	2.3 ± 0.5	2.0 ± 0.5	2.9 ± 0.7	2.7 ± 0.7			
ng/g										
Total	DR	9.0 ± 0.5	8.5 ± 1.2	8.4 ± 0.8	9.8 ± 0.6	10.3 ± 0.9	9.3 ± 1.1	0.087	0.420	0.913
TGF-β1	DIO	10.0 ± 1.1	8.8 ± 1.4	9.8 ± 0.7	9.9 ± 0.7	10.7 ± 1.0	10.7 ± 0.9			
ng/g										

Table 3-31a. Ileal tissue cytokine concentrations of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks.

*Concentrations are presented as mean \pm SEM, n = 10. Significance (P < 0.05) for phenotype, diet, and interaction between phenotype \times diet was determined by two-way ANOVA. A Tukey's multiple comparison test did not detect any differences between phenotype or diet in this dataset.

Measure*	Phenotype	Concentration
Π-1β	DR	9.4 ± 0.9
ng/g	DIO	8.7 ± 1.0
IL-6	DR	1391.7 ± 105.4
pg/g	DIO	1244.1 ± 104.3
IL-10	DR	424.8 ± 34.1
pg/g	DIO	372.0 ± 28.1
IL-17F	DR	470.2 ± 36.1
pg/g	DIO	431.6 ± 29.6
Active TGF-β1	DR	1.8 ± 0.2
ng/mL	DIO	2.2 ± 0.2
Total TGF-β1	DR	9.2 ± 0.4
ng/mL	DIO	10.1 ± 0.4
Protein Quantification	DR	49.8 ± 1.8
by Bradford Assay	DIO	49.5 ± 1.8
mg/g		

Table 3-31b. Ileal tissue cytokine concentrations of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks, separated by phenotype.

 $n^* = 60$ for DR and DIO rats.

		Control	High Energy Diets			Statistics - P value				
Measure*		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat Bran	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype
						Starch II				× Diet
CINC-1	DR	198.2 ±	$250.5 \pm$	222.6 ± 32.5	205.4 ± 30.3	164.5 ± 21.3	191.9 ±	0.880	0.604	0.834
pg/g		29.2	36.8				30.2			
	DIO	$183.8 \pm$	$203.1 \pm$	233.2 ± 33.8	198.1 ± 36.4	203.4 ± 34.4	195.1 ±			
		26.9	25.7				22.0			
CINC-2αβ	DR	305.4 ±	$411.4 \pm$	$225.7\pm58.6^{\mathrm{b}}$	$363.9 \pm$	155.4 ±	$210.2 \pm$	0.597	0.014	0.638
pg/g		28.0 ^{acd}	88.3 ^{acd}		60.0^{abcd}	31.3 ^b	47.2 ^{abd}			
	DIO	$303.7 \pm$	$246.0 \pm$	216.5 ± 39.6	266.5 ± 61.1	210.0 ± 36.9	$172.8 \pm$			
		44.1	35.2				36.5			
CINC-3	DR	7.4 ± 1.7	26.6 ± 12.3	29.9 ± 15.1	37.3 ± 13.0	6.2 ± 1.3	5.1 ± 0.2	0.296	0.111	0.372
pg/g	DIO	13.8 ± 5.6	18.9 ± 9.9	12.4 ± 7.5	15.4 ± 10.5	6.0 ± 1.1	15.3 ± 6.9			
GM-CSF	DR	95.5 ± 32.0	$102.6 \pm$	64.3 ± 25.1	73.2 ± 23.4	67.2 ± 28.3	102.6 ±	0.775	0.617	0.357
pg/g			35.2				30.3			
	DIO	27.3 ± 7.9	80.3 ± 32.5	52.2 ± 24.4	126.2 ± 40.4	105.0 ± 33.2	85.2 ± 29.1			
IL-6	DR	$1028.51 \pm$	$624.6 \pm$	$722.0 \pm$	$831.0 \pm$	$510.4 \pm$	$622.3 \pm$	0.291	0.003	0.523
pg/g		422.0 ^{abα}	151.4 ^{aα}	229.7 ^{aαβ}	124.0 ^{abαβ}	100.3 ^{bβ}	118.9 ^{aα}			
	DIO	$404.2 \pm$	$502.4 \pm$	$633.5 \pm$	$627.7 \pm$	$528.2 \pm$	$596.2 \pm$			
		50.5 ^α	158.7 ^α	$171.4^{lphaeta}$	$182.4^{\alpha\beta}$	119.7 ^β	94.2α			
IL-10	DR	286.3 ±	$358.3 \pm$	251.2 ± 67.7	277.8 ± 61.8	141.7 ± 35.4	299.6 ±	0.467	0.813	0.704
pg/g		70.2	128.6				73.8			
	DIO	263.3 ±	222.4 ±	290.4 ± 74.3	194.7 ± 50.6	222.4 ± 59.7	244.9 ±			
		62.2	68.7				60.3			

Table 3-32a. Caecal tissue cytokine/chemokine concentrations of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks.

		Control		Hi	gh Energy Die	ets		Stat	istics - P v	alue
Measure*		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat Bran	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype
						Starch II				× Diet
IL-17F	DR	156.6 ±	210.4 ±	215.0 ± 84.5	203.0 ± 82.2	125.9 ± 48.4	$201.2 \pm$	0.752	0.436	0.680
pg/g		70.8	87.1				72.2			
	DIO	227.4 ±	236.9 ±	318.8 ± 111.4	58.6 ± 16.9	138.0 ± 39.1	216.3 ±			
		80.8	96.4				77.3			
IL-22	DR	110.8 ±	125.4 ±	174.7 ± 52.2	149.4 ± 38.5	209.0 ± 58.0	221.6 ±	0.431	0.359	0.459
pg/g		30.5	29.8				87.6			
	DIO	159.1 ±	$187.9 \pm$	154.6 ± 35.3	141.9 ± 42.9	234.2 ± 57.6	$145.0 \pm$			
		28.8	39.5				29.1			
Active	DR	998.6 ±	$726.6 \pm$	767.6 ± 79.0	917.2 ±	873.7 ± 84.7	992.5 ±	0.713	0.212	0.799
TGF-β1		85.3	71.7		113.4		53.3			
pg/g	DIO	$863.0 \pm$	$825.2 \pm$	878.1 ± 119.8	941.1 ± 78.6	900.5 ± 76.8	$985.5 \pm$			
		90.2	122.2				99.7			
Total	DR	5798.7 ±	5511.7 ±	5969.3 ±	6230.7 ±	5623.6 ±	$6135.4 \pm$	0.047	0.379	0.813
TGF-β1		293.1	310.5	188.8	410.8	480.6	536.1			
pg/g	DIO	6271.4 ±	6109.1 ±	$7128.7 \pm$	6283.9 ±	5924.5 ±	6381.4 ±			
		295.1	453.6	551.8	369.9	424 1	410.4			

 Table 3-32a continued.

295.1453.6551.8369.9424.1410.4* Concentrations are presented as mean \pm SEM, n = 10. Significance (P < 0.05) for phenotype, diet, and interaction between phenotype \times diet was determined by
two-way ANOVA. Superscripted letters denote significant differences between diets within a phenotype, and symbols denote significant differences between
overall diet or overall phenotype as determined by Tukey's multiple comparison test.

Measure*	Phenotype	Concentration
CINC-1	DR	205.5 ± 12.4
pg/g	DIO	202.8 ± 12.7
CINC-2αβ	DR	278.7 ± 24.8
pg/g	DIO	235.9 ± 17.7
CINC-3	DR	18.8 ± 4.1
pg/g	DIO	13.5 ± 3.0
GM-CSF	DR	84.2 ± 11.6
pg/g	DIO	79.4 ± 12.4
IL-6	DR	723.1 ± 89.1
pg/g	DIO	548.7 ± 54.8
IL-10	DR	269.1 ± 31.7
pg/g	DIO	239.7 ± 25.0
IL-17F	DR	185.4 ± 29.7
pg/g	DIO	199.3 ± 32.1
IL-22	DR	165.2 ± 21.5
pg/g	DIO	170.5 ± 16.20
Active TGF-β1	DR	879.4 ± 35.2
pg/mL	DIO	898.9 ± 39.5
Total TGF-β1	DR	5878.3 ± 155.4
pg/mL	DIO	6349.8 ± 173.0
Protein Quantification by	DR	37.0 ± 1.2
Bradford Assay	DIO	38.2 ± 1.0
mg/g		

Table 3-32b. Caecal tissue cytokine/chemokine concentrations of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks, separated by phenotype.

* n = 60 for DR and DIO rats.

		Control]	High Energy D	liets		Statistics - P value		alue
Measure*		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype
				Bran		Starch II				× Diet
IL-6	DR	1192.9 ±	$1610.8 \pm$	1526.4 ±	1702.1 ±	1243.9 ±	1317.9 ±	0.612	0.060	0.016
pg/g		154.0α	153.3	171.0	154.0	168.2	162.8			
	DIO	1974.1 ±	$1569.4 \pm$	1761.9 ±	$1241.4 \pm$	$1294.4 \pm$	$1067.2 \pm$			
		192.3 ^{aβ}	236.0 ^{ab}	166.2 ^{ab}	168.2 ^b	225.4 ^{ab}	164.8 ^b			
IL-10	DR	1096.6 ±	1318.5 ±	1175.3 ±	1430.5 ±	$1002.0 \pm$	1347.2 ±	0.879	0.793	0.182
pg/g		176.0	164.1	134.3	168.7	193.6	179.1			
	DIO	$1428.2 \pm$	1156.1 ±	$1406.7 \pm$	$1171.4 \pm$	$1188.8 \pm$	927.4 ± 145.0			
		172.6	189.0	152.4	205.7	192.0				
IL-17F	DR	350.2 ±	375.7 ±	336.0 ± 48.1	413.0 ± 49.6	275.1 ± 48.9	343.0 ± 57.9	0.737	0.110	0.255
pg/g		67.4	53.3							
	DIO	459.5 ±	337.5 ±	370.5 ±	$355.2 \pm$	309.2 ±	197.3 ± 45.5^{b}			
		45.1ª	64.0 ^{ab}	53.3 ^{ab}	59.6 ^{ab}	56.0 ^{ab}				
TNF-α	DR	122.4 ±	$207.0 \pm$	192.2 ± 43.4	180.5 ± 27.4	149.4 ± 41.3	156.6 ± 36.6	0.764	0.458	0.422
pg/g		20.5	64.0							
	DIO	229.5 ±	$189.6 \pm$	223.8 ± 45.7	121.2 ± 27.8	113.8 ± 22.8	173.9 ± 41.7			
		55.5	51.7							
Active	DR	978.0 ±	929.8 ±	868.9 ± 76.9	972.0 ± 57.9	787.6 ±	1001.1 ± 57.9	0.694	0.883	0.312
TGF-β1		64.3	52.1			89.7α				
pg/g	DIO	928.9 ±	906.1 ±	$95\overline{6.0}\pm78.8$	911.5 ± 61.9	993.2 ±	937.4 ± 91.1			
		39.7	80.2			70.2^{β}				

Table 3-33a. Proximal colon cytokine concentrations of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks.

Table 3-33a	continued.
-------------	------------

		Control		High Energy Diets			Statistics - <i>P</i> value			
Measure*		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype
				Bran		Starch II				× Diet
Total	DR	$4178.9 \pm$	4200.6 ±	$4666.8 \pm$	$4591.0 \pm$	$3893.3 \pm$	4375.6 ±	0.433	0.823	0.357
TGF-β1		282.2	270.9	526.6	384.5	241.4α	334.1			
pg/g	DIO	4146.1 ±	4740.3 ±	$4863.0 \pm$	4039.3 ±	5199.1 ±	4323.6 ±			
		317.3	539.2	382.0	201.0	522.4^{β}	462.8			

* Concentrations are presented as mean \pm SEM, n = 10. Significance (P < 0.05) for phenotype, diet, and interaction between phenotype \times diet was determined by two-way ANOVA. Superscripted letters denote significant differences between diets within a phenotype, and symbols denote significant differences between overall diet or overall phenotype as determined by Tukey's multiple comparison test.

Measure	Phenotype	Concentration
IL-6	DR	1432.3 ± 67.5
pg/g	DIO	1484.7 ± 86.2
IL-10	DR	1228.4 ± 69.3
pg/g	DIO	1213.1 ± 72.7
IL-17F	DR	348.8 ± 22.0
pg/g	DIO	338.2 ± 23.6
ΤΝΓ-α	DR	168.0 ± 16.5
pg/g	DIO	175.3 ± 17.6
Active TGF-β1	DR	922.9 ± 28.1
pg/mL	DIO	938.9 ± 28.5
Total TGF-β1	DR	4317.7 ± 142.1
pg/mL	DIO	4551.9 ± 173.2
Protein Quantification	DR	50.1 ± 1.6
by Bradford Assay	DIO	49.0 ± 1.2
mg/g		

Table 3-33b. Proximal colon cytokine concentrations of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks, separated by phenotype.

* n = 60 for DR and DIO rats.

		Control		High Energy Diets				Statistics - P value		
Measure		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat Bran	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype
						Starch II				× Diet
IL-6	DR	$1841.7\pm$	$2427.0 \pm$	$2039.4 \pm$	$2069.9 \pm$	$2082.5 \pm$	$1612.6 \pm$	0.778	0.963	0.445
pg/g		309.9	343.7	276.0	268.6	329.4	381.5			
	DIO	$2513.6 \pm$	1664.5 \pm	$1980.6 \pm$	$2187.1 \pm$	$1997.1 \pm$	$2084.7 \pm$			
		436.0	381.2	440.3	303.7	316.7	484.7			
IL-10	DR	$564.8 \pm$	$1060.2 \pm$	587.3 ± 154.1	$768.9 \pm$	519.1 ±	$720.8 \pm$	0.954	0.972	0.108
pg/g		167.6	298.2 ^α		193.6	112.5	183.7			
	DIO	$726.3 \pm$	$496.3 \pm$	804.5 ± 159.2	$496.6 \pm$	$962.4 \pm$	$697.0 \pm$			
		222.8	162.1 ^β		154.9	179.8	213.3			
IL-17F	DR	$366.0 \pm$	519.7 ±	476.8 ± 86.2	$506.1 \pm$	354.9 ± 58.6	439.3 ± 79.2	0.552	0.305	0.227
pg/g		75.0	85.6		80.3					
	DIO	$549.7 \pm$	$474.1 \pm$	602.0 ± 70.1	331.6 ±	385.7 ± 62.2	475.5 ± 74.4			
		72.1	91.3		62.7					
IL-22	DR	$126.7 \pm$	$126.0 \pm$	158.2 ± 15.6	$139.4 \pm$	247.6 ±	194.0 ± 36.6	0.924	0.155	0.192
pg/g		10.1	10.8		16.4	47.2α				
	DIO	157.1 ±	$163.6 \pm$	145.0 ± 23.6	$156.9 \pm$	$156.8 \pm$	239.8 ± 64.7			
		10.7	22.0		36.3	27.2 ^β				
TNF-α	DR	188.6 ±	231.5 ±	281.9 ± 42.2	212.8 ±	159.1 ± 40.9	220.4 ± 71.8	0.903	0.444	0.341
pg/g		49.8	46.6		19.9					
	DIO	271.5 ±	162.1 ±	206.7 ± 24.7	216.2 ±	196.3 ± 53.3	197.8 ± 39.8			
		58.6	29.2		73.9					

Table 3-34a. Distal colon tissue cytokine concentrations of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks.

		Control		High Energy Diets						Statistics - <i>P</i> value		
Measure		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat Bran	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype		
						Starch II				× Diet		
Active	DR	1354.6 ±	1450.6 ±	1613.1 ± 73.0	$1547.2 \pm$	1512.3 ±	$1500.6 \pm$	0.361	0.435	0.173		
TGF-β1		51.1	82.9		47.4	76.9	54.6					
pg/g	DIO	$1538.8 \pm$	$1437.0 \pm$	1453.5 ± 48.0	$1553.3 \pm$	$1340.3 \pm$	$1419.9 \pm$					
		86.8	89.1		102.8	58.2	90.4					
Total	DR	3065.1 ±	3240.4 ±	4129.4 ±	$3850.2 \pm$	3689.1 ±	3632.9 ±	0.753	0.096	0.089		
TGF-β1		276.1 ^α	273.8	252.6	260.8	209.8	291.3					
pg/g	DIO	3993.1 ±	3572.5 ±	4172.9 ±	3302.1 ±	3142.5 ±	3732.9 ±					
		281.7^{β}	326.1	359.5	330.7	297.7	176.6					

Table 3-34a continued.

* Concentrations are presented as mean \pm SEM, n = 10. Significance (P < 0.05) for phenotype, diet, and interaction between phenotype × diet was determined by two-way ANOVA. Superscripted letters denote significant differences between diets within a phenotype, and symbols denote significant differences between overall diet or overall phenotype as determined by Tukey's multiple comparison test.

Measure	Phenotype	Concentration
IL-6	DR	2012.2 ± 129.3
pg/g	DIO	2071.3 ± 159.4
IL-10	DR	703.5 ± 79.2
pg/g	DIO	697.2 ± 75.0
IL-17F	DR	443.8 ± 31.6
pg/g	DIO	469.8 ± 30.8
IL-22	DR	165.3 ± 11.9
pg/g	DIO	169.9 ± 14.3
ΤΝΓ-α	DR	215.7 ± 19.3
pg/g	DIO	208.5 ± 19.9
Active TGF-β1	DR	1496.4 ± 27.7
pg/mL	DIO	1457.1 ± 33.2
Total TGF-β1	DR	3601.2 ± 112.4
pg/mL	DIO	3652.7 ± 126.7
Protein Quantification	DR	40.0 ± 1.0
by Bradford Assay	DIO	41.0 ± 1.0
mg/g		

Table 3-34b. Distal colon tissue cytokine concentrations of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks, separated by phenotype.

* n = 60 for DR and DIO rats.

Control				Hi	Statistics - P value					
Measure		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat Bran	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype
						Starch II				× Diet
CINC-1	DR	5.8 ± 0.5	10.0 ± 1.4	7.4 ± 0.8	9.8 ± 1.3	8.3 ± 0.9	7.2 ± 0.4	0.423	0.081	0.835
ng/g	DIO	7.6 ± 0.7	8.8 ± 1.3	8.2 ± 1.1	9.7 ± 2.2	9.3 ± 1.4	8.2 ± 0.5			
CINC-2αβ	DR	18.7 ±	$25.8\pm2.6^{\mathrm{b}\beta}$	21.6 ± 1.3^{ablphaeta}	$26.7 \pm 2.1^{b\beta}$	$23.7\pm1.9^{b\beta}$	21.6 ±	0.569	0.005	0.221
ng/g		1.2 ^{ααγ}					1.3 ^{abαβ}			
	DIO	$21.8 \pm 1.2^{\alpha\delta}$	$22.8\pm0.8^{\beta}$	22.4 ± 1.3^{lphaeta}	$25.4 \pm 3.8^{\beta}$	$25.8\pm2.5^{\beta}$	21.1 ± 0.9^{lphaeta}			
CINC-3	DR	7.9 ± 1.4	9.8 ± 1.9	7.0 ± 1.4	9.6 ± 2.0	8.1 ± 1.6	10.8 ± 0.8	0.563	0.415	0.440
ng/g	DIO	6.5 ± 1.5	9.5 ± 1.7	9.5 ± 1.3	10.5 ± 2.3	11.7 ± 1.3	8.6 ± 1.4			
CRP	DR	65.8 ± 5.1^{lpha}	70.2 ± 7.7	64.8 ± 5.6	63.0 ± 6.7	57.2 ± 4.4	66.9 ± 2.8	0.409	0.140	0.488
µg∕g	DIO	84.9 ±	65.2 ± 4.4^{ab}	69.6 ± 4.7^{ab}	65.4 ± 3.2^{ab}	56.8 ± 5.6^{b}	64.4 ± 6.2^{ab}			
		13.6 ^{aβ}								
IFN- γ ng/g	DR	31.8 ± 4.5	44.2 ± 5.8	36.1 ± 5.2	39.9 ± 6.8	39.3 ± 4.2	48.1 ± 8.0	0.502	0.250	0.635
	DIO	33.2 ± 8.1	34.7 ± 5.0	38.1 ± 5.6	42.5 ± 4.5	42.7 ± 3.4	33.8 ± 4.1			
IL-1β	DR	120.2 ±	155.3 ±	134.6 ±	155.7 ±	$149.8 \pm$	141.5 ±	0.502	0.046	0.724
ng/g		13.6α	15.1 ^{αβ}	15.3 ^{αβ}	16.1 ^β	11.9 ^{αβ}	16.9 ^{αβ}			
	DIO	122.4 ±	134.8 ±	$128.3 \pm$	174.1 ±	134.2 ± 7.9^{lphaeta}	124.1 ±			
		15.7α	$11.0^{lphaeta}$	12.5 ^{αβ}	17.4^{β}		$8.7^{lphaeta}$			
IL-4	DR	$5\overline{2.1 \pm 7.3}$	$6\overline{6.9 \pm 7.7}$	59.6 ± 8.9	68.8 ± 11.2	62.2 ± 5.8	69.8 ± 13.6	0.605	0.375	0.861
ng/g	DIO	55.40 ±	56.1 ± 7.8	62.9 ± 9.6	69.2 ± 6.4	66.6 ± 7.8	51.4 ± 7.4			
		11.0								

Table 3-35a. Liver cytokine/chemokine and CRP concentrations of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks.

Control				Stat	Statistics - P value					
Measure		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat Bran	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype
						Starch II				× Diet
IL-6	DR	$154.9 \pm$	$190.8 \pm$	188.4 ± 29.9	20.0 ± 34.0	180.3 ± 19.6	194.5 ±	0.681	0.334	0.918
ng/g		21.9	22.5				40.7			
	DIO	173.2 ±	$175.0 \pm$	193.6 ± 34.3	196.4 ±	180.4 ± 23.7	147.4 ±			
		33.2	27.3		18.1		20.3			
IL-10	DR	34.1 ± 3.3	39.5 ± 2.8	41.6 ± 2.9	41.5 ± 4.0	41.7 ± 2.9	41.1 ± 4.1	0.328	0.172	0.975
ng/g	DIO	34.6 ± 4.4	36.4 ± 2.7	41.2 ± 3.4	42.3 ± 4.5	39.3 ± 3.8	35.9 ± 2.9			
TNF-α	DR	$6251.8 \pm$	$7444.0 \pm$	7165.0 ±	$7871.8 \pm$	$6520.8 \pm$	$7453.9 \pm$	0.911	0.250	0.498
pg/g		540.9	660.9	523.9	781.7	4278.0	441.2			
	DIO	$6485.5 \pm$	$7039.8 \pm$	$7524.8 \pm$	$7713.2 \pm$	$7740.5 \pm$	$6427.2 \pm$			
		683.4	492.0	359.8	686.2	760.3	290.8			
Active	DR	$2696.4 \pm$	$3068.3 \pm$	$2808.5 \pm$	$2821.8 \pm$	$2835.0 \pm$	$2604.5 \pm$	0.215	0.443	0.845
TGF-β1		141.5	290.3	223.7	165.8	205.8	225.6			
pg/g	DIO	$2329.5 \pm$	2730.7 ±	$2629.2 \pm$	2916.3 ±	$2742.9 \pm$	$2639.5 \pm$			
		109.3	176.2	201.6	206.4	274.1	184.6			
Total	DR	3242.2 ±	3311.3 ±	3219.2 ±	3354.1 ±	3322.5 ±	3130.8 ±	0.383	0.562	0.848
TGF-β1		94.3	254.8	221.8	227.0	215.3	161.1			
pg/g	DIO	3114.6 ±	2921.3 ±	3217.8 ±	3560.1 ±	3122.4 ±	2951.6 ±			
		412.0	82.0	287.0	244.2	106.5	180.4			

 Table 3-35a continued.

* Concentrations are presented as mean \pm SEM, n = 10. Significance (P < 0.05) for phenotype, diet, and interaction between phenotype \times diet was determined by two-way ANOVA. Superscripted letters denote significant differences between diets within a phenotype, and symbols denote significant differences between overall diet or overall phenotype as determined by Tukey's multiple comparison test.

Measure	Phenotype	Concentration
CINC-1	DR	8.1 ± 0.4
ng/g	DIO	8.6 ± 0.5
CINC-2αβ	DR	23.0 ± 0.8
ng/g	DIO	23.2 ± 0.8
CINC-3	DR	8.9 ± 0.6
ng/g	DIO	9.4 ± 0.7
CRP	DR	64.6 ± 2.2
μg/g	DIO	67.7 ± 3.0
IFN-γ	DR	39.9 ± 2.4
ng/g	DIO	37.5 ± 2.1
IL-1β	DR	142.9 ± 6.1
ng/g	DIO	136.3 ± 5.4
IL-4	DR	63.2 ± 3.8
ng/g	DIO	60.3 ± 3.4
IL-6	DR	184.8 ± 11.5
pg/g	DIO	177.7 ± 10.7
IL-10	DR	39.9 ± 1.4
pg/g	DIO	38.3 ± 1.5
TNF-α	DR	7117.9 ± 236.7
pg/g	DIO	7155.2 ± 234.9
Active TGF-β1	DR	2805.8 ± 85.7
ng/mL	DIO	2664.7 ± 80.7
Total TGF-β1	DR	3262.0 ± 79.8
ng/mL	DIO	3148.0 ± 99.8
Protein Quantification by	DR	113.9 ± 2.7
Bradford Assay	DIO	108.7 ± 2.8
mg/g		

Table 3-35b. Liver cytokine/chemokine and CRP concentrations of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks, separated by phenotype.

* n = 60 for DR and DIO rats.

		Control	High Energy Diets				Statistics - P value			
Measure		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype
				Bran		Starch II				× Diet
CINC-1	DR	1461.1 ±	$1481.4 \pm$	$1221.0 \pm$	1523.2 ±	$1565.6 \pm$	$1412.9 \pm$	0.645	0.499	0.564
pg/g		183.1	201.3	85.8	106.2	152.2	73.0			
	DIO	$1311.3 \pm$	$1500.8 \pm$	$1341.1 \pm$	$1527.6 \pm$	$1260.9 \pm$	$1418.9 \pm$			
		104.2	101.7	61.2	130.1	104.1	119.3			
CINC-2αβ	DR	$1482.9 \pm$	1243.0 ±	1382.1 ±	1570.7 ±	$1404.0 \pm$	$1555.6 \pm$	0.833	0.953	0.381
pg/g		140.1	129.0	129.9	131.1	167.0	125.6			
	DIO	$1509.5 \pm$	$1591.2 \pm$	$1522.3 \pm$	$1371.0 \pm$	1340.1 ±	$1405.8 \pm$			
		189.6	126.2	148.3	87.0	142.0	124.9			
CINC-3	DR	293.3 ±	383.8 ±	271.4 ±	368.9 ± 46.2	265.2 ± 31.8	255.4 ± 24.7	0.181	0.458	0.311
pg/g		43.5	41.4α	25.6						
	DIO	$299.8 \pm$	277.2 ±	$242.2 \pm$	292.2 ± 27.9	289.5 ± 45.5	280.7 ± 33.3			
		35.4	58.9 ^β	22.4						
GM-CSF	DR	126.7 ±	134.8 ±	$102.2 \pm$	121.5 ±	$144.8 \pm$	$80.4 \pm$	0.479	0.017	0.371
pg/g		$44.5^{lphaeta}$	$28.4^{lphaeta}$	25.4 ^α	19.8 ^β	24.3 ^{αβ}	22.3 ^{αβ}			
	DIO	131.0 ±	76.7 ±	$48.7 \pm$	$178.8 \pm$	132.9 ±	$82.0 \pm$			
		$20.9^{ablphaeta}$	$20.7^{ablphaeta}$	13.0 ^{aα}	45.0 ^{bβ}	31.7 ^{abαβ}	25.4 ^{abαβ}			
IFN- γ pg/g	DR	$546.7 \pm$	452.7 ±	$555.0 \pm$	566.5 ±	406.2 ± 97.2	661.1 ±	0.643	0.688	0.552
		124.5	93.0	115.5	144.1		124.2			
	DIO	$\overline{608.0 \pm}$	604.2 ±	$738.2 \pm$	488.5 ±	489.4 ± 136.0	450.3 ±			
		116.8	117.8	121.4	106.2		110.6			
IL-1β	DR	60.1 ± 3.3	$5\overline{7.9 \pm 4.2}$	66.0 ± 5.8	62.7 ± 5.2	66.8 ± 3.9	61.8 ± 5.6	0.504	0.705	0.598
ng/g	DIO	$6\overline{9.9 \pm 6.8}$	$6\overline{8.8 \pm 8.7}$	$6\overline{6.9 \pm 7.7}$	64.4 ± 6.9	65.4 ± 5.4	$5\overline{3.6 \pm 5.0}$			

Table 3-36a. Spleen cytokine/chemokine concentrations of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks.

		Control	Itrol High Energy Diets				Stat	istics - P v	alue	
Measure		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype
				Bran		Starch II				× Diet
IL-4	DR	84.4 ± 36.8	169.7 ±	171.1 ±	185.1 ± 59.6	197.7 ± 56.9	117.1 ± 55.8	0.516	0.669	0.729
pg/g			62.2	47.0						
	DIO	152.6 ±	74.9 ± 37.9	$115.8 \pm$	141.6 ± 60.5	192.9 ± 65.6	126.0 ± 55.8			
		59.5		35.7						
IL-6	DR	1304.4 ±	$1181.5 \pm$	895.9 ±	$1082.1 \pm$	1333.0 ±	1121.6 ±	0.381	0.125	0.260
pg/g		614.7	288.9	304.2	373.3	313.9	263.1			
	DIO	$1074.0 \pm$	$726.5 \pm$	$782.6 \pm$	$2300.7 \pm$	$2494.4 \pm$	$944.8 \pm$			
		250.2	298.7	420.8	870.7	708.6	311.4			
IL-10	DR	578.7 ±	$652.7 \pm$	$577.4 \pm$	650.1 ± 88.5	574.4 ± 90.0	549.7 ± 80.9	0.447	0.798	0.838
pg/g		76.8	83.3	86.9						
	DIO	$643.0 \pm$	$544.9 \pm$	$461.0 \pm$	593.4 ± 78.6	563.2 ± 81.4	568.9 ± 65.9			
		81.9	71.2	53.6						
TNF-α	DR	236.2 ±	361.3 ±	312.5 ±	289.1 ± 74.1	300.4 ± 45.6	212.0 ± 51.0	0.254	0.868	0.209
pg/g		73.0	64.6	62.6						
	DIO	320.0 ±	207.1 ±	$158.7 \pm$	293.9 ± 39.7	244.9 ± 52.6	253.8 ± 63.9			
		69.0	58.2	34.0						
Active	DR	8.4 ± 1.4	6.9 ± 0.8	6.4 ± 0.8	7.5 ± 0.9	7.0 ± 1.0	7.4 ± 0.8	0.971	0.721	0.973
TGF-β1	DIO	8.5 ± 1.3	7.4 ± 0.9	6.7 ± 0.6	7.0 ± 1.0	7.0 ± 0.8	6.6 ± 0.5			
ng/g										
Total	DR	86.3 ± 10.6	78.4 ± 10.4	91.0 ± 9.6	92.4 ± 10.6	78.4 ± 8.9	81.0 ± 11.6	0.351	0.269	0.456
TGF-β1	DIO	96.0 ± 8.4	94.8 ± 10.9	111.5 ± 9.7	74.4 ± 7.3	76.48 ± 10.0	87.3 ± 12.5			
ng/g										

 Table 3-36a continued.

*Concentrations are presented as mean \pm SEM, n = 10. Significance (P < 0.05) for phenotype, diet, and interaction between phenotype \times diet was determined by two-way ANOVA. Superscripted letters denote significant differences between diets within a phenotype, and symbols denote significant differences between overall diet or overall phenotype as determined by Tukey's multiple comparison test.

Measure	Phenotype	Concentration
CINC-1	DR	1444.2 ± 57.3
pg/g	DIO	1393.4 ± 43.2
CINC-2αβ	DR	1439.7 ± 55.8
pg/g	DIO	1456.6 ± 55.8
CINC-3	DR	306.3 ± 15.7
pg/g	DIO	280.3 ± 15.5
GM-CSF	DR	118.4 ± 11.5
pg/g	DIO	108.4 ± 12.3
IFN-γ	DR	531.4 ± 47.2
ng/g	DIO	563.1 ± 48.0
IL-1β	DR	62.6 ± 1.9
ng/g	DIO	64.8 ± 2.8
IL-4	DR	154.2 ± 21.6
ng/g	DIO	134.0 ± 21.5
IL-6	DR	1153.1 ± 149.2
pg/g	DIO	1387.2 ± 227.6
IL-10	DR	597.2 ± 33.4
pg/g	DIO	562.4 ± 29.4
TNF-α	DR	285.3 ± 25.3
pg/g	DIO	246.4 ± 22.3
Active TGF-β1	DR	7.3 ± 0.4
ng/mL	DIO	7.2 ± 0.4
Total TGF-β1	DR	84.6 ± 4.1
ng/mL	DIO	90.1 ± 4.2
Protein Quantification by	DR	52.6 ± 1.5
Bradford Assay	DIO	56.2 ± 1.6
mg/g		

Table 3-36b. Spleen cytokine/chemokine concentrations of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks, separated by phenotype.

* n = 60 for DR and DIO rats.

		Control		Hi	Statistics - P value					
Measure		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype
				Bran		Starch II				× Diet
CINC-2αβ	DR	26.9 ± 7.4^{lpha}	33.1 ± 5.7	24.6 ± 4.8	37.2 ± 6.8	40.9 ± 5.3	35.8 ± 4.4	0.233	0.760	0.064
pg/g	DIO	$46.2\pm7.6^{\beta}$	38.2 ± 6.0	36.6 ± 3.0	29.4 ± 5.2	29.4 ± 4.1	41.6 ± 3.2			
CINC-3	DR	62.7 ± 10.3	$74.9 \pm 11.2^{\alpha}$	141.9 ± 86.8	43.7 ± 13.2	51.0 ± 11.5	45.0 ± 8.7	0.005	0.597	0.257
pg/g	DIO	50.3 ± 17.9	$31.1 \pm 1.4^{\beta}$	45.1 ± 8.7	43.0 ± 11.9	42.8 ± 7.7	32.7 ± 2.3			
GM-CSF	DR	28.0 ± 6.0	27.3 ± 5.1	26.3 ± 3.6	29.0 ± 4.9	23.8 ± 3.9	29.3 ± 5.6	0.401	0.685	0.887
pg/g	DIO	32.6 ± 8.3	25.1 ± 4.2	25.9 ± 6.3	23.2 ± 2.8	19.4 ± 0.6	23.0 ± 3.6			
sICAM-1	DR	32.5 ± 4.9	23.6 ± 4.0	32.1 ± 7.0	26.0 ± 6.2	14.3 ± 3.4	21.2 ± 5.4	0.621	0.099	0.582
/sCD54	DIO	23.9 ± 4.3	27.2 ± 6.9	27.3 ± 4.8	25.8 ± 4.7	21.8 ± 3.2	15.2 ± 3.2			
ng/g										
IFN- γ pg/g	DR	$1092.6 \pm$	$1623.5 \pm$	$849.5 \pm$	$2063.0 \pm$	1325.1 ±	$1205.6 \pm$	0.112	0.215	0.218
		299.9	418.4	273.1	308.9	311.8	236.8 ^α			
	DIO	$2023.5 \pm$	964.3 ±	$1134.6 \pm$	930.4 ±	$1177.1 \pm$	$532.6 \pm$			
		760.5	288.3	632.4	266.0	231.1	169.5 ^β			
IL-1β	DR	$1576.8 \pm$	$1858.9 \pm$	$1556.5 \pm$	1732.1 ±	$1965.2 \pm$	$1783.7 \pm$	0.318	0.602	0.072
pg/g		344.1	429.8	316.4	309.7	214.5 ^α	212.5			
	DIO	$2321.0 \pm$	$1621.8 \pm$	$1693.5 \pm$	$1329.5 \pm$	$1052.7 \pm$	$1523.5 \pm$			
		194.6ª	286.2 ^{ab}	138.6 ^{ab}	190.4 ^{ab}	193.5 ^{bβ}	221.8 ^{ab}			
IL-2	DR	173.6 ± 44.6	151.4 ± 21.4	149.0 ± 24.2	155.7 ± 11.8	180.5 ± 31.5	$208.0 \pm$	0.601	0.193	0.285
pg/g							36.7			
	DIO	$246.5 \pm$	176.9 ±	$178.9 \pm$	$156.6 \pm$	$117.7 \pm$	193.9 ±			
		21.9ª	28.8 ^{ab}	23.3 ^{ab}	18.8 ^{ab}	19.1 ^b	41.7 ^{ab}			

Table 3-37a. MLN cytokine/chemokine concentrations of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks.

		Control			Statistics - P value					
Measure		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype
				Bran		Starch II				× Diet
IL-4	DR	31.7 ± 8.8	47.7 ± 10.5	31.8 ± 9.1	33.3 ± 10.0	48.1 ± 3.4	33.0 ± 10.1	0.487	0.771	0.273
pg/g	DIO	48.5 ± 9.7	28.6 ± 11.0	27.6 ± 7.8	38.7 ± 8.2	29.5 ± 6.2	30.8 ± 9.6			
IL-6	DR	1796.1 ±	4714.4 ±	$1905.2 \pm$	$1508.2 \pm$	2137.3 ±	2710.3 ±	0.664	0.398	0.224
pg/g		386.7	2542.0	378.0	425.3	252.0	323.5			
	DIO	2345.4 ±	$1454.1 \pm$	$1748.6 \pm$	$1554.6 \pm$	$1248.5 \pm$	$2006.0 \pm$			
		477.5	376.1	81.7	197.9	131.6	270.9			
IL-10	DR	$26.3\pm4.0^{\alpha}$	34.2 ± 8.2	20.6 ± 1.7	32.0 ± 6.9	27.7 ± 3.0	23.5 ± 2.8	0.518	0.144	0.231
pg/g	DIO	50.7 ±	27.9 ± 6.6^{ab}	$22.3\pm2.8^{\rm b}$	28.6 ± 2.4^{ab}	22.5 ± 3.0^{ab}	28.6 ± 5.3^{ab}			
		10.8 ^{aβ}								
TNF-α	DR	137.7 ± 41.2	165.9 ± 41.7	199.8 ± 40.2	160.4 ± 41.1	103.9 ± 34.2	143.9 ±	0.092	0.508	0.529
pg/g							53.4			
	DIO	172.1 ± 71.8	140.7 ± 50.8	184.3 ± 45.2	90.5 ± 35.5	125.1 ± 43.1	111.8 ±			
							39.3			

 Table 3-37a continued.

* Concentrations are presented as mean \pm SEM, n = 5. Significance (P < 0.05) for phenotype, diet, and interaction between phenotype \times diet was determined by two-way ANOVA. Superscripted letters denote significant differences between diets within a phenotype, and symbols denote significant differences between overall diet or overall phenotype as determined by Tukey's multiple comparison test.

Measure*	Phenotype	Concentration
CINC-2αβ	DR	33.1 ± 2.4
pg/g	DIO	36.9 ± 2.2
CINC-3	DR	69.9 ± 15.1
pg/g	DIO	40.8 ± 3.9
GM-CSF	DR	27.3 ± 1.9
pg/g	DIO	24.9 ± 2.0
sICAM-1/sCD54	DR	24.9 ± 2.3
withng/g	DIO	23.5 ± 1.9
IFN-γ	DR	1359.9 ± 137.2
ng/g	DIO	1127.1 ± 187.0
IL-1β	DR	1745.6 ± 119.6
ng/g	DIO	1590.3 ± 106.0
IL-2	DR	169.7 ± 11.9
pg/g	DIO	178.4 ± 12.3
IL-4	DR	37.6 ± 3.6
ng/g	DIO	33.9 ± 3.6
IL-6	DR	2461.9 ± 450.5
pg/g	DIO	1726.2 ± 127.3
IL-10	DR	27.4 ± 2.1
pg/g	DIO	30.1 ± 2.8
TNF-α	DR	151.9 ± 16.7
pg/g	DIO	137.4 ± 19.2
Protein Quantification by	DR	NC
Bradford Assay ^{**}	DIO	NC
mg/g		

Table 3-37b. MLN cytokine/chemokine concentrations of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks, separated by phenotype.

* n = 30 for DR and DIO rats. ** Not completed (NC), as there was not enough tissue to perform the Bradford assay.

		Control	High Energy Diets					Statistics - P value		
Measure		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat Bran	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype
						Starch II				× Diet
CINC-2αβ	DR	23.0 ± 3.1^{lphaeta}	$16.0 \pm 2.5^{\alpha}$	15.8 ± 1.8^{lphaeta}	$29.8\pm11.0^{\beta}$	21.8 ± 4.0^{lphaeta}	$15.2 \pm 4.0^{\alpha}$	0.038	0.007	0.672
pg/g	DIO	22.2 ±	18.7 ± 3.4^{alpha}	$24.5\pm4.0^{ab\alpha\beta}$	$42.4\pm9.7^{b\beta}$	26.5 ±	$18.2 \pm$			
		5.6 ^{abαβ}				$2.0^{ablphaeta}$	$1.9^{ab\alpha}$			
CINC-3	DR	68.0 ± 47.0	32.3 ± 7.9	24.9 ± 2.3	32.9 ± 7.0	25.1 ± 1.3	24.0 ± 1.7	0.601	0.214	0.172
pg/g	DIO	19.8 ± 4.9	23.0 ± 3.3	22.9 ± 0.9	148.4 ± 94.3	26.5 ± 1.3	22.4 ± 2.5			
GM-CSF	DR	20.4 ± 3.9	16.9 ± 4.6	16.0 ± 1.6	19.3 ± 4.4	19.7 ± 4.9	22.9 ± 9.8	0.492	0.921	0.956
pg/g	DIO	21.3 ± 5.7	23.1 ± 6.8	18.9 ± 5.2	25.5 ± 5.5	17.3 ± 3.5	22.3 ± 5.9			
sICAM-1	DR	29.3 ± 7.2	24.4 ± 5.4	24.0 ± 5.0	28.7 ± 3.7	20.2 ± 2.4	18.6 ± 2.5	0.976	0.889	0.681
/sCD54	DIO	29.0 ± 8.4	21.0 ± 4.2	21.8 ± 5.6	26.5 ± 5.0	23.9 ± 3.4	32.4 ± 8.5			
ng/g										
IFN- γ pg/g	DR	321.5 ±	3016.7 ±	227.4 ± 72.8	$6589.0 \pm$	$205.3 \pm$	$236.5 \pm$	0.459	0.088	0.988
		113.1	2744.1		270.6	23.3	68.7			
	DIO	$1086.2 \pm$	$602.4 \pm$	207.8 ± 29.4	$2884.9 \pm$	$198.7 \pm$	401.3 ±			
		815.1	275.4		2037.4	28.8	215.0			
IL-1β	DR	$600.2 \pm$	$497.0 \pm$	609.6 ± 197.6	$1207.2 \pm$	727.9 ±	611.0 ±	0.929	0.545	0.417
pg/g		112.6	263.2		266.6	294.0	327.7			
	DIO	905.4 ±	$848.0~\pm$	$717.5 \pm 20\overline{6.1}$	$484.3 \pm 3\overline{3.3}$	390.6 ±	$480.3 \pm$			
		290.1	386.8			94.5	68.7			

Table 3-38a. Ileal PP cytokine/chemokine concentrations of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks.
Control				Statistics - P value						
Measure		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat Bran	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype
						Starch II				× Diet
IL-2	DR	84.3 ± 23.5	72.7 ± 32.2	69.8 ± 27.8	66.2 ± 18.2	74.7 ± 28.4	65.7 ± 28.7	0.390	0.928	0.886
pg/g	DIO	87.6 ± 24.2	92.9 ± 32.0	70.5 ± 32.3	124.0 ± 39.0	67.9 ± 24.0	75.2 ± 20.8			
IL-4	DR	13.4 ± 1.6	12.4 ± 2.0	13.1 ± 2.5	15.9 ± 2.4	13.9 ± 2.6	13.8 ± 2.1	0.400	0.565	0.753
pg/g	DIO	25.9 ± 15.6	11.3 ± 2.8	12.8 ± 2.0	24.1 ± 10.7	12.0 ± 1.3	13.5 ± 2.6			
IL-6	DR	418.8 ±	425.8 ±	515.1 ± 155.4	876.2 ±	$618.2 \pm$	$468.6 \pm$	0.676	0.105	0.105
pg/g		95.1	107.2		273.0	200.9	145.1			
	DIO	373.2 ±	623.3 ±	453.6 ± 114.1	859.8 ±	$407.1 \pm$	$462.0 \pm$			
		125.7	202.2		195.9	49.8	203.2			
IL-10	DR	12.4 ± 1.8	13.4 ± 1.1	12.5 ± 1.7	16.6 ± 1.8	18.8 ± 4.1	17.2 ± 2.9	0.151	0.496	0.446
pg/g	DIO	12.8 ± 2.1	10.7 ± 2.1	15.7 ± 1.9	13.4 ± 3.0	12.9 ± 2.8	13.7 ± 0.8			
TNF-α	DR	108.2 ± 4.7	131.7 ± 30.7	117.1 ± 17.4	126.6 ± 23.5	135.9 ±	139.2 ±	0.307	0.110	0.579
pg/g						31.4	40.5			
	DIO	148.6 ±	142.8 ± 43.9	127.5 ± 24.1	152.5 ± 27.0	127.4 ±	161.6 ±			
		26.5				22.2	36.4			

 Table 3-38a continued.

* Concentrations are presented as mean \pm SEM, n = 5. Significance (P < 0.05) for phenotype, diet, and interaction between phenotype \times diet was determined by two-way ANOVA. Superscripted letters denote significant differences between diets within a phenotype, and symbols denote significant differences between overall diet or overall phenotype as determined by Tukey's multiple comparison test.

Measure [*]	Phenotype	Concentration
CINC-2αβ	DR	20.3 ± 2.2
pg/g	DIO	25.4 ± 2.4
CINC-3	DR	34.5 ± 7.9
pg/g	DIO	43.9 ± 16.8
GM-CSF	DR	19.2 ± 2.1
pg/g	DIO	21.4 ± 2.1
sICAM-1/sCD54	DR	24.2 ± 1.9
ng/g	DIO	25.8 ± 2.4
IFN-γ	DR	777.7 ± 459.0
ng/g	DIO	896.9 ± 379.4
IL-1β	DR	708.8 ± 103.6
ng/g	DIO	637.7 ± 89.6
IL-2	DR	72.2 ± 10.0
pg/g	DIO	86.3 ± 11.5
IL-4	DR	13.8 ± 0.9
ng/g	DIO	16. ± 3.2
IL-6	DR	553.8 ± 70.9
pg/g	DIO	529.8 ± 66.7
IL-10	DR	15.2 ± 1.0
pg/g	DIO	13.2 ± 0.9
TNF-α	DR	126.4 ± 10.3
pg/g	DIO	$\overline{143.4\pm11.7}$
Protein Quantification by	DR	NC
Bradford Assay*	DIO	NC
mg/g		

Table 3-38b. Ileal PP cytokine/chemokine concentrations of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks, separated by phenotype.

* n = 30 for DR and DIO rats. ** Not completed (NC), as there was not enough tissue to perform the Bradford assay.

		Control		Statistics - P value						
Measure		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype
				Bran		Starch II				× Diet
CINC-1	DR	164.7 ±	$164.3 \pm$	201.5 ± 52.4	221.3 ± 52.1	215.1 ± 45.8	$105.6 \pm$	0.113	0.403	0.202
pg/g		35.0	21.5				31.9			
	DIO	222.6 ±	131.7 ±	68.0 ± 20.8	133.3 ± 20.4	164.4 ± 45.2	171.7 ±			
		62.1	35.1				56.8			
CINC-2	DR	$762.7 \pm$	$661.4 \pm$	$866.4 \pm$	$645.7 \pm$	$840.3 \pm$	$589.2 \pm$	0.260	0.449	0.194
pg/g		130.5	124.8	154.2α	150.5	127.4	139.2			
	DIO	$949.0 \pm$	$590.0 \pm$	$346.5 \pm$	573.0 ± 88.7	$644.5 \pm$	$697.8 \pm$			
		206.9ª	154.3	131.6 ^{cβ}		119.7	167.7			
CINC-3	DR	$255.7 \pm$	$277.9 \pm$	287.9 ± 77.8	289.4 ± 80.5	366.8 ± 87.5	$227.9 \pm$	0.274	0.554	0.434
pg/g		63.6	52.8				75.3			
	DIO	345.1 ±	$177.5 \pm$	91.8 ± 31.5	237.5 ± 43.4	227.7 ± 67.4	$287.7 \pm$			
		98.6	42.5				89.3			
IL-1β	DR	$570.5 \pm$	$665.3 \pm$	$697.2 \pm$	$740.7 \pm$	$733. \pm 96.2$	$582.8 \pm$	0.461	0.476	0.578
pg/g		93.4	127.4	100.0	141.7		126.2			
	DIO	$574.9 \pm$	$575.9 \pm$	$723.4 \pm$	$646.5 \pm$	$902.4 \pm$	$897.3 \pm$			
		137.5	150.7	155.9	138.0	125.2	135.3			
IL-6	DR	$726.9 \pm$	$673.6 \pm$	981.6 ±	$969.2 \pm$	$962.7 \pm$	$554.2 \pm$	0.434	0.888	0.150
pg/g		167.3	79.7	226.9	231.0	212.8	81.6			
	DIO	$1009.4 \pm$	$781.2 \pm$	$559.6 \pm$	666.5 ± 99.2	608.7 ± 92.1	$771.8 \pm$			
		203.6	143.2	117.5			271.8			
IL-10	DR	$632.6 \pm$	$650.3 \pm$	679.3 ± 85.7	837.1 ±	$978.3 \pm$	$613.8 \pm$	0.385	0.612	0.399
pg/g		120.9	120.7		182.0	149.9	131.5			
	DIO	791.5 ±	$655.7 \pm$	522.4 ± 95.8	$699.0 \pm$	$655.8 \pm$	$645.4 \pm$			
		72.7	110.8		123.0	148.6	159.7			

Table 3-39a. Epididymal fat cytokine/chemokine concentrations of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks.

This table is continued on the next page.

		Control		Н	igh Energy Die	ets		Stati	stics - P	value
Measure		AIN-93G	AIN-93G	Wheat	Oat Bran	Resistant	FOS	Phenotype	Diet	Phenotype
				Bran		Starch II				× Diet
TNF-α	DR	19.5 ±	19.5 ± 0.0	19.5 ± 0.0	19.5 ± 0.0	19.5 ± 0.0	29.8 ± 10.4	0.141	0.418	0.363
pg/g		0.0^{lpha}								
	DIO	40.2 ±	19.5 ± 0.0	34.9 ± 13.2	19.5 ± 0.0	21.5 ± 2.1	25.8 ± 6.4			
		14.5 ^β								
Active TGF-	DR	1176.7 ±	$1884.2 \pm$	$1095.0 \pm$	1308.6 ±	1330.0 ±	1397.9 ±	0.292	0.012	0.133
β1 pg/g		72.0 ^a	295.7 ^{bα}	97.9 ^{aβ}	86.4	114.6 ^β	151.0 ^{βγ}			
	DIO	$1374.8 \pm$	$1549.7 \pm$	1390.8 ±	1230.3 ±	$1101.1 \pm$	$1034.2 \pm$			
		162.5	133.0 ^α	163.4 ^β	106.1	97.7 ^β	$141.9^{\beta\delta}$			
Total TGF-β1	DR	2312.8 ±	$2806.3 \pm$	2030.6 ±	$2052.8 \pm$	2300.531 ±	2634.6 ±	0.262	0.026	0.830
pg/g		198.5	380.8 ^α	340.4 ^β	178.9 ^β	239.5	279.0			
	DIO	$2505.2 \pm$	$2578.2 \pm$	1966.0 ±	1911.4 ±	2090.9 ±	$2158.5 \pm$			
		146.0	245.8 ^α	179.0 ^β	185.5^{β}	187.2	165.0			

Table 3-39a continued.

* Concentrations are presented as mean \pm SEM, n = 10. Significance (P < 0.05) for phenotype, diet, and interaction between phenotype \times diet was determined by two-way ANOVA. Superscripted letters denote significant differences between diets within a phenotype, and symbols denote significant differences between overall diet or overall phenotype as determined by Tukey's multiple comparison test.

Measure*	Phenotype	Concentration
CINC-1	DR	178.7 ± 17.0
pg/g	DIO	148.6 ± 18.0
CINC-2	DR	727.6 ± 55.6
pg/g	DIO	633.5 ± 62.9
CINC-3	DR	284.2 ± 29.3
pg/g	DIO	227.9 ± 28.2
IL-1β	DR	665.0 ± 46.0
pg/g	DIO	720.1 ± 57.8
IL-6	DR	811.4 ± 73.1
pg/g	DIO	732.8 ± 68.1
IL-10	DR	731.9 ± 55.5
pg/g	DIO	661.6 ± 48.8
TNF-α	DR	21.2 ± 1.7
pg/g	DIO	26.9 ± 3.5
Active TGF-β1	DR	1365.4 ± 69.2
pg/mL	DIO	1280.2 ± 58.1
Total TGF-β1	DR	2356.3 ± 115.1
pg/mL	DIO	2201.7 ± 80.3
Protein Quantification	DR	7.0 ± 0.5
by Bradford Assay	DIO	7.1 ± 0.5
mg/g		

Table 3-39b. Epididymal fat cytokine/chemokine concentrations of DR and DIO rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks, separated by phenotype.

* n = 60 for DR and DIO rats.



Figure 3-1. Rat weight gain and food consumption during the two-week preliminary trial on the HE control diet. Significance (P < 0.05) for phenotype was determined by one-way ANOVA. **a**. Weight gained; rats in the upper 40% weight gain were considered DIO (n = 70), rats in the lower 40% weight gain were considered DR (n = 70), and rats in the middle were labelled as MID (n = 36). Phenotypes were significantly different from each other (P < 0.001) and bars with differing letters represent differences between phenotypes. **b**. Average amount of food consumed per day.



Figure 3-2. Serum leptin (pg/mL) and tissue leptin (pg/g) concentrations measured in rats from the preliminary trial. Statistical analyses were performed using unpaired *t*-tests (n = 3). * denotes a significant difference between DR and DIO rats in the distal colon (P < 0.001).



Figure 3-3. Weight gained after rats consumed AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks. Significance (P < 0.05) for phenotype, diet, and interaction between phenotype × diet was determined by two-way ANOVA. **a**. Weight gain separated by diet (n = 10), * denotes a significant difference between DR and DIO rats on a specific diet, and bars with differing letters represent significant differences between diets overall as determined by Tukey's multiple comparison test. **b**. Weight gain separated by phenotype only (n = 60). DIO rats had higher weight gain than DR rats (P < 0.001).



Figure 3-4. Average daily food consumption of AIN-93G modified diets over 11-12 weeks. Significance (P < 0.05) for phenotype, diet, and interaction between phenotype × diet was determined by two-way ANOVA. **a.** Food consumption separated by diet group (n = 10), * denotes a significant difference between phenotypes on specific diets, and bars with differing letters represent significant differences between diets overall as determined by Tukey's multiple comparison test. **b.** Food consumption separated by phenotype only (n = 60). DIO rats consumed more food than DR rats (P < 0.001).



Figure 3-5. Serum glucagon concentrations measured in rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks. Significance (P < 0.05) for phenotype, diet, and interaction between phenotype × diet was determined by two-way ANOVA. **a**. Serum glucagon concentrations separated by diet group (n = 5), Bars with differing letters represent significant differences between diets overall as determined by Tukey's multiple comparison test. **b**. Serum glucagon concentrations separated by phenotype (n = 30).

Phenotype

Phenotype



Figure 3-6. Serum insulin concentrations measured in rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks. Significance (P < 0.05) for phenotype, diet, and interaction between phenotype × diet was determined by two-way ANOVA. **a**. Insulin concentrations separated by diet group (n = 5), * denotes a significant difference between DR and DIO rats on the HE oat bran diet (P = 0.032). **b**. Insulin concentrations separated by phenotype (n = 30). DIO rats displayed higher serum insulin concentrations than DR rats (P = 0.013).





Figure 3-7. Serum leptin concentrations measured in rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks. Significance (P < 0.05) for phenotype, diet, and interaction between phenotype × diet was determined by two-way ANOVA. **a**. Leptin concentration separated by diet group (n = 5), * denotes a significant difference between DR and DIO rats on the control diet (P = 0.004). **b**. Leptin concentrations separated by phenotype (n = 30), DIO rats displayed higher serum leptin concentrations than DR rats (P = 0.034).



Figure 3-8. Serum adiponectin concentrations measured in rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks. Significance (P < 0.05) for phenotype, diet, and interaction between phenotype × diet was determined by two-way ANOVA. **a**. Adiponectin concentrations separated by diet group (n = 10). **b**. Adiponectin concentrations separated by henotype only (n = 60).





Figure 3-9. Epididymal fat adiponectin concentrations measured in rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks. Significance (P < 0.05) for phenotype, diet, and interaction between phenotype × diet was determined by two-way ANOVA. **a**. Adiponectin concentrations separated by diet group (n = 10). **b**. Adiponectin concentrations separated by phenotype (n = 60).



Figure 3-10. Distal colon leptin concentrations measured in rats after consuming AIN-93G modified diets for 11-12 weeks. Significance (P < 0.05) for phenotype, diet, and interaction between phenotype × diet was determined by two-way ANOVA. **a**. Leptin concentrations separated by diet group (n = 6). Bars with differing letters represent significant differences between diets overall as determined by Tukey's multiple comparison test. **b**. Leptin concentrations separated by phenotype only (n = 36).

Conclusions

In summation of these three distinct studies, the main goal of this research project was to understand the impact of diet on immunity in realistic settings. Human subjects, bovine and rat models were used to investigate the influence of dietary interventions on the immune system. Although these were diverse models, the findings demonstrated that dietary components do influence immune activity to an extent.

In the first study, Holstein dairy cattle were utilized as model to investigate how altering the feeding regime with omega-3 fatty acid supplementation and altering the environment between separate feed management systems affects the immune system. Holstein cattle are an outbred population, they are considered to be genetically diverse, and are a breed of cattle that are ranched in Canada using both traditional and industrial farming practices. The results of this study have shown that supplementation with omega-3 fatty acids in dairy cattle, especially in the form of microalgae, improved responses to immunization with KLH. However, the strongest influence on the immune response was the feed management system, which suggests cattle respond to immunization more efficiently in a pasture grazing environment than when confined in barn tie stalls. It is possible that cattle freely grazing pasture may have encountered different PPR ligands such as bacterial or fungal components which could have bolstered the immune response, or that cattle confined in the barn may have been exposed to stressors which contributed to suppressed immunization responses.

In future bovine studies investigating immunization responses during alterations to feed management systems or dietary supplements, it will be important to consider sampling time points, the types of samples that will be collected, and the use of a vaccine relevant to a cattle population. Small volume blood draws to sample antibody production should be collected more frequently (every one to two days) so that the kinetics in the time to respond to immunization may be studied. It is unknown in the current trial if dietary omega-3 supplements or feed management systems affected the rate of Ig production based on the chosen sampling points, and this information would be useful to determine the impact on timing of a maximal response. To further investigate mucosal responses to immunization, other mucosal secretions besides milk should be collected for Ig analysis, such as nasal or salivary secretions or faecal samples. It will also be meaningful to determine if feed management systems and omega-3 dietary supplements influence immunization responses in cattle to infectious agents. Immunization with the bovine vaccine J-VAC® (Merial Canada Inc., Baie d'Urfé, Québec, Canada), which confers protection against *E. coli* mastitis and endotoxemia caused by *E. coli* and *S. typhimurium*, could be a relevant strategy to study antibody production in this context.

Human subjects were utilized in the second study to investigate how supplementing regular daily diets of healthy adults with β 2-1 fructans influences the immune system. In this experiment, there were no controls on environmental factors, and the subjects would have been genetically diverse. β 2-1 fructans have been widely claimed as beneficial to the health of those who consume them. Results of this human clinical trial suggested that immune activity had been impacted at a systemic level in healthy people, while consuming ordinary diets supplemented with β 2-1 fructans. These findings of increased serum IL-4, GM-CSF and LPS concentrations, decreased serum IL-10 concentrations, increased circulating percentages of CD282⁺/TLR2⁺ mDC and increased *ex vivo* responsiveness to TLR2 ligand stimulation do not necessarily reflect a benefit to the immune system in healthy individuals. For example, increases in IL-4 could offer potential enhancement in

response to immunization, however decreases in regulatory cytokine IL-10 could be detrimental while fighting an infection. Alterations in immune activity are context dependent, and although some disease-states may benefit from alterations in circulating cytokines and immune cell populations, others may not. Other researchers involved in the trial investigated gut community structure and determined that β 2-1 fructan supplementation increased faecal Bifidobacteria, however this change was not related to any of the measured immunological parameters.

Human diet intervention studies are very useful; however, they do have limitations. Participant compliance is extremely important for the validity of the results. In this trial, participant compliance rates were high, as the placebo phase compliance was 97.6 % and the β 2-1 fructan phase compliance was 99.9 %. However, compliance rates were determined based on the amount of returned unopened supplement sachets. In a study conducted by Lomax et al. (2012), compliance rates were calculated on the total amount of returned supplement sachets, including both consumed and unconsumed. This may be a more effective way to measure compliance and to deter dishonesty. It may also be useful to control for BMI, as the average BMI in the current trial was 24.2 kg/m², and several participants would have been considered to be over-weight. It could be important to ask participants about social habits during pre-screenings, as cigarette smoking has been shown to influence TLR2 and TLR4 expression on monocytes (Versteeg et al., 2009), and binge drinking has been shown to increase serum and bacterial DNA levels in healthy subjects (Bala et al., 2014). Future studies could include a routine flu vaccination strategy to examine impacts of dietary interventions on response to vaccination, as a previous study investigating β 2-1 fructan supplementation found alterations in responsiveness (Lomax et

al., 2015). Additionally, it may be important to examine male and female subjects separately, as this trial demonstrated that healthy subjects did differ between immune cell markers and cytokines when separated by sex.

For the final study, a rat model was used to investigate the impact of supplementing a HE diet with DFM on immune activity and obesity-related biomarkers. Sprague Dawley rats, an outbred and genetically diverse strain with a history of experimental use in medical and metabolic studies, were utilized and selected for obese or non-obese phenotypes based on their genetic propensity to put on weight in a controlled environmental setting. After the development of an obese state in rats over a two-week period on a HE diet, interventions with DFM were not able to ameliorate obesity, and the obese and non-obese phenotypes remained distinct in not only their body weight, but also in their relative levels of systemic and local inflammation. The DFM-supplemented HE diets were not capable of influencing immune activity to counter the deleterious effect of the high fat diet.

Several results of this obese-rat study were surprising, including the fact that DFM did not appear to decrease inflammation in DIO rats and the histological analysis of gut tissue did not reveal differences between diets in DIO rats. Other studies in mouse models have previously demonstrated that high-fiber diets and SCFA production have decreased allergic inflammation in the lung (Trompette *et al.*, 2014), suppressed allergic airway disease through enhancing the function of T_{reg} cells (Thorburn *et al.*, 2015), and enhanced oral tolerance while contributing to protection from food allergy (Tan *et al.*, 2016). It was anticipated that the increase in SCFA production through fermentation of the selected DFM used in this current trial would have led to dampening down of inflammatory mediators in the obese rats, and that there would be distinct differences in proinflammatory biomarkers,

and the extent to which they were affected by DFM, between obese and non-obese rats. The ceca of rats on the highly fermented diets, HE RS and HE FOS, were distinguishable from ceca collected from rats on other diets due to their shriveled, stretched or distended appearance. However, histological analysis using haemotoxylin and eosin staining of gut tissue above and below anatomical location of the caecum did not reveal differences in tissue level inflammation between any of the HE diets compared the control. Perhaps in future HE DFM supplemented diet studies in rat models, alternate staining with agents such as methyl green or methylene blue (Lee's Stain) could be used to examine differences during histological analysis of tissues, or immunohistochemistry approaches specific for lymphocyte subsets (Ward *et al.*, 2006) or macrophage M1 and M2 markers could be implemented to interrogate effects of diet at the tissue level.

It was also unexpected that there were not more pronounced differences in obesityassociated biomarkers between DR and DIO rats. Based on results collected from the human β 2-1fructan trial, it was predicted that the rats on the HE FOS diet would have had higher levels of inflammation in comparison to the control diets. Healthy Sprague Dawley rats have been previously shown to adapt to high fat and high fructose diets after a threemonth intervention period (Stark *et al.*, 2000). These rats did not develop the classical signs of insulin resistance or impaired glucose tolerance during the dietary intervention period (Stark *et al.*, 2000), an effect that was also noted in the current study. To combat this resistance to metabolic dysfunction, the Wistar rat breed could be used as model since the effects caused by a HE diet appear to be more pronounced and these rats will display worsened features of metabolic syndrome (Marques *et al.*, 2016), thought to be associated with differences in gut bacterial community structure between the two breeds. However, using Wistar rats would not allow for the direct comparison between obese-resistant and obese animals, and Sprague Dawley rats have been repeatedly used as an effective model to investigate two distinct phenotypes while on the same diet (Levin *et al.*, 1997, Aziz *et al.*, 2009, Barbier de la Serre *et al.*, 2010).

The most sensitive measures of the influence of HE diet and the DIO phenotype on immune activity in this rat model were CINC- $2\alpha\beta$ and TGF- β 1, as this proinflammatory chemokine and regulatory cytokine were most frequently associated with differences between diet groups or phenotypes. It was unfortunate that the M1 and M2 macrophage immunofluorescent cell markers utilized in this study were not suitable with our flow cytometry application. Although efforts were made to examine cytokine profiles of M1 and M2 macrophages, distinctive alterations were not found between phenotype or diet groups. It would have been very interesting to determine if the DFM supplemented in the HE diet influenced the M1/M2 macrophage phenotype in DIO rats. It is possible rat-specific flow cytometry antibodies for M1 and M2 macrophages may have increased in availability since this rat trial took place, increasing the likelihood for successful flow cytometry measurements. An alternate approach would be to use real-time polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) to investigate the relative levels of gene expression associated with these macrophage phenotypes (Martinez and Gordon, 2014); this would be an interesting avenue to explore in future studies.

To further interrogate a possible mechanism for differences between phenotypes in the onset of obesity and links with inflammation, other variables could be measured. Animal gene knockout models may be beneficial in determining molecular mechanisms of obesity development, as studies in mice have shown that animals lacking TLR4 have protection from obesity-associated inflammation and insulin resistance (Jia *et al.* 2014). The reason DIO rats gained more weight throughout this current trial was due to their increased daily food consumption. It is possible that differences in metabolism may have been linked to adipokine production, as DIO rats produced higher concentrations of leptin than DR rats throughout the trial. The peptide hormone ghrelin is involved in controlling hunger and could be influenced by leptin, and it would be interesting to measure potential fluctuations of this hormone in DR and DIO rats. In this study, I was unable to determine whether inflammation proceeded obesity since there were no measures to assess the level of inflammation before the introduction of the HE diet in the preliminary phase of the trial. For future studies, it will be important to perform a small volume blood draw following the acclimatization period and prior to starting dietary interventions to assess whether inflammation precedes obesity, occurs alongside obesity, or if it is an outcome caused by obesity in this rat model.

In conclusion, this research investigated the impact of diet on immunity in realistic settings and determined that immune activity is affected by dietary interventions of omega-3 fatty acids, β 2-1 fructans, and HE diets supplemented with various DFM. However, the outcomes of the impact of diet on immune activity may differ in intensity due to environmental factors, exercise and lifestyle, health status, genetic background or obesity, reflecting the complex interactions involved.

References

Abnous, K., Brooks, S.P., Kwan, J., Matias, F., Green-Johnson, J., Selinger, L.B., Thomas, M. and Kalmokoff, M. (2009). Diets enriched in oat bran or wheat bran temporally and differentially alter the composition of the fecal community of rats. *The Journal of Nutrition* 139, 2024-2031.

Abreu, M.T. (2010). Toll-like receptor signalling in the intestinal epithelium: how bacterial recognition shapes intestinal function. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 10, 131-144.

Abughazaleh, A.A., Potu, R.B. and Ibrahim, S. (2009). Short communication: The effect of substituting fish oil in dairy cow diets with docosahexaenoic acid-micro algae on milk composition and fatty acids profile. *Journal of Dairy Science* 92, 6156-6159.

Albers, R., Antoine, J.M., Bourdet-Sicard, R., Calder, P.C., Gleeson, M., Lesourd, B., Samartin, S., Sanderson, I.R., Van Loo, J., Vas Dias, F.W. and Watzl, B. (2005). Markers to measure immunomodulation in human nutrition intervention studies. *The British Journal of Nutrition* 94, 452-481.

Aldebert, D., Lamkhioued, B., Desaint, C., Gounni, A.S., Goldman, M., Capron, A., Prin, L. and Capron, M. (1996). Eosinophils express a functional receptor for interferon alpha: inhibitory role of interferon alpha on the release of mediators. *Blood* 87, 2354-2360.

Alford, B.B., Blankenship, A.C. and Hagen, R.D. (1990). The effects of variations in carbohydrate, protein, and fat content of the diet upon weight loss, blood values, and nutrient intake of adult obese women. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 90, 534-540.

Allen, V.G., Pond, K.R., Saker, K.E., Fontenot, J.P., Bagley, C.P., Ivy, R.L., Evans, R.R., Brown, C.P., Miller, M.F., Montgomery, J.L., Dettle, T.M. and Wester, D.B. (2001). Tasco-Forage: III. Influence of a seaweed extract on performance, monocyte immune cell response, and carcass characteristics in feedlot-finished steers. *Journal of Animal Science* 79, 1032-1040.

Andersson, K.E., Immerstrand, T., Sward, K., Bergenstahl, B., Lindholm, M.W., Oste, R. and Hellstrand, P. (2010). Effects of oats on plasma cholesterol and lipoproteins in C57BL/6 mice are substrain specific. *The British Journal of Nutrition* 103, 513-521.

Annes, J.P., Munger, J.S. and Rifkin, D.B. (2003). Making sense of latent TGFbeta activation. *Journal of Cell Science* 116, 217-224.

Arend, W.P. and Gabay, C. (2000). Physiologic role of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. *Arthritis Research* 2, 245-248.

Armbruster, D.A., Tillman, M.D. and Hubbs, L.M. (1994). Limit of detection (LOD)/limit of quantitation (LOQ): comparison of the empirical and the statistical methods exemplified with GC-MS assays of abused drugs. *Clinical Chemistry* 40, 1233-1238.

Aroor, A.R., McKarns, S., Demarco, V.G., Jia, G. and Sowers, J.R. (2013). Maladaptive immune and inflammatory pathways lead to cardiovascular insulin resistance. Metabolism: *Clinical and Experimental* 62, 1543-1552.

Artis, D. (2008). Epithelial-cell recognition of commensal bacteria and maintenance of immune homeostasis in the gut. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 8, 411-420.

Asai, K., Hiki, N., Mimura, Y., Ogawa, T., Unou, K. and Kaminishi, M. (2001). Gender differences in cytokine secretion by human peripheral blood mononuclear cells: role of estrogen in modulating LPS-induced cytokine secretion in an *ex vivo* septic model. *Shock* 16, 340-343.

Aziz, A.A., Kenney, L.S., Goulet, B. and Abdel-Aal el, S. (2009). Dietary starch type affects body weight and glycemic control in freely fed but not energy-restricted obese rats. *The Journal of Nutrition* 139, 1881-1889.

Bakker-Zierikzee, A.M., Tol, E.A., Kroes, H., Alles, M.S., Kok, F.J., and Bindels, J.G. (2006). Faecal SIgA secretion in infants fed on pre- or probiotic infant formula. *Pediatric Allergy and Immunology* 17, 134-140.

Bala, S., Marcos, M., Gattu, A., Catalano, D. and Szabo, G. (2014). Acute binge drinking increases serum endotoxin and bacterial DNA levels in healthy individuals. *PloS One* 9, e96864.

Ballou, M.A. and DePeters, E.J. (2008). Supplementing milk replacer with omega-3 fatty acids from fish oil on immunocompetence and health of Jersey calves. *Journal of Dairy Science* 91, 3488-3500.

Balmer, M.L., Schurch, C.M., Saito, Y., Geuking, M.B., Li, H., Cuenca, M., Kovtonyuk, L.V., McCoy, K.D., Hapfelmeier, S., Ochsenbein, A.F., Manz, M.G., Slack, E. and Macpherson, AJ. (2014). Microbiota-derived compounds drive steady-state granulopoiesis via MyD88/TICAM signaling. *Journal of Immunology* 193, 5273-5283.

Barbarroja, N., Lopez-Pedrera, R., Mayas, M.D., Garcia-Fuentes, E., Garrido-Sanchez, L., Macias-Gonzalez, M., El Bekay, R., Vidal-Puig, A., and Tinahones, F.J. (2010). The obese healthy paradox: is inflammation the answer? *The Biochemical Journal* 430, 141-149.

Barbier de La Serre, C.B., Ellis, C.L., Lee, J., Hartman, A.L., Rutledge, J.C. and Raybould, H.E. (2010). Propensity to high-fat diet-induced obesity in rats is associated with changes in the gut microbiota and gut inflammation. *American Journal of Physiology, Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology* 299, G440-448.

Bargo, F., Muller, L.D., Delahoy, J.E. and Cassidy, T.W. (2002). Performance of high producing dairy cows with three different feeding systems combining pasture and total mixed rations. *Journal of Dairy Science* 85, 2948-2963.

Barnes, T.M., Otero, Y.F., Elliott, A.D., Locke, A.D., Malabanan, C.M., Coldren, A.G., Brissova, M., Piston, D.W. and McGuinness, O.P. (2014). Interleukin-6 amplifies glucagon secretion: coordinated control via the brain and pancreas. *American Journal of Physiology, Endocrinology and Metabolism* 307, E896-905.

Barreiro, L.B., Ben-Ali, M., Quach, H., Laval, G., Patin, E., Pickrell, J.K., Bouchier, C., Tichit, M., Neyrolles, O., Gicquel, B., Kidd, J.R., Kidd, K.K., Alcais, A., Ragimbeau, J., Pellegrini, S., Abel, L., Casanova, J.L. and Quintana-Murci, L. (2009). Evolutionary dynamics of human Toll-like receptors and their different contributions to host defense. *PLoS Genetics* 5, e1000562.

Batra, A., Pietsch, J., Fedke, I., Glauben, R., Okur, B., Stroh, T., Zeitz, M., and Siegmund, B. (2007). Leptin-dependent toll-like receptor expression and responsiveness in preadipocytes and adipocytes. *The American Journal of Pathology* 170, 1931-1941.

Baumgarth, N., Tung, J.W. and Herzenberg, L.A. (2005). Inherent specificities in natural antibodies: a key to immune defense against pathogen invasion. *Springer Seminars in Immunopathology* 26, 347-362.

Becker, Y. (2006). Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) evades the human adaptive immune system by skewing the Th1/Th2 cytokine balance toward increased levels of Th2 cytokines and IgE, markers of allergy--a review. *Virus Genes* 33, 235-252.

Bekiaris, V., Persson, E.K. and Agace, W.W. (2014). Intestinal dendritic cells in the regulation of mucosal immunity. *Immunological Reviews* 260, 86-101.

Bermudez-Brito, M., Rosch, C., Schols, H.A., Faas, M.M. and de Vos, P. (2015). Resistant starches differentially stimulate Toll-like receptors and attenuate proinflammatory cytokines in dendritic cells by modulation of intestinal epithelial cells. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research* 59, 1814-1826.

Bischoff, S.C., Barbara, G., Buurman, W., Ockhuizen, T., Schulzke, J.D., Serino, M., Tilg, H., Watson, A. and Wells, J.M. (2014). Intestinal permeability--a new target for disease prevention and therapy. *BMC Gastroenterology* 14, 189.

Biswas, S.K. and Mantovani, A. (2010). Macrophage plasticity and interaction with lymphocyte subsets: cancer as a paradigm. *Nature Immunology* 11, 889-896.

Bleau, C., Karelis, A.D., St-Pierre, D.H. and Lamontagne, L. (2015). Crosstalk between intestinal microbiota, adipose tissue and skeletal muscle as an early event in systemic low-grade inflammation and the development of obesity and diabetes. *Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews* 31, 545-561.

Bokarewa, M., Nagaev, I., Dahlberg, L., Smith, U. and Tarkowski, A. (2005). Resistin, an adipokine with potent proinflammatory properties. *Journal of Immunology* 174, 5789-5795.

Bomba, A., Nemcova, R., Gancarcikova, S., Herich, R., Guba, P. and Mudronova, D. (2002). Improvement of the probiotic effect of micro-organisms by their combination with maltodextrins, fructo-oligosaccharides and polyunsaturated fatty acids. *The British Journal of Nutrition* 88 Suppl 1, S95-99.

Boonloh, K., Kukongviriyapan, V., Kongyingyoes, B., Kukongviriyapan, U., Thawornchinsombut, S. and Pannangpetch, P. (2015). Rice bran protein hydrolysates improve insulin resistance and decrease pro-inflammatory cytokine gene expression in rats fed a high carbohydrate-high fat diet. *Nutrients* 7, 6313-6329.

Borish, L. (1998). IL-10: evolving concepts. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 101, 293-297.

Bouhnik, Y., Raskine, L., Simoneau, G., Paineau, D. and Bornet, F. (2006). The capacity of short-chain fructo-oligosaccharides to stimulate faecal bifidobacteria: a dose-response relationship study in healthy humans. *Nutrition Journal 5*, 8.

Bovee-Oudenhoven, I.M., Ten Bruggencate, S.J., Lettink-Wissink, M.L. and van der Meer, R. (2003). Dietary fructo-oligosaccharides and lactulose inhibit intestinal colonisation but stimulate translocation of salmonella in rats. *Gut* 52, 1572-1578.

Bradley, J.R. (2008). TNF-mediated inflammatory disease. *The Journal of Pathology* 214, 149-160.

Brandao, I., Hormann, N., Jackel, S. and Reinhardt, C. (2015). TLR5 expression in the small intestine depends on the adaptors MyD88 and TRIF, but is independent of the enteric microbiota. *Gut Microbes* 6, 202-206.

Bradley, J.R. (2008). TNF-mediated inflammatory disease. *The Journal of Pathology* 214, 149-160.

Brownawell, A.M., Caers, W., Gibson, G.R., Kendall, C.W., Lewis, K.D., Ringel, Y. and Slavin, J.L. (2012). Prebiotics and the health benefits of fiber: current regulatory status, future research, and goals. *The Journal of Nutrition* 142, 962-974.

Burgos-Ramos, E., Canelles, S., Perianes-Cachero, A., Arilla-Ferreiro, E., Argente, J. and Barrios, V. (2012). Adipose tissue promotes a serum cytokine profile related to lower insulin sensitivity after chronic central leptin infusion. *PloS One* 7, e46893.

Butler, J.E., Winter, A.J. and Wagner, G.G. (1971). Symposium: bovine immune system. *Journal of Dairy Science* 54, 1309-1314.

Calder, P.C. (1998). Dietary fatty acids and the immune system. *Nutrition Reviews* 56, S70-83.

Cani, P.D., Amar, J., Iglesias, M.A., Poggi, M., Knauf, C., Bastelica, D., Neyrinck, A.M., Fava, F., Tuohy, K.M., Chabo, C., Waget, A., Delmée, E., Cousin, B., Sulpice, T. Chamontin, B., Ferrières, J., Tanti, J.F., Gibson, G.R., Casteilla, L., Delzenne, N.M., Alessi, M.C. and Burcelin, R. (2007). Metabolic endotoxemia initiates obesity and insulin resistance. *Diabetes* 56, 1761-1772.

Cani, P.D., Bibiloni, R., Knauf, C., Waget, A., Neyrinck, A.M., Delzenne, N.M. and Burcelin, R. (2008). Changes in gut microbiota control metabolic endotoxemia-induced inflammation in high-fat diet-induced obesity and diabetes in mice. *Diabetes* 57, 1470-1481.

Cao, X. (2016). Self-regulation and cross-regulation of pattern-recognition receptor signalling in health and disease. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 16, 35-50.

Capron, M. (1996). Eosinophils express a functional receptor for interferon alpha: inhibitory role of interferon alpha on the release of mediators. *Blood* 87, 2354-2360.

Caroprese, M., Marzano, A., Entrican, G., Wattegedera, S., Albenzio, M. and Sevi, A. (2009). Immune response of cows fed polyunsaturated fatty acids under high ambient temperatures. *Journal of Dairy Science* 92, 2796-2803.

Cassidy, J.T., Nordby, G.L. and Dodge, H.J. (1974). Biologic variation of human serum immunoglobulin concentrations: sex-age specific effects. *Journal of Chronic Diseases* 27, 507-516.

Causey J.L., Feirtag J.M., Gallaher D.D., Tungland B.C. and Slavin J.L. 2000. Effects of dietary inulin on serum lipids, blood glucose and the gastrointestinal environment in hypercholesterolemic men. *Nutrition Research* 20:191–201.

Caux, C., Dezutter-Dambuyant, C., Schmitt, D. and Banchereau, J. (1992). GM-CSF and TNF-alpha cooperate in the generation of dendritic Langerhans cells. *Nature* 360, 258-261.

Chen, Q., Swist, E., Beckstead, J., Green, J., Matias, F., Roberts, J., Qiao, C., Raju, J., Brooks, S.P. and Scoggan, K.A. (2011). Dietary fructooligosaccharides and wheat bran elicit specific and dose-dependent gene expression profiles in the proximal colon epithelia of healthy Fischer 344 rats. *The Journal of Nutrition* 141, 790-797.

Cheng, X., Folco, E.J., Shimizu, K. and Libby, P. (2012). Adiponectin induces proinflammatory programs in human macrophages and CD4⁺ T cells. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 287, 36896-36904. Clara, R., Schumacher, M., Ramachandran, D., Fedele, S., Krieger, J.P., Langhans, W. and Mansouri, A. (2017). Metabolic adaptation of the small intestine to short- and medium-term high-fat diet exposure. *Journal of Cellular Physiology* 232, 167-175.

Clarke, S.T., Green-Johnson, J.M., Brooks, S.P., Ramdath, D.D., Bercik, P., Avila, C., Inglis, G.D., Green, J., Yanke, L.J., Selinger, L.B. and Kalmokoff, M. (2016). β 2-1 Fructan supplementation alters host immune responses in a manner consistent with increased exposure to microbial components: results from a double-blinded, randomised, cross-over study in healthy adults. *The British Journal of Nutrition* 115, 1748-1759.

Clarke, T.B., Davis, K.M., Lysenko, E.S., Zhou, A.Y., Yu, Y. and Weiser, J.N. (2010). Recognition of peptidoglycan from the microbiota by Nod1 enhances systemic innate immunity. *Nature Medicine* 16, 228-231.

Corbeil, L.B., Watt, B., Corbeil, R.R., Betzen, T.G., Brownson, R.K. and Morrill, J.L. (1984). Immunoglobulin concentrations in serum and nasal secretions of calves at the onset of pneumonia. *American Journal of Vetrinary Research* 45(4), 773-778.

Crittenden, R.G., Martinez, N.R. and Playne, M.J. (2003). Synthesis and utilisation of folate by yoghurt starter cultures and probiotic bacteria. *International Journal of Food Microbiology* 80, 217-222.

Cummings, J.H., Beatty, E.R., Kingman, S.M., Bingham, S.A. and Englyst, H.N. (1996). Digestion and physiological properties of resistant starch in the human large bowel. *The British Journal of Nutrition* 75, 733-747.

Dahl, W.J., Whiting, S.J., Isaac, T.M., Weeks, S.J. and Arnold, C.J. (2005). Effects of thickened beverages fortified with inulin on beverage acceptance, gastrointestinal function, and bone resorption in institutionalized adults. *Nutrition* 21, 308-311.

Darzi, J., Frost, G.S., Swann, J.R., Costabile, A. and Robertson, M.D. (2016). L-rhamnose as a source of colonic propionate inhibits insulin secretion but does not influence measures of appetite or food intake. *Appetite* 98, 142-149.

Dehghan, P., Gargari, B.P., Jafar-Abadi, M.A. and Aliasgharzadeh, A. (2014). Inulin controls inflammation and metabolic endotoxemia in women with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a randomized-controlled clinical trial. *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition* 65, 117-123.

Delerive, P., De Bosscher, K., Besnard, S., Vanden Berghe, W., Peters, J.M., Gonzalez, F.J., Fruchart, J.C., Tedgui, A., Haegeman, G. and Staels, B. (1999). Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha negatively regulates the vascular inflammatory gene response by negative cross-talk with transcription factors NF-κB and AP-1. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 274, 32048-32054.

Della Bella, S., Giannelli, S., Taddeo, A., Presicce, P. and Villa, M.L. (2008). Application of six-color flow cytometry for the assessment of Dendritic cell responses in whole blood assays. *Journal of Immunological Methods* 339, 153-164.

Demetri, G.D. and Griffin, J.D. (1991). Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor and its receptor. *Blood* 78, 2791-2808.

Dickson, B.C., Streutker, C.J. and Chetty, R. (2006). Coeliac disease: an update for pathologists. *Journal of Clinical Pathology* 59, 1008-1016.

Dinarello, C.A. (1989). Interleukin-1 and its biologically related cytokines. *Advances in Immunology* 44, 153-205.

Dong, Z.X., Su, L., Brymora, J., Bird, C., Xie, Q., George, J. and Wang, J.H. (2013). Resistin mediates the hepatic stellate cell phenotype. *World Journal of Gastroenterology* 19, 4475-4485.

Dossus, L., Becker, S., Achaintre, D., Kaaks, R. and Rinaldi, S. (2009). Validity of multiplex-based assays for cytokine measurements in serum and plasma from "non-diseased" subjects: comparison with ELISA. *Journal of Immunological Methods* 350, 125-132.

Drzikova, B., Dongowski, G. and Gebhardt, E. (2005). Dietary fibre-rich oat-based products affect serum lipids, microbiota, formation of short-chain fatty acids and steroids in rats. *The British Journal of Nutrition* 94, 1012-1025.

Dufour, J.H., Dziejman, M., Liu, M.T., Leung, J.H., Lane, T.E. and Luster, A.D. (2002). IFN-gamma-inducible protein 10 (IP-10; CXCL10)-deficient mice reveal a role for IP-10 in effector T cell generation and trafficking. *Journal of Immunology* 168, 3195-3204.

Duncan, S.H., Lobley, G.E., Holtrop, G., Ince, J., Johnstone, A.M., Louis, P. and Flint, H.J. (2008). Human colonic microbiota associated with diet, obesity and weight loss. *International Journal of Obesity* 32, 1720-1724.

Ehrenstein, M.R. and Notley, C.A. (2010). The importance of natural IgM: scavenger, protector and regulator. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 10, 778-786.

Erridge, C., Attina, T., Spickett, C.M. and Webb, D.J. (2007). A high-fat meal induces lowgrade endotoxemia: evidence of a novel mechanism of postprandial inflammation. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 86, 1286-1292.

Estrada, A., van Kessel, A. and Laarveld, B. (1999). Effect of administration of oat betaglucan on immune parameters of healthy and immunosuppressed beef steers. *Canadian Journal of Veterinary Research* 63, 261-268. Farache, J., Koren, I., Milo, I., Gurevich, I., Kim, K.W., Zigmond, E., Furtado, G.C., Lira, S.A. and Shakhar, G. (2013). Luminal bacteria recruit CD103⁺ Dendritic cells into the intestinal epithelium to sample bacterial antigens for presentation. *Immunity* 38, 581-595.

Farran, T.B., Reinhardt, C.D., Blasi, D.A., Minton, J.E., Elsasser, T.H., Higgins, J.J. and Drouillard, J.S. (2008). Source of dietary lipid may modify the immune response in stressed feeder cattle. *Journal of Animal Science* 86, 1382-1394.

Fernandez-Riejos, P., Najib, S., Santos-Alvarez, J., Martin-Romero, C., Perez-Perez, A., Gonzalez-Yanes, C. and Sanchez-Margalet, V. (2010). Role of leptin in the activation of immune cells. *Mediators of Inflammation* 2010, 568343.

Finucane, M.M., Sharpton, T.J., Laurent, T.J. and Pollard, K.S. (2014). A taxonomic signature of obesity in the microbiome? Getting to the guts of the matter. *PloS One* 9, e84689.

Firmansyah, A., Pramita, G., Carrie Fassler, A., Haschke, F. and Link-Amster, H. (2001). Improved humoral immune response to measles vaccine in infants receiving infant cereal with fructo-oligosaccharides. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition* 31, A521.

Flier, J.S. (2001). Diabetes: The missing link with obesity? Nature 409, 292-293.

Fligger, J.M., Gibson, C.A., Sordillo, L.M. and Baumrucker, C.R. (1997). Arginine supplementation increases weight gain, depresses antibody production, and alters circulating leukocyte profiles in preruminant calves without affecting plasma growth hormone concentrations. *Journal of Animal Science* 75, 3019-3025.

Flint, A., Raben, A., Astrup, A. and Holst, J.J. (1998). Glucagon-like peptide 1 promotes satiety and suppresses energy intake in humans. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation 101*, 515-520.

Fouladi-Nashta, A.A., Wonnacott, K.E., Gutierrez, C.G., Gong, J.G., Sinclair, K.D., Garnsworthy, P.C. and Webb, R. (2009). Oocyte quality in lactating dairy cows fed on high levels of n-3 and n-6 fatty acids. *Reproduction* 138, 771-781.

Franklin, S.T., Martin, K.R., Baer, R.J., Schingoethe, D.J. and Hippen, A.R. (1999). Dietary marine algae (*Schizochytrium sp.*) increases concentrations of conjugated linoleic, docosahexaenoic and transvaccenic acids in milk of dairy cows. *The Journal of Nutrition* 129, 2048-2054.

Friedman, J.M. (2010). A tale of two hormones. Nature Medicine 16, 1100-1106.

Fukuda, S., Toh, H., Hase, K., Oshima, K., Nakanishi, Y., Yoshimura, K., Tobe, T., Clarke, J.M., Topping, D.L., Suzuki, T., Taylor, T.D., Itoh, K., Kikuchi, J., Morita, H., Hattori, M.

and Ohno, H. (2011). Bifidobacteria can protect from enteropathogenic infection through production of acetate. *Nature* 469, 543-547.

Furrie, E., Macfarlane, S., Thomson, G. and Macfarlane, G.T. (2005). Toll-like receptors-2, -3 and -4 expression patterns on human colon and their regulation by mucosal-associated bacteria. *Immunology* 115, 565-574.

Garcia, M., Greco, L.F., Favoreto, M.G., Marsola, R.S., Wang, D., Shin, J.H., Block, E., Thatcher, W.W., Santos, J.E. and Staples, C.R. (2014). Effect of supplementing essential fatty acids to pregnant nonlactating Holstein cows and their preweaned calves on calf performance, immune response, and health. *Journal of Dairy Science* 97, 5045-5064.

Gessner, D.K., Grone, B., Rosenbaum, S., Most, E., Hillen, S., Becker, S., Erhardt, G., Reiner, G. and Eder, K. (2016). Effect of dietary fish oil on the expression of genes involved in lipid metabolism in liver and skeletal muscle of lactating sows. *Journal of Animal Physiology and Animal Nutrition* 100, 337-347.

Ghanim, H., Abuaysheh, S., Sia, C.L., Korzeniewski, K., Chaudhuri, A., Fernandez-Real, J.M. and Dandona, P. (2009). Increase in plasma endotoxin concentrations and the expression of Toll-like receptors and suppressor of cytokine signaling-3 in mononuclear cells after a high-fat, high-carbohydrate meal: implications for insulin resistance. *Diabetes Care* 32, 2281-2287.

Gibson, G.R., Probert, H.M., Loo, J.V., Rastall, R.A. and Roberfroid, M.B. (2004). Dietary modulation of the human colonic microbiota: updating the concept of prebiotics. *Nutrition Research Reviews* 17, 259-275.

Gibson, G.R. and Roberfroid, M.B. (1995). Dietary modulation of the human colonic microbiota: introducing the concept of prebiotics. *The Journal of Nutrition* 125, 1401-1412.

Gillaux, C., Mehats, C., Vaiman, D., Cabrol, D. and Breuiller-Fouche, M. (2011). Functional screening of TLRs in human amniotic epithelial cells. *Journal of Immunology 187*, 2766-2774.

Gonzalez-Quintela, A., Alende, R., Gude, F., Campos, J., Rey, J., Meijide, L.M., Fernandez-Merino, C. and Vidal, C. (2008). Serum levels of immunoglobulins (IgG, IgA, IgM) in a general adult population and their relationship with alcohol consumption, smoking and common metabolic abnormalities. *Clinical and Experimental Immunology* 151, 42-50.

Gordon, S. and Taylor, P.R. (2005). Monocyte and macrophage heterogeneity. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 5, 953-964.

Grande, A.J., Reid, H., Thomas, E.E., Nunan, D. and Foster, C. (2016). Exercise prior to influenza vaccination for limiting influenza incidence and its related complications in adults. *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, CD011857.

Grasa, L., Abecia, L., Forcen, R., Castro, M., de Jalon, J.A., Latorre, E., Alcalde, A.I. and Murillo, M.D. (2015). Antibiotic-induced depletion of murine microbiota induces mild inflammation and changes in Toll-like receptor patterns and intestinal motility. *Microbial Ecology* 70, 835-848.

Guidry, J., Butler, J.E., Pearson, R.E. and Weinland, B.T. (1980). IgA, igG1, IgG2, IgM, and BSA in serum and mammary secretion throughout lactation. *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology* 1, 329-341.

Guigoz, Y., Rochat, F., Perruisseau-Carrier, G., Rochat, I. and Schiffrin, E. (2002). Effects of oligosaccharide on the faecal flora and non-specific immune system in elderly people. *Nutrition Research* 22, 13-25.

Harris, J.R. and Markl, J. (1999). Keyhole limpet hemocyanin (KLH): a biomedical review. *Micron* 30, 597-623.

Heap, S., Ingram, J., Law, M., Tucker, A.J. and Wright, A.J. (2016). Eight-day consumption of inulin added to a yogurt breakfast lowers postprandial appetite ratings but not energy intakes in young healthy females: a randomised controlled trial. *The British Journal of Nutrition* 115, 262-270.

Hersh, D., Weiss, J. and Zychlinsky, A. (1998). How bacteria initiate inflammation: aspects of the emerging story. *Current Opinion in Microbiology* 1, 43-48.

Holloway, L., Moynihan, S., Abrams, S.A., Kent, K., Hsu, A.R. and Friedlander, A.L. (2007). Effects of oligofructose-enriched inulin on intestinal absorption of calcium and magnesium and bone turnover markers in postmenopausal women. *The British Journal of Nutrition* 97, 365-372.

Honda, K. and Takeda, K. (2009). Regulatory mechanisms of immune responses to intestinal bacteria. *Mucosal Immunology* 2, 187-196.

Hooper, L.V. and Macpherson, A.J. (2010). Immune adaptations that maintain homeostasis with the intestinal microbiota. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 10, 159-169.

Hopkins, M.J. and Macfarlane, G.T. (2003). Nondigestible oligosaccharides enhance bacterial colonization resistance against *Clostridium difficile in vitro*. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 69, 1920-1927.

Hotamisligil, G.S., Arner, P., Caro, J.F., Atkinson, R.L. and Spiegelman, B.M. (1995). Increased adipose tissue expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in human obesity and insulin resistance. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 95, 2409-2415.

Huang, J., Jochems, C., Talaie, T., Anderson, A., Jales, A., Tsang, K.Y., Madan, R.A., Gulley, J.L. and Schlom, J. (2012). Elevated serum soluble CD40 ligand in cancer patients may play an immunosuppressive role. *Blood* 120, 3030-3038.

Ida, J.A., Shrestha, N., Desai, S., Pahwa, S., Hanekom, W.A. and Haslett, P.A. (2006). A whole blood assay to assess peripheral blood dendritic cell function in response to Tolllike receptor stimulation. *Journal of Immunological Methods* 310, 86-99.

Iyer, A., Brown, L., Whitehead, J.P., Prins, J.B. and Fairlie, D.P. (2015). Nutrient and immune sensing are obligate pathways in metabolism, immunity, and disease. *FASEB Journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology* 29, 3612-3625.

Izydorczyk M.S. and Biliaderis C.G. (1993). Structural heterogeneity of wheat endosperm arabinoxylans. *Cereal Chemistry* 70, 641-646.

Jia, L., Vianna, C.R., Fukuda, M., Berglund, E.D., Liu, C., Tao, C., Sun, K., Liu, T., Harper, M.J., Lee, C.E., Lee, S., Scherer, P.E. and Elmquist, J.K. (2014). Hepatocyte Toll-like receptor 4 regulates obesity-induced inflammation and insulin resistance. *Nature Communucations* 12(5), 3878.

Jialal, I., Kaur, H. and Devaraj, S. (2014). Toll-like receptor status in obesity and metabolic syndrome: a translational perspective. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 99, 39-48.

Johansen, F.E., Pekna, M., Norderhaug, I.N., Haneberg, B., Hietala, M.A., Krajci, P., Betsholtz, C. and Brandtzaeg, P. (1999). Absence of epithelial immunoglobulin A transport, with increased mucosal leakiness, in polymeric immunoglobulin receptor/secretory component-deficient mice. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 190, 915-922.

Juarez, E., Nunez, C., Sada, E., Ellner, J.J., Schwander, S.K. and Torres, M. (2010). Differential expression of Toll-like receptors on human alveolar macrophages and autologous peripheral monocytes. *Respiratory Research* 11, 2.

Kalmokoff, M., Franklin, J., Petronella, N., Green, J. and Brooks, S.P. (2015). Phylum level change in the cecal and fecal gut communities of rats fed diets containing different fermentable substrates supports a role for nitrogen as a factor contributing to community structure. *Nutrients* 7, 3279-3299.

Kalmokoff, M., Zwicker, B., O'Hara, M., Matias, F., Green, J., Shastri, P., Green-Johnson, J.M. and Brooks, S.P.J. (2013). Temporal change in the gut community of rats fed high amylose cornstarch is driven by endogenous urea rather than strictly on carbohydrate availability. *Journal of Applied Microbiology* 114, 1516-1528.

Kau, A.L., Ahern, P.P., Griffin, N.W., Goodman, A.L. and Gordon, J.I. (2011). Human nutrition, the gut microbiome and the immune system. *Nature* 474, 327-336.

Kent, J.W., Jr., Comuzzie, A.G., Mahaney, M.C., Almasy, L., Rainwater, D.L., VandeBerg, J.L., MacCluer, J.W. and Blangero, J. (2004). Intercellular adhesion molecule-1 concentration is genetically correlated with insulin resistance, obesity, and HDL concentration in Mexican Americans. *Diabetes* 53, 2691-2695.

Kersten, S., Seydoux, J., Peters, J.M., Gonzalez, F.J., Desvergne, B. and Wahli, W. (1999). Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha mediates the adaptive response to fasting. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 103, 1489-1498.

Kim, M., Qie, Y., Park, J. and Kim, C.H. (2016). Gut microbial metabolites fuel host antibody responses. *Cell Host & Microbe* 20, 202-214.

Kitessa, S.M., Gulati, S.K., Simos, G.C., Ashes, J.R., Scott, T.W., Fleck, E. and Wynn, P.C. (2004). Supplementation of grazing dairy cows with rumen-protected tuna oil enriches milk fat with n-3 fatty acids without affecting milk production or sensory characteristics. *The British Journal of Nutrition* 91, 271-278.

Klein, S.L. and Flanagan, K.L. (2016). Sex differences in immune responses. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 16, 626-638.

Kolver, E.S. and Muller, L.D. (1998). Performance and nutrient intake of high producing Holstein cows consuming pasture or a total mixed ration. *Journal of Dairy Science* 81, 1403-1411.

Korn, T., Bettelli, E., Oukka, M. and Kuchroo, V.K. (2009). IL-17 and Th17 Cells. *Annual Review of Immunology* 27, 485-517.

Kropf, J., Schurek, J.O., Wollner, A. and Gressner, A.M. (1997). Immunological measurement of transforming growth factor-beta 1 (TGF-beta1) in blood; assay development and comparison. *Clinical Chemistry* 43, 1965-1974.

Kudoh, K., Shimizu, J., Wada, M., Takita, T., Kanke, Y. and Innami, S. (1998). Effect of indigestible saccharides on B lymphocyte response of intestinal mucosa and cecal fermentation in rats. *Journal of Nutritional Science and Vitaminology* 44, 103-112.

Kumar, A., Wu, H., Collier-Hyams, L.S., Kwon, Y.M., Hanson, J.M. and Neish, A.S. (2009). The bacterial fermentation product butyrate influences epithelial signaling via reactive oxygen species-mediated changes in cullin-1 neddylation. *Journal of Immunology* 182, 538-546.

Lam, Y.Y., Ha, C.W., Campbell, C.R., Mitchell, A.J., Dinudom, A., Oscarsson, J., Cook, D.I., Hunt, N.H., Caterson, I.D., Holmes, A.J. and Storlien, L.H. (2012). Increased gut

permeability and microbiota change associate with mesenteric fat inflammation and metabolic dysfunction in diet-induced obese mice. *PloS One* 7, e34233.

Langlands, S.J., Hopkins, M.J., Coleman, N. and Cummings, J.H. (2004). Prebiotic carbohydrates modify the mucosa associated microflora of the human large bowel. *Gut* 53, 1610-1616.

Le Leu, R.K., Conlon, M.A., Bird, A.R. and Clarke, J.M. (2015). Housing experimental rats in solid-based cages with digestible bedding may confound outcomes of nutritional studies. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 95, 2155-2158.

Leblanc, J., Fliss, I. and Matar, C. (2004). Induction of a humoral immune response following an *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infection with an immunomodulatory peptidic fraction derived from *Lactobacillus helveticus*-fermented milk. *Clinical and Diagnostic Laboratory Immunology* 11, 1171-1181.

Levin, B.E., Dunn-Meynell, A.A., Balkan, B. and Keesey, R.E. (1997). Selective breeding for diet-induced obesity and resistance in Sprague-Dawley rats. *The American Journal of Physiology* 273, R725-730.

Ley, R.E. (2010). Obesity and the human microbiome. *Current Opinion in Gastroenterology* 26, 5-11.

Ley, R.E., Backhed, F., Turnbaugh, P., Lozupone, C.A., Knight, R.D. and Gordon, J.I. (2005). Obesity alters gut microbial ecology. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 102, 11070-11075.

Li, M.O., Wan, Y.Y., Sanjabi, S., Robertson, A.K. and Flavell, R.A. (2006). Transforming growth factor-beta regulation of immune responses. *Annual Review of Immunology* 24, 99-146.

Li, N., Quidgley, M.C., Kobeissy, F.H., Joseph, J. and Neu, J. (2012). Microbial cell components induced tolerance to flagellin-stimulated inflammation through Toll-like receptor pathways in intestinal epithelial cells. *Cytokine* 60, 806-811.

Lievin, V., Peiffer, I., Hudault, S., Rochat, F., Brassart, D., Neeser, J.R. and Servin, A.L. (2000). Bifidobacterium strains from resident infant human gastrointestinal microflora exert antimicrobial activity. *Gut* 47, 646-652.

Lim, B.O., Yamada, K., Nonaka, M., Kuramoto, Y., Hung, P. and Sugano, M. (1997). Dietary fibers modulate indices of intestinal immune function in rats. *The Journal of Nutrition* 127, 663-667.

Lin, J., Nafday, S.M., Chauvin, S.N., Magid, M.S., Pabbatireddy, S., Holzman, I.R. and Babyatsky, M.W. (2002). Variable effects of short chain fatty acids and lactic acid in

inducing intestinal mucosal injury in newborn rats. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology* and Nutrition 35, 545-550.

Lin, J., Peng, L., Itzkowitz, S., Holzman, I.R. and Babyatsky, M.W. (2005). Short-chain fatty acid induces intestinal mucosal injury in newborn rats and down-regulates intestinal trefoil factor gene expression *in vivo* and *in vitro*. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition* 41, 607-611.

Lindsay, J.O., Whelan, K., Stagg, A.J., Gobin, P., Al-Hassi, H.O., Rayment, N., Kamm, M.A., Knight, S.C. and Forbes, A. (2006). Clinical, microbiological, and immunological effects of fructo-oligosaccharide in patients with Crohn's disease. *Gut* 55, 348-355.

Liu, L., Shen, L., Liu, X., Yu, Y., Li, Y., Wang, L., He, C., Sun, J. and Li, B. (2012). A safety study of a B-class CpG ODN in Sprague-Dawley rats. *Journal of Applied Toxicology* 32, 60-71.

Liu, Y.J., Zhang, J., Lane, P.J., Chan, E.Y. and MacLennan, I.C. (1991). Sites of specific B cell activation in primary and secondary responses to T cell-dependent and T cell-independent antigens. *European Journal of Immunology* 21, 2951-2962.

Lomax, A.R. and Calder, P.C. (2009). Prebiotics, immune function, infection and inflammation: a review of the evidence. *The British Journal of Nutrition* 101, 633-658.

Lomax, A.R., Cheung, L.V., Noakes, P.S., Miles, E.A. and Calder, P.C. (2015). Inulintype β 2-1 fructans have some effect on the antibody response to seasonal influenza vaccination in healthy middle-aged humans. *Frontiers in Immunology* 6, 490.

Lomax, A.R., Cheung, L.V., Tuohy, K.M., Noakes, P.S., Miles, E.A. and Calder, P.C. (2012). beta2-1 Fructans have a bifidogenic effect in healthy middle-aged human subjects but do not alter immune responses examined in the absence of an *in vivo* immune challenge: results from a randomised controlled trial. *The British Journal of Nutrition* 108, 1818-1828.

Looijer-van Langen, M.A. and Dieleman, L.A. (2009). Prebiotics in chronic intestinal inflammation. *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases* 15, 454-462.

Lumeng, C.N., Bodzin, J.L. and Saltiel, A.R. (2007). Obesity induces a phenotypic switch in adipose tissue macrophage polarization. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 117, 175-184.

Macfarlane, S., Macfarlane, G.T. and Cummings, J.H. (2006). Review article: prebiotics in the gastrointestinal tract. *Alimentary Pharmacology & Therapeutics* 24, 701-714.

Mackey-Lawrence, N.M., and Petri, W.A., Jr. (2012). Leptin and mucosal immunity. *Mucosal Immunology* 5, 472-479.
Macpherson, A.J. and Uhr, T. (2004). Compartmentalization of the mucosal immune responses to commensal intestinal bacteria. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 1029, 36-43.

Maddison, S.E., Stewart, C.C., Farshy, C.E. and Reimer, C.B. (1975). The relationship of race, sex, and age to concentrations of serum immunoglobulins expressed in international units in healthy adults in the USA. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 52, 179-185.

Mantovani, A., Sica, A., Sozzani, S., Allavena, P., Vecchi, A. and Locati, M. (2004). The chemokine system in diverse forms of macrophage activation and polarization. *Trends in Immunology* 25, 677-686.

Mantovani, A., Sozzani, S., Locati, M., Allavena, P. and Sica, A. (2002). Macrophage polarization: tumor-associated macrophages as a paradigm for polarized M2 mononuclear phagocytes. *Trends in Immunology* 23, 549-555.

Mariadason, J.M., Kilias, D., Catto-Smith, A. and Gibson, P.R. (1999). Effect of butyrate on paracellular permeability in rat distal colonic mucosa *ex vivo*. *Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology* 14, 873-879.

Maroufyan, E., Kasim, A., Ebrahimi, M., Loh, T.C., Bejo, M.H., Zerihun, H., Hosseni, F., Goh, Y.M. and Farjam, A.S. (2012). Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids enrichment alters performance and immune response in infectious bursal disease challenged broilers. *Lipids in Health and Disease* 11, 15.

Marques, C., Meireles, M., Norberto, S., Leite, J., Freitas, J. Pestana, D., Faria, A. and Calhau, C. (2016). High-fat diet-induced obesity rat model: a comparison between Wistar and Sprague-Dawley rat. *Adipocyte* 5(1), 11-21.

Marteau, P., Cuillerier, E., Meance, S., Gerhardt, M.F., Myara, A., Bouvier, M., Bouley, C., Tondu, F., Bommelaer, G. and Grimaud, J.C. (2002). Bifidobacterium animalis strain DN-173 010 shortens the colonic transit time in healthy women: a double-blind, randomized, controlled study. *Alimentary Pharmacology & Therapeutics* 16, 587-593.

Marteau, P., Jacobs, H., Cazaubiel, M., Signoret, C., Prevel, J.M. and Housez, B. (2011). Effects of chicory inulin in constipated elderly people: a double-blind controlled trial. *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition* 62, 164-170.

Martinez, F.O. and Gordon, S. (2014). The M1 and M2 paradigm of macrophage activation: time for reassessment. *F1000prime Reports* 6, 13.

Matarese, G. and La Cava, A. (2004). The intricate interface between immune system and metabolism. *Trends in Immunology* 25, 193-200.

Matarese, G., La Cava, A., Sanna, V., Lord, G.M., Lechler, R.I., Fontana, S. and Zappacosta, S. (2002). Balancing susceptibility to infection and autoimmunity: a role for leptin? *Trends in Immunology* 23, 182-187.

Mauer, J., Denson, J.L. and Bruning, J.C. (2015). Versatile functions for IL-6 in metabolism and cancer. *Trends in Immunology* 36, 92-101.

Mix, E., Goertsches, R. and Zett, U.K. (2006). Immunoglobulins--basic considerations. *Journal of Neurology* 253 Suppl 5, V9-17.

Mizoguchi, A. (2012). Healing of intestinal inflammation by IL-22. *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases* 18, 1777-1784.

Moshfegh, A.J., Friday, J.E., Goldman, J.P. and Ahuja, J.K. (1999). Presence of inulin and oligofructose in the diets of Americans. *The Journal of Nutrition* 129, 1407S-1411S.

Mowat, A.M. and Agace, W.W. (2014). Regional specialization within the intestinal immune system. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 14, 667-685.

Mullen, A., Loscher, C.E. and Roche, H.M. (2010). Anti-inflammatory effects of EPA and DHA are dependent upon time and dose-response elements associated with LPS stimulation in THP-1-derived macrophages. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry* 21, 444-450.

Nagasawa, T., Inada, Y., Nakano, S., Tamura, T., Takahashi, T., Maruyama, K., Yamazaki, Y., Kuroda, J. and Shibata, N. (2006). Effects of bezafibrate, PPAR pan-agonist, and GW501516, PPARdelta agonist, on development of steatohepatitis in mice fed a methionine- and choline-deficient diet. *European Journal of Pharmacology* 536, 182-191.

Neufert, C., Pickert, G., Zheng, Y., Wittkopf, N., Warntjen, M., Nikolaev, A., Ouyang, W., Neurath, M.F. and Becker, C. (2010). Activation of epithelial STAT3 regulates intestinal homeostasis. *Cell Cycle* 9, 652-655.

Nguyen, A.T., Mandard, S., Dray, C., Deckert, V., Valet, P., Besnard, P., Drucker, D.J., Lagrost, L. and Grober, J. (2014). Lipopolysaccharides-mediated increase in glucose-stimulated insulin secretion: involvement of the GLP-1 pathway. *Diabetes* 63, 471-482.

Nordby, G.L. and Cassidy, J.T. (1983). Seasonal effect on the variability of summer immunoglobulin levels. *Human Biology* 55, 797-809.

O'Neill, L.A. and Pearce, E.J. (2016). Immunometabolism governs dendritic cell and macrophage function. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 213, 15-23.

Obhrai, J.S., Oberbarnscheidt, M.H., Hand, T.W., Diggs, L., Chalasani, G. and Lakkis, F.G. (2006). Effector T cell differentiation and memory T cell maintenance outside secondary lymphoid organs. *Journal of Jmmunology* 176, 4051-4058.

Oliveira, R.P., Florence, A.C., Silva, R.C., Perego, P., Converti, A., Gioielli, L.A. and Oliveira, M.N. (2009). Effect of different prebiotics on the fermentation kinetics, probiotic survival and fatty acids profiles in nonfat symbiotic fermented milk. *International Journal of Food Microbiology* 128, 467-472.

Ouwehand, A.C., Derrien, M., de Vos, W., Tiihonen, K. and Rautonen, N. (2005). Prebiotics and other microbial substrates for gut functionality. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology* 16, 212-217.

Pabst, O. (2012). New concepts in the generation and functions of IgA. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 12, 821-832.

Pagana, K.D. and Pagana, T.J. (2002). Mosby's manual of diagnostic and laboratory tests, 2nd edn (St. Louis: Mosby).

Paul, W.E. (1991). Interleukin-4: a prototypic immunoregulatory lymphokine. *Blood* 77, 1859-1870.

Pedersen, A., Sandstrom, B. and Van Amelsvoort, J.M. (1997). The effect of ingestion of inulin on blood lipids and gastrointestinal symptoms in healthy females. *The British Journal of Nutrition* 78, 215-222.

Peng, L., He, Z., Chen, W., Holzman, I.R. and Lin, J. (2007). Effects of butyrate on intestinal barrier function in a Caco-2 cell monolayer model of intestinal barrier. *Pediatric Research* 61, 37-41.

Peterson, D.A., McNulty, N.P., Guruge, J.L. and Gordon, J.I. (2007). IgA response to symbiotic bacteria as a mediator of gut homeostasis. *Cell Host & Microbe* 2, 328-339.

Pinchuk, L.M., Boyd, B.L., Kruger, E.F., Roditi, I. and Furger, A. (2003). Bovine dendritic cells generated from monocytes and bone marrow progenitors regulate immunoglobulin production in peripheral blood B cells. *Comparative Immunology, Microbiology and Infectious Diseases* 26, 233-249.

Popmihajlov, Z., Xu, D., Morgan, H., Milligan, Z. and Smith, K.A. (2012). Conditional IL-2 Gene Deletion: Consequences for T Cell Proliferation. *Frontiers in Immunology* 3, 102.

Raju, J., Roberts, J., Chen, Q., Aziz, S.A., Caldwell, D., Bird, R.P., Scoggan, K.A. and Brooks, S.P. (2016). Fermentable Carbohydrates Differentially Affect Colon Tumor Formation in Azoxymethane-Induced Male Fischer 344 Rats. *The Journal of Nutrition* epub ahead of print [March 9, 2016].

Rizzetto, L., Ifrim, D.C., Moretti, S., Tocci, N., Cheng, S.C., Quintin, J., Renga, G., Oikonomou, V., De Filippo, C., Weil, T., Blok, T., Lenucci, M.S., Santos, M.A., Romani,

L., Netea, M.G. and Cavalieri, D. (2016). Fungal Chitin Induces Trained Immunity in Human Monocytes during Cross-talk of the Host with Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 291, 7961-7972.

Roberfroid, M.B. (2005). Introducing inulin-type fructans. *The British Journal of Nutrition* 93 Suppl 1, S13-25.

Roman, M., Calhoun, W.J., Hinton, K.L., Avendano, L.F., Simon, V., Escobar, A.M., Gaggero, A. and Diaz, P.V. (1997). Respiratory syncytial virus infection in infants is associated with predominant T_H-2-like response. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine 156*, 190-195.

Rubtsov, Y.P., and Rudensky, A.Y. (2007). TGF-β signalling in control of T-cell-mediated self-reactivity. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 7, 443-453.

Ryz, N.R., Meddings, J.B. and Taylor, C.G. (2009). Long-chain inulin increases dendritic cells in the Peyer's patches and increases ex vivo cytokine secretion in the spleen and mesenteric lymph nodes of growing female rats, independent of zinc status. *The British Journal of Nutrition* 101, 1653-1663.

Saavedra, J.M. and Tschernia, A. (2002). Human studies with probiotics and prebiotics: clinical implications. *The British Journal of Nutrition* 87 Suppl 2, S241-246.

Sakaquchi, K., Honda, H., Miyasho, T., Maeda, N., Nakamura, K., Onaga, T., Koiwa, M., Matsuda, K., Okamoto, M., Hirayama, K. and Taniyama, H. (2013). Polymeric immunoglobulin receptor expression and local immunoglobulin A production in sublingual, submandibular and protid salivary glands. *The Vetrinary Journal* 197(2), 291-296.

Sato, S., Nomura, F., Kawai, T., Takeuchi, O., Muhlradt, P.F., Takeda, K. and Akira, S. (2000). Synergy and cross-tolerance between toll-like receptor (TLR) 2- and TLR4-mediated signaling pathways. *Journal of Immunology* 165, 7096-7101.

Schaaf, B., Luitjens, K., Goldmann, T., van Bremen, T., Sayk, F., Dodt, C., Dalhoff, K. and Droemann, D. (2009). Mortality in human sepsis is associated with downregulation of Toll-like receptor 2 and CD14 expression on blood monocytes. *Diagnostic Pathology* 4, 12.

Schaeffler, A., Gross, P., Buettner, R., Bollheimer, C., Buechler, C., Neumeier, M., Kopp, A., Schoelmerich, J. and Falk, W. (2009). Fatty acid-induced induction of Toll-like receptor-4/nuclear factor-κB pathway in adipocytes links nutritional signalling with innate immunity. *Immunology* 126, 233-245.

Schaffler, A., Scholmerich, J. and Salzberger, B. (2007). Adipose tissue as an immunological organ: Toll-like receptors, C1q/TNFs and CTRPs. *Trends in Immunology* 28, 393-399.

Scholtens, P.A., Alles, M.S., Willemsen, L.E., van den Braak, C., Bindels, J.G., Boehm, G. and Govers, M.J. (2006). Dietary fructo-oligosaccharides in healthy adults do not negatively affect faecal cytotoxicity: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled crossover trial. *The British Journal of Nutrition* 95, 1143-1149.

Scholtens, P.A., Alliet, P., Raes, M., Alles, M.S., Kroes, H., Boehm, G., Knippels, L.M., Knol, J. and Vandenplas, Y. (2008). Fecal secretory immunoglobulin A is increased in healthy infants who receive a formula with short-chain galacto-oligosaccharides and long-chain fructo-oligosaccharides. *The Journal of Nutrition* 138, 1141-1147.

Schroder, K., Hertzog, P.J., Ravasi, T. and Hume, D.A. (2004). Interferon-gamma: an overview of signals, mechanisms and functions. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology* 75, 163-189.

Seidel, C., Boehm, V., Vogelsang, H., Wagner, A., Persin, C., Glei, M., Pool-Zobel, B.L. and Jahreis, G. (2007). Influence of prebiotics and antioxidants in bread on the immune system, antioxidative status and antioxidative capacity in male smokers and non-smokers. *The British Journal of Nutrition* 97, 349-356.

Shabbir, F., Hussain, M.M. and Rajput, T.A. (2015). Obesity; effect of high-fat diet followed by atorvastatin administration on serum interleukin-6, white blood cell and platelet count in male and female Sprague Dawley rats. *The Professional Medical Journal* 22(6), 683-689.

Shastri, P. (2015a). Effects of dietary fermentable material on innate and adaptive immune measures in male and female rats under resting and immunized conditions (Doctoral Dissertation). *Retrieved from UOIT Electronic Theses and Dissertations* https://irlibrarydc-uoitca/handle/10155/532.

Shastri, P., McCarville, J., Kalmokoff, M., Brooks, S.P. and Green-Johnson, J.M. (2015b). Sex differences in gut fermentation and immune parameters in rats fed an oligofructose-supplemented diet. *Biology of Sex Differences* 6, 13.

Shastri, P., McCarville J.L., Brooks, S.J.P., Kalmokoff M. and Green-Johnson J.M. (2016). Diets containing different fermentable substrates can affect mucosal and systemic immune parameters in rats under homeostatic conditions. *Journal of Functional Foods* 20, 422-432.

Shibata, F., Konishi, K., Kato, H., Komorita, N., al-Mokdad, M., Fujioka, M. and Nakagawa, H. (1995). Recombinant production and biological properties of rat cytokineinduced neutrophil chemoattractants, GRO/CINC-2 alpha, CINC-2 beta and CINC-3. *European Journal of Biochemistry* 231, 306-311.

Shibata, F., Konishi, K. and Nakagawa, H. (2000). Identification of a common receptor for three types of rat cytokine-induced neutrophil chemoattractants (CINCs). *Cytokine* 12, 1368-1373.

Shingadia, D., O'Gorman, M., Rowley, A.H. and Shulman, S.T. (2001). Surface and cytoplasmic immunoglobulin expression in circulating B-lymphocytes in acute Kawasaki disease. *Pediatric Research* 50, 538-543.

Sijben, J.W., Nieuwland, M.G., Kemp, B., Parmentier, H.K. and Schrama, J.W. (2001). Interactions and antigen dependence of dietary n-3 and n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids on antibody responsiveness in growing layer hens. *Poultry Science* 80, 885-893.

Singh, R.S. and Singh, R.P. (2010). Production of fructooligosaccharides from inulin by endoinulinases and their prebiotic potential. *Food Technology and Biotechnology* 48, 435.

Slavin, J. and Feirtag, J. (2011). Chicory inulin does not increase stool weight or speed up intestinal transit time in healthy male subjects. *Food & Function* 2, 72-77.

Sligh, J.E., Jr., Ballantyne, C.M., Rich, S.S., Hawkins, H.K., Smith, C.W., Bradley, A. and Beaudet, A.L. (1993). Inflammatory and immune responses are impaired in mice deficient in intercellular adhesion molecule 1. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 90, 8529-8533.

Smith, P.M., Howitt, M.R., Panikov, N., Michaud, M., Gallini, C.A., Bohlooly, Y.M., Glickman, J.N. and Garrett, W.S. (2013). The microbial metabolites, short-chain fatty acids, regulate colonic Treg cell homeostasis. *Science* 341, 569-573.

Smith, E.A. and MacFarlane, G.T. (1998). Enumeration of amino acid fermenting bacteria in the human large intestine: effects of pH and starch on peptide metabolism and dissimilation of amino acids. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology* 25, 355-368.

Stark, A.H., Timar, B. and Madar, Z. (2000). Adaptation of Sprague Dawley rats to long-term feeding of high fat or high fructose diets. *European Journal of Nutrition* 39, 229-234.

Stemmer, K., Perez-Tilve, D., Ananthakrishnan, G., Bort, A., Seeley, R.J., Tschop, M.H., Dietrich, D.R. and Pfluger, P.T. (2012). High-fat-diet-induced obesity causes an inflammatory and tumor-promoting microenvironment in the rat kidney. *Disease Models & Mechanisms* 5, 627-635.

Stienstra, R., Duval, C., Muller, M., and Kersten, S. (2007). PPARs, Obesity, and Inflammation. *PPAR Research* 2007, 95974.

Suganami, T., Nishida, J. and Ogawa, Y. (2005). A paracrine loop between adipocytes and macrophages aggravates inflammatory changes: role of free fatty acids and tumor necrosis factor alpha. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* 25, 2062-2068.

Suganami, T., Tanimoto-Koyama, K., Nishida, J., Itoh, M., Yuan, X., Mizuarai, S., Kotani, H., Yamaoka, S., Miyake, K., Aoe, S., Kamei, Y. and Ogawa, Y. (2007). Role of the Tolllike receptor 4/NF-kappaB pathway in saturated fatty acid-induced inflammatory changes in the interaction between adipocytes and macrophages. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* 27, 84-91.

Sugano, M., Koga, T. and Yamada, K. (2000). Lipids and immunology. *Asia Pacific Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 9, 146-152.

Takano, K. and Nakagawa, H. (2001). Contribution of cytokine-induced neutrophil chemoattractant CINC-2 and CINC-3 to neutrophil recruitment in lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammation in rats. *Inflammation Research: Official Journal of the European Histamine Research Society* 50, 503-508.

Tan, J., McKenzie, C., Vuillermin, P.J., Goverse, G., Vinuesa, C.G., Mebuis, R.E., Macia, L. and Mackay, C.R. (2016). Dietary fibre and bacterial SCFA enhance oral tolerance and protect against food allergy through diverse cellular pathways. *Cell Reports* 15, 2809-2824.

Ten Bruggencate, S.J., Bovee-Oudenhoven, I.M., Lettink-Wissink, M.L., Katan, M.B. and Van Der Meer, R. (2004). Dietary fructo-oligosaccharides and inulin decrease resistance of rats to salmonella: protective role of calcium. *Gut* 53, 530-535.

Ten Bruggencate, S.J., Bovee-Oudenhoven, I.M., Lettink-Wissink, M.L., Katan, M.B. and van der Meer, R. (2006). Dietary fructooligosaccharides affect intestinal barrier function in healthy men. *The Journal of Nutrition* 136, 70-74.

Ten Bruggencate, S.J., Bovee-Oudenhoven, I.M., Lettink-Wissink, M.L. and Van der Meer, R. (2003). Dietary fructo-oligosaccharides dose-dependently increase translocation of salmonella in rats. *The Journal of Nutrition* 133, 2313-2318.

Ten Bruggencate, S.J., Bovee-Oudenhoven, I.M., Lettink-Wissink, M.L. and Van der Meer, R. (2005). Dietary fructooligosaccharides increase intestinal permeability in rats. *The Journal of Nutrition* 135, 837-842.

Tharanathan, R.N. (2002). Food-derived carbohydrates--structural complexity and functional diversity. *Critical Reviews in Biotechnology* 22, 65-84.

Thorburn, A.N., McKenzie, C.I., Shen, S., Stanely, D., Macia, L., Mason, L.J., Roberts, L.K., Wong, C.H.Y., Shim, R., Robert, R., Chevalier, N., Tan, J.K., Mariňo, E., Moore, R.J., Wong, L., McConville, M.J., Tull, D.L., Wood, L.G., Murphy, V.E., Mattes, J., Gibson, P.G. and Mackay, C.R. (2015). Evidence that asthma is a developmental origin disease influenced by maternal diet and bacterial metabolites. *Nature Communications* 6, 7320.

Tolleson, D.R, Prince, S.D, Banik, K.K., Welsh, T.H. Jr., Carstens, G.E., Strey, O.F., Teel, P.D., Willard, S.T. and Longnecker, M.T. (2013). Plane of nutrition \times tick burden interaction in cattle: effect on fecal composition. *Journal of Animal Science* 91(8), 3658-3665.

Tran, D.Q. (2012). TGF-beta: the sword, the wand, and the shield of FOXP3⁺ regulatory T cells. *Journal of Molecular Cell Biology* 4, 29-37.

Trompette, A., Gollwitzer, E.S., Yadava, K., Sichelstiel, A.K., Sprenger, N., Ngom-Bru, C., Blanchard, C., Junt, T. Nicoe, L.P., Harris, N.L. and Marsland, B.J. (2014). Gut microbioita metabolism of dietary fiber infludence allergic airway disease and hematopoiesis. *Nature Medicine* 20, 159-166.

Turvey, S.E. and Hawn, T.R. (2006). Towards subtlety: understanding the role of Toll-like receptor signaling in susceptibility to human infections. *Clinical Immunology* 120, 1-9.

Underhill, D.M., Ozinsky, A., Hajjar, A.M., Stevens, A., Wilson, C.B., Bassetti, M. and Aderem, A. (1999). The Toll-like receptor 2 is recruited to macrophage phagosomes and discriminates between pathogens. *Nature* 401, 811-815.

Unruh, D., Srinivasan, R., Benson, T., Haigh, S., Coyle, D., Batra, N., Keil, R., Sturm, R., Blanco, V., Palascak, M., Franco, R.S., Tont, W., Chatterjee, T., Hui, D.Y., Davidson, S., Aronow, B.J., Kalfa, T., Manka, D., Peairs, A, Blomkalns, A., Fulton, D.J., Brittain, J.E., Weintraub, N.L. and Bogdanov, V.Y. (2015). Red Blood Cell Dysfunction Induced by High-Fat Diet: Potential Implications for Obesity-Related Atherosclerosis. *Circulation* 132, 1898-1908.

Vahmani, P., Fredeen, A.H. and Glover, K.E. (2013). Effect of supplementation with fish oil or microalgae on fatty acid composition of milk from cows managed in confinement or pasture systems. *Journal of Dairy Science* 96, 6660-6670.

Vahmani, P., Glover, K.E. and Fredeen, A.H. (2014). Effects of pasture versus confinement and marine oil supplementation on the expression of genes involved in lipid metabolism in mammary, liver, and adipose tissues of lactating dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science* 97, 4174-4183.

van Altena, S.E., Peen, M.A., van der Linden, F.H., Parmentier, H.K., Savelkoul, H.F. and Tijhaar, E.J. (2016). Bovine natural antibodies in antibody-dependent bactericidal activity against *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella Typhimurium* and risk of mastitis. *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology* 171, 21-27.

van de Stolpe, A. and van der Saag, P.T. (1996). Intercellular adhesion molecule-1. *Journal of Molecular Medicine* 74, 13-33.

van Knegsel, A.T., de Vries Reilingh, G., Meulenberg, S., van den Brand, H., Dijkstra, J., Kemp, B. and Parmentier, H.K. (2007). Natural antibodies related to energy balance in early lactation dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science* 90, 5490-5498.

Vellutini, M., Viegi, G., Parrini, D., Pedreschi, M., Baldacci, S., Modena, P., Biavati, P., Simoni, M., Carrozzi, L. and Giuntini, C. (1997). Serum immunoglobulins E are related to menstrual cycle. *European Journal of Epidemiology* 13, 931-935.

Verma, S., Li, S.H., Wang, C.H., Fedak, P.W., Li, R.K., Weisel, R.D. and Mickle, D.A. (2003). Resistin promotes endothelial cell activation: further evidence of adipokine-endothelial interaction. *Circulation* 108, 736-740.

Versteeg, D., Dol, E., Hoefer, I.E., Flier, S., Buhre, W.F., de Kleijn, D., van Dongen, E.P., Pasterkamp, G. and de Vries, J.P. (2009). Toll-like receptor 2 and 4 response and expression on monocytes decrease rapidly in patients undergoing arterial surgery and are related to preoperative smoking. *Shock* 31, 21-27.

Veys, E.M., Wieme, R.J., Van Egmond, J., Gabriel, P. and van der Jeught, J. (1977). Short term variation of human immunoglobulin levels with an estimation of the day to day physiological variability. *Clinica Chimica Acta* 75, 275-285.

Vignali, D.A. and Kuchroo, V.K. (2012). IL-12 family cytokines: immunological playmakers. *Nature Immunology* 13, 722-728.

Vijay-Kumar, M., Aitken, J.D., Carvalho, F.A., Cullender, T.C., Mwangi, S., Srinivasan, S., Sitaraman, S.V., Knight, R., Ley, R.E. and Gewirtz, A.T. (2010). Metabolic syndrome and altered gut microbiota in mice lacking Toll-like receptor 5. *Science* 328, 228-231.

Villanueva, E.C. and Myers, M.G., Jr. (2008). Leptin receptor signaling and the regulation of mammalian physiology. *International Journal of Obesity* 32 Suppl 7, S8-12.

Visintin, A., Mazzoni, A., Spitzer, J.H., Wyllie, D.H., Dower, S.K. and Segal, D.M. (2001). Regulation of Toll-like receptors in human monocytes and dendritic cells. *Journal of Immunology* 166, 249-255.

Vizoso Pinto, M.G., Rodriguez Gomez, M., Seifert, S., Watzl, B., Holzapfel, W.H. and Franz, C.M. (2009). Lactobacilli stimulate the innate immune response and modulate the TLR expression of HT29 intestinal epithelial cells *in vitro*. *International Journal of Food Microbiology* 133, 86-93.

Vogt, L., Ramasamy, U., Meyer, D., Pullens, G., Venema, K., Faas, M.M., Schols, H.A. and de Vos, P. (2013). Immune modulation by different types of $\beta 2 \rightarrow 1$ fructans is toll-like receptor dependent. *PloS One* 8, e68367.

Vogt, L.M., Meyer, D., Pullens, G., Faas, M.M., Venema, K., Ramasamy, U., Schols, H.A. and de Vos, P. (2014). Toll-like receptor 2 activation by $\beta 2 \rightarrow 1$ fructans protects barrier function of T84 human intestinal epithelial cells in a chain length-dependent manner. *The Journal of Nutrition* 144, 1002-1008.

Walters, W.A., Xu, Z. and Knight, R. (2014). Meta-analyses of human gut microbes associated with obesity and IBD. *FEBS Letters* 588, 4223-4233.

Ward, J.M., Erexson, C.R., Faucette, L.J., Foley, J.F., Dijstra, C. and Cattoretti, G. (2006). Immunohistochemical markers for the rodent immune system. *Toxicologic Pathology* 43, 616-630.

Weisberg, S.P., McCann, D., Desai, M., Rosenbaum, M., Leibel, R.L. and Ferrante, A.W., Jr. (2003). Obesity is associated with macrophage accumulation in adipose tissue. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 112, 1796-1808.

Weiss, D.J., Evanson, O.A. and Souza, C.D. (2006). Mucosal immune response in cattle with subclinical Johne's disease. *Veterinary Pathology* 43(2), 127-135.

Witkowska, A.M. (2005). Soluble ICAM-1: a marker of vascular inflammation and lifestyle. *Cytokine* 31, 127-134.

Wong, J.M., Kendall, C.W., de Souza, R., Emam, A., Marchie, A., Vidgen, E., Holmes, C. and Jenkins, D.J. (2010). The effect on the blood lipid profile of soy foods combined with a prebiotic: a randomized controlled trial. *Metabolism: Clinical and Experimental* 59, 1331-1340.

Wulster-Radcliffe, M.C., Ajuwon, K.M., Wang, J., Christian, J.A. and Spurlock, M.E. (2004). Adiponectin differentially regulates cytokines in porcine macrophages. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 316, 924-929.

Yaqoob, P. and Calder, P.C. (1995). The effects of dietary lipid manipulation on the production of murine T cell-derived cytokines. *Cytokine* 7, 548-553.

Yoshimoto, S., Loo, T.M., Atarashi, K., Kanda, H., Sato, S., Oyadomari, S., Iwakura, Y., Oshima, K., Morita, H., Hattori, M., Honda, K., Ishikawa, Y., Hara, E. and Ohtani, N. (2013). Obesity-induced gut microbial metabolite promotes liver cancer through senescence secretome. *Nature* 499, 97-101.

Younes, H., Garleb, K., Behr, S., Remesy, C. and Demigne, C. (1995). Fermentable fibers or oligosaccharides reduce urinary nitrogen excretion by increasing urea disposal in the rat cecum. *The Journal of Nutrition* 125, 1010-1016.

Young, S.H., Antonini, J.M., Roberts, J.R., Erdely, A.D. and Zeidler-Erdely, P.C. (2008). Performance evaluation of cytometric bead assays for the measurement of lung cytokines in two rodent models. *Journal of Immunological Methods* 331, 59-68.

Zhang, L., Curhan, G.C. and Forman, J.P. (2010). Plasma resistin levels associate with risk for hypertension among nondiabetic women. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology* 21, 1185-1191.

Zhang, X., Qi, C., Guo Y., Zhou, W. and Zhang, Y. (2016). Toll-like receptor 4-related immunostimulatory polysaccharides: Primary structure, activity relationships, and possible interaction models. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 149: 186-206.

Zheng, Y., Valdez, P.A., Danilenko, D.M., Hu, Y., Sa, S.M., Gong, Q., Abbas, A.R., Modrusan, Z., Ghilardi, N., de Sauvage, F.J. and Ouyang, W. (2008). Interleukin-22 mediates early host defense against attaching and effacing bacterial pathogens. *Nature Medicine* 14, 282-289.

Zhu, Q.C., Gao, R.Y., Wu, W., Guo, B.M., Peng, J.Y. and Qin, H.L. (2014). Effect of a high-fat diet in development of colonic adenoma in an animal model. *World Journal of Gastroenterology* 20, 8119-8129.

Zheng, Y., Valdez, P.A., Danilenko, D.M., Hu, Y., Sa, S.M., Gong, Q., Abbas, A.R., Modrusan, Z., Ghilardi, N., de Sauvage, F.J. and Ouyang, W. (2008). Interleukin-22 mediates early host defense against attaching and effacing bacterial pathogens. *Nature Medicine* 14, 282-289.

Ziegler-Heitbrock, H.W. (1995). Molecular mechanism in tolerance to lipopolysaccharide. *Journal of Inflammation* 45, 13-26.

Zopf, D. and Roth, S. (1996). Oligosaccharide anti-infective agents. *The Lancet* 347, 1017-1021.

Appendix A



Figure A1. Diagrams of basic chemical structures of omega-3 fatty acids in the microalgae and fish oil supplements of AIF Trial #7. **a.** Docosahexaenoic Acid (DHA) 22:6(n-3). **b**. Eicosapentaenoic Acid (EPA) 20:5(n-3). These structures were drawn using ChemDraw Professional 15.1 (PerkinElmer Informatics, Waltham, MA, USA).

Appendix B

			-	Weight	BMI	-	-
ID	Gender	Age	Height (m)	(kg)	(kg/m^2)	Sys BP ¹	Dia BP
001	М	26	1.790	73.4	22.91	135	75
002	М	28	1.846	90.3	26.50	135	76
003	F	27	1.496	50.4	22.52	107	70
004	F	29	1.699	59.4	20.58	115	79
005	F	25	1.670	69.5	24.92	112	84
006	М	34	1.830	79.0	23.59	131	83
007	Μ	28	1.830	71.7	21.41	123	82
008	F	27	1.635	52.0	19.45	104	69
009	F	20	1.603	52.7	20.51	112	68
010	F	23	1.617	70.2	26.85	115	68
011	F	25	1.634	57.9	21.69	94	65
012	Μ	25	1.770	73.4	23.43	135	79
013	F	32	1.765	72.0	23.11	132	89
015	М	27	1.780	78.4	24.74	120	63
016	М	36	1.718	73.3	24.83	139	87
018	М	35	1.657	80.0	29.14	130	65
022	F	26	1.595	57.5	22.60	121	87
023	F	22	1.622	67.2	25.54	116	82
024	Μ	24	1.860	91.3	26.39	152	94
025	М	25	1.770	75.5	24.10	136	76
026	F	24	1.695	66.6	23.18	116	68
027	F	30	1.630	77.0	28.98	111	82
028	Μ	29	1.680	82.8	29.34	119	86
029	F	42	1.515	58.0	25.27	122	93
030	F	24	1.600	57.8	22.58	110	78
031	М	38	1.840	96.7	28.56	122	76
032	F	34	1.655	62.4	22.78	108	81
033	М	23	1.660	66.2	24.02	127	72
034	F	25	1.652	81.0	29.68	114	79
035	F	30	1.665	50.0	18.04	120	80
Medi	ian	27	1.668	71.0	23.8	120	79
Mean	1	28.1	1.693	69.8	24.2	121	78
95%	CI	26.3 - 29.9	1.66 - 17.3	65.4 - 74.2	23.2 - 25.3	116.7 – 125	. 74.9 – 80.9

Table B1. Demographic data of individual participants at study baseline.

¹ Sys BP, systolic blood pressure; Dia BP, diastolic blood pressure.



Figure B1. Peripheral mDC CD282⁺/TLR2⁺ and CD284⁺/TLR4⁺ percentages on day 28 of placebo and β 2-1 fructan phases, separated by sex. Significance (P < 0.05) for gender and phase were determined by rANOVA (n = 13 for males, n = 17 for females). **a**. Peripheral mDC CD282⁺/TLR2⁺ percentages; * denotes a significant difference between phases (P = 0.016), and bars with differing letters represent significant differences between sex as determined by Tukey's HSD (P = 0.025). **b**. Peripheral mDC CD284⁺/TLR4⁺ percentages; phase was significantly different (P < 0.05) as was sex (P = 0.003).

Cytokine Sex		Placebo Placebo		β2-1 Fructan	β2-1 Fructan	
		d-0	d-28	d-0	d-28	
LPS	male ¹	0.32 ± 0.08	0.43 ± 0.12	0.35 ± 0.07	0.38 ± 0.07^{3}	
(EU/mL)	female ²	0.67 ± 0.14	0.61 ± 0.12	0.67 ± 0.11	0.80 ± 0.16	
LBP	male	11.1 ± 1.2	14.8 ± 2.9	11.7 ± 1.6	10.9 ± 1.1	
(µg/mL)	female	14.2 ± 2.0	15.4 ± 2.2	15.5 ± 2.3	16.7 ± 2.2	
sCD-40L	male	14.2 ± 10.8	14.7 ± 11.2	13.6 ± 10.9	12.1 ± 9.1	
(ng/mL)	female	0.8 ± 0.1	0.6 ± 0.1	0.5 ± 0.0	0.4 ± 0.1	
G-CSF	male	11.0 ± 6.4	11.6 ± 4.6	3.4 ± 3.1	4.6 ± 3.3	
(pg/mL)	female	12.4 ± 5.7	16.5 ± 5.4	2.4 ± 1.5	6.0 ± 3.6	
GM-CSF	male	500.0 ± 392.4	532.6 ± 401.4	495.8 ± 396.8	549.6 ± 403.9	
(pg/mL)	female	12.1 ± 6.1	13.1 ± 6.0	9.8 ± 4.5	6.6 ± 3.8	
IFN-γ	male	BLQ	0.4 ± 0.4	24.6 ± 16.9	93.1 ± 43.7	
(pg/mL)	female	BLQ	4.4 ± 3.7	7.9 ± 5.5	46.1 ± 23.1	
IL-1β	male	370.6 ± 234.3	363.5 ± 235.4	366.7 ± 235.8	384.5 ± 256.7	
(pg/mL)	female	6.7 ± 3.1	8.4 ± 3.0	11.0 ± 5.9	5.2 ± 3.2	
IL-1Ra	male	166.8 ± 89.2	177.6 ± 113.3	135.5 ± 94.6	1300.3 ± 935.0	
(pg/mL)	female	15.7 ± 7.3	53.2 ± 25.7	21.6 ± 7.6	17.7 ± 9.6	
IL-4	male	27.7 ± 14.1	25.3 ± 14.0	22.5 ± 12.2	29.3 ± 16.1	
(pg/mL)	female	1.7 ± 0.9	1.1 ± 0.6	1.1 ± 0.7	2.3 ± 0.7	
IL-6	male	209.7 ± 128.8	177.6 ± 108.6	103.1 ± 70.1	186.9 ± 113.9	
(pg/mL)	female	4.3 ± 1.7	3.0 ± 1.4	3.5 ± 1.5	3.4 ± 1.8	
IL-8	male	30.5 ± 10.8	41.8 ± 18.3	39.7 ± 16.4	59.7 ± 19.3	
(pg/mL)	female	9.1 ± 1.0	8.9 ± 1.8	16.8 ± 7.3	7.9 ± 1.4	
IL-10	male	140.7 ± 80.2	156.8 ± 94.2	98.4 ± 62.9	82.6 ± 66.4	
(pg/mL)	female	18.6 ± 10.1	20.9 ± 9.7	16.2 ± 7.0	9.5 ± 3.6	
IL-12p70	male	475.0 ± 303.6	442.6 ± 314.7	341.5 ± 270.2	460.5 ± 369.5	
(pg/mL)	female	17.4 ± 12.5	14.1 ± 8.4	10.5 ± 6.74	12.6 ± 7.7	
IP-10	male	818.3 ± 593.8	1031.4 ± 632.9	996.7 ± 589.0	966.3 ± 619.4	
(pg/mL)	female	56.7 ± 8.5	71.5 ± 10.8	86.5 ± 15.4	61.8 ± 10.1	
TNF-α	male	114.8 ± 87.4	260.8 ± 194.2	223.8 ± 190.4	270.1 ± 231.4	
(pg/mL)	female	20.5 ± 17.6	17.6 ± 11.7	17.1 ± 13.0	11.3 ± 7.7	

Table B2. Impact of supplement on serum LPS, LBP and cytokine/chemokine concentrations in males and females.

This table is continued on the next page.

Table B2 continued.

Cytokine Sex		Placebo Placebo		β2-1 Fructan	β2-1 Fructan	
		d-0	d-28	d-0	d-28	
Active	male	3.8 ± 2.5	5.3 ± 2.51	5.8 ± 2.6	9.7 ± 2.7	
TGF-β1	female	1.5 ± 1.1	1.9 ± 1.5	0.9 ± 0.8	2.2 ± 1.6	
(pg/mL)						
Total	male	4183.6 ±	4177.8 ± 745.7	$4078.0 \pm$	3755.6 ± 498.1	
TGF-β1		462.4		685.9		
(pg/mL)	female	$3908.7 \pm$	3445.7 ± 339.6	3925.9 ±	3700.0 ± 55.8	
		446.5		436.1		

n = 13 for male subjects. n = 17 for female subjects. 3 LPS concentrations were significantly different between sexes 28 (rANOVA P = 0.001).

Table B3. Concentrations of serum an	d faecal Ig in males and fema	les at baseline and endpoint of	placebo and β 2-1 fructan phase	es.
--------------------------------------	-------------------------------	---------------------------------	---------------------------------------	-----

Sample	Class	Sex	Placebo		β2-1 F	rANOVA	
			d-0	d-28	d-0	d-28	P Value ³
Serum ¹	IgA	male	731.3 ± 386.8	1805.7 ± 357.5	1721.8 ± 405.6	928.3 ± 128.9	0.271
(ng/mL)		female	673.3 ± 117.7	1249.9 ± 305.0	1136.2 ± 268.0	898.9 ± 227.0	
	IgM	male	354.1 ± 44.7	852.1 ± 287.4	649.3 ± 160.1	411.8 ± 63.8	0.565
		female	441.9 ± 46.9	797.7 ± 117.2	874.1 ± 183.7	542.3 ± 106.6	
	IgG ₁	male	2675.7 ± 226.3	7114.5 ± 1933.0	5408.8 ± 1335.1	2952.8 ± 346.1	0.975
		female	2801.4 ± 348.7	7258.99 ± 1706.4	4949.6 ± 1003.8	2821.9 ± 279.3	
	IgG ₂	male	1731.6 ± 211.6	$29\ 228.7 \pm 12\ 518.2$	$12\ 485.6\pm 4883.7$	1631.8 ± 246.5	0.247
		female	1596.5 ± 169.3	$14\ 282.3\pm 3464.0$	7497.7 ± 1813.5	$15\ 168.0\pm 265.1$	
	IgG ₃	male	9609.98 ± 2122.8	$27\ 806.5 \pm 5904.8$	$25\ 331.6\pm 348.5$	$28\ 999.4 \pm 5807.2$	0.428
		female	$11\ 096.2 \pm 177.0$	$28\;468.7\pm4740.8$	$31\ 182.4\pm 3617.6$	$31\ 754.72 \pm 4058.1$	
	IgG ₄	male	1064.5 ± 177.0	3375.6 ± 738.3	2619.6 ± 549.2	2880.6 ± 568.2	0.027
		female	380.9 ± 132.1	1307.6 ± 496.5	1115.1 ± 436.2	1587.7 ± 623.9	
Faecal ²	IgA	male	$109\ 093.5\ \pm$	$108\ 350.95\ \pm$	$106\ 134.8\ \pm$	$100\;341.8\;\pm$	0.913
(ng/g)			23 318.2	26 502.9	33 951.3	24 954.4	
		female	83 687.5 ± 25 248.7	$79\ 830.5 \pm 17\ 378.9$	$68\ 284.0 \pm 9685.0$	$77\;554.2\pm10\;000.5$	
	IgG	male	9006.8 ± 5520.0	$12\ 898.94 \pm 4084.3$	25 319.1 ± 7705.6	$25\ 897.9 \pm 10\ 289.7$	0.232
		female	3573.854 ± 1329.1	$13\ 782.0\pm4283.3$	$20\ 386.5 \pm 12\ 699.2$	5093.3 ± 1516.0	
	IgM	male	1961.7 ± 806.3	1227.0 ± 535.7	852.9 ± 295.3	4360.1 ± 2173.6	0.259
		female	3307.6 ± 2662.7	682.5 ± 213.0	578.1 ± 140.2	913.3 ± 250.5	

n = 13 for males and n = 17 for females. n = 13 for males, n = 17 for females (except for placebo day 0, n = 16). n = 13 for males, n = 17 for females (except for placebo day 0, n = 16).

Table B4. Ex vivo cytokine production in unstimulated and TLR agonist-stimulated whole blood cultures from males and females at the endpoints of placebo and β 2-1 fructan phases.

Cytokine	Sex	Unstimulated	Unstimulated	LPS	LPS	P3C	P3C
		Placebo d-28	β2-1 Fructan	Placebo	β2-1 Fructan	Placebo	β2-1 Fructan
			d-28	d-28	d-28	d-28	d-28
IFN-a	male ¹	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ
(pg/mL)	female ²	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ
IL-1β	male	BLQ	0.1 ± 0.1	7.8 ± 0.8	8.2 ± 0.8	0.3 ± 0.1	0.4 ± 0.1
(ng/mL)	female	BLQ	0.01 ± 0.01	8.5 ± 1.8	10.0 ± 2.7	0.4 ± 0.1	0.5 ± 0.2
IL-6	male	0.1 ± 0.1	0.7 ± 0.6	39.4 ± 1.9	39.7 ± 2.3	8.5 ± 1.0	12.2 ± 3.3
(ng/mL)	female	0.1 ± 0.1	106.5 ± 0.1	30.6 ± 1.6	34.2 ± 2.3	8.5 ± 1.2	10.9 ± 1.7
IL-8	male	6.0 ± 2.6	28.9 ± 17.3	65.1 ± 3.7	72.3 ± 3.9	60.4 ± 4.2	60.8 ± 7.8
(ng/mL)	female	4.7 ± 1.2	9.3 ± 5.1	64.6 ± 2.0	73.0 ± 3.0	54.1 ± 3.9	60.5 ± 5.0
IL-10	male	BLQ	48.8 ± 49.8	2352.3 ± 200.1	2119.4 ± 245.0	33.9 ± 13.0	78.9 ± 34.0^3
(pg/mL)	female	BLQ	BLQ	1807.4 ± 195.3	1910.2 ± 278.3	BLQ	28.7 ± 10.9
IL-12p70	male	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ
(pg/mL)	female	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ	BLQ	6.1 ± 5.4
TNF-α	male	BLQ	0.3 ± 0.2	3.2 ± 0.3	4.0 ± 0.6	0.3 ± 0.0	0.2 ± 0.1
(ng/mL)	female	BLQ	0.01 ± 0.01	2.2 ± 0.5	2.3 ± 0.3	0.1 ± 0.0	0.2 ± 0.0

¹ n = 13 for unstimulated and LPS stimulated samples, and n = 11 for P3C stimulated samples in males. ² n = 17 for unstimulated and LPS stimulated samples, and n = 13 for P3C stimulated samples in females.

³ IL-10 production was significantly different between males and females over all time points (rANOVA with LSD test, P = 0.022).

Appendix C

Table C1. Diet formulation and nutritional	l profile of the test diet, AIN-93G	•
--	-------------------------------------	---

Ingredients %		Nutritional Profile			
Corn Starch	39.7	Protein %	18.3	Minerals	
Casein	20.0	Arginine	0.70	Calcium %	0.51
Maltodextrin	13.2	Histidine	0.52	Phosphorus %	0.32
Sucrose	10.0	Isoleucine	0.96	Potassium %	0.36
Soybean Oil	7.0	Leucine	1.73	Magnesium %	0.05
Powdered Cellulose	5.0	Lysine	1.45	Sodium %	0.13
AIN-93G Mineral Mix	3.5	Methionine	0.52	Chloride %	0.22
AIN-93G Vitamin Mix	1.0	Cysteine	0.37	Fluorine ppm	1.0
L-Lysine	0.3	Phenylalanine	0.96	Iron ppm	40
Choline bitartrate	0.25	Tyrosine	1.01	Zinc ppm	35
t-Butylhydroquinone	0.0014	Threonine	0.77	Manganese ppm	11
		Tryptophan	0.22	Copper ppm	6.0
Energy (kcal/g)	3.89	Valine	1.14	Cobalt ppm	0.0
From:	Kcal	Alanine	0.55	Iodine ppm	0.21
Protein	0.731	Aspartic Acid	1.29	Chromium	1.0
Fat	(18.8 %) 0.637	Glutamic Acid	4 08	ppm Molybdenum	0 14
1 (11	(164%)	Olutanine / Kelu	4.00	nnm	0.14
Carbohydrates	2.528	Glycine	0.39	Selenium ppm	0.24
	(0012 /0)	Proline	2.36	Vitamins	
		Serine	1.10	Vitamin A	4.0
		Taurine	0.00	Vitamin D3	1.0
		Fat %	7.1	Vitamin E	81.6
		Cholesterol ppm	0.00	Vitamin K	0.75
		Linoleic acid %	3.58	ppm Thiamin hydrochloride ppm	6.1
		Linolenic acid %	0.55	Riboflavin	6.7
		Arachidonic acid,	0.00	Niacin ppm	30
		n-3 fatty acids, %	0.55	Pantothenic acid ppm	16
		Total saturated fatty acids. %	1.05	Folic acid ppm	2.1
		Total monounsaturated fatty acids, %	1.54	Pyridoxine ppm	5.8
		Polyunsaturated fatty acids, %	3.78	Biotin ppm	0.2
		• •		Vitamin B12 ug/kg	29
		Fibre %	5.0	Choline chloride ppm	1250
		Carbohydrates %	63.2	Ascorbic acid ppm	0.0